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Foreword 

The federal judiciary has been actively involved in an ambitious program to 
commemorate the bicentennial of the Declaration of Independence in 1976. 
Pursuant to the authority granted by the Judicial Conference Bicentennial 
Committee, the Chief Justice of the United States appointed a Conference 
Bicentennial Committee and circuit subcommittees. The primary function of 
each circuit subcommittee was to prepare a history of its circuit. 

The Third Circuit subcommittee was chaired by Collins J. Seitz, Chief 
Judge of the Third Circuit, (Wilmington, Delaware), and consisted of Albert 
B. Maris, Senior Circuit Judge (Philadelphia, Pennsylvania), Edward Durn- 
bauld, Senior District Judge, (Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania), and also a member 
of the Conference Committee, and George H. Barlow, Chief Judge of the Dis- 
trict of New Jersey. Upon Judge Barlow's death, John J. Gibbons, Circuit 
Judge (Newark, New Jersey), was appointed to replace him. 

The Third Circuit subcommittee designated a legal historian, Professor 
Stephen Presser, then of Rutgers University School of Law and now of North- 
western School of Law to prepare the History of the Third Circuit. Professor 
Presser undertook a truly ambitious and scholarly approach to the project. 
Through original research and imagination, he tapped the rich and varied his- 
tory of the circuit. 

The Third Circuit subcommittee believes that Professor Presser's scholarly 
text captures the diversity of our circuit as well as the legal and historical 
impact of a committed judiciary over almost two centuries. We are deeply 
indebted to Professor Presser and to all who contributed to the history. 

Collins J. Seitz 
Chief Judge 
Wilmington, June 1982 





Preface 

T have called this book "Studies in the History of the United States Courts 
of the Third Circuit" to suggest that this is not a definitive or even a compre- 
hensive treatment of the work of the federal district and appeals courts for 
Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and Delaware. Since my assignment when I under- 
took this projxt  was to produce such an inclusive history, however, a few 
words of explanation are in order. I began to research such a project by exam- 
ining the opinions for the first lower federal courts in Pennsylvania from 1789 
to 1800. The result of this research appears as Chapter Two, and was pub- 
lished in fuller form as an article in the Northwestern University Law Review. 
I was able to read and assimilate all of the published opinions for that period, 
but I realized that if I were to adhere to the same methodology for the rest of 
American history, this Bicentennial project would not be concluded much 
before the Tricentennial. Since my contract called for a much earlier comple- 
tion I sought to narrow the scope of the project. In the course of my work on 
the Pennsylvania lower federal courts, however, I found analyzing the primary 
work product of the judges, their opinions, to be the most rewarding task. I 
concluded that for me the most satisfactory manner of presenting legal history 
was to study the manner in which opinions reflected the particular judicial 
philosophy of, and the economic and ideological influences on, federal judges. 
A satisfactory means out of my dilemma was thus to pick representative 
judges, and then proceed to study their work in some depth, with a few intro- 
ductory and concluding remarks to bridge the gaps. 

I then turned to the work of my research assistant, Gordon Hylton, then a 
third-year student at the University of Virginia School of Law, who had com- 
piled file cards for me on all of the published decisions of the federal courts of 
Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and Delaware through 1890. On reviewing these 
cards I found that by far the largest number of decisions were rendered by a 
man named John Thompson Nixon, District Judge for New Jersey from 1870 
to 1887. Since this was the period when the lower federal courts first began to 
acquire jurisdiction in accordance with the limits permitted to them by the 
United States Constitution, and since it seemed fair to pick a judge from a 
state other than Pennsylvania, I proceeded to read all of Nixon's opinions, 
and the result is Chapter Three, also originally published as an article in the 
Northwestern University Law Review. 

I had then done some work with two of the Third Circuit's states, and this 
led me to seek an appropriate subject in the history of the federal courts of 
Delaware. Since Delaware's status as the home for many of the country's 
greatest corporations seemed to be its outstanding characteristic with regard to 
the implications of federal law, 1 decided to determine how the federal courts 
applied Delaware's law of corporations. The legislation which revised Dela- 
ware's law of corporations occurred at roughly the point where my Chapter on 
Nixon had left off, so the fit seemed serendipitous. Since the legal topic was 



more narrow than that in the two previous chapters I was able to study more 
judges, and the result is Chapter Four, an examination of the opinions on 
corporation law of District Judges Bradford, Thompson, Morris, and Nields, 
and Court of Appeals Judges Buffington and Davis. This chapter, in the re- 
vised form of an article co-authored with Richard Simpson, will soon appear 
as an article in the William and Mary Law Review. 

Since I had written relatively little on the Court of Appeals, it was the 
obvious choice for a concluding Chapter. Since there was a clear change in the 
personnel of the Court of Appeals following the election of Franklin Roose- 
velt, and since the New Deal also seemed to give rise to a new style of juris- 
prudence, I ended Chapter Four and began Chapter Five at approximately the 
same time, the beginning of the Roosevelt administration. Chapter Five brings 
events up to the Bicentennial year, and Chapter Six, a conclusion, reports on 
some cases even more recently decided. As before, my principal concern was 
with the cases, but as I perceived that a dramatic transformation had taken 
place in the personnel and the characteristics of the court of appeals since 
1937, that transformation was also a subject to be treated. This too was for- 
tuituous, since there was simply no way of assimilating all of the explosively- 
increasing number of opinions which the members of the court of appeaIs 
have written during the last forty years. With the aid of the members of the 
Third Circuit's Bicentennial Committee, I picked out a few representative 
cases for study, and sought to integrate these within the larger theme of the 
change in the character of the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals. 

This is not, of course, a work of fiction, but the nature of my preoccupa- 
tions led me often to speculation. I have tried to imagine what it must have 
been like to be faced with the necessity o i  making some of the crucial judicial 
choices here chronicled, and I have sought to produce at least tentative 
explanations for some judges' actions which seem to have marked new direc- 
tions. I have attempted to limit these speculations, and to ground them in as 
much solid fact as possible. In particular I have been counseled in this en- 
deavor by my "Dutch Uncle," the Hon. Edward Dumbauld, himself no mean 
legal historian. He has regularly reminded me of Douglas Freeman's famous 
remarks that an historian should never undertake to report the thinking of his 
subjects without written evidence or reliable autoptic proof. If I have occa- 
sionally gone against this advice, at least I have sought to indicate clearly 
where I was doing so, so that the reader will not be misled. I hope that this 
work might prove useful to the scholar seeking some insight into the nature of 
the task of judicial decision of the federal judges, but the book is not primarily 
intended for the legal historian, rather it is written for a more general legal 
reader, or  perhaps for a new federal judge. It has as its simple task to clarify 
and compare what it has meant to be a federal judge in lower courts since the 
creation of the Republic. 

Drafts of the chapters were read by the members of the Third Circuit's 
Bicentennial Committee: Chief Judge Collins J. Seitz, and Judges Albert B. 
Maris, George H. Barlow, John J .  Gibbons, and Edward Dumbauld, and the 
late Third Circuit Executive, Wrn. A. (Pat) Doyle, Each man supplied me 
with valuable and patient insight into the workings of the courts; the criticism 



of Judges Maris and Dumbauld even approached the rigors of talmudic exege- 
sis. I will miss the warmth and the friendship of the Committee's oversight 
more than I can express. 1 have often felt that these pieces simply could not 
do justice to the quality of commitment and judicial scholarship demonstrated 
by the members of the Bicentennial Committee and shared by so many other 
judges of their courts. In any event, while I have sought to follow the advice 
of the committee, I have not always been able to do so, and the responsibility 
for errors and outrages remains mine. 

Research for the Nixon Chapter was made much easier because of the 
cooperation of the staff of the Princeton University Archives and the New 
Jersey Historical Society. Delores Altemus and Susan Brynteson at the Morris 
Library, University of Delaware, helped with some of the materials on Judge 
Morris. Betty-Bright P. Low of the Eleutherian Mills Historical Association, 
and Gladys M. Coghlan of the Delaware Historical Society gave graciously of 
their time and resources to permit me to learn more about Judges Bradford 
and Nields. The Wilmington News-Journal searched their morgue, and found 
some delightful pieces on Morris and Nields. 

Many law students contributed to the project. Gordon Hylton's contribution 
has aIready been noted. I was also aided at Virginia by John H. Flood 111. 
Since I have been at Northwestern my research assistants have included 
Cynthia Sopata, Denison Hatch, Karen Kole, Christopher Garrett, Barbara 
Zeigler, and James Churm. William Hillstrom did a third-year senior research 
project for me on the Delaware courts that was useful in preparing Chapter 
Four. Three law students contributed so much that their assistance merited 
recognition on the title page. Richard Simpson did early drafts of the Intro- 
duction, Chapter Four, and the Appendices and tables of Judges, which 
list all of the judges who have served during the period here studied. Kenneth 
GoodSmith did similar work for Chapters Three and Four. Cooper Ashley did 
his Senior Research Project on the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals, and his 
paper became the foundation for Chapter Five. I am not sure that any of them 
would be able easily to recognize their ideas in the final versions, and so once 
again the responsibility is mine. 

The manuscript was typed by Elizabeth Quintos, who appears fortuitously 
when a book needs to be done. The Third Circuit's Circuit Executive, Paul 
Nejelski, and his staff, Jeanne LaMonaco, Leona McCabe, and Dara Quat- 
trone, and the former acting Circuit Executive M. Elizabeth Ferguson, were 
indispensible in seeing the manuscript through to publication, and in helping 
to secure the photographs used here. My wife Carole and my colleagues 
Leonard Barkan, Timothy Breen, Dan Fischel, and Marty Redish have offered 
winged words and firm friendship, which has sustained me over the five years 
since 1 began this work. 

S.B.P. 
Chicago, Illinois 
March, 1981 
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CHAPTER I 

I ntroduction: 
The Third Circuit and 
the Federal 1 udiciary 

After thc Federal Constitution created 21 national political system that was to 

have near-exclusive jurisdiction over the regulation of intcrstatc commerce,' 
i t  was thought nccessary by many for Congress to create a special lower fed- 
eral judiciary to enforce federal law, lest national policies flounder in  provinci- 
ally-minded state courts. Evcn i f  state judges were wil l ing to give a nationalist 
cast to their decisions, i t  was likely that statc judges still could not provide 
for uniform application of federal law throughout the country." 

Accordingly, the Judiciary Act of 1789" cstablished a three-tiered judicial 
structure consisting of district courts, circuit courts, and the Supreme Court. 
I t  designated each o f  the original thirteen states as a judicial district, and i t  

provided that each district would have its own district court and circuit court. 
Both courts were to be courts of original jurisdiction. The district court, to 
consist of one judge, was limited in i t s  jcrisdiction to admiralty cases, seizures 
in pursuance of federal law, and the enforcement of  navigation and trade 
statutes.' Subsequently, the district court's criminal jurisdiction was mod~fied 
to include all but capital offenses." The circuit court, to consist of  the district 
judge and two Supreme Court Justices, was to exercise original jurisdiction 
over diversity of citizenship cases in which more than $500 was in  dispute, to 
have appellate jurisdictior~ over the district court's decisions, and to exercise 
original jurisdiction in  important criminal cases. The Supreme Court Justices 
were to "ride circuit" twice a year. This arrangement, based nn the English 
model, was designed to keep the Justices in direct contact with the people, in 



order for jurisprudential development to be consistent with social customs 
and popular desires." 

The Judiciary Act of 1789 provided for three circuits-the Southern, 
Middle, and Eastern. The Middle Circuit, the Third Circuit's predecessor, 
included Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Delaware, Maryland and Virginia.*l This 
circuit arrangement continued until 1802, when the strains of circuit riding on 
fatigued Justices required that Congress restrict the ambit of the circuits, and 
create more of them. 

By organizing the circuit courts and by assigning the Justices to circuit rid- 
ing duties, the 1789 Judiciary Act made circuit riding the keystone of the 
federal judiciary, but the circuit riding system was almost immediately plagued 
with difficulties. Foremost was the delay in  circuit court litigation caused by 
the requirement that two Supreme Court Justices and a district judge sit to- 
gether. America's roads were then in a pitiable state, covered with tree stumps, 
and without bridges or ferries over many waterways. The only real means of 
transportation were the country's coastline and inland waterways. Yet the 
sailing vessels of the time could not navigate upstream; and the Northern 
waterways were not navigable during the winter months. Consequently, the 
Justices found it nearly impossible to hold circuit court twice a year in several 
states. Congress responded in 1793 by providing that circuit court sessions 
could be held with only one Justice and a district judge. Still, the problem of 
delay was not resolved. 

As the federal courts lagged behind in their duties, commercial development 
in the 1790's generated increasing numbers of economic transactions, and 
hence heightened the possibility of legal disputes. The Atlantic coast became 
a "unified trading area"' in which sailing vessels transported goods from port 
to port. As war raged in Europe, reducing the level of competition from that 
quarter, the shipping industry in America t h r i ~ e d . ~  Commerce was especially 
vibrant in Philadelphia, the commercial center of the country at the time of 
the American Revolution.!' For most of the 1790's Philadelphia continued to 
lead New York in both imports and exports. Pennsylvania also benefitted 
from the construction of a turnpike from Philadelphia to Lancaster in 1794. 
In addition to sparking the "turnpike fever" that soon gripped the entire 
country, the Philadelphia-Lancaster Turnpike enhanced internal commerce in 
Pennsylvania. 

Since the delays accompanying the circuit court litigation might restrain the 
development of a national commercial system, the Federalist Congress set out 
to eliminate the problems connected with circuit riding by passing the Judici- 
ary Act of 1801. 

11. The Judiciary Act of 1801 

Students of American Judicial History know the Judiciary Act of 1801 "' 
principally because of its creation of sixteen judicial positions which President 
Adams filled with loyal Federalist judges. This was the reason for the Act's 



short life; it was repealed less than a year after Jefferson's Republicans assumed 
control of Congress in March of 1801. Still, the major thrust of the Act was 
not necessarily to entrench the Federalists, but to relieve the Supreme Court 
Justices of their circuit riding duties, and to replace the old circuit courts with 
new courts to be staffed by the sixteen circuit judges, to be distributed over six 
newly created circuits." 

In the Act of 1801 the "Third Circuit," consisting of Pennsylvania, New 
Jersey, and Delaware, made its debut in the federal judiciary.12 The Act 
divided Pennsylvania and New Jersey into Eastern and Western districts, but 
did not create new judicial positions for these districts. Rather, the district 
judges for Pennsylvania and New Jersey were to hold court in both Eastern 
and Western districts. Congress thus supposedly made litigation in federal 
court more convenient for Pennsylvania and New Jersey residents, by cutting 
down the distance they had to travel to get to court . 'The necessity of the 
reforms in the 1801 Act was most pronounced in the Third Circuit, since the 
federal litigation arising from the Whiskey Rebellion of 1794, the Fries 
Rebellion of 1799, and the enforcement of the Alien and Sedition Act of 1798 
had swamped the federal courts of Pennsy1vania.l.' The timing of the Act, 
however, was too blatantly grounded in partisan politics. Congress had been 
contemplating judicial reform at least since 1799, 'Vut its eagerness to get a 
bill passed waned markedly in the first months of 1801, when President 
Adams was about to surrender his appointive powers to President-elect Jeffer- 
son. When Congress debated in 1800 whether to recommit a judiciary bill "it 
was argued, that the close of the present Executive's authority was at hand, 
and, from his experience, he was more capable to choose suitable persons to 
fill the offices than an~ther . " '~  Yet Congress did not take action until the 
month prior to Jefferson's inauguration, thus creating the nickname "The 
Midnight Judges Act."" 

111. The Acts of 1802 
The first Judiciary Act of 1 80218 repealled the "Midnight Judges Act," and 

reinstated the federal judicial system created by the Act of 1789. Some Con- 
gressmen expressed constitutional qualms about unseating the sixteen circuit 
judges, in light of the provision in Article I11 of the Constitution that "the 
Judges, both of the supreme and inferior Courts, shall hold their Offices dur- 
ing good Behavior."Io They argued that the elimination of these judgeships 
would go far in destroying the judicial independence the Framers had intended 
to preserve in Article 111. Western Pennsylvania's Republican Senator Hugh 
Henry Breckenridge refuted the doubters in typical fashion by a turn of phrase 
more eloquent thar, persuasive: 

. . . because the constitution declares that a judge shall hold his office during 
good behavior, can it be tortured to mean that he shall hold his office after it is 
abolished? Can it mean that his tenure should be limited by behaving well in 
an office which did not exist? Can it mean that an office may exist, although its 
duties are extinct? Can it mean, in short, that the shadow, to wit, the judge, 
can remain, when the substance, to wit, the office, is removed?z0 



The Republicans justified the return to the system of the Act of 1789 on 
the ground that the judiciary had not been so bogged down in business as to 
warrant structural change. Senator Breckenridge pointed out that suits in 
federal courts had been decreasing prior to the 1801 Act, and that the two 
major sources of federal litigation-the Alien and Sedition Act and the excise 
taxes-had been eliminated, or would be before the end of that Congressional 
session." Some Congressmen also voiced their support of circuit riding, argu- 
ing that frequent trips into the hinterlands kept the Justices in touch with "the 
Iaws, the morals, the habits, the state of the property of the several  state^."^? 

StilI, perhaps sensitive to  the need for some reform, in a Second Judiciary 
Act of 1802 the Republicans began to build on the structure created in 1789 
by enacting some of the same measures that had been included in the Feder- 
alists' Act of 1801 .2The  Second Act of 1802 made circuit riding less stren- 
uous for the justices by reducing the size of the three original circuits, and by 
adding three more. The "new" Third Circuit was somewhat different from that 
of the 1801 Act-it included only Pennsylvania and New Jersey. The second 
Act of 1802 also allowed the district judge single-handedly to hold circuit 
court sessions when a Supreme Court Justice could not be present. This fea- 
ture, according to Frankfruter and Landis, enabled district judges gradually to 
assume controI of the circuit courts: 

With the growth of the country and the corresponding increase in circuit court 
business, the latter provision was constantly invoked if  circuit courts were to 
be held at all. Increasingly, it became impossible for the Justices to attend 
circuit in all the districts at all sessions, and the circuit court devolved more 
and more into the hands of single district judges.24 

In Chapter Three, infra, we will see how this pattern of circuit court 
being held by the district judge persisted until the latter part of the nineteenth 
century, and couId put a great burden on the district judge. 

JV. From 1802 to 1869 

The basic structure erected by Congress in 1802 endured until 1869, when 
the crowded Supreme Court docket finalIy forced Congress to authorize the 
appointment of circuit judges who could assume the Justices' circuit riding 
duties. A number of minor legislative adjustments, were, however, made be- 
tween 1802 and 1869 and affected the Third Circuit. 

In the first two decades of the nineteenth century, Pennsylvania's economic 
development generated increasing amounts of litigation. Philadelphia con- 
tinued to be a commercial leader, although second to New York. At the same 
time, the construction of turnpikes in the Pennsylvania interior enhanced the 
development of a commercia1 network linking all parts of the state. Pittsburgh, 
strategically located on the Ohio River, experienced rapid Economic 
development, moreover, was not restricted to Pennsylvania's large cities. For 
example: the anthracite mines in the Eastern region of the state began opera- 



tions in 1817.2fi At this time the population of the middle Atlantic states was 
growing rapidly. By 1807, both New York and Philadelphia had populations 
of over 100,000 people.': The growth in the popnlation and the economy soon 
provided enough litigation in  Pennsylvania to cause great delay in the federal 
district court. At the same time, litigants in  Western Pennsylvania complained 
of the distance they had to travel to have their cases tried in the federal 
court,'R which sat in Philadelphia. Congress provided relief to the litigants and 
district court of Pennsylvania in 18 i 8 by dividing the state into two judicial 
districts, each district to have its own full-time j ~ d g e . ~ "  

Dividing a large state into two judicial districts was becoming standard 
Congressional procedure for relieving bogged-down federal courts. New York 
had been divided in  1814; and Virginia would be organized into two districts 
in 1819. Unlike other divisions, however, there was not to be a circuit court 
for the Western District of Pennsylvania. Instead. the district court there 
would exercise all original jurisdiction, with the circuit court of the Eastern 
District exercising appellate jurisdiction over the Western District's court.'"' 
This arrangement freed Supreme Court Justices from the necessity of traveling 
a11 the way to Pittsburgh to hold circuit court sessions. Congress did not ex- 
pect the business in the Western District to be so massive as to require more 
than one court of original jurisdiction.'" In other tinkering, in  I824,: 'Con- 
gress transferred seven counties in the center of Pennsylvania from the Eastern 
District to the Western District. As usual, the impetus for this reallocation of 
judicial business was the growing caseload in the Eastern District generated 
by Philadelphia's continucd commercial expansion and population growth. 
The transfer was also to make the federal courts more accessible to the people 
in those counties, since Congress specified that district court sessions were to 
be held at William's Port as well as Pittsburgh. 

In 1837 Congress finally provided a circuit court for the Western District of 
Pennsylvania."" The Western District had advanced considerably since 18 18. 
Its iron goods, next to New England's textiles, were the chief manufactured 
articles of that time.'" The Forbes Road, connecting Philadelphia and Pitts- 
burgh, the Main Line Canal, nearly 400 miles long, and the National Road, 
running through Southwestern Pennsylvania to Columbus, Ohio, all built in 
these years, contributed to the Western District's economic development by 
providing channels for commercial intercourse."%rowing judicial business, 
however, was not the only consideration that prompted Congress to supply 
circuit courts to the districts that had none. The proliferation of turnpikes, 
canals, railroads and steamboats in the twenties and thirties lessened the rigors 
of circuit riding in outlying districts:"; 

In 1844"; Congress transferred the district court in New Jersey from Tren- 
ton to New Brunswick arid Burlington,:'"ore central locations, to make the 
court more accessible to New Jersey residents. Since the late 17901s, New 
York City had been the premier commercial and population center of the 
countrv. In the twenties and thirties, New York tnoved into manufac~uring in  
addition to commerce; and immigrant laborers began to tlood the city. New 



Jersey's resident had begun to gravitate from the Trenton-Philadelphia area 
to the Newark-New York area. 

In 1866 Congress transferred the District of Delaware from the Fourth to 
the Third Circuit. This move was part of a general plan to redistribute the 
states among the circuits. Since 1802 the admission of eighteen additional 
states into the Union had led Congress to create new judicial circuits and new 
Supreme Court Justices to ride those cir~uits.~"y 1866 the federal judiciary 
consisted of ten circuits, with ten Justices riding circuit once a year. Some 
Justices, however, complained that the Court's size made it too unwieldy for 
the bargain and compromise necessary to judicial decision-making; and the 
even number of Justices too often resulted in a deadlocked C o ~ r t . ' ~  Accord- 
ingly, in the Judiciary Act of 1866,"'.Congress took advantage of a vacancy 
on the Supreme Court to redistribute the states among nine circuits, and to 
reduce the Supreme Court's number to nine. Since that time the states con- 
stituting the Third Circuit have remained the same. 

V. The Judic8iary Act of 1869 

By 1865, it had become clear that "the amount of busincss accumulating in 
the Supreme Court amounted almost to a denial of justice."42 The circuit 
courts were also suffering under heavy caseloads. The district judges were so 
burdened with the business of the district courts that they did not have the 
time to dispose of the circuit court's cases. The Supreme Court Justices were 
rarely able to hold circuit court sessions. By 1869, the business accumulating 
in the circuit courts proved to be too much for the outmoded circuit riding 
system. 

Congress hoped that the Judiciary Act of 1869," by creating circuit judges 
who could take over the Justices' circuit riding duties, would reduce the back- 
log of business in the circuit courts, and leave the Justices free to dispose of 
their own Court's cases. Still, the Act stipulated that the Justices were to go 
out on the circuits at least once every two years. The Act authorized the ap- 
pointment of a circuit judge for each of the nine circuits, and further gave 
these judges the power to hold circuit court sessions by themselves. By these 
measures, then, the advocates of the bill predicted that all three levels of the 
judiciary would be able to clear their dockets, as both the District and 
Supreme Court Judges might be relieved of at least some circuit duties.44 

The additional judicial business prompting Congress to pass the Act of 
1869 was an outgrowth of the country's continued dramatic economic expan- 
sion in the 1850's and 60's. According to Douglass C. North, "it was indus- 
trialization in the Northeast and the opening up of the West and Far West 
which was primarily responsible for the growth of the 1840's and 1850'~."~" 
After the panic of 1837 had passed, the American economy took off in a burst 
of productivity that catapulated the United States into a position of leadership 
in industrialization, second only to Great Britain. By 1860, the United States 
was producing one-fifth of the world's manufacturing output."= In 1839, man- 



ufacturing in the U.S. constituted only a 20 percent share in the country's 
commodity output; but by 1860 its share had risen to 33 percent.47 The rise 
in manufacturing was parallelled by phenomenal growth in commercial activ- 
ity. The mass tonnage in coastline trade shipped in 1789 was a mere 68,000 
tons. By 1840, tonnage had increased to 1 . 1  million tons, and by 1860 to 2.6 
million tons.48 Lastly, new industries were born every year with the invention 
of new consumer and capital goods. Sewing machines, wheat harvesters, 
reapers, vulcanized rubber, pressed glass and circular saws were common 
manufactured articles by 1850.40 Telegraph lines connected the major cities 
of the United States." Although the Civil War disrupted economic develop- 
ment in the sixties, the disruption was not so severe as to destroy what had 
rlready been accomplished. While the federal judiciary remained substantially 
unchanged since 1789, the United States had become by 1869 a highly- 
developed commtrcial state on the verge of an industrial boom which would 
allow it to overtake even Great Britain in industrial productivity. The over- 
whelming economic changcs of the antebellum period were accompanied by 
phenomenal population growth. The population in 1790 was 3.9 million. In 
1840 this had grown to 17 million, and by 1860 to 3 1 million."' 4 

In view of the heavy federal caseloads caused by population, industrial and 
commercial expansion, and the patent probIems which were matters of federal 
law, even the Act of 1869 was no more than another stopgap measure. The 
Act's requirement that Justices ride circuit once every two years preserved the 
ancient system in spite of the new pressures exerted on the federal courts. A 
number of Congressmen still believed that circuit riding enabled the Justices 
to become "acquainted with local facts, the character of our people, and the 
various interests in different parts of the co~nt ry .""~  The practical effects on 
the Third Circuit and the federal judiciary of the Act of 1869 were minimal. 
The Third Circuit received the services of circuit Judge William McKennan, 
who set to work on the business that had accumulated in the Circuit's four 
circuit courts. In the Third Circuit as elsewhere, however, the litigation gen- 
erated by the industrial boom of the post-war period proved ta be too much 
for the new circuit judges. According to Frankfurter and Landis, 

the new business which came to the courts exceeded the capacity o f  the new 
judges. Circuit judges could pay only sporadic visits to the different districts 
and for brief periods. Verv soon the old conditions were revived in aggravated 
form ,"" 

Since the circuit judges were absent most of the time, district judges con- 
tinued to control the circuit courts. As district judges took charge of both 
district and circuit courts, the two became virtually indisting~ishable,~~ and 
thus the load on the district judges increased instead of diminishing. Exacer- 
bating the problem dramatically was perhaps the most important development 
in this period, the "revolution" in the function of the lower federal courts 
wrought by the Act of March 3, 1875. In that legislation "Congress gave the 
federal courts the vast rangc of power which had lain dormant in the Consti- 



tution since 1789." The act gave the lower federal courts original and removal 
jurisdiction "for vindicating every right given by the Constitution, the Iaws, 
and treaties of the United States." This new jurisdiction for the federal courts 
reflected a somewhat more general subordination of state to national authority 
following the Civil War, and had the effect of creating "a flood of totally new 
business for the federal courts."'" The increasing vol~lrne of litigation, arising 
from the judiciary's diversity jurisdiction. from the Act of  1875 and from 
federal bankruptcy legislation crowded dockets at all levels of  the judiciary. 
Not until 1 89 1, however, were cnough Congress~nen persuaded that major 
structural renovation was necessary to eliminate the ernbarassing delays afflict- 
ing the judiciary. 

VI. Thr Circuit Corr1.t of Al:pc~uis Act of 1891 

The Circuit Court of Appeals Act of  189 1 "'; created intermediate appellate 
courts for the federal judiciary, in order to reduce the volume of diversity 
litigation in the Supreme Court. The Act authorized the President to appoint 
an additional circuit judge for each circuit, thus allowing two circuit judges 
per circuit. The new courts would consist o f  three judges, the two circuit 
judges and either a district court or  a Supreme Court judge, and would exer- 
cise appellate jurisdiction over the district and circuit courts. They were to 
have final jurisdiction over diversity, admiralty, revenue and criminal cases, 
thus relieving the Supreme Court of  al l  business except for the interpretation 
of federal statutes and the Constitution. 

Senator Evarts expected the Courts of  Appeals to sweep their annual dock- 
ets in  four months, leaving the additional circuit judges free the rest of  the 
year to help clear the dockets of  the district and circuit courts."; Most Con- 
gressmen appeared at last to have recognized the ~ ickens ian  conditions and 
that the hard-pressed judiciary was i n  need of fundamental relief." For ex- 
ample, Senator Morgan stated that relief for the judiciary was critical, for he 
did not knotrr "as great a cancer upon the body-politic as this thing o f  accu- 
mulating cases, attorneys' fees, interest, and the other disasters that attend the 
delay of litigation.""" 

By this time, of  course, the industrialization of the United States had be- 
come even more spectacular, and had produced an even more massive volume 
of litigation. Annual rates o f  productivity growth after the Civi l  War averaged 
5 percent, nearly twice the rate of the ante-bellum period.';" According to 
North. "in the years From the end of the Civi l War until World War I, manu- 
facturing expanded so that the United States became the leading industrial 
nation in the world, with about one-third o f  the world's manufacturing capac- 
ity."';' By the I 880's manufacturing's share of productive output was equal to 
that of  agriculture."' Commerce also advanced during this period, increasing 
i t s  share of productive output f rom 12 percent in 1860 to 18 percent in 
1890.';:' American economic growth generated a corresponding increase in  
litigation, and the Act of  189 1 was a response to the judiciary's inability to 



disposc elfectively of this increased litigation. 
Congress's habitual conservatism regarding the federal judiciary prevented 

the Circuit Court o f  Appeals Act from going beyond what was inmediately 
necessary to dissipate the glut of litigation. The House version of the 1891 
bill would have totally restructured the fcdcral judiciary by abolishing the 
circuit courts. The Courts of Appeals would have been given the circuit 
courts' appellate jurisdiction. Yet Senator M1illliam Evarts's Judiciary Com- 
mittee, in an echo of the old justification for keeping Suprenie Court Justices 
on the circuits, rcinstated thc circuit court in order to keep the circuit judges 
in touch with the nisi prius busincss of the judicia~.y.'" 

The  Senate prevailed in conference, iuld the circuit courts were retained. 
Congress thus perpetuated a judicial institution whose intrinsic utility-its 
appellate jurisdiction-had been destroyed. The original jurisdiction the cir- 
cuit courts shared with thc district courts no longer had a functional justifi- 
cation. Initially the circuit courts were supposed to provide distinguished 
judicial personnel in the form of Supremc Court Justices for the adjudication 
of the more important cases brought to the federal judiciary. With the district 
judges controlling the circuit courts, however, even this justification for the 
courts' existence had disappeared."" 

The Circuit Courts of Appeals Act of I89 I could not forever stem the tide 
of mounting litigation arising from popula~ion and economic growth and 
from increasing govcrnmcnt regulation oC econo~nic activities. In  the 1890's 
the United States continued the industrialization begun aftcr the Civil War."" 
By 1920 the number of industrial workers equalled that of agricultural 
workers.'" Industrialization was also accompuned by new federal legislation, 
which often rclicd on the fedcral courts for enforccrnent. The passage of the 
Interstate Commerce ~ c t  of 18x7 was followcd by the Sherman Anti-Trust 
Act in 1890,"" the Safety-Appliance Act in 1893, and then by a plethora of 
other federal legislation in the 19001s: the Hours of Service Law, the Food 
and Drugs Act, the Insecticide Act. the Meat Inspection Law, the Animal 
Quarantine Law, the Anti-Narcotic Act, the Mann Act, the Lacey Game Act, 
and the Federal Employers' Liability Act."" 

Social and economic changes were particularly pronounced in the slates of 
the Third Circuit. Anthracite mining in Eastern Pennsylvania, oil drilling i n  
Western Pennsylvania, and steel production in Pittsburgh catalyzed economic 
devclopment, and increased poulation p~.owtIi and urbanization. At the same 
time. Northern New Jersey became n major industrial center; and both New 
Jersey and Delaware, wit11 their libcral incorporation statutes, became havens 
for corporations. Congress responded to the Thiril Circuit's increased load as 
it did in other judicial circuits, by dividing districts and increasing judicial 
personnel. In 1901 Congress carved out the Middle District of Pennsylvania 
from portions of the Eastern and Wester~i.  district^.^" Yet even with th_ree 
judicial districts in Pcilnsyl\lania, industrial development continued to outrun 
the capacity of federal court machinery. Congress accordingly authorized the 
appointment of additional judges in the Eastern and Western Districts in 1904 



and 1909." In 1905 Congress authorized the appointment of an additional 
judge for the District of New Jersey. 

VII. 7'he l~idicial Code of 1.911 

In the early 1900's Congress began to set down all the scattered statutes 
relating to the federal judiciary in one judicial code. When the Senate passed 
a version of the Judicial Codei.' which provided for the abolition of the circuit 
courts, it became evident that the Code would be more than a mere declara- 
tion of existing law. The delay and inefficiency characteristic of the circuit 
courts finally prompted Congress to eliminate an institution whose functional 
justification had long since expired. 

The Judicial Code included a few other significant innovations affecting the 
Third Circuit and the federal judiciary generally. The Code diverted a portion 
of the federal judiciary's diversity jurisdiction to state courts by raising the 
district courts' jnrisdictional threshold from $2,000 to $3,000. It added a 
circuit judge to each circuit, thereby increasing the Circuit Court of Appeals 
to three circuit judges each. Most importantly, the Code rationalized the fed- 
eral court structure by consolidating all original jurisdiction in the district 

A decade before the passage of the code, Circuit Judges Taft, Lurton, and 
Day,'?n a letter sent to a Congressionally-established Commission for the 
revision and codification of the penal laws, called the existence of circuit 
courts "an anomaly, i f  not an absurdity," which served no purpose other than 
"marking the universal and in most respects praiseworthy conservatism which 
Congress has shown in dcaling with proposed changes in the organization of 
the Federal courts.""; In actual operation, the district and circuit courts had 
become indistinguishable. According to Representative Moon's figures, out of 
the 18,000 days in 1908 on which circuit court sessions were held throughout 
the United States, circuit judges presided over the courts only 2,000 ( 1  1 per- 
cent) of those days." The distinction was not only artificial and unnecessary, 
but also costly.'' Furthermore, the division of jurisdiction between district 
and circuit courts was "perplexing and oftentimes confusing to litigants and 
attorneys.'"!' 

The Judicial Code of 19 1 1 ,  by abolishing the circuit courts, completed the 
structural renovation begun in 1869 with the creation of circuit judges. There 
were some Congressmen, however, who still opposed the destruction of the 
old structure. Senator Bacon lamented that the Judicial Code would over- 
throw the "elasticity" of the federal j~diciary.~" This elasticity, according to 
Representative Brantley, permitted a circuit judge to check "the granting of 
improvident orderswH' by district judges in circuit court, without forcing the 
aggrieved litigants to go through a lengthy and expensive appeals process."' 
Structural renovation, these Congressmen contended, would not only destroy 
the judiciary's flexibility, but would also produce uncertainty. "Until the new 
law is judicially ascertained and known, '-Representative Brantley argued, 



"we will have chaos and confusion, such as has not existed since the early 
days."RR 

When finally completed, Congress's structural renovation had a profound 
etfect on the Third Circuit. The Code eliminated the Circuit's five circuit 
courts, and vested in its district courts exclusive original jurisdiction over most 
federal litigation. An additional circuit judge was appointed to the Third 
Circuit Court of Appeals, whose members were relieved of the circuit riding 
duties they had performed, though sporadically, since 1869. 

Some of the minor adjustments made in the 191 1 Judicial Code were di- 
rected toward the Third Circuit. For example, the increasing volume of litiga- 
tion generated by economic growth in the Newark area called for a provision 
in the Code allowing the district court in New Jersey to hold regular sessions 
in that Subsequently, as New Jersey's population and economy con- 
tinued to shift toward the Newark arca, its judicial business shifted as well, so 
that the district court's Newark sessions disposed of most of New Jersey's 
federal litigation. Today most of the district judges in New Jersey remain 
stationed in Newark. 

VIII. From 191 I to the Present 

Since the Judicial Code of 191 1 the Third Circuit's structure has remained 
the same. The district courts have sole original jurisdiction in most federal 
cases; and the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Third Circuits"ears appeals 
from the district courts. Since 19 1 1 Congress has responded to the extra busi- 
ness of the twentieth century by increasing personnel rather than by further 
altering court structure. 

Today ( 198 1 ) there are 19 judges in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, 
5 judges in the Middle District, 10 judges in the Western District, 11 judges 
in the District of New Jersey and 3 judges in the District of Delaware. For 
the most part Congress has responded to increasing business in the Third 
Circuit only by adding judges to the district courts, although in 1947 Congress 
transferred Blair County from the Middle District to the Western District of 
Pcnnsylvnnia,"" in order to allocate the judicial business of one county to the 
district that had more judges. 

Conclusion 

The recent stability in the Third Circuit has been due primarily to the 
structural renovations Congress made from 1869 to 191 1. The structure 
"perfected" in 19 1 1 has proven to be flexible and efficient."' Whenever the 
lower courts have been significantly in arrears, Congress has been able to 
assign additional judgcs, although there has often been delay in the passage 
of  such legislative relief."x 

Congrcss arrived at the three-tiered structure of 191 1 only after a series of 
stopgap measures limited to thc immediate problems of crowded dockets and 
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delays in litigation. Not until the Judicial Code of 1911 did Congress con- 
sciously set out to rationalize the court structure-and this when most of the 
work had already been done. This seeming Congressional insouciance prob- 
ably can be explained by the relatively low priority Americans accord to 
judicial reform as a public goal. Certainly, there were embarassing delays in 
federal litigation throughout American history; but the need for immediate 
Congressional action in this area could not compare with the need to resolve 
the sectional crises of the nineteenth century or the economic inequalities of 
the twentieth. 

The history of piecemeal statutory reform of the lower federal courts raises 
several questions which will be addressed in the following Chapters. First, 
what could have caused the relatively low priority accorded to judicial reform, 
and what could have created the fierce desire among members of  Congress 
to maintain the old Circuit-Riding system which was designed to keep the 
federal judges in touch with the people? In Chapter Two, which follows, we 
will see that these events might be explained in part as resulting from the 
activities of the first federal judges in Pennsylvania in the early years of our 
Republic. Second, what was the experience oj the judges who were forced to 
work under a system of  over-burdened lower federal courts, and how did they 
attempt to adjust to the demands placed on them? In Chapter Three we will 
study how one District Court judge, John Thompson Nixon of New Jersey, 
functioned in the late nineteenth century, between the first serious reforms of 
1869 and the final structural change of 191 1 .  Finally, how has the character 
of the Federal Judiciary changed since the need for major reform was recog- 
nized and acted upon in the early twentieth century? In Chapter Four we will 
review the experience of the lower federal courts of Delaware, as they ruled 
on litigation relating to one of the principal legal problems of the early 
twentieth century, the allocation of rights and responsibilities among the per- 
sons involved in forming and operating the modern business corporation. In 
Chapter Five, we will bring the narrative up to the present by examining the 
operation of the higher tier of the Third Circuit's present structure, the United 
States Court of Appeals, since the "Constitutional Revolution" of 1937. 
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The First Federal Courts 
in Pennsylvania 

I. The Political Environment of the Early Federal Courts 

A. Introduction 

This chapter examines the federal courts in Pennsylvania during the years 
1789 to 1800, the period between the inauguration of George Washington 
and the election of Thomas Jefferson. This story, to a large extent, is a tale of 
two judges-Richard Peters and Samuel Chase-but i t  is also the story of a 
broken promise, the promise of popular sovereignty under the administrations 
of Washington and Adams. The perception that this promise was not kept 
resulted in the victory of the Jeffersonian Republicans and the public's large- 
scale repudiation of Federalist politics, including the Republican repeal of 
Federalist judicial reforms. Even so, in these years, the Federalist judges had 
managed to set some important precedents and had succeeded in establishing 
the beginnings of the theory and practice of an independent judiciary. A dis- 
proportionate share of this activity took place in the Pennsylvania lower fed- 
eral courts, and a disproportionate share of it involved Peters and Chase.' 

This chapter will describe how, during the administrations of Washington 
and Adams, Pennsylvania federal judges sought to build a strong central judi- 
ciary and a body of federal law which would help realize the Federalist goaIs 
of making America a great commercial power and of checking American 
tendencies toward anarchy, "mob rule," and legislative t y r a n n ~ . ~  It is argued 
here that there was real progress made, especially by Judge Richard Peters of 
the Pennsylvania District Court, in implementing the Federalist goal of com- 
mercial progress in the law. However, this accomplishment has been over- 



shadowed by the difficulties federal judges, especially Justice Samuel Chase, 
encountered in implementing the other Federalist goal of political hegemony. 

B. Consensus and Conflict 1776-1 789 

The lower federal courts in Pennsylvania adjudicated many of the most 
important matters to be litigated in the federal courts. At the same time, how- 
ever, many Pennsylvanians had reservations about the new federal govern- 
ment and about the administrations of Washington and Adams. 

In order to understand the tensions that developed in the 1790's between 
the Federalist judges and the emerging opponents of the Federalist party, it is 
necessary briefly to sketch the background of late eighteenth century Ameri- 
can politics. In the years leading up to the Declaration of Independence many, 
if not most Americans agreed that the British were failing to allow Americans 
the full liberties provided in the British "Constitution" as that political ar- 
rangement was understood in the C ~ l o n i e s . ~  

Following the Revolution, however, those who had fought in the Revolu- 
tionary Army for "liberty" saw in this elusive value differing visions of what 
they had intended to achieve. For some, like John Adams, American liberty 
ultimately may have meant little more than the implementation of his view of 
the British mixed con~titution.~ For others, however, like Benjamin Franklin 
Bache and William Duane of Pennsylvania, the separation from Great Britain 
presented the opportunity to place ultimate authority not in the person of a 
monarch in Parliament, as England had done, but in the American people 
themseive~.~ 

As a result, during the years following the Revolution and preceding the 
Federal Constitution, in Pennsylvania and in most other states, governments 
were set up to implement the principle of pbpu~ar sovereignty through 
strengthening the legislatures at the expense of the executive. The Pennsyl- 
vania Constitution of 1776 provided for no governor at all; instead, there was 
to be a popularly elected committee which would exercise executive functions. 
The legislature was also given control over the tenure and salary of judges, 
thus ensuring the legislature's ascendance as the premier political force. 

The new state legislatures proceeded to exercise not only legislative but 
also executive and judicial functions. State legislatures issued paper money 
and required its acceptance as legal tender, they ordered confiscations of the 
property of suspected loyalists, and they suspended or obliterated contractural 
debts and d u t i e ~ . ~  The threat to property and contract right? inherent in these 
activities was perceived fairly quickly by some Americans, and they began to 
construct an alternative political system to replace legislative supremacy. 

C .  Federalist Political and Judicial Theory 

The main principle of this new American political theory, which reached its 
fullest expression in the Federal Constitution of 1787, was that government 



should be composed of a number of powerful elements which could "check" 
and "balance" each other.' Because popula; sovereignty had by this time 
become the essential prerequisite for success of any political theory in Amer- 
ica, proponents of the Federal Constitution, and of corresponding govem- 
mental changes in the states, saw that the success of their proposals depended 
upon popular approval of the new constitutions. Thus the proponents of the 
new constitutions argued that once the new governments were created pur- 
suant to the new constitutions, each branch of government was still to regard 
itself as an agent of the people, and to behave accordingly. The judiciary's 
relationship to the people was more tenuous than that of the executive or 
legislative branches, which were subject to popular vote. 

For many years in America there had been a fear of judicial discretion, and 
the fact that under the Federal Constitution judges were to enjoy good behav- 
ior tenure while passing on the legitimacy of the acts of the other two branches 
rekindled fears about judicial arbitrariness. The proponents of an enhanced 
judiciary had to counter these arguments by asserting that the judicial func- 
tion would be simply one of law-finding, and not law-making. Judges were to 
guide their decisions only by the clear dictates of reason and common law 
u 

precedent and, ultimately, by the plain words of the con~titution.~ The judges 
would thus be guided by the wishes of the sovereign people as expressed in a 
popularly-approved constitution. Judges' deviations from these guidelines, so 
the argument ran, could be readily perceived and the constitutional remedy 
of impeachment applied.!' 

The federal judicial experience in Pennsvlvania during the late 1790's sug- 
gests that ultimately the Federalist theory about responsible, enhanced judicial 
power did not work. 

11. Law in the District Court-Richard Peters and the 
Beginnings of an American Law of Admiralty 

The Federalists' program of building a commercial America was early 
implemented in Pennsylvania by Federal District Court Judge Richard Peters, 
who was named to the bench in 1 792.j0 Peters had served as registrar of the 
colonial Admiralty Court and was secretary and a member of the revolu- 
tionary Board of War. After independence he served briefly as a United States 
Congressman. In 1787 he was elected to the Pennsylvania Assembly, and in 
1790, to the Pennsylvania Senate. Having served as speaker in both houses, 
he  was thoroughly familiar with the workings of elective politics and popular 
opinion in Pennsylvania. Peters was also well versed in the cIassics and had a 
reading knowledge of Dutch, Spanish, French, and Italian, thus enabling him 
to make full use of civil law authorities. A firm adherent to the Federalist doc- 
trines, his education, family background, and previous experience uniquely 
suited him for the role of expositor of admiralty law. 

The Constitution and thc Judiciary Act had given admiralty jurisdiction to 
Peters's district court, but had not spelled out what substantive maritime law 



the federal courts were to apply." During the Revolutionary period, Ameri- 
cans had strenuously argued that they were fighting to preserve the rights 
guaranteed to them by the English common law12 and in time each state was 
to pass a statute indicating that the English common law, insofar as it was 
consistent with American institutions, was to be in force.13 It might have thus 
been logical to expect that when the Federal Constitution conferred admiralty 
jurisdiction on the federal courts, it was to be understood as granting the mari- 
time jurisdiction of the English common law." From the beginning, however, 
the Pennsylvania Federal District Court indicated that the sources of admir- 
alty jurisprudence were to be much more broad.'" 

Once Peters came to the bench, the technique of admiralty jurisprudence 
of picking the best rule for America from a variety of sources was given full 
expression. In one of his first cases, Peters indicated that since America had 
become an independent nation, it could exercise the sovereign's prerogative of 
making its own law, and thus, as an American admiralty judge, he was not 
subject to the authority of or the limitation on admiralty jurisdiction in the 
English common law.lG For Peters, American admiralty law was to come 
rather from the maritime laws of the "law of nations." 

For example, in Warder v. LaBelle Creole,17 he translated both "an author- 
ity out of Burlemaqui" and the Marine Ordinances of France to establish an 
American rule for admiralty salvage cases. According to "justice and policy," 
wrote Peters, owners of cargoes or ships had to reimburse seamen who had 
rescued their goods from "imminent danger, by great labor, or perhaps at the 
hazard of . . . life."ls Peters subsequently developed this principle to hold that 
the amount of compensation for salvage should be varied according to the 
amount of risk assumed in the salvage operation.19 This is an early illustration 
of what has been called an "actuarial consciousness" on the part of early 
American judges, and demonstrates that Peters was one of the earliest to mold 
American law according to a risk-reward calculus that took into considera- 
tion the needs of the m a r k e t p l a ~ e . ~ ~  

Although Peters drew his admiralty law from a wide variety of obscure and 
foreign sources, he also took pains to see that the law kept in step with the 
actual workings of commerce. In a 1795 case, Hollingsworth v. The B e t ~ e y , ~ ~  
though he had plenary authority as an admiralty judge sitting without a jury, 
he ruled that damages were to be determined by a panel of "intelligent and 
disinterested merchants of this d i s t r i ~ t . " ~ ~  In Swift v. The Happy R e t ~ r n , ? ~  on 
a point involving the time when seamen's wages were due, Peters looked first 
to the laws of Wisby, an ancient commercial power, but decided ultimately 
that "Philadelphia custom" as to the time of payment should govern. Finally, 
in Pollock v. D~naldson, '~ a dispute over the extznt of coverage of a marine 
insurance policy, Peters took the testimony of Mr. Isaac Wharton, "an experi- 
enced insurance broker," and decided that the rule to be followed was "the 
general sense and usage of  merchant^."^" 

In these and other cases, Peters laid down principles which he believed 
would best promote commercial prosperity and economic development. 



Peters creativity in articulating new principles for admiralty law seems to 
foreshadow the work of later nineteenth century judges like Story, Kent, and 
Shaw, who would alter contract, tort, and corporation law to favor commerce 
by promoting a market e c ~ n o m y . ~ "  

It has been suggested that in the early nineteenth century most Americans 
would have favored agricultural over commercial intere~ts.~; There is some 
evidence in the writings of Thomas Jefferson and others that many Americans 
feared and distrusted attempts to make the United States a great commercial 
power, and wished the country to continue as a preserve of simple yeomen.2P 

If there was such an anticommercial spirit in America, how was it that 
Peters was able so frankly to tailor his decisions in a manner to build com- 
merce? One answer is that in Philadelphia at least, even the popular sentiment 
seemed to be procornmer~ial .~~ Nevertheless, since the Philadelphia federal 
court normalIy operated its admiralty jurisdiction without juries, and since the 
expanded jurisdiction of the colonial vice admiralty courts had been opposed 
for the very reason that they operated without juries, one might have expected 
to find at least some hostility to the expansive admiralty jurisdiction in the 
Philadelphia fzderal courts."" 

Perhaps one strong contributing factor to Judge Peters's ability single- 
handedly to promulgate procommercial doctrine was his unwillingness to em- 
broil his district court in issues that would inflame popular opinion. For exarn- 
ple, during a period when Pro-French popular enthusiasm was at a high 
pitch, he refused to find that he had the jurisdiction to determine that French 
capture of British ships in American waters violated American neutrality"' 
even though there was a precedent allowing him so to rule."2 

Still another factor in Peters's success as a procommercial judge was his 
linkage of commerce with agriculture. Peters believed that the success of 
either commerce or agriculture in America would depend upon the constant 
encouragement of both endeavors,"" and Peters practiced what he preached. 
While he was encouraging commerce from the bench, he was promoting agri- 
culture &om his vast country estate, Belmont, on the outskirts of Philadel- 
~ h i a . ~ ~  

Finally, Peters's accomplishments as a judge and his sensitivity to popular 
feeling may stem in part from admirable personal qualities and a wide circle 
of acquaintances. Peters's good humor and generous hospitality were often 
exhibited at Belmont, where he and Mrs. Peters often entertained. Peters was 
on quite friendly terms with Washington," and with the arch-Federalist Tim- 
othy Pickering." In at least the early years of this period, however, Peters 
was aIso on easy social terms with Thomas .Jefferson, and probably with 
James Madison as well."' Since these last two were to become the leaders of 
the "Republican" party, it might be inferred that Peters's personal asociations 
exposed him to a wide variety of political opinion, and that he was in a good 
position to sense the various currents of political and popular opinion and to 
accomodate to them where possible. As will be seen, not every Federalist 
judge was so sensitive to the nuances of political ~ h a n g e . " ~  



111. Civil Cases in the Circuit Court 

At the same time Peters was at work in the district court building an 
admiralty law favorable to commercial progress, several important civil cases 
were litigated in the circuit court, where Peters sat with one or two members 
of the United States Supreme Court. Like the jurisprudence in the district 
court, the civil decisions of the circuit court helped to promote the Federalist 
program. Perhaps the main theme that can be found in these decisions is the 
preservation of the independence of the federal judiciary. The Federalists 
were not the first to create this notion, of course, but it was an important ele- 
ment of their political philosophy, as indicated earlier. These opinions antici- 
pate the work of Chiei Justice Marshall and show the beginnings of what has 
been characterized as an "American Judicial Tradition."'" 

The first dramatic demonstration of judicial independence came in Hny-  
burn's Case.I0 In March of 1792 the United States Congress passed a 
statute4"" setting up a system for determining pensions for soldiers injured in 
the Revolutionary War. The statute directed that the federal circuit court of 
the district where a particular applicant for a pension might reside was to 
determine the amount of the pension to be granted, and the Act further im- 
posed a duty on the circuit court judges to remain in session for five days at 
each sitting for the next two years to take pension applications. Finally, the 
Act gave the Secretary of War the power to strike names forwarded to him 
by the circuit courts, where he should "have cause to suspect imposition or 
mistake." 

On April 18, 1792, Justices Wilson and Blair of the Supreme Court, and 
District Judge Peters, sitting as the Circuit Court for the District of Pennsyl- 
vania, addressed a letter to President Washington, in which they set forth 
their determination to refuse to proceed under the Act. They indicated that 
since any determinations they made were subject to revision by the Secretary 
of War, the scheme set up by the Act was "radically inconsistent with the 
independence of that judicial power given which is vested in  the courts; and, 
consequently, with that important principle which is so strictly observed by 
the Constitution of the United States."" The Pennsylvania Circuit Court's 
refusal to play their part under the Act resulted in an attempt to secure a 
mandamus from the Supreme Court to compel the judges to pass on the claim 
of one pension applicant, William Hayburn. The case was never decided, 
however. because Congress, perhaps sensing the delicate political issues in- 
volved, set up a new pension mechanism which did not involve the judges in 
such determinations.I2 

This declaration of judicial independence by the Pennsylvania Circuit 
Court is particularly striking because it was made in the face of what appears 
to have been strong public sentiment in favor of the pension program." A 
decade earlier, angry Pennsylvania troops had actually caused the members 
of the Continental Congress to withdraw from Philadelphia because of their 
failure to provide payment and pensions.'"t must have taken some courage 



for the members of the circuit court to risk a similar fate." By their actions 
in refusing to proceed under the 1792 Pension Act, the judges of the Federal 
Circuit Court of Pennsylvania not only indicated their belief in judicial inde- 
pendence, but also set precedent for the judicial exercise of the power to 
declare laws of Congress unconst i t~t ional .~~ Two years later, in the unre- 
ported case of United States v. T ~ d d , ~ '  the judges of the Pennsylvania circuit 
were vindicated. The United States Supreme Court apparently held illegal the 
actions of those judges from other circuits who circumvented the indepen- 
dence problems by calling themselves "Commissioners." 

In Van Horne's Lessee v. Dorrance,'* the Pennsylvania Circuit Court again 
exercised the power of judicial review by declaring that a Pennsylvania state 
law violated the Pennsylvania Constitution. In 1787 the Pennsylvania legisla- 
ture had passed an act settling a long dispute over land in Luzerne County, 
Pennsylvania, between citizens of Pennsylvania and Connecticut; the former 
had been granted the land by the prerevolutionary Pennsylvania Proprietors, 
and the latter took their title from Indians and from acts of the Connecticut 
legislature. The Pennsylvania legislature decided that the Pennsylvanians 
should be compensated, but should be made to give up their land. The com- 
pensation was to take the form of title to other parcels of Pennsylvania land, 
vacant property subject to the disposition of the state. Pursuant to the statu- 
tory scheme, the determination of the value of the land taken and the alloca- 
tion of a parcel of corresponding value was to be accomplished by a group of 
specially-appointed con~rnissioners.~!~ One of the Pennsylvania claimants 
whose title was to be given up brought suit to have the statute declared void. 

In the course of the opinion for the court, Justice Paterson, sitting on cir- 
cuit, made a strong statement of judicial powers and duties which anticipated 
the opinion of Justice Marshall in the great case of Marbury v. Madi~on .~ '  
Paterson declared in his charge to the Van Horne jury that under American 
constitutions, unlike the variable practices in England, "[tlhe frame of the 
government, delineated by the mighty hand of the people [estab!ishes] cer- 
tain first principles or fundamental laws [which are to be] the permanent will 
of the people, and the supreme law of the land." In England, Paterson ex- 
plained, Parliament was theoretically omnipotent, but in America, the legisla- 
ture had a duty to conform to the constitutional mandate. Moreover, it was 
the duty of American courts "as a co-ordinate, and not subordinate branch, 
to adhere to the constitution, and to declare the act null and void" where a 
statute transgressed the bounds specified for legislative action." Thus Paterson 
restated the linkage of the judiciary with popular sovereignty-the strong 
selling-point of Federalist political theory,52 

In addition to reflecting the Federalist emphasis on judicial independence 
and judicial review, Paterson's charge emphasized the Federalist predilection 
for the sanctity of private property rights. "If this be the legislation of a 
republican government, in which the preservation of property is made sacred 
by the constitution," he declared, "I ask wherein it differs from the mandate 
of an Asiatic prince? Omnipotence in legislation is depotism."" "An Act of 



this sort deserves no favor," he continued, "to construe it liberally would be 
sinning against the rights of private property.""' In any event, while the full 
delineation of the sphere of protected private property rights under the Fed- 
deral Constitution was not to take place until Marshall's tenure as Chief 
J~s t ice ,~Vaterson  was clearly drawing some of the first sketches in the Penn- 
sylvania federal court years before. 

Other cases involving private law questions which arose in the circuit 
court are not as dramatic as Van Horne's Lessee or Hayburn's Case, but 
several did seem to demonstrate the court's facility with commercial matters 
and its willingness to forge a body of modem commercial law." 

Nevertheless, the convenience of commerce was clearly not the only impor- 
tant value to the Pennsylvania Circuit Court. For example, in Searight \-I. 

CalbraithWa the jury instruction demonstrated the court's insistence on broad 
jury discretion. Justice Iredell instructed the jury: 

As to the damages . . . though it  is true that in actions for a breach of contract, 
a jury should in general give the whole money contracted for and interest; yet in a 
case like the present they may modify the demand, and find such damages as 
they may think adequate to the injury actually s~stained.~: 

Justice Iredell's failure to insist on a judiciary dictated standard for the 
measurement of damages is consistent with eighteen-century jurisprudence, 
which emphasized discretion in the jury to decide contractural cases on the 
basis of the community's sense of "fairness."" His charge reflected a strong 
sense of the jury's importance in this early Federalist period. Even in Van 
Worne's Lessee, Justice Paterson had told the jury: "[lln general verdicts, it 
frequently becomes necessary for the jurors to decide upon the law as well as 
the facts." Paterson was prepared to remind the jury of this power even where 
it was the duty of the court to "adhere to the Constitution and declare [a 
statute] null and void."50 

The old view favoring great jury discretion in determining both law and fact 
was seen to recede as more judges perceived that it should be the province of 
the jury merely to determine facts, leaving the pronouncement of the law for 
the court."" In these early years, however, the predilection for jury discretion 
was still strong, and it is likely that these Federalist judicial decisions in sup- 
port of jury discretion are a manifestation of the same tendzncy to espouse the 
basic principle of popular sovereignty that was present in the "selling" of the 
Federal Constitution. 

IV. The Debate Over the Existence o f  a Federal Common 
Law o f  Crimes 

A. Introduction 

While questions over the role of the jury surfaced sporadically in civil 
cases in the Pennsylvania Circuit Court, it was in matters of criminal juris- 



prudence where the issue became most important. In the most significant case 
of the early years of this period, United Stares v. Henfield," a jury acquittal 
was perceived, at least by some partisans at the time, as rejecting the law and 
policy of the Federal government and as demonstrating popular disenchant- 
ment with Federalist rule.s2 The Henfield case is one of the earliest signs of 
the Federalists losing touch with and being frustrated by popular opinion and 
is thus important to the main theme of this chapter, the "broken promise" of 
Federalist jurisprudence. In particular, Henfield merits study for what it sug- 
gests about popuIar and judicial attitudes toward the existence of a federal 
common law of crimes, or, more generally, the permissibility of the federa1 
courts' punishing offenses which had not been proscribed by any federal 
statute. 

By the late years of the period here under review, this issue had become of 
crucial significance. The emerging "Republicans" took the position that there 
was no federal common law of crimes and saw dark designs in the Federalists' 
assertion that such crimes existed and could be p~nished.~! '  The Republican 
calumny against the Federalists for the latter's efforts to prosecute common 
law crimes probably had some importance to Jefferson's electoral victory in 
1800. Furthermore, the Federalist common law prosecutions served as justi- 
fication for Jeffersonian attempts to cut back the influence of the nationa1 
judiciary.?O 

To this day there is disagreement among legal scholars as to whether the 
Federalist common law prosecutions were legal or instead represented an 
unwarranted usurpation of power." A review of the issue in the Pennsylvania 
federal courts suggests that the Federalist judges may have been legally cor- 
rect, but the strict legal correctness of their position was much less important 
in the uItimate resolution of this issue than were the contemporary ideological 
and political struggles. 

B.  The Henfield Case and its Antecedents 

The Judiciary Act of 1789 gave the federal circuit courts jurisdiction over 
"crimes and offenses cognizable under the authority of the United  state^,"^' 
but the statute did not specify what acts were "crimes and offenses," nor did 
i t  specify the extent of the "authority" of the United States. The first official 
public interpretation of the federal grant of jurisdiction, in 1790, signalled 
that it was to be broadly construed. Chief Justice John Jay charged a Grand 
Jury as follows: "In a word, Gentlemen! Your province and your duty extend 
. . . to the enquiry and presentment of all offenses of every kind, committed 
against the United States . . ."'Vay did not define the term "offenses," but 
did provide some clues as to the scope of "crimes and offenses" against the 
United States. 

First, he suggested that the jurors 

would recollect that the laws of nations make part of the laws of this, and of 
every other civilized nation. They consist of those rules for regulating the 



conduct of nations towards each other, which, resulting from right reason. 
receive their obligation from that principle and from general assent and 
pra~tice.;~ 

The jurors were thus to use their own common sense and their knowledge 
of world and national history to guide them in their search for criminal acts. 

Jay also told the grand jurors to "direct your [attention] also to the conduct 
of the national officers, and let not any corruptions frauds, extortions or 
criminal negligence with which you may find any of them justly chargeable 
pass unnoticed." Jay thus seemed to be defining "offenses against the United 
States" to include virtually any examples of wrongdoing against the govern- 
ment or the public whether or not prohibited by statute. 

Three years later, in a charge to the Grand Jury for the Middle Circuit in 
the District of Virginia, Jay had apparently refined his description of offenses. 
He told the juriors: "The laws of the United States admit of being classed 
under three heads (or) descriptions. 1st. All treaties made under the author- 
ity of the United States. 2nd. The laws of nations. 3dly. The constitution, and 
statutes of the United S t a t e ~ . " ~ J a y  continued in a manner which suggests 
that conduct proscribed by any of these three "heads" of law was a matter 
into which the grand jury should inquire, but in this charge, at least, he 
seemed most concerned with violations of the "law of nations." This was a 
result of the outbreak of war between England and France in January 1793, 
which had violently split American public opinion and had just resulted in 
the "Neutrality Proclamation" issued by President Washington.'"ay quoted 
extensively from the Proclamation and indicated that Washington's instruc- 
tions to prosecute persons who committed, aided, or abetted hostilities against 
any of the belligerents were "exactly consistent with and declaratory of the 
conduct enjoined by the law of  nation^."'^ Jay closed his charge with com- 
ments indicating that the United States' treaties of "firm and perpetual peace" 
also enjoined American citizens from aiding the belligerent powers, and that 
such conduct, as a violation of a treaty, was punishable as a crime.78 

Later, in July 1793, Justice Wilson of the Supreme Court charged a Grand 
Jury for the Middle Circuit in Philadelphia. One of the matters which this 
grand jury was to investigate involved one Gideon Henfield, who was accused 
of engaging in acts hostile to nations at peace with the United States. Henfield 
had allegedly assisted in the capture of an English-prize ship by a French 
privateer. Wilson began his grand jury charge by noting the basis of the 
American judicial system was what he called the "common law." American 
common law, explained Wilson, was like English common law in that its 
"accommodating principle . . . will adjust its improvement to every grade and 
species of improvement . . . in consequence of practice, commerce, observa- 
tion, study or refinement."79 The American common law, said Wilson, like 
every other, was "a social system of jurisprudence. She receives other laws 
and systems into a friendly correspondence; and associates to herself those 
who can give her information, or advice, or a~s i s tance ."~~ Thus, when a 



court was faced with a problem involving the law of other countries, the law 
of merchants, or the law of nations, those bodies of doctrine would become 
assimilated into the common law and would be used in the disposition of the 
particular case?' 

In this manner Wilson arrived at the same point Jay started with in his jury 
charge two months earlier-the United States law .incorporated the law of 
nations. Unlike Jay, however, Wilson carefully explained that he had arrived 
at this destination through the vehicle of what he called the "common law." 
Moreover, the "law of nations" regulated the affairs of individual citizens as 
well as of their countrie~.~"rnong these duties which devolved on individ- 
uals (and on nations) was that of keeping "peace on earth," of living in 
amity with one's neighbors. This meant, said Wilson, that "[A] citizen, who 
in our state of neutrality, and without the authority of the nation, takes an 
hostile part with either of the belligerent powers, violates thereby his duty, 
and the law of his country . . ."03 

Five days later, on July 27, 1793, the grand jury returned an indictment 
against Henfield. The indictment said that his conduct was "to the evil exam- 
ple of all others in like cases offending, in violation of the laws of nations, 
against the laws of the United States in such case made and provided, and 
against the Constitution of the United States, and against the peace and 
dignity of the said United  state^."^^ 

At Henfield's trial, the prosecutor, William Rawle, argued to the petit jury 
along the same lines that Wilson had charged the grand jury. He too ex- 
plained that when individuals join to form a nation they give up the right to 
make war which "in a state of nature" adheres to the individua!. Were this 
not so, Rawle argued, individuals might plunge the nation into unwarranted 
war. These propositions were not "only the speculations of the closet," ex- 
plained Rawle to the jurors, "We see them carried into effect in England in 
affirmation of national common law, i.e., the law of nations." Rawle acknowl- 
edged that in England such conduct was prohibited by statute, but he sug- 
gested that although "the English statute is not in force here, because the 
specific remedy for which aIone it was made cannot be had, the law which 
it aided, not htroduced, is in force." This was so because "the law of nations 
is part of the law of the land." The conduct of Henfield was "an offense 
against the laws of nations" and was punishable by "indictment or informa- 
tion as 

Unfortunately, there is no record of the argument made by counsel for 
Henfield, other than some notes taken by Rawle. These show that the defense 
stressed, inter alia, that Henfield's conduct "did not include an offence at 
common law," and that "independently" of other grounds "as there was no 
statute giving jurisdiction, the Court could take no cognizance of the of- 
fence."se 
In his charge to the petit jury, Justice Wilson sought to answer the question 

raised by Henfield's counsel: Against what law has he oflended? Wilson 
responded: 



As a citizen of the United States, he was bound to act no part which could 
injure the nation; he was bound to keep the peace in regard to all nations with 
whom we are at peace. This is the law of nations; not an ex post facto law, 
but a law that was in existence long before Gideon Henfield existed.87 

In addition, Wilson stressed that Henfield violated the terms of specific treat- 
ies, which were "expressly declared to be part of the supreme law of the 
land." After almost two days of deliberation and several consultations with 
the court, the jury delivered a verdict of not guilty. 

C.  The Meaning o f  the Henfield Case 

Since no  one denied that Henfield committed the acts with which he was 
charged, it was tempting to read the acquittal as a rejection by the jury of the 
law as laid down by the Federalist judges and prosecutors. A piece in the 
National Gazette of Philadelphia, an organ of the emerging opposition to the 
Federalist party,8s proclaimed that "[I]t would be contrary to the principles 
of impartial justice, that any man should, in future be convicted and punished 
for doing what in Gideon Henfield was no crime, and incurred no penalty." 
The paper blasted the Federalist doctrine that suggested that crimes could be 
punished without statutes: 

With respect to the charge of the court which declared explicitly, that the acts 
committed by Gideon Henfield were a violation of the law of the land, and 
punishable, we can only lament that any occasion should arise for introducing 
motives of policy to influence the decisions of our courts of justice.a8 

The article closed with a stirring linkage of the Henfield jury's actions with 
those of a famous English liberty-loving jury: 

When the seven bishops (good and celebrated men) were tried for petitioning 
James the Second, a similar difference of opinion arose between the bench and 
the jury; the people then as the people now exult.ed in the verdict of acquittal; 
and our posterity will, probably, venerate this as we venerate that jury, for 
adding to the security of the rights and liberties of mankind.gn 

It is possible to read the verdict in the Henfield case as a popular rejection 
of the Federalist doctrine of the existence of common law crimes. It is doubt- 
ful, however, that the popular feeling against prosecutions at the law of na- 
tions or at common law was as great as these opposition newspapers made it 
out to be. First, the possibility that some sort of coercion was applied to at 
least one of the Henfield jurors cannot be dismissed. One of their number 
was reported to have declared to the court that "he was induced to the verdict 
because he heard threats made out of doors against any one who should op- 
pose the acq~ittal."~' Second, the juriors' acquittal of Henfield may have 
flowed more from Henfield's personal circumstances than from any hostility 
to the nature of the presecution. Thomas Jefferson wrote shortly after the 
trial : 



I t  appeared on the trial, that the crime was not knowingly and wilfully 
committed: that Henfield was ignorant of the unlawfulness of his undertaking; 
that, in the moment he was apprized of it he showed real contrition; that he 
had rendered meritorious services during the late war, and declared that he 
would live and die an Ameri~on.~' 

A final explanation of Henfield's acquittal is that the epidemic of Franco- 
philia which had swept America shortly after the revolutionary events of 
1789 was apparently still running fairly strongly, and Henfield's activities in 
aiding France niay have been perceived by the majority of the jurors as 
"combating for liberty against the combined despots of Europe."" Thus, 
admiration for the French Republicans rather than hostility to the form of 
Federalist prosecution may have influenced the Henfield jury. 

That there was at this time no overwhelming popular opposition to the 
doctrine that crimes could be prosecuted without statutes is also evident from 
the proceedings in the case of United States v .  Ravara,"" tried one year after 
Henfield. Ravara was a consul from Genoa who was accused of sending 
threatening letters to the British minister and to several other persons "with 
a view to extort m ~ n e y . " ~ "  

At the trial, Ravara's defense was made on three grounds: first, that at 
common law what Ravara had done was no crime; second, that by virtue of 
his being a consul "the law of nations" (which was said to be a part of the 
law of the United States) made him "independent of the ordinary criminal 
justice of the place where he reside[d]"; and third, that the evidence was sim- 
ply too circumstantial to support a verdict.*" Thus, even the defense in this 
case appears to have acknowledged the authority of the common law and the 
law of nations. The prosecutor, again Mr. Rawle, maintained that "the offence 
was indictable at common law; that the consular character of the defendent 
gave jurisdiction to the circuit court, . . . [and] that the proof was as strong as 
the case allowed."" The same position was taken by the court (Jay and 
Peters) in its charge to the jury. "[Alfter a short consultation," the jury 
"pronounced the defendant guilty."Ys Like Henfield, Ravara was a case in 
which no statute proscribed the criminal conduct. Devoid of the peculiar 
cjrcumstances which may have skewed the Henfield verdict, the guilty verdict 
in  Ravara belies any overwhelming popular sentiment against such prosecu- 
tions. 

Nevertheless, the Henfield verdict was apparently read by the wiser Feder- 
alists as a sign that prosecutions without statutes were risky. Henfield's acquit- 
tal "alarmed President Washington," who sought and obtained legislation 
from Congress proscribing conduct like Henfield's.'"' A case under the new 
law, United States v .  Guinet,'Oo was tried in the Pennsylvania Circuit Court in 
1795. The jury apparently had no trouble in rendering a guilty verdict. Since 
Henfield was acquitted of a similar charge when the prosecution was brought 
at common law, it would be possible to read the guilty verdict in Guinet as 
evidence of popular approval of Federalist prosecutions for the same act 
where it was outlawed by statute. This would have to be a tentative reading, 



however, since there were other differences in the two cases which might have 
influenced a jury. First, Guinet was apparently involved principally for 
money, whereas Henfield was at least arguably a disinterested lover of liberty. 
Also, the predominant pro-French mood of the country had largely dissi- 
pated by 1795 owing to the atrocities of the September Massacres of 1792, 
the Reign of Terror of 1793-1 794, and George washington's denunciation 
of the pro-French "Democratic Societies" in late 1794. 

As of 1795, then, it does not seem possible to conclude that American 
public opinion had reached a consensus on the legitimacy of prosecution in 
federal courts in cases without a statutory basis. While there were several 
successful common-law prosecutions immediately after the Henfield case,'0' 
none of these occurred in Pennsylvania, and the issue did not surface again 
there until 1798, in the strange case of United States v .  W ~ r r a i i . ' ~  

D. The Worrall Case 

Robert Worrall was a businessman of sorts who in 1797 had unsuccessfully 
attempted to bribe the United States Commissioner of Revenue into awarding 
him a contract for the construction of a government lighthouse. By this time. 
Congress had passed statutes providing punishments for bribing judges, offi- 
cers of the "customs," or officers of the "excise," but there was no statute 
explicitly proscribing attempts to bribe the Commissioner of Revenue. Never- 
theless, it was reasonably clear that at English common law such an attempt 
at bribery was an indictable crime.'" Worrall was indicted by a grand jury 
and brought to trial in the Federal Circuit Court for the District of Pennsyl- 
vania before Judge Peters and Justice Samuel Chase. The trial jury found 
Mr. Worrall guilty. Defense counsel's apparent failure to argue the illegality 
of indictments without supporting statutes and the grand jury's previous 
indictment of Worrall again suggest a lack of popular appeal for that legal 
argument, or at least a lack of popular appeal of Robert Worrall. It might be 
of some significance that in early 1798 popular support for the Federalists 
was running fairly high in the wake of the X, Y, Z affair and the atrocities of 
the French Reign of Terror.ln4 

Following the verdict, Alexander James Dallas, counsel for Mr. Worrall, 
moved in arrest of judgment on the grounds that the circuit court was without 
authority to take cognizance of the crime charged in the indictment. Dallas 
suggested that all the judicial authority of the federal courts had to be derived 
either from the Constitution or from acts of Congress and that "the crime of 
attempting to bribe, the character of a Federal officer, and the place where 
the present offense was committed" were not specified in any constitutional 
provision, nor had there been an act of Congress which expressed these ele- 
ments. Moreover, Dallas argued that the provision of the eleventh section of 
the Judiciary Act of 1789 giving the Federal courts jurisdiction over "crimes 
and offenses cognizable under the authority of the United States" referred 
only to express constitutional provisions and statutes passed by C~ngress . ' "~  



Dallas took the position that a construction of the Judiciary Act more liberal 
than this would "destroy all the barriers between the judicial authorities of 
the state and the general government." If the present case were allowed, "any- 
thing which can prevent a Federal officer from the punctual, as well as from 
an impartial performance of his duty; an assault and battery or the recovery 
of a debt, as well as the offer of a bribe," said Dallas, "may be made a 
foundation of the jurisdiction of this court."1n6 

The Federal government, Dallas argued, by virtue of the tenth amendment 
to the Con~titution'"~ was one of limited, enumerated, and delegated powers. 
Thus, sirice the Constitution spelled out in article 1 :  section 8, that Congress 
could pass statutes providing for the "punishment of counterfeiting . , . 
piracies and felonies . . . and offenses against the law of nations,"'0s and 
since the Constitution also provided that laws might be passed "necessary 
and proper for carrying into execution the powers of the general govern- 
ment,"'"" the federal courts were without power to act unless a specific statute 
were passed making bribing the commissioner a crime. Dallas then distin- 
guished the indictment against Henfield as involving a violation of treaties 
(over which the Constitution expressly gave the federal government power) 
and that against Ravara as a proceeding against a consul (a proceeding also 
explicitly permitted in the Constitution) .'In 

The prosecutor, Rawle, argued that Henfieid and Ravara were indistin- 
guishable from Worrall in that all had been proceedings at common law, 
insofar as no statutes were involved in any of the cases.lll As soon as Rawle 
had suggested that other federa1 cases had been brought by virtue of indict- 
ments sought at common law, Justice Chase broke in: "Do you mean, Mr. 
Attorney, to support this indictment solely at common law? If you do, I have 
no difficulty upon the subject. The indictment cannot be maintained in this 
Court." Rawle answered "in the affirmative." Chase then delivered an opin- 
ion from the bench which seems to have been written anticipating Rawle's 
argument. 

As did Dallas, Chase emphasized that the departments of the United States 
Government could not assume any powers that were "not expressly granted 
by" the Constitution. For Chase it was "essential that Congress should define 
the offences to be tried, and apportion the punishments to be inflicted. . ."112 

Chase declared that i t  was impermissible to resort to the common law "for a 
definition and punishment of the offence which had been committed," be- 
cause "in my opinion, the United States, as a Federal government, have no 
common law." Unlike the states, wrote Chase, the "United States" did not 
bring the common law with them from England, and neither the Constitution 
nor a federal statute had adopted it. Moreover, since the common law of 
each particular state varied according to its "local situation," there was no 
uniform body of common law that could be said to be applicable to the 
federal government."" 

When Chase had finished, Judge Peters, who was sitting with Chase, ex- 
pressed his opinion that Chase was wrong, and that the prosecutor had cor- 



rectly stated the law. For Peters the power "to preserve itself" was a "neces- 
sary and inseparable" feature of any government. The United States, he said, 
were "constitutionally possessed" of the "common law power" to punish 
misdemeanors. While it was true that Congress could exercise this power in 
the form of a legislative act, the power could also "be enforced in a course 
of judicial proceeding.""" 

Chase was the only Federalist judge to utter the heresy that there was no 
federal common law. Soon the Republicans were to take up the claim and 
bandy it about the halls of Congress, in private correspondence, and in pub- 
lic manifestos. As Republican suspicions grew that the Federalists were going 
to use a "federal common law" to harass and imprison critics of the adminis- 
tration, the issue of the existence of a federal common law became a hot 
political controversy. As the late Professor Julius Goebel pointed out, the 
debates in late 1798 and 1799 were filled more with political rhetoric than 
with legal analysis and did not resolve the question of the legal correctness 
of Peters's or Chase's views."" 

Professor Goebel believed that it was not the intention of the Framers of 
the Constitution to make the common law "the basic jurisprudence that 
would prevail in the new system." They intended, he believed, merely to take 
selected parts of the common law to fill out the definition of words like 
"Equity," "Jury," or " T r e a ~ o n . " ' ~ ~  Still, it was the Federalist position that by 
incorporation of common law terms the United States Constitution implicitly 
incorporated the entire common 1aw.l 

Even i f  Goebel, Chase, and Dallas were right about the Constitution's not 
incorporating a federal common law, however, it is still at least theoretically 
possible that the incorporation of this jurisprudence could have been accom- 
plished by a federal statute. Chase himself acknowledged this p~ssibility."~ 
Peters, delivering his Worrall opinion immediately after Chase, stated his 
belief that the language of the Judiciary Act giving the federal circuit court 
jurisdiction over "all crimes and offences cognizable under the authority of 
the United States" was intended to create a federal common law of crimes.ug 
In his landmark article on the history of the 1789 Judiciary Act, Charles 
Warren argued that such incorporation wus the intention of C ~ n g r e s s . ' ~ ~  

In the final analysis, there may be no way of knowing just what was in- 
tended by the Framers of the Constitution and Judiciary Act. The intentions 
of individual framers may have been completely different, depending upon 
their particular philosophical or political beliefs. In the Constitutional Con- 
vention of 1787, for example, the delegates maintained different interpreta- 
tions over just what had been proposed with regard to the questions of the 
extent of federal sovereignty and the role of the federal courts in judicial 
review, and a particular delegate's view was influenced by his predilection 
for "nationalism" or "states'-rights."'" The Judiciary Act of 1789 was also 
a compromise and an ambiguous measure which did not give either those 
favoring "broad" jurisdiction in the lower federal courts or those favoring 
iurisdiction over federal questions in the state courts all they desired.I2* In 



this atmosphere, it seems likely that many key measures, like the provisions 
for federal criminal jurisdiction, may have been ambiguously worded com- 
promises deliberately leaving room for different interpretations. 

Nevertheless, even where the legislative history was fairly certain, we 
should not be too surprised to find partisans disagreeing about the meaning 
of particular phrases. For example, even though it was apparentty clear that 
states' rights advocates "failed in their attempts to alter the proposal that was 
to become the tenth amendment so as to limit the federal government to those 
powers 'expressly' delegated by the Constitution," those advocates or their 
descendants were not above "frequently but incorrectly" insisting that the 
tenth amendment had made implied federal powers illegal.12" 

Something like this seems to have happened right in the Worrall trial 
where both defense counsel Dallas and Justice Chase spoke as though the 
provisions of the tenth amendment forbid the application of a federal com- 
mon law oi crimes because the Constitution does not expressly grant such 
power. In seeking an explanation for the divergence of judicial views in the 
Worrall case, then, the widespread division in opinion over the extent of the 
sovereignty of the federal government looks attractive. According to this 
view, Richard Peters, a believer in strong federal sovereignty, would be 
expected to take the position he did-endorsing a strong federal government 
capable of exercising inherent powers of self-defense. But how, then, does 
one explain the views of Justice Chase, who seems to be taking a states-rights 
position in Worrall but who later was to become the most blatant symbol of 
aggrandizing Federali~m?"~ 

Some commentators on the political dispute which was soon to develop 
over the existence of a federal common law of crimes attribute the division 
of opinion to the Federalist/Republican split over the extent of power that 
the Constitution granted to the central government. A consideration of 
Chase's background and political views and his subsequent behavior in the 
Worrall case itself suggests that the Chase/Peters split was over these same 
issues that divided the Federalists and the Republicans. The split in Worrall, 
though, probably reflected the vestiges of divisions within the Federalist 
party itself. As i t  became clearer to Samuel Chase that the current political 
situation called for political hegemony, following this initial opinion, Chase 
may have "purified" his views to be more in accord with his new-found 
Federalist brethren. 

Immediately after the opinions were delivered in Worrall, when i t  became 
clear that Chase and Peters were divided over the existence of a federal corn- 
mon law, the two judges suggested that Worrall's counsel bring the matter to 
the Supreme Court for a definitive ruling."The defendant, probably realis- 
tically concluding that he stood little chance with his arguments in the 
Supreme Court, refused to appeal. Chase and Peters then withdrew for "a 
short consultation.""" There is no hard evidence on what happened during 
this time, but Wharton, as a note to his report of the case, suggests that Chase 
and Peters consulted other members of the Supreme Court who were con- 



veniently present in According to this hypothesis, Chase was 
then informed of the belief on the part of the other justices, particularly 
Oliver EIIswort h, that prosecutions under a federal common law of crimes 
were permissible and de~irable ."~ Chase and Peters returned to the circuit 
court, reconvened, and sentenced Worrall to a term of imprisonment of three 
months and a fine of $200. 

The fact that Chase was ultimately willing to join in the imposition of 
punishment certainly suggests that his views on the law were malleable. In- 
deed, a complete reversal in his position on a federal common law is what 
seems to have happened. A year after Worrall, in 1799, Chase "presided in 
the case of United States v .  S y l v e ~ t e r , ' ~ ~  common-law prosecution for 
counterfeiting, which ended in a conviction and a sentence of one year in 
jail and a $100 fine." Justice Chase might we11 have been persuaded by his 
brethren that the political necessities of the time required a federa1 common 
law jurisdiction. 

Federalist hysteria was beginning to run high in 1798, and the Alien and 
Sedition Acts were shortly to be passed. Even before these Acts, however, 
the need was felt to prosecute for seditious libel at common law. One such 
prosecution was begun in Philadelphia a scant few weeks after the Worrall 
case. On June 26, 1798, Benjamin Franklin Bache, who had long been the 
most strongly anti-Federalist of newspaper publishers,130 was arrested. Since 
the Sedition Act had not yet been passed, the offense was one at common law 
for seditious IibeI. His counsel appeared before Judge Peters, to argue that 
there was no Iegal support for prosecution of a federal common law offense 
and cited the opinion of Justice Chase from the Worrall case. Judge Peters 
indicated that he had not changed his opinion from the Worrall case, and that 
as far as he was concerned, the law was as he (Peters) had stated it. Bache 
died before he could even be indicted. Since the Sedition Act was soon 
passed, and had the appearance of a more "liberal" measure, there were no 
further attempted Federalist prosecutions in the iederal courts for common 
law seditious libel.131 

Given the close proximity in time of the Bache arrest and the Worrall 
case, it is possible that Chase was made aware by his brother judges of the 
desirability of prosecuting Bache at common law. Chase tended to be quick 
on the trigger, and he may not have realized the political implications when 
he issued his Worraii opinion. Perhaps he may have been reminded that he 
had promised when he was appointed that the President "shall never have 
reason to regret the n~mination."'"~ 

In any event, Chase's "mistake" about the existence of a federal common 
law was not repeated by any other federal judge in the period with which we 
are concerned. This issue was finally decided by the Supreme Court in 181 2 
in the case of United States v .  Hudson & Go~dwin .~~"n  Hudson, Mr. Justice 
Johnson, speaking for the Court, stated that the question "whether the Circuit 
Courts of the United States can exercise a common-law jurisdiction in crimi- 
nal cases" was then before the Supreme Court "for the first time." Neverthe- 



less, said Johnson, "we consider it as having been long since settled in public 
opinion," and he proceeded to rule, in accordance with this "public opinion," 
that there was no federal common law jurisdiction. In essence, Johnson's 
opinion was bottomed on little more than the bald assertion, much like that 
of Chase in Worrall, that "[tlhe legislative authority of the Union must first 
make an act a crime, affix a punishment to it, and declare the court that shall 
have jurisdiction of the offence."'" The real source of the acceptance of this 
principle would seem to be more in what Johnson called "public opinion" 
than in the United States Constitution. It remains to be explored here, how- 
ever, why the position of the Federalist judges of 1799 was so decisively 
rejected by the "public opinion" Justice Johnson referred to in 1812. The 
conduct of one man, Samuel Chase, probably had as much to do  with direct- 
ing public opinion against the Federalist judges as all the other factors com- 
bined.'" Before proceeding to an examination of Chase's further conduct on 
the bench, it is necessary to make something of a detour to consider in greater 
detail the biography of Samuel Chase, and what could have caused him to 
take inconsistent positions in Worrall. 

V .  Samuel Chase and the Turbulence of the 1790's 

According to the conventional view of Mr. Justice Samuel Chase, he was 
"a 'hanging judge' i f  such ever sat on the bench of the Supreme Court of the 
United States."'"The conventilinal view of Chase, however, ignores many 
complexities in the character of the man, in his political conceptions, and in 
the times in which he lived. 

While some mystery still surrounds Chase's political career, it is apparent 
that during the revolutionary and early national years Chase was perceived as 
a magnificent champion of the people.'"' He was a signer of the DecIaration 
of Independence, and served the patriot cause during the Revolutionary War. 
During and after the war, Chase assumed an active role in Maryland state 
politics. He was a principal architect of the Maryland Constitution of 1776. 
This document was "fraught with checks and balances, and with . . . powers 
so distributed between aristocracy and people, that destructive radicalism 
seemed impossible." Nevertheless, during Chase's service in the Continental 
Congress and in the Maryland legislature in the 1780's he proved that a 
politician demagogically playing for the multitudes could launch the most 
outrageous schemes for private profit at public expense. While Chase's most 
daring schernes for personal financial aggrandizement were apparently regu- 
larly exposed, his success with Maryland popular politics, and in particular 
his attacks on the Maryland "aristocracy," insulated him from serious per- 
sonal or political harm.'"R Chase's sensitivity to Maryland popular opinion, 
or possibly his sincere feelings about concentrated and centralized aristocratic 
authority, led him to become a vehement opponent of the proposed Federal 
Constitution on the grounds that i t  too tightly constricted the sovereignty of 
the individual states.'"" 



By 1796 Chase was ready to do some political trimming and to join the 
Federalist administration. Chase may have ultimately been motivated by per- 
sonal ambition, but there is evidence that by this time, when he was well into 
middle age, his earlier democratic fire had cooled.140 Nevertheless, the last 
vestiges of Chase as a popular states-rights advocate probably surfaced in his 
opinion in the Worrall case. Just as Jefferson and Madison would later, Chase 
opposed a federal common law in his Worrall opinion because he wished to 
limit the sovereignty of the federal government to express grants in the Con- 
stitution. As indicated, it is likely that when reminded of his obligations to 
his new political fellows and when reminded of the real difficulties of the 
times, Chase abandoned this last vestige of antifederalism. 

As the events of the 1790's in Pennsylvania and elsewhere demonstrated 
significant popular dissatisfaction with the perceived policy of the ruling 
Federalists, Chase's political allegiance to the Federalists hardened still fur- 
there until he was to engage in the activities that were to make him a hated 
symbol of partisanship. Before describing Chase's later manifestations of 
extremism, then, it seems worthwhile to consider their source, to pause to 
explore the political atmosphere of the late 1790's. One need look no further 
than events in Pennsylvania. 

In 1794, for example, when the United States Government sought to col- 
lect long overdue revenues under an excise tax on whiskey originally passed 
by Congress in 179 1, the residents of western Pennsylvania resisted collection 
with violence. The tax struck hard at the economy of the region west of the 
Allegheny Mountains. Many of the residents of that region engaged in armed 
attacks on federal excise officials in the summer of 1794, often resorting to 
the use of tar and feathers. For several months during 1794, federal authority 
was completely ended in western Pennsylvania. Federal commissioners sent to 
observe the situation concluded that "nothing less than the physical strength 
of the nation could enforce the law in western Pennsylvania.""' Several 
thousand men of western Pennsylvania took up arms in oppositior~ to the 
federal statute,142 and President Washington finally dispatched a contingent of 
15,000 federal troops to restore the authority of the federal government to the 
affected area.14" Similar, although not as violent or extensive, citizen resist- 
ance to federal taxes broke out in eastern Pennsylvania in 1799, in the so- 
called "Hot Water War," or  "Fries's Rebellion." This time the disturbances 
centered on a proposed assessment on houses, but the methods of opposition 
were close to those utilized in the "Whisky Rebellion" of 1794. The Federal- 
ists also quelled the 1799 uprising by the dispatch of federal troops, this time 
authorized by President Adams."' 

Compounding the problems caused to the Federalist administration by the 
two rebellions in Pennsylvania during these years was the rise of a virulent 
opposition press. During the early 1790's two newspapers, Philip Freneau's 
National Gazette, and Benjamin Franklin Bache's Philadelphia General Ad- 
vertiser (the name was changed to Philadelphia Aurora in 1800), grew more 
and more openly hostile to the Federalists. By 1798, as indicated, the Fed- 



eralists sought to silence Bache by prosecution at common law for seditious 
libel. Almost immediately following Bache's death, the editorship of the 
Aurora was taken up by William Duane, who raged so bitterly against the 
Federalists that he may have had the major responsibility for the passage of 
the Sedition Law of 1798, an attempt to silence him. In particular, Duane 
took the Federalists to task for their handling of the Fries affair, and pre- 
sented their conduct as a gross overreaction to the situation.14" 

It seems to be the currently accepted wisdom of American historians that 
the Federalists "overreacted" to the two Pennsylvania  rebellion^.'^^ To a 
great extent this is the wisdom of hindsight. 

To contemporaries the Whisky Rebellion and even Fries's Rebellion 
appeared as real threats to the continued existence of an independent and 
complete United States. Many responsible Americans, not all of them firm 
adherents to the Federalist faith, felt that the Whisky Rebellion had the 
potential of developing into a full-scale civil war.I4' Even the consensus 
accounts of the period acknowledge that the "Whisky Rebellion had the 
potential to spread to several other states, and to affect a great many Ameri- 
can  citizen^.""^ Similar judgments about the seriousness of the situation in 
Fries's Rebellion were made.149 

It would have been easy, if not inevitable, for Chase and other Federalists 
to see the events of the 1790's-particularly the Whisky Rebellion, Fries's 
Rebellion, and the activities of the opposition press-as a part of a pattern 
of events they had seen before. This pattern could be observed in both the 
recent American and European experience. During the colonial period it was 
a fairly common occurrence for Americans seeking redress from perceived 
abuses to bring their causes into the streets. Most of these demonstrations 
had been brought about through well-organized committees of insurgents, 
and often those fomenting the disturbances implemented their schemes 
through written articles or "constitutions" to which many citizens were per- 
suaded to subscribe. In some instances, the power of the insurgents was so 
great that they were able to intimidate voters, to levy their own taxes, to dic- 
tate to colonial courts, and to deploy their own militia, In several colonies, 
extra-legal groups which had started as popular resistance movements to royal 
government eventually metamorphosed into provincial congresses. Repre- 
sentatives of these groups became the Continental Congress which was to 
declare independence.lSo 

During the period of the Confederation (the decade following the Decla- 
ration of Independence), men of wealth and influence in America had 
watched uneasily the increasing frequency of organized demonstrations by 
the "people out of doors."'" While it was one thing for ~mer i cans  such 
as the "Sons of Liberty" to stage demonstrations against the British before 
the Revolutionary war,'" it was quite another for these popular demonstra- 
tions to continue after the British enemy had been routed.I5" The Federalists 
of the late 17903, men like John Adams and Samuel Chase, had once con- 
doned and even participated in demonstrations of popular sentiment during 



the revolutionary years.'" But once American independence had been won 
and governments presumably responsive to popular sentiment had been 
erected, these "old Whigs" began to worry about the continued popular dis- 
cord. During the late 1770's, mobs often roamed the streets intimidating 
merchants, dictating prices, and generally disturbing the peace. In the 1790's 
there were riots in Boston, New Haven, Philadelphia, and Charleston. Worst 
of all, in western Massachusetts in 1786, the popular uprising known as 
Shays's Rebellion ended the authority of the Massachusetts legislature and 
judiciary for several months until the state militia restored it. Even in con- 
servative Virginia, courthouses were burned and tax collectors were stopped. 
In Pennsylvania during the Whisky and Fries's Rebellions, the press and 
popular demagogues had inflamed the people with notions that no govern- 
ment had the right to tax them and that the Federalists were bent on crushing 
the people through the establishment of an aristocracy and a monarchy.155 

By the early 1790's these popular ideas and popular disturbances seemed 
to bear too close a resemblance to what was then happening in France to be 
taken lightly. The 1794 Whisky Rebellion occurred two years after the Sep- 
tember Massacres in France, where more than 1,000 people had been exe- 
cuted, and approximately one year after the French Regicide and the 
atrocities of the Terror, in which more than 20,000 people lost their lives.156 
The fact that the American "Democratic Societies," groups vocally supportive 
of the French Jacobins, appeared to have been implicated in fomenting the 
Whisky Rebellion encouraged the parallels between the disorders in France 
and A m e r i ~ a . ' ~ ~  

While the atrocities of the Terror abated in France after 1794, other 
French activities continued to alarm the Federalists. Even the somewhat 
more conservative French Directory did not appear to have abandoned the 
announced French goal of promising "French aid to all peoples wishing to 
regain their natural liberty."'" Americans watched with increased concern 
the French absorption of Belgium, the Rhineland, Savoy, and Nice, and the 
creation with French aid of "buffer republics" in Holland, Switzerland, and 
I t a l y . " ~ I l  of this led to the "undeclared" naval war with France of 1797- 
1800. 

Once the news of the French fiasco at Trafalgar in August of 1798 reached 
America however, the political climate in America bzgan to change. Fears of 
French invincibility somewhat dissipated. There was now less alarm at the 
possibility of yielding to French force and thus risking a war with Britain. 
The collapse of commerce, public credit, and fiscal planning that would 
accompany such a war then seemed more unlikely. Nevertheless, many Fed- 
eralists continued to worry about events in France being repeated in the 
United States. In June 1799 a parliamentary revolution overthrew the dicta- 
torial French Directory, and legislation was passed imposing "a forced loan 
on the rich . . . and a law which permitted the authorities to take hostages in 
the families of notorious emigres or suspects . . ."Im This news came a year 
after the bloody Irish rebellion which ended in late June of 1798. All of this 



must have added to perennial Federalist fears of an American popular 
uprising. 

Francis Wharton, in the introduction to his Stale Trials, published in 1849, 
writes of the years of the late 1790's as "by far the gloomiest period in our 
history," and a period when there was actually a threat that part of the 
American West would fall under direct foreign d~mination.~'; '  As late as 1799 
both the Federalist Attorney General of the United States, Charles Lee, and 
Alexander James Dallas, a leading Republican, carried sword canes, in fear 
of the general political Small wonder, then, that Adams might send 
in troops or  that other Federalists might assume that the French experience 
might be repeated here. As we will soon see, these attitudes and assumptions 
influenced the workings of the federal courts of Pennsylvania and resulted in 
the "broken promise" of Federalist jurisprudence. 

VI.  The Federalist Reaction to Popular Uprisings 
Reflected in the Courts 

A. The 'Ireason Trials 

The Trials of the Whisky Rebels-In 1795 several persons apprehended 
by the "federal" troops in the effort to stop the Whisky Rebellion were 
brought to trial at the federal Circuit Court for Pennsylvania before Judge 
Peters and Justice Paterson. These were the first trials for treason in the fed- 
eral courts. They established the precedent that armed opposition to execu- 
tion of a United States statute (in this case the excise tax on whiskey) 
amounted to "levying war" against the United States and thus came within 
the constitutional definition of treason.";" Justice Paterson's opinion on the 
law in  one of these cases as delivered to the jury clearly accepted the notion 
of the prosecutor, William Rawle: "What constiti!tes a levying of war . . . 
must be the same, in technical interpretation, whether committed under a 
republican, or a regal form of government; since either institution may be 
assailed and subverted by the same means."" '~awlc 's  English common law 
authority that "raising a body of men to obtain, by intimidation or violence, 
the repeal of a law, or to oppose and prevent by force and terror, the execu- 
tion of a law, is an act of levying war" was clearly reflected in Justice Pater- 
son's summation to the jury, and thus passed into American Law.lG6 

These trials reflected a willingness on the part of the judges to act in a 
manner that aided the national government. In some early pretrial skirmish- 
ing, for instance, Judge Peters stated that the federal judiciary should not be 
harnstrung by delicate niceties of state procedure. Counsel for some of the 
prisoners had argued that the prosecutions were not being carried on in con- 
formity with the requirements of section 29 of the Judiciary Act, which 
seemed to require that matters of jury selection should be in accordance with 
state practice.ll;Veters diplomatically accepted some of these objections, and 
accordingly postponed the trials until compliance with state law could be 
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accon~plished, but he rejected arguments based on other technical infractions 
of state law: 

The legislature of a state have in their consideration a variety of local 
arrangements, which cannot be adapted to the more expanded policy of the 
nation. It never could have been in the contemplation of congress, by any 
reference to state regulations, to defeat the operation of the nationaI laws.16' 

Peters cited no authority in support of these propositions. 
The wish to aid the federal prosecution looms even larger in Justice Pater- 

son's jury charges. In United States v. Vig01,'~~ Paterson appears to have 
usurped the jury's factfinding function by declaring at the outset of this charge: 

With respect to the evident:> the current runs one way. It harmonizes in all its 
parts. It proves that the prisoner was a member of the party . . . who, at each 
place, committed acts of violence and devastation . . . With respect to the 
intention to suppress the office of excise, likewise, there is not, unhappily, the 
slightest possibifity of doubt.'"" 

Similarly, in United States v .  M i t ~ h e l l , " ~  Paterson told the jury that the 
first question for them to consider was whether the object of the insurrection 
was the treasonous intention to prevent the execution of an Act of Congress. 
He then stated: "Taking the testimony in a rational and connected point of 
view, this was the object." Paterson concluded his charge with the assertion 
that 

Upon the whoIc, . . . the prisoner [Mitchell] must be pronounced guiity. The 
consequences are not to weigh with the jury:-it is their province to do justice; 
the attribute of mercy is placed by our Constitution in other hands."' 

Paterson's dictating factual conclusions to the juries in these cases was 
probably sanctioned by English tradition,""ut seems objectionabIe when 
we take into consideration the emerging American standards of great discre- 
tion for juries in criminal cases."" In a scant few years, summary conduct 
like Paterson's would meet with great popular resistance when it was indulged 
in by Justice Chase at  the trials of Fries and Cooper. 

The First TriaE for Treason of  John Fries-As indicated earlier, five years 
after the Whisky Rebellion, "Fries's Rebellion" took place in eastern Penn- 
sylvania. Many yeomen of Northampton, Montgomery, and Bucks counties 
in eastern Pennsylvania organized protests against some new federal taxes 
which had been imposed in anticipation of hostilities with France. While 
there was no real bloodshed from the tax resisters, there was, during the 
months of 1799, much marching around by armed troops in uniform, and at  
least one overt act of rebellion-the liberation of prisoners from the custody 
of a federal marshal by means of armed militia. 

The chief perpetrators of agitation, including John Fries, who led the free- 
ing of the federal prisoners, were brought to trial for treason before Judge 



Peters and Justice Iredell in 1799. The case aroused interest in the Pennsyl- 
vania press, and the trial immediately took on dramatic political overtones. 
Acting as lawyers for the defense were William Lewis, a former federal judge, 
and Alexander James Dallas, fast becoming the kingpin of the emerging 
Pennsylvania Republican organization. 

Once again the beginnings of the trial reveal a tendency on the part of the 
judges to favor the prosecution. On April 30, 1799, Lewis moved for the 
Fries trial to be removed from Philadelphia to Northampton County, the 
place where Fries's offense was alleged to have been committed. His motion 
was made pursuant to section 29 of the Judiciary Act, which mandated trial 
in the county whcre the offense had ~ c c u r r e d . ' ~ ~ e t e r s  stated that "a fair 
and impartial trial ought to be had, which he was certain could not be held 
in the county of N o r t h a m p t ~ n . " ~ ~ S i m i l a r l y ,  Iredell questioned: "If nearly 
one whole county has been in state of insurrection, can it be said that a fair 
trial can be had there?"li"he motion was denied. If there was anything in 
the spirit of this section of the Judiciary Act that sought to give the defendant 
the benefit of a svmpathetic trial among his neighbors, it was clear that it was 
not of paramount importance to Peters or Iredell. 

At the trial, the thrust of Fries's counsel's defense was to persuade the jury 
that armed resistance to a federal officer's execution of a federal statute was 
not the crime of treason. Lewis and Dallas, in short, were exhorting the jurors 
in Fries's case to arrive at the opposite conclusion from that laid down by 
Justice Paterson, Judge Peters, and by the jurors in !he trials of the Whisky 
Rebels. The technique of arguing the law to the jury was tacitly approved 
by Peters and Iredell.1i7 

Fries's counsel did not argue that their client was innocent of all crimes, 
but simply that he was not guilty of the heinous crime of treason. They cited 
abuses of the treason doctrine in England. Two examples were cited with 
great enthusiasm. For one, defense counsel described how once, in the "dark 
ages of English jurisprudence" when the king killed a yeoman's stag, the yeo- 
man, in a fit of anger "wished the horns of the stag in the king's belly." The 
yeoman was swiftly, and apparently successfully, prosecuted for treason. As 
an even more egregious travesty, for the second example, the case was given 
of an innkeeper who kept an inn called "the sign of the crown." He had 
bragged that he would make his son "heir to the crown," and so he was con- 
victed of t r e a s ~ n . " ~  They then argued that in a "free republic" like America, 
the application of the doctrine of treason should be so limited that the phrase 
"levying war" would only apply to cases where armed men sought "to put an 
end to the government," where a part of "the Union" sought to "throw off 
the authority of the United States," or where rebels actually marched on the 
legislature or the executive. Opposing laws, they urged, might constitute 
"sedition" or common law "rescue," but not the capital crime of treason.lTD 
Lewis and Dallas urged that in the new American Republic, there was a need 
for a maximum freedom of expression of political sentiments and that a broad 
application of the treason doctrine was inconsistent with this need.la0 



After more than a week of impassioned arguments by Lewis and Dallas, 
Iredell and Peters charged the jury. Peters maintained that the Vigol and 
Mitchell cases (The Whisky Rebellion trials) governed. By opposing a law, 
said Peters, "the rights of all are invaded by the force and violence of a few" 
and "a deadly blow is aimed at the government, when its fiscal arrangements 
are forcibly destroyed, distracted and impeded; for on its revenues its very 
existence  depend^."'^' In short, nothing could be more dangerous than armed 
opposition to taxes and so it was treason. Justice Iredell opened his charge 
by stating his agreement with Peters on the law. In sharp contrast to the atti- 
tude of Justice Paterson in the trials of the Whisky Rebels,'82 however, Iredell 
indicated that he would not usurp the role of the jury and thus implied his 
acceptance of popular attitudes about the scope and importance of jury ver- 
dicts, at least with regard to matters of fact. "[Ilt is not for the court," he 
stated, "to say whether there was treasonable intention to act as charged in 
the indictment; that is for the jury to determine; we have only to state the law, 
we therefore should have no right to give our opinion on it ." '8Tor Tredell, 
then, as for the judges in the years to follow, a tradeoff had begun to emerge. 
The jury would lose its popular right to determine law, but in return its dis- 
cretion in matters of fact would not be hamstrung by the judge's own 
conclusions. 

A verdict of "guilty" was rendered. Given the latitude that Lewis and 
Dallas were allowed by the judges in arguing the law to the jury, and given 
the force of their arguments that their client at most had committed sedition, 
but not treason, the verdict is somewhat surprising. It may be that public 
opinion in the city of Philadelphia, where the trial took place, was strongly 
against the rural insurgents and influenced the j u~y ,  it may be, however, that 
the federal marshal, who had some discretion in picking the jury, was careful 
to choose rncmbers sensitive to the need for peace and good order. Or, after 
all, i t  may simply be that the jurors were most impressed with the past prece- 
dent of the case of the Whisky insurgents, and were willing to extend its 
holding that armed opposition to federal law was treason to the case of an 
armed rescue of a prisoner from federal custody. 

The possibility of a biased jury is strongly suggested, however, by subse- 
quent events. Five days after the verdict was announced, Mr. Lewis moved 
for a new trial for Fries on the ground that a Mr. John Rhoad, one of the 
jurors, had "declared a prejudice against the prisoner after he was summoned 
as a juror on the trial".Is4 Justice Iredell, probably much relieved,1s5 issued 
an opinion that Fries was entitled to a new trial. Judge Peters initially dis- 
agreed, indicating that even if Rhoad had made the statement attributed to 
him, Rhoad only reflected "the facts" as they "appeared then to the public." 
Peters finally concluded, however, that "as a division in the court might lessen 
the weight of the judgment, and the great end of the law in punishments 
being example," he reluctantly went along with Iredell's opinion, and the new 
trial was granted.IRfi 

The Second Trial of John Fries-Fries came up for retrial during the next 



term, in April of 1800, when Justice Samuel Chase was sitting on circuit with 
Judge Peters. Before the retrial, Chase had indicated to Peters that the judges 
needed to devise some way to "get through all the business which had ac- 
cumulated on the civil side" as a result of the great amount of time spent in 
the last session with the original trial of Fries's rebels.IBi In particular, 
Chase wanted to keep the Fries retrial short. He had heard an account of the 
first Fries trial and believed that what took ten days there should have been 
accomplished in no more than "one third" of the time. Chase was determined 
that this time there should not be so much leewav in citing "irrelevant 
authorities & unnecessary discussions." Chase therefore drafted an opinion, 
which he hoped to use as the opinion of the court on the law, and thus pre- 
vent counsel from straying. He showed the draft opinion to Peters, who 
approved of it, later indicating that "he had expressed what I had before 
delivered as my opinion better than I had done it myself." Chase had appar- 
ently not yet settled on the manner of delivering this opinion, and Peters told 
him that it should be done with "Prudence." Peters was left with the impres- 
sion that Chase would consult him about the "time & manner of delivery" of 
the opinion. Peters, who believed in circumspection, had begun to be uneasy, 
"lest a premature Declaration of the Opinion of the Court might be made."lg8 

As the proceedings opened, a juror came up to Judge Peters on the bench 
"to make some excuses for nonattendance." Peters then noticed some com- 
motion and discovered that while his "attention had been thus engaged" 
Chase had distributed copies of his opinion, one to defense counsel, one to 
the district attorney, and one to the jury. Chase had engaged in the very 
"premature" conduct that Peters had feared. Chase proceeded to announce 
to defense counsel that the opinion contained the court's view of the law of 
treason, which view was that articulated by Judge Peters and Justice Paterson 
in the Whisky Rebels case and Judge Peters and Justice Iredell in the first 
Fries trial: armed opposition to United States statutes was treason. Since 
this was the law, Chase went on, the court would not permit arguments that 
such conduct was not treason to be made to the jury. In particular, Chase 
was determined that the jury not be distracted with odious English treason 
cases.'" There seems ot be no example in early American judicial history of 
counsel being thus circumscribed in advance of the trial, and Chase's tactics 
were clearly inconsistent with the still prevalent attitude that the jury's role 
extended to finding both fact and 1aw.I9O 

When Mr. Lewis, one of Fries's two lawyers, realized that the tactics he 
and Dallas had used in the first Fries trial would be foreclosed, he threw 
down Chase's opinion in anger. Peters whispered to Chase that he believed 
the two Fries counsel would "take the stud & abandon the Cause, or take 
advantage of [the delivery of this statement of Chase's view] to operate on 
public opinion, or on that of the jury at least." Peters reprimanded Chase, 
and reminded him of "my having 'told him so' or 'predicted it!'" Sure 
enough, Lewis and Dallas then announced their intention of withdrawing 
from the case, since the court had "prejudged" what they wished to argue.191 



Chase and Peters then repaired to the office of Mr. Rawle, the prosecutor. 
(Some measure of their detachment from the prosecution might be taken 
from their choice of meeting place.) Rawle and Peters persuaded Chase that 
his opinion "should be recalled." Chase "readily consented." 

The next morning Peters told Lewis and Dallas that "they might proceed 
in the Cause." He assured them that "you may, & 1 hope will, proceed in 
your own way, as if nothing had happened." Chase was not quite as concili- 
atory as Peters, and though he did not contradict Peters, Chase "administered 
no Emollients." Chase declared: "The counsel could not embarass him. He 
knew what it was about!"lg2 Chase cautioned I.ewis and Dallas that "he 
would not permit improper or irrelevant authorities," and probably told them 
that if they stepped out of bounds in their citation of authority they would be 
proceeding "at the hazard of [their] reputation." Dallas later said: "This had 
the contrary effect rather than to induce me to proceed," and he and Lewis 
remained firm in their determination to leave the case.lQ3 

Chase and Peters then offered to appoint other counsel for Fries. Fries 
declined other counsel, however, having been persuaded by Lewis and Dallas 
that to proceed without counsel would generate sympathy for him that might 
result in a Presidential pardon. Chase then informed the prisoner that since 
he refused to accept other counsel, he, Chase, would take it upon himself to 
serve as, attorney for the defense, as well as judge.lQ5 As the trial proceeded, 
however, Chase refused to excuse a juror who was uneasy about his possible 
prejudice,lQ6 he reminded the jury that the jury in the first trial had seen fit to 
convict Fries;IY7 he supplied arguments against the prisoner that the prose- 
cutor, Rawle, neglected to mention;IY8 and he emphasized his own view of 
the law and the facts of the case.199 In the articles of impeachment later 
brought against Chase, the first charge was that by his conduct he deprived 
Fries of counsel. As we have seen, however, it was Chase's conception of the 
proper roles of judge and jury with regard to legal determinations that 
prompted Fries's counsel, of their own volition, to resign from the case. Still, 
Chase's hair-trigger temper, his stubbornness, and his sense of his own judi- 
cial prerogative led him to rush precipitously into a confrontation on a 
sensitive jurisprudential point for which he had iittle popular support. 

The Republican press, at the time of the Fries trial, was quick to pounce 
on Chase. With the election of 1800 fast approaching, the campaign of the 
Democratic-Republican press to discredit the Federalist judges who sat on the 
federal courts, and particularly Justice Chase, had by now begun in earnest. 

Why did Chase proceed in such a steamrolling manner when he must have 
known. that he would be subjected to intense popular criticism? In his defense 
at his impeachment trial, he gave several reasons for limiting the arguments 
to the jury in the Fries case. First, he felt a strong duty to adhere to the 
legal precedent clearly established in the earlier cases. Second, he believed 
that the large backlog of civil cases in the circuit court made it incumbent on 
him to keep the criminal trials as short as possible. Third, he stated that he 
knew what the constitutional definition of treason was, and he did not think. 



it worth spending much time on. Fourth, because of his certainty as to the 
law of treason, he felt it his duty to prevent the jury from getting the wrong 
impression as to the law."" 

Probably as important for Chase, however, was his feeling that the con- 
duct of the Fries insurgents represented a real threat to the continued peace 
and political stability of the country. As he condemned Fries to death, Chase 
explained that if obedience to laws could not be compelled, "there must soon 
be an end to all government in this county." Fries was told that "the time 
you chose to rise up in arms to oppose the laws of your country, was when 
it stood in a very critical situation with regard to France, and on the eve of 
a rupture with that country." Because of the crippling expenses invoIved in 
quelling the two Pennsylvania insurrections that had already occurred, future 
rebellions had to be prevented. So Chase concluded that "the end of a11 pun- 
ishment is example; and that the enormity of your crime requires that a 
severe example should be made to deter others from the commission of like 
crimes in the f~ture."~" '  That this was Chase's real motivation in the Fries 
trial is suggested by his behavior two weeks earlier, in the trial for seditious 
libel of Thomas Cooper. Before coming to some of the details of Cooper's 
trial, however, a brief consideration of the Sedition Act and its political back- 
ground is necessary. 

B .  The Sedition Act and the Tria[ o f  Thomas Cooper 

Section 2 of the Sedition Act of 1798205mposed a penalty for publishing 
material creating distrust of the federal government-the crime of seditious 
libel. Scholars studying the period during which this Act was passed have 
divided over whether it reflected a "reign of terror" on the part of the ruling 
Federalist party of John Adams, or whether this Act and other FederaIist 
activities at this time were merely a reasonable response of a government 
seriously concerned about the country's chances for survival.203 It is im- 
portant, in putting this in perspective, to realize that in the late 1790's in 
England, a law was passed making it a criminal offense to speak or write as 
well as to act treasonably. At the same time, the same fears caused the Hun- 
garians to put to death a man who translated the Marseillaise into Magyar. 
Similarly, the governments of Austria, Rumania, and Russia were regularly 
meting out sentences of death, sixty years in chains, exposure in the stocks, 
and confiscation of property. In light of this contemporary European experi- 
ence, it  is difficult to regard the efforts of the Federalists as a "reign of 

In 1800, to the Europeans and to the Federalists, it looked as though 
France, following the Revolution of 1789, had embarked on a wide-scale 
program of subversion of liberty, property, and good order, and that the 
governments of European nations were tumbling like so many dominoes. 
From where the Federalist judges sat, they thought they could discern a pat- 
tern of French incursions which began with friendly overtures, included the 



formation of native pro-French "Democratic" societies, and ended with sub- 
mission to French-style military dictatorship. This was the theory propounded 
even by the relatively liberal Justice Iredell in his charge to the grand jury 
that indicted the Fries Rebels.zo" 

Observers could see the beginning of this pattern of subversion in America 
with the activities of the French ambassador, Citizen Genet, who encouraged 
the American "Democratic Societies" to become pro-French. Some of the 
participants in Fries's Rebellion were reported to have worn the French Tri- 
color and to have declared that "it should soon be in his country as it was in 
France."206 The residual Federalist fears of mob violence were exacerbated 
by the added threat of Francophilic and other subversion, and produced 
widespread political reaction, culminating in the Alien and Sedition Acts, 
the Fries treason trial. and the Alien and Sedition Act trials. 

At the legislative level the Federalist reaction was not without some re- 
straint. At the time of the passage of the Alien and Sedition Acts, the prevail- 
ing judicial opinion was that there was a federal common law of crimes, which 
was used at least once to begin a prosecution for seditious libel in a federal 
court in P e n n s y l ~ a n i a , ~ ~ ~  and which could theoretically have continued to be 
used to prosecute other persons for that crime in the federal courts. The 
Federalist legislators seemed to feel, however, that they needed to demon- 
strate that they were not out to silence all political criticism, but merely dan- 
gerous falsehoods.208 Thus, while truth of a libel was no defense to the crime 
;it common law, it became one in the Alien and Sedition While at 
common law in England the jury had frequently been barred from making 
the determination of the "seditious" or provocative nature of a particular 
libel, in America under the Sedition Act it was clear that the jury was to 
determine both "the law and the fact, under the direction of the court, as in 
other 

Because of the Federalist desire to accommodate prevailing opinions re- 
garding the liberalization of the common law even in the face of what was 
perceived as a grave thrcat to American stability, one might have expected 
that the Federalist cause would have had great popular support. For some 
months after the passage of the Sedition Act this was the case, owing in part 
to the French perfidy revealed in the X.Y.Z. affair.?" Unfortunately, the 
promise of accommodating this popular opinion, which seems to have been 
made in the Sedition Act, was broken in the trials that followed. 

Thomas Cooper found himself on trial for seditions libel before Chase and 
Peters in 1800 because he had published some derogatory comments about 
President John Adams. In particular, Cooper had accused Adams of borrow- 
ing money at too high a rate during peace-time, of keeping a standing army 
and navy, and of interfering with the judi~iary.~" While there was an argu- 
ment that each of these charges was false, there was probably an almost 
equally strong case for their being true.213 At the height of the Federalist 
Francophobia of November 1799 when the charges were published, however, 
they may well have seemed seditious to strong supporters of President Adams. 



Prosecutor Rawle noted in his arguments to the jury that it was "false" 
charges like those of Cooper that had excited the Whisky Rebellion of 1794 
and Fries's Rebellion of 1799. It was now time to put a stop to this conduct, 
he urged, before it again plunged the state and the nation into disorder.214 

Justice Chase proceeded to make a series of rulings that were probably 
legally wrong and were certainly highly prejudicial to Cooper. Chase de- 
clared that the truth of the accusations Cooper had made was an affirmative 
defense which he, Cooper, had the burden of proving "beyond a marrow."215 
From the text of the Sedition Act, however, it clearly appears that the falsity 
of the libel was an element of the crime and thus shouId have been a matter 
for the prosecutor to prove. Furthermore, even if  the burden of proving truth 
was correctly placed on Cooper, Chase's holding him to proof of truth "be- 
yond a marrow" was wrong. It is, and was, an axiom of the Anglo-American 
criminal law that to render a conviction a jury must be convinced of guilt 
"beyond a reasonable One would think, then, that the burden of 
proof pIaced on Cooper should only have been to raise a "reasonable doubt" 
about the faIsity of the statements he had made. Significantly, in two Sedition 
Act trials in the Circuit Court of Vermont, Justice Paterson, no great friend 
to jury discretion in Pennsylvania, had made rulings that the "beyond rea- 
sonable doubt" standard applied.2'; Given the ambiguity of what Cooper had 
actually published, with this usuaI standard in operation, he might have had 
to be acquitted. 

As Chase's instructions to the jury came to s close, however, it became 
clear that there was little hope of acquittal for Cooper while Chase sat. He 
told the jury precisely what he expected them to conclude on both the law 
and facts."8 In addition, as he later did in the Fries case, Chase filled in 
arguments for the prosecution that the prosecutor had omitted.210 The jury 
convicted Cooper, he refused a pardon, and went off to prison. 

VII. Denouement 

Soon after the Cooper trial, Chase journeyed to Virginia where he sat on 
the Richmond Circuit. There he tried another case of seditious libel, United 
States v. Callender."* His conduct in the Callender trial was as clearly pro- 
prosecution as it had been in the Fries and Cooper trials. Following the triaI 
of Callender, Chase returned to Maryland, there to go out on the hustings 
on behalf of President Adams's campaign for reelection. 

Soon the Philadelphia Aurora was to refer to the federal prison as "Chase's 
repository of Republicans." The Aurora's opinion was probably best summed 
up in a "vicious little couplet" published shortly after the Fries and Cooper 
trials in August, 1800: 

Cursed of thy father, scum of all that's base. 
Thy sight is odious and thy name is- - - - - - .221 



For the Philadelphia Aurora and for the Republican press generally, Chase 
became a convenient symbol for all the failings of the Federalists: Chase's 
shortcomings were sought to be portrayed as conlmon to those of the entire 
federal judiciary.2zz The popular success of the Jeffersonian electors in 1800 
probably owed much to the press campaign to discredit the federal judici- 
a r ~ , ~ ~ "  campaign that could not have been waged without the conduct of 
Samuel Chase."' As indicated in the previous chapter, hostility toward the 
Federalist judiciary, brought on in large part by criticism of Chase, resulted 
in the Jeffersonians repealing the reformist Judiciary Act of 1801. Perhaps 
because of the popular opposition to the federal judiciary stirred up by the 
presidential campaign of 1800, Congress proceeded to regard the strengthen- 
ing of the lower federal courts as a very low priority matter. As we have 
seen, Congress continued for many years to perpetuate the outmoded Circuit 
riding system, ostensibly to keep the Federal judges at all levels in touch 
with popular opinion. Since the charge brought against Samuel Chase was 
basically that he (and by implication the other Federal judges) had ignored 
the principle of popular sovereignty, it does not seem too far-fetched to 
assign Chase a major share of responsibility for the perpetuation of the 
Circuit-riding system. As indicated, meaningful reform of the lower federal 
courts was not accomplished until almost a century later .22What  was it 
about Samuel Chase in particular, and the Federalist judiciary in general, 
that could have helped lead to such a situation? 

A. Personalities 

Perhaps much of this difficulty was caused by the peculiar personality of 
Justice Chase. Richard Peters stated "Of all others, I like the least to be 
coupled with him [Chase], I never sat with him without pain, as he was for- 
ever getting into some intemperate and unnecessary sq~abble."~" Peters tried, 
unsuccessfully, in the Fries and Cooper trials to restrain Chase, but he was 
dealing with a man who "had the singular instinct for tumult which scents 
[it] at a distance from whence i t  is imperceptible to other eyes, and irresistibly 
impels a participation in it."?" Chase was far too quick on the judicial trig- 
ger, as demonstrated by his hasty opinion-giving in Worrall and Fries. His 
political zeal carried hitn so far as to demean his ofice by publicly jumping 
on the Adams bandwagon. A further contrast between Chase and Peters is 
shown by their attitudes toward a seat on the Supreme Court. Chase clearly 
and actively sought the appointment; Peters, when he was offered such ele- 
vation, declined.22s 

If it had been Peters, rather than Chase, who rode the Pennsylvania Cir- 
cuit for the Supreme Court in 1800, the Fries and Cooper debacles might 
never have happened. Peters, who was intimately familiar with the nuances 
of Pennsylvania politics and Pennsylvania public opinion, could tailor his 
judicial opinions to fit his surroundings. He was able correctly to predict to 
Chase the political and tactical consequences of Chase's behavior.2zg Samuel 



Chase made no effort at such accommodation. Instead, he sought imperiously 
to impose his own jurisprudential precepts. Perhaps this was due to Chase's 
"greater familiarity with the Maryland practice, where the judge used to 
respond . . . more exclusively for the law, and the jury for the facts, . . . than 
was, . . . the usage in P e n n s y l ~ a n i a . " ~ ~ ~  Similarly, Chase seems to have be- 
lieved that he, as a Justice of the United States Supreme Court, should have 
been allowed to proceed as did the judges in England, where the judges were 
not required to be as responsive to popular opinion.23' To clear-eyed con- 
temporaries, Chase's rulings may have been regarded not as "intended 
oppression" but rather as "great mistakes" resulting from his character and 

Still, the Pennsylvania public opinion that Chase was unable 
to understand was forcefully turned against him and his party. 

Even Richard Peters was caught in the political crossfire, when, in early 
1803, the House of Representatives authorized a committee to inquire into 
the conduct of both Chase and Peters. The real goal of the Republicans who 
introduced this resolution may have been to remove Chase from the Supreme 
Court and substitute a Republican Marylander. The House committee soon 
reported that "no cause of accusation existed" against P e t e r ~ . ~ ~ T e t ,  since 
Peters had acquiesced in most, if not all, of Chase's controversial rulings 
in the Fries and Cooper cases which were at the core of the impeachment 
case against Chase, if the congressional opponents of Chase intended to be 
completely principled in their arguments of judicial misconduct, they should 
have put Peters on trial before the Senate with Chase. 

Thus, the implied congressional approval for Peters's judicial conduct 
needs further explanation. Possibly it again illustrates the personal contrast 
between Peters and Chase. Peters did not appear to have been terribly con- 
cerned that the Congressional proceedings would result in harm to him. He 
wrote to his friend Timothy Pickering: 

I know I am brought into the Field, without premeditation. One not invited to 
the Hunt turned me out like a Bag-Fox, to amuse & warp the Hounds & divert 
them from the real Chase. One of them opened on a wrong scent, not being 
w,ell broke in. I suspect the Huntsmen know better & will not be thrown out.2a4 

Peters's casualness is certainly different from the grim and combative resolve 
with which Chase fought the proceedings.235 It would appear that Peters was 
able to rely on the wide circle of influential friends he had acquired over the 
years, a circle which reached into the new White House, to save him from 
any congressional hostility, Chase seems to have been better at acquiring a 
circle of enemies. Peters was able to be rescued at an early stage, but Chase 
had to suffer the humiliation and agony of a Senate trial. 

Though there may have been these surface dissimilarities between Chase 
and Peters, and though Chase's personal characteristics may have been 
largely responsible for the political storm he created, it is important to realize 
that Chase still was not the unrestrained ogre or "hangkg judge" that some 
make him out to be. The disparagement of Chase does not appear to have 



always been so prevalent. In the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries 
Chase was described as one of the "greatest" of Maryland lawyers,236 "one 
of the most conspicuous and able members of the Continental Congress," 
"an ardent lover of liberty and justice," "persuasive and where possible con- 
~iliatory,' '~:~' and "[d]isinterested and consistent in all things."238 Chase's 
judicial philosophy did, after all, have something of a popular base to it. His 
rhetoric indicated that his extreme views on the lack of rights of criminal de- 
fendants in libel trials sprang from a conviction that in a government based on 
popular sovereignty, to libel the government was to libel the people them- 
selves, and therefore intolerable. 

Even Chase's conduct in the Fries trial may not have been as bad as it now 
seems. After his pardon, Fries himself was reported to have visited Chase at 
his home in Maryland "for the avowed purpose of thanking him for his 
impartial, fair and equitable conduct."228" It seems possible that Fries might 
have realized that at some level both he and Chase shared a commitment to 
the idea that the people were the ultimate sovereigns, though they differed . 

over the means of implementing this principle in the law. Even before the 
impeachment trial, Chase had chosen to adopt a rather restricted sense of 
what a judge could do, even if this involved rejecting the English judicial role. 
While sitting on the Delaware circuit in June of 1804, Chase wrote: 

J know that in England construction of the  words of Statutes has gone a great 
way. This doctrine I explode. If the words of Statutes are clear, I am bound, 
tho' the provision be unjust. This I hold to be the duty of an American judge 
[A] judge has in this Country only to say Sic lex esr s~ripta.~"8~ 

It would seem then, that Chase's stepping out of appropriate judicial bounds 
was of relatively short duration, probably reaching its worst excesses only 
during the 1800 term, when he sat at the Fries, Cooper, and Callender trials. 

B. Popular Politics and Federalisi Paranoia 

As has been seen, though, this was a period of overreaction among many 
people and nations. Even Richard Peters seems to have swung decidedly to 
favor the government in several of the criminal trials reported here-by 
eschewing the technical niceties of state procedure in the Whisky Rebels' 
trial, virtually ignoring the purpose of a provision in the Judiciary Act in 
the first trial of Fries, and by deprecating the necessity of a retrial in that case. 
Like Chase, Peters perceived dark designs forming in the United States and 
felt he should act accordingly. By 1798, the same year that Chase turned 
around on the issue of common law crimes, Peters had become quite worried 
about the "secret projects" of the "discontented characters which infest our 
country .''239 

When Peters was on official business concerning the Fries Rebellion, he 
concluded that "unless the army had gone through the whole county, there 
would have been the most atrocious instances of violence."24o Finally, con- 



vinced that the country was in dire peril, Peters assured Pickering that he 
would make all necessary efforts to get rid of a Set of Villians who are ready 
to Strike when they think the Crisis arrives."z41 Thus he and Chase appear to 
have been acting on many of the same impulses. 

Similarly, Justice Paterson, who in Van Horne's Lessee lauded the inde- 
pendence of the jury as the finder of both law and fact,24' went out of his 
way to tell the jurors in the trial of the Whisky Rebels exactly what they 
should conclude on legal and factual questions.243 Even Justice Iredell, who 
seemed to be quite sympathetic to the defendant in the first trial of John 
Fries, telling the petit jury that he had no right to comment on the question 
of treasonable intention or overt acts,*" had expressed grave concern to the 
grand jury that indicted Fries. "If you suffer this government to be destroyed," 
Iredell cautioned the grand jurors, "anarchy will ride triumphant, and all 
lovers of order, decency, truth and justice will be trampled under foot,"245 
The same views that were reflected on the bench, of course, prompted Wash- 
ington and Adams to send federal troops to quell the two Pennsylvania 
insurrections. 

At this time also, a majority of Congressmen could be persuaded to vote 
for the passage of the Alien and Sedition Acts. By 1800 there were those in 
Congress who seemed to be actively seeking by any means to deny Jefferson 
the P r e s i d e n ~ y . ~ ~ V n  that crisis year even Alexander Hamilton appears to 
have lost control, hatching his ill-conceived plan to thwart the will of the 
legislature in New York by imposing a scheme that would take away their 
power to select presidential electors.24i Similarly, Hamilton was careless in 
expressing his feelings that President Adams had lost his judgment by such 
actions as making peace overtures to France and by pardoning John Fries. 
The publication of these sentiments probably did as much as anything else 
to weaken the Federalist party from within and thus cause the loss of the 
election of 1 800.248 

It took more than this to sink the Federalist ship of state. The chief prob- 
lem had to do with the basic difference in political philosophy between the 
Federalists and the Jeffersonian Republicans. While the Federalists argued, 
and may have even believed, that their government was one that was set up 
by the actions of the people in approving the Fedcral Constitution and was 
thus bottomed on the concept of popular sovereignly, their political philoso- 
phy left little room for on-going popular participation in government. The 
people could vote in elections and on constitutions, but once the people had 
cast their votes, they were to refrain from harmful criticism of their properly 
constituted officials and were to obey them unquestioningly. Any other 
course, the Federalists believed, would lead to exciting "the passions and 
jealousies of the mob," and eventually to the coIlapse of government.249 Such 
a philosophy, of course, was not likely to enlist great popular support. It 
revealed a basic distrust of the wisdom of the people and resulted in a gov- 
ernment that saw its role as "preaching wisdom to untutored masses."250 The 
Republicans, who professed a greater faith in the wisdom of the public and 



a greater willingness to tolerate on-going public participation in government, 
were thus able to discredit the Federalists when it came time to vote for 
presidential electors. 

This philosophical struggle about the proper role of the people, as we 
have seen, carried over to the activities of the Federalist courts. It was obvi- 
ously at work in the Cooper trial where Chase's legally questionable rulings, 
in effect, made it impossible for the defendant to engage in fair political 
comment without being able to demonstrate "beyond a marrow" the truth of 
his opinions. Just as important, but perhaps somewhat subtler, was the strug- 
gle in the courts during this period over the proper roles of judge and jury. 
There was, at that time, a strong popular feeling that the expansive participa- 
tion by the jury in legal decisions was an essential safeguard to the liberty 
of the people.?" This required that the jury be given the latitude to pass on 
questions both of law and of fact, and received at least lip service from both 
the Federalist judges and the Sedition Act, Nevertheless, the conduct of the 
judges in closeiy instructing the jury in many of these cases as to the appro- 
priate legal and factural conclusions and the tendency of Justice Chase to 
remove legal issues from jury discretion opened the judges to charges of 
oppressing the people. 

C .  Unplanrted Obsolescence 

At a somewhat deeper level, the explanation for some of the self-destruc- 
tive activity of the Federalists on and off the bench may life in their inability 
to cast off the preconceptions of the eighteenth century. Ultimately it would 
seem that both Hamilton and Chase, whatever their differences, believed in a 
structured society, the inevitability of different social classes, and perhaps 
the continued subordination of the lower classes to the upper. Their view 
was that the yeomen and the mechanics ought to be content with a system 
where their "betters," the large landowners, the members of the learned pro- 
fessions, and the titans of commerce ruled for the common good."* Accom- 
panying this view was an eighteenth century pessimism about the chances for 
success of their conception of government. The likelihood of things deteri- 
orating loomed much larger. Hamilton was frightened about the force of the 
love of power and of the possibility of demagoguery !sading to d i c t a t o r ~ h i p . ~ ~ ~  
Jefferson's victory in 1800 confirmed his fears, and shortly afterward, Cas- 
sandra- like, he predicted to his friends the inevitability of "bloody anarchy." 
At best, there was a slim chance that out of the coming debacle "a strong, 
stable, and 'energetic' government would emerge.""4 Samuel Chase mirrored 
these views. In March of 1803 he wrote John F. Mercer: "I believe nothing 
can save the present [government] from dissolution . . . The Seeds are sown, 
they ripen daily. Men without sense and without property are to be our 
Rulers , . . Confidence is destroyed . . . Things must take their natural course 
from bad to n ~ ~ r s e . " ~ ~ T h e  times had clearly passed Chase and Hamilton byl 
however, and their conception of popular sovereignty was no longer accepta- 



ble to most of the people, or at least to those who influenced Presidential 
elections. 

VIII. Conclusion 

The actions of Chase, Peters, Paterson, and others in the late 1790's then, 
were perceived as inconsistent with the Federalists' promises about the imple- 
mentation of the principle of popular sovereignty, hence the Republicans 
argued that the Federalists were bent on making people "subjects" instead of 
c'citizens."25G Because of this, there has been a tendency to ignore the sensible 

and creative work that the early federal judges, especially in Pennsylvania, 
did in building a strong body of commercial law and in lay~ng the theoretical 
foundations for an independent judiciary. 

The impeachment of Samuel Chase, which appears as a coda to the period 
here discussed, had a profound impact on the course of the federal judiciary. 
While everyone recognizes this, the tendency has been simply to focus on the 
outcome of the episode-Chase's eventual acquittal by the Senate. Since that 
time, of course, no Justice of the Supreme Court has been impeached; neither 
has the impeachment remedy been used as "a means of keeping the Courts 
in reasonable harmony with the will of the na t i~n ."~"  Nevertheless, the very 
institution of impeachment proceedings caused some major changes in judi- 
cial practice. John Marshall seems to have realized that had the Chase 
impeachment been successful, he would have been the next target.258 This 
must have redoubled his tendency to appear above political controversy, and 
to avoid, where possible, the resolution of issues bound to plunge the court 
into the political thicket. Marshall's circumspection, learned from Chase's 
mistakes, enabled him to establish what has been called "the American judi- 
cial tradition", the prestige of the national judiciary is said to run only from 
his tenure as Chief Ju~t ice ."~  The Supreme Court was thus able to remain 
highly visible and to make its contribution to American development. Still, 
probably as a result of what happened during the 17901s, the lower federal 
courts may have been permitted somewhat to straphy and decline in im- 
portance over the next ninety years as Congress refused to implement the 
remedies required for truly effective federal justice. The federal courts, and 
particularly the United States Supreme Court, continued to fulfill an im- 
portant function in providing an impartial forum fol the settlement of inter- 
state disputes, particularly those involving commercial law.260 It is also true 
that many distinguished Americans continued to serve on the federal courts 
following the election of Thomas Je f f e r s~n .~~!  Still, not until after the civil war 
did Congress allow the lower federai courts to exercise the full scope of juris- 
diction permitted under the Constitution, and in the years between the ad- 
ministration of Thomas Jefferson and the Civil War, apart from Constitutional 
issues, the most important and innovative judicial decision-making appears 
to have been in the state courts. There were some exceptions. For example, 
Justice Story's work on Circuit courts appears to have developed the law of 



property and commercial law. Still, legal developments in these years were 
more often the work of state court judges, like Kent or S h a ~ . ~ ~ ~  

The state court judges, curiously enough, appear to have implemented 
many of the views of the federal judges expressed in the cases from 1790 to 
1800. For example, a most important principle of the development of judicial 
doctrines may have been the facilitation of commerce and economic develop- 
ment, along the lines suggested by Judge Peters and by some of the Circuit 
Justices. Further, at least in civil cases, by the middle of the nineteenth cen- 
tury it appears that juries had pretty much lost the power to make law, and 
had been reduced to following the directions of the court, a development 
presaged by some of the opinions and actions of Samuel Chase.263 Still, as 
far as the lower federal courts were concerned, the days of great importance 
were not to come again until after the Civil War, and it is to that time that 
we next turn. 
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Jot111 Thompson Nixo~i,  iJnited States District Judge for New Jersey from 
1870-1889, who accelerated his own blintiness and tleatti irt near tieroic 
efforts. 



CHAPTER III* 

Judicial Ajax: John Thompson 
Nixon and the Federal Courts 
of New Jersey in the 
Laate Nineteenth Century 

I .  Introduction 

As indicated in Chapter One, following the Civil War, after many years of 
relative neglect, the United States Congress passed a series of measures which 
altered the jurisdiction and the structure of the lower federal courts. It is 
likely that these measures were designed to increase the ability of the lower 
federal courts to serve as instruments of national policy. It appears that the 
changes were a result of a new Republican legislative philosophy which 
recognized that the federal courts might be made more useful in healing the 
"emotional and physical trauma" of the Civil War, and might help in the 
Republicans' goals of "subordination or elimination of regional and local 
diversity in favor of a central or national authority."' The expanded jurisdic- 
tion of the federal courts pursuant to this new judicial philosophy may have 
been the most significant development in the history of the lower federal 
courts since the Federalists' ill-fated efforts to use the lower federal courts to 
implement national policy. In this chapter, in order to understand how this 
second attempt at implementing national policy through the lower federal 
courts worked, we will examine the work of one Federal Judge, John Thornp- 
son Nixon of New Jersey, who served as Federal District Judge for New 
Jersey from 1870 to 1889. An examination of Judge Nixon's judicial activi- 
ties and his personal philosophy may also help correct some general miscon- 
ceptions about American law in the late nineteenth century. 



Historians ars still in the process of beginning research into the American 
legal history of the late nineteenth c e n t ~ r y , ~  when Nixon presided, and very 
little work has been done on the lower federal courts. One reason for the 
previous inattention to this period may be the conventional wisdom regarding 
this time. Legal historians have nearly universally accepted Karl Llewellyn's 
characterization of the period as one of formal, rigid, and arid juri~prudence.~ 
According to this view, late nineteenth century iudges did not use law as an 
instrument in ser-,lice of a changing society, but rather viewed legal principles 
as static entities, which their job was simply to discover, and never to ~ h a n g e . ~  
Supposedly, the judges believed that it was their task to discover the law 
simply by looking to precedent-to the vast body of previously decided 
cases-and authoritatively to apply "the law" as "found" there." 

This approach. so the theory goes, caused case reports to be filled with 
strings of redundant c i t a t i~ns ,~  and, in particular, led to a literalism in the 
interpretation oi  legislative acts which often gave effect to the language of a 
statute at the expense of the legislative purpose for its pa~sage .~  Rules of law, 
it is said, were thought of like rules of mathematics, judicial opinions were to 
apply refined precedent and principle with little attention to their impact on 
the real wor ld .Wis  conception of law purportedly limited flexibility, and 
prevented particularized equitable inquiries into ?he circumstances of indi- 
vidual casess This judicial approach, usually referred to as "formalism," or 
the "formal style" is said to have been pervasive throughout the state and 
federal judic~al systems.IO "The few people," says Grant Gilmore, "who have 
ever spent much time studying the judicial product of the period have been 
appalled by what they found."" This predominately pejorative view of the 
period following the civil war in American jurisprudence seems ripe for 
revision," and even Gilmore has acknowledged that the "tradition of judicial 
creativity" may have survived "to some degree" in the federal courts.'" 

In this chapter, then, some revision of the conventional wisdom will be 
attempted by building upon Gilmore's suggestion, and elaborating one con- 
crete example of what might be called "creative jurisprudence" in the late 
nineteenth century. If the work of Nixon's court was typical, or even occa- 
sional, for lower federal or state courts during this period, the richness of 
the available judicial data may turn out to have been badly underestimated.14 
Whatever other judges were doing at this time, however, Nixon's opinions 
seem to reflect a struggle to render "just" decisions, even if this meant 
ignoring precedent. Particularly as Nixon spent more time on the bench, his 
decisions seem to have been deeply and openly influenced by political, moral, 
philosophical and religious notions, and they are Ear from arid. String cita- 
tions are rare in Nixon's opinions, the analysis is not normally camouflaged 
to disguise a struggle between competing considerations, and the opinions 
often show a frank attempt on Nixon's part to reconcile diverse policy goals. 
In particular, and again against the conventional wisdom, when Nixon dealt 
with statutes, as we shall see, it was nearly always with an attempt to follow 
what he perceived to be the legislative policy, and when, as he occasionally 



did, he ignored statutory directives, it was because of what he believed to be 
a more important legally-approved goal. 

Before proceeding to an analysis of Judge Nixon and his opinions, it seems 
appropriate to reach for a literary analogy for help in illuminating the work 
of this nineteenth-century judge who has hardly been a household word even 
around the Third Circuit or among American leyal historians. The analogy 
comes from that greatest of all works, the Iliad, and is the Greek chieftain, 
Ajax. Ajax's fellow fighters against Troy appear to have described him as the 
second greatest of the Greeks, after Achilles.'j 

One of the characteristics of Ajax, however, is that he fails to receive the 
recognition which his conduct merits. For example, he is passed over for 
the honor of receiving Achilles's armor after that hero dies, and the armor is 
instead given to Odysseus. Since the Iliad, when Westerners think of heroic 
stereotypes, the tendency has been to neglect Ajax for the flashier Achilles 
and Odysseus. Achilles, the bravest and strongest of the Greeks, was also a 
singer and a poet, an extremely intelligent and sensitive man of honor. 
Odysseus, in contrast to Achilles (and Ajax) could not rely on brute force 
or magnificence to prevail, and lived by his wits. It was he who concocted the 
strategem of the Wooden horse to defeat Troy, and he who was wily enough, 
usually by the use of trickery or deceit, to defeat the Cyclops, the Sirens, and 
everyone else. Ajax is not a figure of such great individual glory. His great- 
ness comes from the way he is able to extricate his fellow heroes from tight 
situations, for his unceasing martial efforts.I6 It is Ajax who bears the brunt 
of the battle while Achilles sulks in his tent. Ajax agonizingly and excruci- 
atingly almost single-handedly holds the Trojans off, before he is over- 
whelmed by the force of Zeus on behalf of Troy.'? Ajax is Homer's spokesman 
for the simple virtue of loyalty to one's comrades and the cause; Ajax is not 
eloquent like Achilles (Shakespeare calls Ajax "beef-witted") or clever and 
polished like Odysseus, but he can sometimes inspire with his plain speech 
and devotion. Without Ajax's long-suffering endurance, it is clear, the Greeks 
would never have been able eventually to prevail. 

In American legal history we have concentrated, not unexpectedly, on the 
Achilleses of the la\v, like Story, Field, or Langdell-proud men with grand 
purposes--or on the legal Odysseuses, like Marshall, Kent, and Cardozo- 
who could skillfully and subtly twist precedent to achieve their ends. The 
man to be considered here, John Thompson Nixon, was a judicial Ajax. Like 
the Greek, his achievements were not as grand, but they may have been 
crucial. Also like the character in the Iliad, Nixon's jurisprudence reflected 
boundless endurance, single-mindedness, and a devotion to simple virtues. 
Finally, like Ajax, Nixon (and probably many like him) have yet to receive 
recognition for indispensable duties performed. 

11. The Legal Philosophy and Times o f  Judge Nixon 
A. His Era 

The most important period of American legal history, the "formative era" 



or "golden age" has traditionally been thought to have extended from the 
American Revolution to the Civil War. This opinion results from the fact 
that the major developments of the basic disciplines of Americar? private Iaw 
such as contracts, torts, property, and corporat i~ns, '~  and the formation of 
sophisticated national and state theories of constitutional law took place in 
this "golden" per iod . 'The  issues in the late nineteenth century have not 
seemed as grand, as it was more a time concerned with systematization and 
a "search for order".'" Nevertheless, Nixon's jurisprudence suggests that par- 
ticularly in the federal courts, there may have been an equally creative burst 
in the late nineteenth century, although the creativity took place in more 
specialized legal doctrines such as patents, bankruptcy, or insurance, fields 
which have often escaped the attention of the legal his t~rian.~ '  Further, it 
appears that we have often misunderstood the late nineteenth century judicial 
bombastic style; instead of reflecting mindless adherence to stare decisis, we 
may discover that its exponents reflected a view of the world, and of America's 
place in  it, that was not far different from that of the great jurists of the early 
nineteenth century. If the opinions now strike us as defensive or unimagina- 
tive, the explanation may be that their writers felt that the traditional values 
were extremely threatened by the economic and moral chaos following the civil 
war, and that strong and simple statements of fundamental values were badly 
needed.22 If ever there was a judge who was weaned on these fundamental 
and simple values, it was Nixon. These values, as Robert Wiebe has sug- 
gested'? were more appropriate to "small-town" American communities than 
to the urban bureaucratized nation that was rapidly forming during the 
period. Nixon's outlook stressed principles of individualism that may have 
predominated in the early part of the century, when opportunities for indi- 
vidual achievement, or what Willard Hurst has called the "release of energym2' 
were more evident. Nixon stood for a simpler time, when the heroic indi- 
vidual, not unlike the prototypes in the Iliad, was the model for good citizen- 
ship. Nixon's reaction to the Civil War and his passionate pro-Unionism may 
also have simplified the issues for him. Even in the Iliad, however, there is 
great conflict between the need for assertions of individual integrity (like the 
disasterous wrath of Achilles) and the need for social responsibility (the 
duty of all the heroes to unite against T r ~ y ) . ~ V h i s  conflict eventually 
destroyed Ajax, and, as we shall see, the difficulty of reconciling similar com- 
peting considerations eventually took its toll on Nixon. 

In order to understand the competing considerations with which judges 
like Nixon had to grapple at the end of the nineteenth century, and in order 
to be able to appreciate his value system, we must consider first some basic 
biographical data, and then some of Nixon's philosophical speculations. We 
may then proceed to an anal~sis  of his jurisprudence itself. 

John Thompson Nixon was from one of the leading families of Cumber- 
land ~ o u n t y . ~ ~ o r n  in 1820, he received a preparatory "classical education" 
at the Lawrcnceville Academy near Princeton, and attended the College of 
New Jersey, now Princeton University. Nixon continued his classical studies 



after graduation by serving for two years as an instructor in languages at the 
C ~ l l e g e . ~ ~  In 1845 he entered the practice of law in New Jersey, in 1848 he 
was elected as a Whig member of the General Assembly of New Jersey, and 
he served as spealccr of the New Jersey General Assembly in 1849.28 From 
1858 to 1862, during the crucial period when the Civil War began, Nixon 
served two terms in the United States Congress, first as an "American", and 
second as a Republican. 

Nixon then returned to law practice in New Jersey. During the years be- 
tween his service in the New Jersey Assembly and his appointment to the 
District Judgeship in May 1870, Nixon produced a digest of New Jersey 
statutes, bringing out a first edition in 1855, a second edition in 1861, and 
a third i n  1868.2Vrom I863 until his death he served as a trustee of the 
College of New Jersey and he remained very active in Princeton University 
affairs.%O 

By the time Nixon finally became a federal judge he was nearly 50 years 
old." He brought to the bench what contemporaries perceived as an "har- 
monious blending" of "mental and moral" qualities.'" Before 1861 the dis- 
trict court of the United States in New Jersey "had been of little importance 
. . . . for it was seldom that matters of any consequence were brought before 
i t , 1 7 3 . 7  In the 1860's and 1870's, however, the New Jersey federal court "be- 

came much more important, especially because of the grave questions arising 
out of the Civil War, and from the necessary extension of the powers of the 
federal judiciary in the states." In 1867 a new federal bankruptcy statute 
was passed, to be administered by the federal district courts. This created a 
marked increase in the scope "of the powers of the court and the extent and 
importance of its busine~s.""~ Further, since the Third Circuit Judge, William 
McKennan, was principally occupied with his duties in Philadelphia, "year 
by year more of the [New Jersey] circuit court business devolved upon the 
district judge.""During this period also, cases involving the collection of the 
internal revenue increased, particularly in the district of New Jersey. Finally, 
an 1875 act further enlarged the jurisdiction of the federal courts, particu- 
larly in patent cases. I t  "was soon discovered by suitors in patent cases in the 
two great states on either side [of New Jersey] that [.in New Jersey] was a 
[federal] tribunal in which such controversies could receive prompt and 
intelligent consideration." As a result Nixon's patent cases "increased more 
and more in consequence of the patience, ability and urbanity which he 
brought to their consideration."'"' 

B. His Philosophy: Race, Country, and Religion. 

From several speeches and addresses which Nixon gave in the late nine- 
teenth century, we can understand what his contemporaries meant when they 
commented on his morality and his urbanity. As he told the students at 
Princeton in 1863, John Thompson Nixon viewed the world as a place where 
liberally educated men were duty-bound to strive for achievement. There 



were, according to Nixon, three goals to be achieved by this striving. I t  was 
a man's duty to honor, by his efforts, his race, his country, and his God.37 

When Nixon suggested that one of man's tasks was to honor his race, he 
meant that each man ought to be concerned with the progress of mankind, 
and with human society in general. Nixon believed that the condition of man- 
kind could and should be bettered by economic progress through individual 
entrepreneurship," and by accomplishments in the arts and sciences, and his 
Princeton address shows a familiarity with the writings and discoveries of the 
great historians, philosophers, and  scientist^.^^ Nixon was concerned, how- 
ever, that throughout the world of the late nineteenth century, human socie- 
ties seemed "disturbed in all the elements of social organi~ation."'~ 

As did the men who made the American Revolution, Nixon believed that 
he lived in a crucial time in the history of mankind, when America had a 
special burden to shoulder, and that Americans by honoring their country 
would actually be bettering the entire race. This was because the "spirit" of 
"popular liberty", born in Greece and Rome, and nurtured in England, was 
dependent for its survivaI upon events in Amer i~a .~ '  Though America had 
recently been "an imperiled republic struggling for life," Americans were now 
expected to demonstrate that man's capacity for self government could 
survive against oppression and the aggressions of power.42 Nixon deeply 
believed in "the fundamental doctrine of popular power."43 And to this end 
Nixon was also devoted to "the great work of popular e d ~ c a t i o n . " ~ ~  

Nixon's love for "liberty" and "popular power" had some limitations, and 
his beliefs were not free from tension. Thus, for Nixon, "liberty" was not 
"the abstract deity of the ancients . . . begetting anarchy, disorder, and 
licentiousness;" but was instead the "practical earth-child of modern civiliza- 
tion, born of written constitutions, temperate progress, and social order."45 
Similarly, Nixon believed that one of the greatest problems of his age was 
what he described as "an agrarian spirit, which levels distinctions . . . neces- 
sary for the existence of the social order."4e At the other end of the social 
spectrum, however, Nixon was worried about "a corrupting spirit which 
substitutes the power of wealth for the legitimate influence of virtue and 
intelligen~e."~~ Similarly, Nixon was concerned about the possibility of a 
general lowering of standards. This was illustrated particularly by what he 
perceived as a decline in the quality of the American Bar. Nixon decried 
"the growing tendencies to lower the standard of what was once properly 
termed a learned profession, by filling up the roll with men of little elemen- 
tary training and whose knowledge of the law was obtained from the mere 
definitions and catch-words of a noble science."48 In short, Nixon's concept 
of "popular sovereignty" was like that of the early Thomas Jefferson. He 
believed in a democratic base for politics, but he also saw a need for a struc- 
tured society, and leadership by an intellectual elite.4s Still, the popularly- 
based power of the legislature was of fundamental importance to Nixon, and, 
as we shall see, he felt himself bound to try to effectuate the popular will in 
his decisions. 



Perhaps the deepest level of Nixon's concern was reached when he con- 
sidered the problems which he believed were facing American religion. While 
Nixon believed fervently in the "spirit of civil liberty, and the genius of re- 
ligious freedom",5o he also believed that Christianity should not be "degraded 
into a child of earth, by having her doctrines, principles, and claims sub- 
jected to the limited and defective processes of human reason." Nixon excori- 
ated the "infidel spirit, which, wandering away from the simpler forms of 
ancestral faith, fails to recognize a constantly superintending Providence in 
the direction of our individual lives, and in the determination of our national 
de~tinies ."~~ For Nixon, history was the study of God's mysterious workings 
on earth, and it was not always easily intelligible to man.L2 

Faced with the difliculty of understanding the work of God in history, 
man's job, then, was not to question the works of God, but rather to seek to 
serve Him by glorifying His work, and by being faithful to His command- 
rnent~.~"he religious aspects of man's task thus shaded virtually imper- 
ceptibly into man's duties to his race and country through what Nixon called 
L L ~ ~ r t h  and moral power."" Here the Greeks (and perhaps Ajax himself) 
were the best models for Nixon, who admired their "prodigies of personal 
valor" and their "heroic constancy of purpo~e."~" Nixon's writings do not 
reveal a fully detailed description of man's moral duties, but as was true of 
the ancient Greeks, for Nixon the highest possible achievement for man was 
to maintain unblemished his personal chara~ter .~"  

In the material which follows, we will see how Nixon used a flexible and 
creative style of jurisprudence to further the simple values he saw as trans- 
cendent-service to America, to mankind, and to God-through the promo- 
tion of popular sovereignty and economic progress. This can be traced 
through his district and circuit court opinions dealing with the areas of 
patents, bankruptcy, admiralty, criminal law, negligence, and insurance. In 
all of these opinions there exists at least some concern with Nixon's threefold 
prescription for American citizenship, and a consciousness that individuals 
who followed his canons ought to be rewarded. 

111. The Early Years: EfJ~ctuating Legislative Purpose 

Nixon's earliest opinions reveal his desire to implement the policies of 
Congress, particularIy in the sensitive area of legislation designed to assist 
the underprivileged. Perhaps the finest example is a case Nixon decided in 
1871, United States \I. S ~ u d e r s . ~ '  Nixon was asked to rule on a motion for a 
new trial for defendants convicted of violating the Voting Rights Act of - 

1870,5s by "unlawfully preventing certain legal voters from freely exercising 
the right of suffrage." The election in question was for a representative in 
Congress, and occurred in Newton, Camden County. The defendants, "a 
company of white men," made "a violent attack" on some black voters, 
"driving them forcibly" from the polIing place.59 The blacks "almost immedi- 
ately rallied, and . . . . drove out the [defendants.]" The blacks then pro- 



ceeded to vote." The question for Nixon to decide was whether, if the blacks 
were eventually able to vote, the defendants could still be found guilty of 
"preventing a voter from freely exercising the right to suffrage." The defen- 
dants' counsel argued that since the blacks eventually voted, their freedoms 
were merely "hindered" or "temporarily obstructed," but not permanently 
prevented. 

Nixon began by observing that "The object of all inquiry is to get at the 
intention of the legislature in passing the law; and the sole duty of the court 
is to grant to that intention, when ascertained, its full force and effect." Nixon 
proceeded to explain that the review of statutory language might be a process 
of several stages. His first task, he said, was to give "to words and sentences 
their obvious import and signification; having regard more to their general 
and popular use than to etymological or grammatical refinements." If there 
was still doubt as to the meaning of the statute, however, then "we must look 
at the context; at the subject matter; look to the effects and consequences of 
this or that interpretation; to the reason and spirit of the law itself; expound- 
ing it in the light of the mischief of the old law or want of law; and the 
remedy which the legislature has attempted to provide.""' This analysis of 
the method of interpretation of statutes, of course, bears no resemblance to 
the "wooden" interpretation which some historians have suggested prevailed 
during this period.62 

Nixon noted the general rule that "Where the statute is penal it must have 
a strict construction," but he immediately asserted that "we must not err in 
a too liberal application of the rule," and that penal statutes "are not to be 
construed so strictly as to defeat the obvious intention of the legi~lature."~" 
Nixon then concluded, taking the tests for statutory interpretation he men- 
tioned into consideration, that the "free exercise of suffrage" provision ought 
to include freedom from all restraints, even temporary ones, on voting. In 
short, the act intended to shield voters from "all sorts of duress, mental or 
bodily, while in the performance of the act."64 

Although this decision might be indicative of Nixon's stern morality in so 
far as he referred to what happened as "this outrage of expelling the colored 
voter,"G5 Nixon's views on the importance of wide popular participation and 
thus the integrity of the political process itself, were perhaps more crucial. In 
this case, as much as any other he decided, he was probably able to feel that 
he was performing the highest task a Nationalist Republican judge could, that 
i s  to effectuate his party's program of universal congressional suffrage. 

In any event, the case of United States v. Souders was probably not a prob- 
lematic one for Nixon, because his own expressed preference for political 
freedom and his moral judgements coalesced so nicely with the obvious legis- 
lative purpose of the 1870 Voting Rights Act. A better indication of how 
Nixon felt himself bound by legislative purpose is provided by several bank- 
ruptcy opinions, where it is clear that Nixon's moral preferences were against 
the party for whom he believed he had to decide. The Act under which Nixon 
rendered most of these decisions was the Bankruptcy Act of 1867.66 While 



the earliest national bankruptcy legislation had tended to favor creditor inter- 
ests-perhaps because of a predominant moral feeling among national legis- 
lators that it was the responsibility of the debtor class to make good on their 
promises-the Bankruptcy Acts of 1841 and 1867 were designed to provide 
benefits for debtors as well.G7 By this time, the sentiment had become more 
prevalent that personal bankruptcy did not reflect moral turpitude, but might 
simply be the result of unpredictable and impersonal cycles of the econ- 
 my.^^ There is some indication that Nixon's own preferences were still to 
favor creditors over debtors, but most of his bankruptcy cases reflect an effort 
to effectuate the "popular will" expressed in the 1867 Act, and Nixon's 
unwillingness to let the legislative intention be defeated by mere technical 
irregularities.'j9 

The case which illustrates this phenomenon most clearly is Andrew v .  
Dole (1875)." Plaintiff was the assignee in bankruptcy of defendant Dole. 
Plaintiff alleged that defendant, in fraud of the bankruptcy act, had trans- 
ferred to his brother-in-law property worth hundreds of thousands of dollars. 
Following this transfer, it was alleged, Dole continued to reside on, and to 
enjoy the profits of the property-before, during, and after bankruptcy pro- 
ceedings. Unfortunately, the plaintiff had not discovered this fraud until 
nearly seven years after his appointment as assignee in bankruptcy, and a 
provision of the act of 1867" stated that "no suit shall in any case be main- 
tainable, at law or in equity . . . by any assignee in bankruptcy . . . unless 
such suit shall be brought within two years from the time the cause of action 
accrued . . ."i2 The question for Nixon to decide in the case, then, was 
whether to accept the assignee's argument that his cause of action was still 
alive because it did not "accrue" until discovery of the fraud. Nixon was the 
first federal judge faced with the necessity of thus construing this provision 
of the 1867 act, although several other judges had expressed  opinion^.'^ 

The plaintiff argued that since the action for relief on the grounds of fraud 
was an equitable action, he was entitled to apply to the case "the long estab- 
lished equity rule, that statutes of limitation do not begin to run until the 
fraud has been, or by reasonable diligence may have been, dis~overed."~' In 
a rather frank acknowledgement that there was no easy formalistic solution 
to the problem and after a long review of English and American cases, Nixon 
indicated that the "best judicial minds of England and the United States [had] 
differed. . . ." Nixon noted that while there were some precedents suggesting 
that even in courts or' law this "equitable rule" regarding the accrual of a case 
of fraud could be applied,'Yhe usual rationale for the rule in equity courts 
was that courts of equity are normally "only bound by the spirit of the stat- 
ute." Law courts, Nixon stated, were not permitted to engage in the "judicial 
legislation" of constructing an exception to the statute of limitations in cases 
of fraud.'" 

While courts of equity were permitted to act outside the statutes of limita- 
tion under most circumstances because "normally they act outside law", 
Nixon felt that the situation was different where the legislature expressly in- 



cluded equity cases in the relevant statute of limitations. Nixon concluded 
that "if any hardship should result, in a particular case, because of such 
omission, is not the remedy to be found in the legislature rather than in the 
courts?"77 Nixon added that if Congress had meant to preserve the equity 
doctrine allowing the statute to be tolled in cases of fraud, they should have 
expressly so specified in the relevant section. Nixon dismissed the claim with 
the observation that "it is neither the province or prerogative of courts to 
repeal legislation by any such methods of cons t r~c t ion ."~~ Nixon's strong 
desire to effectuate the legislative intent of settling bankrupt estates may have 
thus been enough to overcome any moral aversion he might have had to the 
conduct of the bankrupt.i9 

Nixon's opinions in the bankruptcy area could also be lenient with regard 
to "fraud" on the bankruptcy act committed by creditors. For example, in the 
case of in re Kaufmari ( 1  879)@' a creditor who had been forced through legal 
processes to return property "conveyed in fraud of the provisions of the 
Bankrupt Act of 1867"R' sought to be listed among the creditors of the bank- 
rupt to receive his pro-rated share at the distribution, and was refused listing 
among the creditors by the bankrupt's assignee. The assignee believed that he 
was entitled to refuse listing because of the creditor's earlier illegal attempt to 
collect. The difficulty in the case was an apparent conflict between Section 12 
of the Act of June 22, 1874s2 which provided that where a creditor had 
originally received payment "in cases of actual fraud" on the bankruptcy act 
half of the debt only was permitted to be proved in the final listing, and the 
still not repealed Section 5084 of the 1867 Acts? "which deprived the creditor 
who shall have accepted a fraudulent preference from either proving his debt 
or receiving a dividend until he shall have surrendered to the assignee a11 such 
property."s4 

The assignee relied on Section 5084, and argued that no "surrender" had 
occurred, since a "surrender" had to be voluntary, and recovery through legal 
process was involuntary. Since there had been no "surrender" he argued, 
Section 5084 deprived the creditor of the right to any listing. The assignee 
relied on two previous cases which so construed Sections 12 and Section 
5084. Refusing to construe the word "surrender" in the rigid and formalistic 
manner of these previous opinions,85 Nixon decided that it was the intention 
of Congress, when the 1874 Act was passed, to allow half recovery even in 
the case o f  "fraudulent" creditors. Nixon stated that the 1874 Act allowing 
half of the debt to be recovered after "surrender" of the property was de- 
signed "to alleviate harshness" present in the 1867 Act. Said Nixon, "the 
section, before the change, expressly prohibitcd any proof by a creditor who 
knowingly received a preference. There was a widely expressed desire to relax 
the vigor of such a provision. It was deemed a hardship to punish men with 
the loss of their whole claim because they made an effort to secure the pay- 
ment of their honest d ~ e s . ' ' ~ ~  

Taking into account the purposes of the change in 1874, Nixon held that 
giving up the property after being sued could be construed as a "surrender", 



therefore 9 5084 would not bar the claim, and thus even in the case of actual 
fraud on the bankruptcy act by the creditor one haIf of his debt could be 
reco~ered.~'  We see in this case, then, a conflict between the political princi- 
ple of popular sovereignty which would suggest that creditors who had pro- 
ceeded contrary to the federal bankruptcy statute of 1867 should be punished 
by wiping off their listings, and the strong moral principle that persons should 
not be punished for a technical indiscretion made in seeking payment of their 
originally just claims. Nixon attempted, in a manner that he apparently be- 
lieved was consistent with the spirit of the latest legislative expression, to 
reconcile the two principles with the Solomon-like solution presented in 
Section 12 of the 1874 statute. The interpretation, though somewhat tortured, 
certainly is not rigid. and shows a sincere concern for IegisIative purpose. 
Again, as we saw in the Souders case,a6 Nixon exhibited a willingness to go 
beyond the mere words of a statute and to seek to render a decision in line 
with underlying policies. 

Still, if some of the cases in bankruptcy suggest a tendency on Nixon's part 
to bow to legislative purpose and slight his own feelings about the importance 
of moral re~ponsibility,~" the explanation may be that Nixon perceived legis- 
lative efforts in the area of bankruptcy to be effectuating policies that he 
believed were also exceptionally important, for example, commercial progress. 
It will be remembered that Nixon saw that the future of America was de- 
pendent on industrial progress to be achieved by rewarding individual striv- 
ing.gO Clearly the aim of bankruptcy legislation, as far as debtors were 
concerned, was to wipe the slate clean, and to allow bankrupts to return to 
the productive sector of American s~c i e ty .~ '  By examining some of Nixon's 
other decisions we can see further how he attempted to implement legislative 
aitempts to ensure the success of commercial endeavors, and to reward indi- 
vidual achievement. 

One such example comes from an admiralty case decided in 1882, The 
Maria and the Elizabeth." In that case a vessel had collided with another, 
and was sold to pay the damages caused by the collision. The sale was in- 
sufficient completely to compensate for the damages, which were approxi- 
mately five times the amount realized. The parties injured by the collision 
accordingly sought to recover the balance from the ship's owners. By this 
time, however, Congress had passed the "limited liability act," Revised Stat- 
utes § 4283, which provided, in pertinent part, that "the liability of the owner 
of any vessel for . . . . any loss, damage, or injury by collision, . . . . incurred 
without the privity or knowledge of such owner or owners, shall in no case 
exceed the amount or value of the interest of the owner in such vessel. . . ."93 
The case turned upon the question whether, since the master was a part 
owner, and since he was on board the ship at the time of the collision, 
although he was then asleep, knowledge of the collision ought to be imputed 
to the owners, thus removing the limitation in the statute. Nixon conceded 
that in this situation one might say that the master "had privity of knowledge 
of the collision.""' In light of the Congressional policy, however, which Nixon 



found to be "to encourage commerce, and ownership in its instrumentalities," 
such a "narrow construction" would be unwarranted. To hold that the statute 
would be unavailable in the case at bar, concluded Nixon, would be "to de- 
prive all vessel-owners of the privileges of the act in cases where the master 
happens to have any interest, however small, in the vessel."95 Apparently 
understanding that this would hardly comport with the congressional purpose 
of encouraging ownership of ships and shipping, and perhaps realizing that 
an adverse holding would discourage ownership by masters and thus the 
concomitant possibilities of social and economic mobility through individual 
striving so dear to Nixon, he held that there was no "knowledge" of the colli- 
sion on the part of the owners, and the statute's limitation applied. 

IV. A Second Goal: Facilitating Economic Development 
Through Rewardin3 Individual Striving 

A. Admiralty Decisions 

As Nixon spent more time on the bench, and as the time of his own service 
in legislatures grew more distant, he seems to have shown a tendency to relax 
his inclination to be guided by legislative intent, when he perceived that he 
could thereby further his own goals of facilitating individual enterprise and 
economic progress. As indicated earlier, Nixon held to these goals because 
he believed that enterprise and progress eventually served all mankind.Q6 The 
tendency to move beyond legislative intent can be seen in a series of admiralty 
cases in which Nixon ruled on claims for damages from negligence. 

In Brooks v. The D.  W. Lenox ( 1878) a barge belonging to the plaintiff 
had been sunk while being towed by the defendant tugboat. The sinking had 
occurred after the barge had been struck by a schooner, the May Morn. The 
"steering and sailing rules Nos. 20 and 22," part of a Congressional statute, 
required all steamships (like the tug Lenox) to keep out of the way of sailing 
vessels, and the evidence seemed to demonstrate that the master of the Lenox 
had caused the collision by failing to folIow this rule.0s Accordingly, the 
owner of the May Morn sought to cast the entire blame of the collision on the 
tugboat, and thus avoid any liability for negligence. Nixon found, however, 
that it would have been possible for the schooner May Morn to have 
"pronlptly ported her helm and let her jibs run" thus coming "up into the 
wind" and minimizing or avoiding the accident. While the steering and sailing 
rules would seem to have required the schooner simply to follow her course, 
as she did, Nixon declared that "All rules of navigation have their excep- 
tions," even though none were expressed here.OO Citing no authority, and 
indeed declaring that "It would serve no useful purpose . . . to state at large 
the reasons for my opinion in the case," Nixon held that since the steering 
and sailing rules were "adopted to prevent collision, when a collision is inevi- 
table by adhering to them, each vessel is not only bound to depart from the 
rules, but to adopt such different methods as will tend to avoid the disaster.'OO 
Nixon then held the schooner jointly liable with the tug for the c~llision, '~'  
Nixon thus saw his task as minimizing collisions, in a manner consistent with 



the purpose, if not the express language, of Congressional directives. Still, it is 
perhaps appropriate to speculate that Nixon may have been attempting to  go 
beyond the Congressional intent, and to limit the liability of steam-powered 
vessels. It may be that Nixon, as an admirer of technological improvements, 
believed that the rules were too harsh on steam-driven vehicles.'02 In any 
event, Nixon must have believed that he could increase the material benefits 
from maritime commerce by thus reducing the costs incurred through col- 
lisions. 

Perhaps Nixon's wish to reduce collisions was also motivated by a concern 
for the seamen who risked injury whenever a captain of a vessel chose stub- 
bornly to cling to his right of way under rules of navigation. Such a concern 
would be consistent with Nixon's attitude as evinced in admiralty cases deal- 
ing with the rights of sailors. Nixon was extremely solicitous to the rights of 
seamen, and in particular their opportunities for material advancement,lo3 
even if this meant that he would have to ignore the words of a statute. In 
Somers v. The Jersey BIue ( 1 879)Io4 a pilot sought to recover a year's wages. 
The owners defended on the grounds that the pilot had agreed to purchase a 
share in the vessel, and that they were simply applying his wages towards 
reducing the balance he owed for his share. Nixon had to determine whether 
the sailor could rely on the provisions of Sections 4535 and 4536 of the 
Revised Statutes, which forbid assignment of seamen's wages. Nixon observed 
that the assignment of wages here might "come within the letter of the stat- 
ute," but he stated his belief that "it does not fall within its spirit and intent." 
Recognizing that the legislation was passed "for the benefit of seamen, who 
are the wards of the admiralty courts," Nixon suggested that "no interpreta- 
tion should be given to i t  which would work to their injury."'05 Because such 
assignment of wages would increase the chances of seamen to buy shares in 
vessels, and this would be "a benefit to seamen," Nixon refused to hold that 
an assignment of this type would fall within the bar of the statute. This might 
have meant that Nixon would deny relief to this particular sailor, in the in- 
terests of protecting the potential for economic advancement of his class, but 
Nixon managed to hcld that in the case at bar, since there had actually been 
no agreement to assign wages for the year in question, the pilot was entitled 
to his wages.lo6 

An even more paternalistic attitude is revealed towards the end of Nixon's 
tenure on the bench. For exarnpIe, in The Frank C. Barber (1884),107 the 
sailors b_eIieved that they were to be paid wages monthly, and that they would 
be paid "fish money" (bonuses of three cents for every 1,000 fish caught 
during the season) as i t  was earned. The owners, however, maintained that 
they had told the sailors that they were not to be paid until the end of the 
season, and further that the sailors were to have deducted from their wages 
certain charges for food. When the sailors were not paid as they expected, 
they protested to the master of the ship who seemed "to have taken sides with 
the men, when with them, and with the owners when away from the crew." 
The master never told the crew the owners' terms for payment, which terms 



were different from the periodic payments in use in prior years. Indeed, the 
master appeared to have represented to the men that the usual periodic and 
bonus payments would be made.lo8 The master, when asked for payment by 
the sailors replied that the men could "go to work or . . . . go ashore," and 
that if they chose to leave they would be paid for work done to date. The 
men took this option, and did receive some "checks" for wages then due from 
the owners, but these checks did not include the "fish money."109 At the trial, 
the owners claimed that the seamen had deserted and therefore no money 
was due them, since deserters forfeited accrued pay. Nixon decided that there 
had been an "unfortunate misunderstanding between the owners and the 
crew," which came about because of the "double-faced dealing of the mas- 
ter." Since, as Nixon observed, "It must be borne in mind that seamen of this 
class are generally ignorant; and are often imposed on, and that such imposi- 
tion makes them suspicious," Nixon held that their leaving the ship's employ 
was a reasonable act, a discharge and not a desertion, and they were entitled 
to the wages earned to date including the fish money. 

In this and other cases,"O Nixon made it clear that in admiralty he would 
depart from the strict rule of the common law in contracts of this nature, 
which would require construction in favor of the employer. Because of the 
presumption created in the admiralty courts owing to the susceptible nature 
of seamen, "When . . . . the master leaves . . . uncertainty . . . . about the 
terms of the bargain with the seamen, he must not complain if all doubts are 
resoIved in favor of the more ignorant party to the contract.""' Just as Nixon 
was prepared to go beyond the words of a statute where he felt it necessary 
in order to effectuate his personal goal of encouraging individual advance- 
ment through individual striving, so he was prepared to set aside particular 
ruIes of the common law where he believed they were antithetical to the 
values he prized. Insofar as this led him to modify the doctrines of admiralty 
law, or at least to ensure that they continued to carry a strong equitable di- 
mension, it seems fair to suggest that Nixon's was a "creative" jurisprudence, 
and not the arid variety thought to prevail in the late nineteenth century. 

B .  Patent Decisions 

A tendency to engage in creative jurisprudence in order to prevent unfair 
advantage from being taken of stalwart individuals is also evident in Nixon's 
patent decisions. These cases also suggest that though Nixon was convinced 
of the need to encourage industrial expansion, his personal philosophy 
led him to be concerned about some of the distributive effects of the late nine- 
teenth century economy. This moral tone is best captured in Celluloid Manu- 
facturing Company v. Crofut ( 1  8 8 5 )  .l12 The decision in the case turned on 
the question of whether an inventor of a plastic compound, one William Hugh 
Pierson, was entitIed to the protection of a patent. Mr. Pierson was a witness 
in the case, and Nixon observed that "his modest story of his perplexities 
and struggles with poverty is quite pathetic."""he defendant infringers had 



argued that Pierson was not entitled to patent rights because he was "not the 
original and first inventor; [his] patent having been anticipated" by an English 
patent in 1856, and that Pierson had also forfeited his patent rights by 
"abandonment of the invention to the public." 

Pierson began his experiments in 1850, and continued for five years until 
his plastic compound was perfected. Since he was still poor, having recently 
began his practice as a physician, it took a long time for him to make his 
plastic compound commercially valuable."" According to Pierson, he braved 
poverty and possible starvation for another five years, in order to perfect 
"what I at that time and ever since have believed would prove to be an inven- 
tion of the greatest value to mankind and possibly to myself.""Thus, it was 
not until 1860 that application for Letters patent was made.liVierson's 
application was initially refused by the patent office. Then, 

". . . after having devoted so many years of my life to this one idea, the 
disappointment was too great for me to bear. . . my mind became ~~nbalanced 
land] I was sent to an asylum early in February, 1861, and remained there until 
sometime in September, 1861 .""' 

Finally, after a few years at sea to regain his health, and after dismissing an 
apparently inept patent attorney, Mr. Pierson was able to secure a patent for 
the plastic. In view of these facts, which were not contradicted by the de- 
fendants, Nixon held that his invention had been perfected before the time 
of the English competitor. SimilarIy, even though there was a period of 
approximately 10 years between the original invention and the securing of the 
patent, Nixon held that this 10 year period did not constitute "abandonment". 
Said Nixon, "continued poverty, sickness, and mental alienation are always 
regarded as sufficient excuses for delay, and not a fact or circumstance has 
been brought into the case showing any intention of abandonment."l18 

The theme of the noble patentee against the cruel world was one that 
Nixon had been articulating for many years. For example, in an 1874 caseus 
involving a machine for cutting mitres, Nixon refused to allow defendants to 
succeed in their clain? that they had either anticipated, or improved the plain- 
tiff's invention, and he held the defendants infringers because, as he stated: 

I t  is the old story of taking up the thread of another's invention or 
combination, improving upon it by the substitution of well known equivalents, 
and then claiming the merit of the whole invention. In the present state of the 
mechanical arts, it is the most usual and obvious mode of infringing the rights 
of others, but none the less an injury, against which it is the duty of the court 
to give p r o t e ~ t i o n . " ' ~ ~  

Perhaps the clearest suggestion that Nixon believed that it might be his job to 
redress late nineteenth century economic imbalances came in another 1874 
case, Webster v. New Brunswick Carpet Company, involving an inventor who 
had taken some time before securing a patent "for a new and useful improve- 
ment in looms for weaving pile  fabric^."'^' Nixon stated that "too often" the 



"only recompense" inventors received was the "honor of the invention." The 
situation in Webster, said Nixon, was "the old story of poor inventors pa- 
tiently waiting at the door of rich capitalists."122 It  was a case, said Nixon, 
where the inventor "was obliged to wait, either for the death of [another 
patent] or until the heart of capital should relent, in order to give his inven- 
tion to the world under circumstances that might afford him [the inventor] 
some compensation for his years of thought and unrequited efforts."lZ3 Nixon 
proceeded to rule in favor of the "poor inventor," and against an infringing 
"rich capitalist"."' 

C. The Law of Contract 

In an era which is supposed to be characterized by judges impersonally 
applying formal rules, Nixon's predilection in the patent cases for highly 
individualized examination of the situation of each patentee is striking. 
Nixon's attitude of individualized treatment 1s also evident in his refusal to 
be bound by what we have come to call the "classical" rules of contract, 
rules that were supposedly established and dominant by the nate nineteenth 
century.lZ5 We have already observed a tendency to ignore the common Iaw 
rules of contract in admiralty cases.lz6 This might not be surprising, since 
Admiralty Courts have traditionally been regarded as courts of equity, but 
Nixon was prepared to temper the common law rules with equitable notions 
even when there was no maritime element. 

Batchelor v. Kirkbride (1886),12' for example, was a case involving an 
architect's failure to give a certificate so that a builder could be paid for on- 
going construction. The contract for construction expressly provided that 
before any progress payments could be made, the architect was to certify 
that enough work had been done to warrant the payment and the architect's 
decision was to be "final on both parties."128 The architect had frauduIently 
withheld his certification, apparently hoping by that tactic to be bribed by 
the builder. At this time the building was approximately three-quarten com- 
pleted, and the builder had received payment for one-half of the construction. 
When the architect refused the certificate, the builder demanded payment 
from the owner. The owner refused, sticking by the contract, and demanding 
certification first. There was no evidence of collusion between the owner and 
architect. The builder stopped work, since he could not continue to pay his 
workers without progress payments. The owner requested the builder to pro- 
ceed, and when the builder could not, the owner exercised his contractual 
rights to replace him. The builder then brought an action in quantum meruit 
for the value of the uncompensated work. He prevailed in a jury trial, and 
Nixon was asked to rule on a motion for a new trial. Since the builder had 
failed to obtain the architect's certificate, it would appear that by the then- 
prevailing rules regarding express contracts, an essential condition precedent 
to payment had not occurred, and the action in quantum meruit should not 
have been al10wed.l~~ For Nixon, however, this was not a matter of express 



conditions precedent, but simply a question of whether or not "the work had 
so far progressed as to entitle the contractor to have the certificates, and 
whether they were withheld for a fraudulent purpose." These, said Nixon, 
were questions of fact, for the jury to determine, and as they had ruIed in 
favor of the plaintiff, that ended the matter. 

Nixon's holding in Batchelor does not seem sensitive to the supposedly 
central idea of nineteenth century classical contract law that the role of the 
jury should be narrowly circumscribed when the express language of a con- 
tract covered the situation.'" There would appear to have been no need 
for Nixon to stretch the rules of contract here, since even if the owner 
were allowed to rely on his contract, the builder could have recovered his 
damages from the architect, in a separate action for fraud. This would seem 
best calculated to ensure honesty on the part of architects and to preserve 
the sanctity of written contracts, supposedly a paramount late nineteenth 
century goal. Nixon's allowance of quantum rneruit recovery, however,. may 
suggest that he believed that the architect was judgement-proof. His strong 
moral feeling that the  owner should pay for what he received, and that the 
builder should be rewarded for his efforts, may have then caused him to 
slight the rule regarding express conditions. As is true of so many other deci- 
sions late in Nixon's judicial career, it is nearly impossible to find Nixon 
engaging in the supposedly typical practice of mindlessly following clear 
precedent. 

In Nixon's earlier years as a judge, however, he may not have so strongly 
supported the role of the jury as a repository of moral judgement on parties 
involved in contract cases. It will be remembered that in other early Nixon 
decisions, he tended to suppress some of his personal views, to promote other 
purposes, perhaps most prominently the hegemony of the federal legisla- 
ture.'" In at least one contracts case, we can also discern an early tendency 
to reign in what appear to be Nixon's prejudices against large aggregations 
of capital,'" at least where it might appear that a corporation was rendering 
an important public service, or one essential to material progress. In such a 
case, however, Nixon, as he did in Batchelor, did seem to feel free to ignore 
the usual rules of construction of contract law. While Nixon had refused to 
allow a condition precedent in Batchelor when the rules of contract would 
seem to have required it, in Yeomans v. Girard Fire & Marine Insurance 
Company ( 1876) ,'":' when the precedents would seem to have required 
ignoring such a condition, Nixon enforced it. 

Yeomans involved the interpretation of an insurance policy which con- 
tained a clause whereby the parties agreed that in the case of disputes over 
the amount of money due on a claim, no suit at law or equity could be 
brought "until arbitration shall have determined what amount is due."'" The 
words of this clause in the contract were not strictly those of condition; the 
clause was preceded by the phrase that "it is furthermore hereby provided 
and mutually agreed," and this language could have been read as the language 
of promise as well as terms of a condition. .4ccording to the majority view, 



such ambiguous language ought normally to be construed as a promise, 
especially when dealing with promises to arbitrate, since they oust jurisdic- 
tion from the courts.'"" Nevertheless, Nixon, while he noted the traditional 
policy against private parties ousting jurisdiction from the courts, decided 
that the clause ought to be construed as a condition precedent "to the right 
of bringing an action."'" This was because the arbitration contemplated by 
this contract was only a means of fixing the amount due, of liquidating dam- 
ages, and after such fixing there was no bar to recourse to the courts for 
recovery.'" Nixon's holding was not without some Nevertheless, 
his construction of the clause as a condition precedent meant that the policy- 
holder in this case had to rely on the impartiality of arbitrators for the actual 
amount of his recovery, and could not obtain a review of the amount due 
under the policy from a judge or jury. To the extent, then, that a judge or 
jury might be swayed by individualistic considerations to award a different 
amount, the policy did "oust the courts of their ordinary jurisdiction." This 
did not appear to have troubled Nixon, however, who then seemed satisfied 
.by the rather formalistic distinction between ousting jurisdiction to determine 
the liability of the company on the policy (which even Nixon would not per- 
mit)'" and ousting jurisdiction to set damages. While Nixon did not explain 
the policies that supported his analysis, it seems fair to infer that the wish 
of the insurance company to avoid the massive costs and possible prejudice 
of fixing damages in a jury trial was instrumental. 

D. The Corporation and the Individslal 

We have already observed how Nixon's desires for the facilitation of eco- 
nomic expansion may have led him to manipulate the rules of contract in a 
manner that favored productive enterprise. We have also noted how Nixon 
could employ what might be characterized as this "creative" jurisprudence (at 
least insofar as he viewed himself as free to choose between alternative lines 
of precedent, and to make a choice based on his policy preferences), in the 
service of either individuals or corporations. Finally, we have remarked on 
what may have been Nixon's preference, based on his own moral notions of 
the importance of individual character, efforts, and worth, for seeing that 
individuals were not wrongfully treated by "rich capitalists." During most of 
his tenure on the bench it appears that Nixon tried to be objective in his 
opinions when he was faced with a case involving individuals opposing cor- 
porations. By his last years, however, as we will see, Nixon's personal 
morality may have overwhelmed his desires for objectivity, in a manner that 
resulted in several reversals of his decisions by the United States Supreme 
Court. Tn what follows we will first review some of the decisions regarding 
corporations in which Nixon tried to maintain objectivity, and then conclude 
with some of the decisions in which this objectivity would seem to have been 
lost. Tn the next section, we will examine the cases which the Supreme Court 
reversed, and compare Nixon's jurisprudence with that of the members of 
the Supreme Court. 



In GIobe v. Delaware, L. & W .  R. Co. ( 1  880),I4O a dentist, whose annual 
income was $5000 per year, was paralyzed as the result of an injury he re- 
ceived while sitting in the smoking car of a railroad. His train had been 
struck from the rear by two loose railroad cars. Nixon noted the Supreme 
Court's rule that railroads "must be held to the greatest possible care and 
diligence," and that absent any contributory negligence on the part of the 
passengers, there is a "strict rule of accountability." The railroad sought to 
argue that since the plaintiff voluntarily chose to place himself in the smoking 
car, which was next to the locomotive, and "not the safest place in the train" 
he assumed the risk of any consequences of his being there."' Nixon dis- 
missed this argument by observing that while the other passengers might be 
"more fastidious (shzll I say 'more cleanly'?)" than the riders in the smoking 
car, the railroad was still "responsible for the safety of its passengers in any 
place which [was] provided for their tran~portation." '~~ 

Nevertheless, though Nixon dealt brusquely with the railroad's defense, he 
did caution the jury that "this is no case for vindictive or exemplary dam- 
ages," since there was "no pretense that there was any wilful neg1ect."lt3 
Nixon explained that the plaintiff was only entitled to  "compensatory dam- 
ages," and he added that "I do not mean by this that you must try to make 
the plaintiff whole, 01. put him in as good condition as he was before the 
a c ~ i d e n t . " ~ ~ V h i s  seems to be curiously favorable to the railroad, as the 
black-letter rule of torts of the late nineteenth century was that the aim of 
damages was restitution, as far as money would do it, to put the plaintiff "in 
as good condition as he was before" the harm done him. For example, in an 
1868 case, Judge Blatchford of the Southern District of New York had 
announced that the rule was that the plaintiff in such a personal injury case 
was entitled to recover as i f  he "were a portion of the cargo . . . which its 
owner is entitled to have restored, repaired, and replaced in the condition 
in which it was at the time of the c~llision."'~" 

Nixon seems to have thus circumscribed the jury as he told them that it 
was "impossible" to "make the plaintiff whole" because "No amount of 
money . . . . can conipensate for loss of health or physical suffering." Nixon 
then admonished the jury that they could still do "something," and though 
he said he knew of "no rule which I can lay down which is applicabIe to 
every case,"'4H Nixon told the jury that in estimating damages they could 
consider bodily injury, pain, the effect on future health, medical expenses, 
and loss of future business revenues caused by the accident.=<' The jury pro- 
ceeded to find the railroad negligent, and implicitly absolved the plaintiff from 
any charges of contributory negligence, but they returned a verdict for the 
plaintiff of only $12,000, slightly more than two years income for the plain- 
tiff.14Vt would appear, since the defendant was said to be completely dis- 
abled, that this was a modest verdict,'" and it would seem logical that the 
modest verdict resulted from Nixon's circumscription of the jury. Nixon thus 
seems to have been sensitive to the possibility of jury bias against railroads 
or other corporate defendants, and sensitive, perhaps, to the role such cor- 
porations could play in the material advancement of America. 



Nixon's sensitivity to the possible prejudice against corporate defendants 
was most clearly expressed in 1883, in Carlwitz v. Geremia Fire Insurance 
Company.'" Plaintiff's husband had taken out fire insurance on a grocery 
store and fixtures in her name. The store had been damaged by fire approxi- 
mately seven months after the purchase of the insurance policy. There were 
"grave suspicions" on the part of the police that the fire was the result of 
"fraud . . . . which can be traced to the plaintiff."'" Nixon indicated that the 
burden of proving such arson was on the defendant company, but that the 
jury need not be "satisfied of this beyond a reasonable doubt" to find for 
the company.162 

After these instructions, Nixon went on to the company's second defense, 
that half of the premium had never been paid, and that therefore it was 
within its rights to have cancelled the policy (as it did). On this point Nixon 
remarked-after restating the plaintiffs husband's story that the defendant's 
agents had agreed to accept payment in kind-that the defendant's denial of 
such an agreement "lo some extent at least, seems to be corroberated by cir- 
cumstances." Nixon also told the jury that "I have never known a case of 
this kind tried where the proof as to the extent of the fire and the real damage 
done has been left in such an unsatisfactory state."15Vinally, Nixon made a 
valiant attempt to see that impartial justice was rendered: 

"In this controversy, gentlemen, the plaintiff is a woman, and the defendant 
a corporation. It is difficult for a jury not be misled by their prejudice in such a 
case. Jurors are men, and have a chivalric feeling for the gentler sex. They are 
also apt to have more or less prejudice against corporations. The court room is 
no place for any such feelings. Corporations are cntitlcd to the same justice, 
and to the same application of the principles of the law, as individual citizens. 
Indeed, a corporation is only a modern contrivance, wherein a number of 
persons unite their capital together for business purposes, and in all 
controversies respecting their rights the same law must be administered as if 
the  stockholders, as men, werc endeavoring to secure their personal rights. You 
will therefore look at the case impartially, and render the verdict which you 
would render if the issue was between man and man. This is no place for 
sympathy. Courts are organized and juries are summoned to mete out equal and 
cxact justice to all, and wherc they fail to do this they come short of fulfilling 
the chief object of their organization.''154 

Still, the jury may have been activated by some "chivalric feeling," (indeed, 
by his calling their possible prejudice to their attention, Nixon had reminded 
them that they should experience this feeling) and they found against the 
company on the issues of arson and cancellation, and awarded the plaintiff 
the verdict. 

While Nixon may have tried to make it clear in the Carlwitz case that it 
was his task as a jucige to see that every legal entity was treated fairly in his 
court, it did often appear that even when Nixon delivered jury instructions 
favorable to corporations, he would shade them in a manner that ultimately 
favored individual interests. Trefz v. Knickerbocker Life Insurance Company 
(1877)'"Qoncerned an allegedly false statement made in an application for 



insurance by the policyholder, Cristolph Trefz. Trefz had died, and his wife 
sought to collect on the policy. By the terms of a clause of his policy, it was 
null and void if any misstatements were made in the application. The task 
for the jury, said Nixon, was simply to determine the facts regarding the 
alleged falsity, and the jury was not to be concerned with the possible harsh- 
ness of a voiding of the policy after years of premiums paid by the insured. 
Nixon acknowledged that the clause "seems to be a hard condition for the 
policy holder," but cautioned the jury that this was not to influence them: 
"courts and juries, ir! cases of this sort," he said, "are obliged to ascertain 
what the contract is, and enforce it, without reference to the parties concerned 
in the litigation; in orher words, there is no place for ~yrnpathy." '~~ Sounding 
very much like an exponent of the "classical" or non-equitable theory of 
contracts,'" Nixon declared that "We are not to inquire whether one party 
or the other made a good or bad bargain, nor are we to set up our individual 
judgements upon the question whether it was wise or unwise for one or the 
other to conclude such a contract."15B Though Nixon again acknowledged 
that "This may seem harsh," he stated that "The company, in propounding 
the inquiry, made themselves the judges of its materiality, and the individual, 
in answering falsely agreed that he should have no benefit under the policy 
or the contract."159 

Nevertheless, Nixon did urge upon the jury a construction which was quite 
beneficial to the insured. It appeared that the insured had directed that the 
words "never sick" be written on an application for a policy, after being 
asked whether he had had any of "a long enumeration of diseases, commenc- 
ing with A (apoplexy) . . . and ending with Y (yellow fever) ." The company 
sought to prove that six months before the application, Trefz "was exposed 
to the rays of the sun whilst at work in the field, and was overcome by the 
heat in such a manner, and to such an extent, that he left his work, and went 
to his house," and that "such a fact was sufficient to make void the policies, 
because i t  shows that a man could not truly say he was never sick who had 
suffered from such a sunstroke."'" Nixon cautioned the jury that Trefz, a 
German, "was not a native born citizen, and that he was not very familiar 
with the language in which the question [on the form] was put." It  seems to 
me," said Nixon, "that, in endeavoring to ascertain the truth or falsity of the 
answer, we ought to look at it in the light of the knowledge and understand- 
ing which the individual had in regard to the terms he used."lG1 With this 
advice, it would seem that Nixon undid any attempt to make the jury con- 
sider objectively the relations between the insured and the company. 

Having started down this road, Nixon proceeded to elaborate on how the 
jury could interpret the facts favorably to the plaintiff. Nixon acknowledged 
that Trefz had felt it important enough (at  a subsequent physical examination 
by an insurance physician) to mention the attack of sunstroke (which was 
apparently dismissed as inconsequential by the physician), and that Trefz 
had put "cabbage leaves in his hat . . . . [which] indicated his apprehension 
of a return of the trouble[!]" Warming to his subject, Nixon told the jury that 



"it is not every affliction of the head from the heat of the sun that constitutes 
sickness. When a man says that he was never sick, he does not mean that he 
never had a headache, or that he was never affected by the heat of the sun, 
or that he never had any of the ills that flesh is heir to." "It may have meant," 
said Nixon, "that the insured had 'never been sick' with any of the long list 
of diseases which had just been enumerated to him."lG2 Nixon then placed 
the burden of proof of falsehood, in light of Mr. Trefz's understanding of the 
terms, on the company, perhaps thereby deciding the case. 

Defense counsel accordingly excepted to several rulings. Nixon protested 
that, "I did not mean to influence the judgement of anyone," and immediately 
cautioned the jury that "Anything I have said with regard to any fact in the 
case should not be allowed to influence your judgement." "The facts," he 
told them, "are for you to determine. Al thou~h it may be proper, at times for 
the court to impart to the jury the impression made upon its mind by the 
testimony, they are not bound by it." The jury took. the hint, however, and 
after "an absence of about one hour," a relatively short time, returned a ver- 
dict for the plaintifl for $1 1,998.82, the full amount of the policies, with 
interest. The case was appealed to the Supreme Court, and Nixon's views 
were affirmed.lG:( 

Perhaps the best example of Nixon's ambivalent approach to corporations 
is Tooten v. Pennsylvania Railroad Company ( 188 1 ) .Iw The plaintiff, a rail- 
road machinist, had been injured by a railroad engine which "broke through 
the closed doors of the shop." Nixon cautioned the jury that: 

"We nust not allow our judgement or sense of justice to be perverted by our 
sympathies and feelings because the plaintiff happens to be a poor man and the 
defendant is a lar,oe corporation, The law recognizes no difference in regard to 
parties. All stand upon the same level in a court of law. and the court and jury 
must be careful to mete out exact justice to all, without regard to mere external 
condition and  circumstance^."^^^ 

Nixon proceeded to tell the jury that they "must accept" the law as he stated 
it, and he immediately gave an orthodox statement of the fellow servant 
r ~ l e : ~ ~ ~ " T ] h e  master," said Nixon, "is not liable to his servant for injuries 
produced by the negligence of his fellow-servant, engaged in the same busi- 
ness and common employment, provided there be no negligence in the 
appointment of such negligent servant . . . An employer does not guarantee 
his servants against accidents." Explaining the assumption of risk model 
inherent in the fellow-servant doctrine, Nixon suggested that "As a rule, the 
greater the risk . . . . the larger the compensation demanded and received," 
and instructed the jury that they were to interpret the law as reflecting this 
assumption. These notions might have resulted in a ruling favorable to the 
defendant railroad. Immediately afterwards, however, Nixon announced two 
legal possibilities allowing a finding for the plaintiff. Nixon first told the jury 
that they might find that the plaintiff and the engineer responsible for the 
driving of the injuring engine were not in "common business" if the jury be- 



lieved that "their employment and work [did not] conduce to a common 
result," and second, Nixon told the jury that they might find for the plaintiff 
if they determined that the offending engine "was [not] reasonably fit for the 
duty that it was sent there to perform." It has been suggested that judges like 
Nixon, who stressed these exceptions to the fellow-servant rule, significantly 
weakened its pro-employer effects, if they did not obliterate the rule 
altogether.ll:' In Tooten the jury did find either a lack of common ernploy- 
ment, or an unreasonably unfit engine, because they brought in a verdict in 
favor of the plaintiff for $2500.00. 

Still another instance of Nixon's failure, perhaps intentionally, to deflect 
juries from tendencies to favor the insured against insurance companies is 
Waters v. Connecticut Mutual Life Insurance Company ( 1880) The POI- 
icy holder had committed suicide, and left this curious note to his brother, 
who was also his employer: 

"Abc, I canno; live any longer with such a woman as my wife, and her 
family. She and they are perfect. I and my family are rascals, drunkards, 
gamblers, etc. . Whatever you can do for my two daughters, do it; but as for 
my wife and son George, let him and his mother and the unborn look out for 
themselves. . 

This step I hate and despise. but whether 1 am to go to a hell or a heaven, I 
am satisfied, and may God, who rules over all, guide, direct and govern you 
and yours and mine in the right and perfect way, and give you each a fortune 
here and hereafter . . . .''IG9 

Several sentences were "At the end of the letter . . . . written in an almost 
illegible hand-as if penned in the last agonies of life," as Nixon e~plained. ' '~ 
Among these were "wages are good, but self-respect is better," and "Abe, 
see that my wife has no benefit." 

A clause in the insurance contract, upon which the insured's wife was 
suing, provided that "nothing should be due and payable by the company if 
the assured . . . . should 'die by his own hand.' "I7 '  This would certainly 
seem to rule out compensation for suicides, but Nixon did not so construe 
this clause. After indicating that the clause had to be construed "so . . . . as 
to give effect to the intention of the parties," Nixon observed that "This 
expression is not to be taken literally," because "In law, a man does not die 
by his own hand, although he puts an end to his life, unless he commits the 
act which results in death with a knowledge at the time of its moral character, 
and its consequence and effects." Further, Nixon added that "Nor does he 
die by his own hand if he is impelled to the act by an insane impulse which 
he has not the power to resist."xz Building on this c o n s t r ~ c t i o n , ' ~ ~ h i c h  was 
obviously favorable to the insured, Nixon then drew the attention of the jury 
to the insured's suicide note to his brother Abe. He advised the jury that the 
plaintiff and the defendant drew diametrically opposite inferences from the 
letter as to the deceased's sanity, and invited the jury to draw its own conclu- 



sions. The jury thereupon found a verdict for the plaintiff wife "for the full 
amount of her claim."174 

V .  Ni.xon's Opinions Reversed otz Review 

A. Insurance 

In his last years as a judge, i t  appears that the tendency in Nixon's court 
to rule favorably to plaintiffs suing insurance companies had become so pro- 
nounced that it was necessary for the Supreme Court to restrain it. In Davey 
v. Aetna Life Insurance Company ( 1884)"" a widow sought to recover on 
her husband's life insurance policy. There was a condition subsequent to the 
policy that the insured's beneficiary could not recover if the insured "shall 
become so far intemperate as to impair his health . . ."IyG and there was sub- 
stantial evidence that on the night of "the sickness which terminated in death" 
the insured indulged in "free use of brandy and gin.""' The insurance com- 
pany sought an instruction from Circuit Judge McKennan, who was sitting 
with Nixon, that a single act of "intemperance" which produced "impairment 
of health" would be enough to void the policy. McKennan refused.lT8 "The 
words," said McKennan "are to be expounded according to the common and 
popular acceptance of their meaning." This meant, then, that "a single exces- 
sive indulgence in alcoholic liquors is not intemperate, but there must be 
such frequency in their use, continued for a longer or shorter period, as indi- 
cates an injurious addiction to such indulgence.""WcKennan's insistence 
that the words "impairment of health" be given their "common and popular" 
connotation by the jury is in sharp contrast to Nixon's instructions in the 
Waters _case that same year.lsO In Waters, it will be remembered, Nixon had 
instructed the jury that the words "die by his own hand" be given a restricted, 
legalistic meaning which would exclude self-induced death brought on by 
insanity or irresistible i rnp~1se . l~~  What the two judges' instructions have in 
common, of course, is that they were both favorable to the insured. 

But whatever the implications in Davey of the evidence regarding the in- 
sured's last night and his free use then of brandy and gin, there was also 
evidence from his attending physician (from the death certificate given the 
insurance company) that the insured "was in the habit of using stimulants 
and a great deal of tobacco; probably they impaired his health."'" Given this 
evidence, McKennan and Nixon expected a verdict for the defendant insur- 
ance company.lsVhe jury retired for the extended period of twenty-five 
hours,18' and returned a verdict for the plaintiff. The insurance company then 
moved for a new trial on the grounds that "the verdict was against the weight 
of the e~idence." '~Nixon,  before whom this motion was brought, refused the 
request for a new trial. "A trial by jury is the constitutional right of the 
American citizen," he declared, "and courts may not infringe upon this right 
by undertaking to nullify the acts of the jurors by setting aside their deliberate 
judgement in cases where the judges, under the evidence, would have reached 
a different conclusion."1s6 



Nixon proceeded to indicate that there was "one view of the facts" upon 
which the verdict could be sustained. Nixon stated, somewhat misleadingly, 
that "the court instructed the jury that they had the right to hold that proof 
of a single instance of the excessive use of alcoholic liquors, although it re- 
sulted in death, should not be regarded as the intemperance referred to in the 
policy."'" While Nixon's reporting of the charge was accurate insofar as 
McKennan had instructed the jury that a single instance of drinking might 
not be the intemperance which would void the policy, McKennan did not 
expressly state that every single instance of alcoholic use that resulted in death 
was not such intemperance.lW Nixon then indicated that, in response to what 
he perceived to be the instruction, the jury might have regarded the insured's 
indulgence on the night of his death "as an exceptional case, . . . . and may 
not have given as much importance to the testimony of drinking at other 
times as the defendants were disposed to do."'"" 

It would appear, then, that McKennan's charge, with its emphasis on 
"popular acceptance" of the meaning of intemperance, and Nixon's restate- 
ment of McKennan's charge, which subtly shifted it to favor the insured, 
reveal a sympathy on Nixon's and McKennan's part with the insured, or  at 
least a willingness to support the jury's sympathy with the insured against the 
insurance company. Again, at least insofar as Nixon indicates his implicit 
acceptance of McKennan't "popular acceptance" construction of language, 
he took a position at variance with his own opinion in Waters.lgO From this 
case, at least, it appears that Nixon felt free even to depart from precedents 
he had set in upholding "popular construction," and the power of juries. 

On a writ of error to the Supreme Court, Mr. Justice Harlan delivered an 
opinion which flatly rejected McKennan's charge, and reversed the judgement 
with directions for a new trial.'" Citing no authority directly on point, and 
apparently unaware of much supporting authority for the trial judges,lg2 
Harlan declared that "If the substantial cause of the death of the insured was 
an excessive use of alcoholic stimuIants, not taken in good faith for medical 
purposes . . . . his health was impaired by intemperance, within the meaning 
of the words, 'so far intemperate as to impair his health,' "lY3 Harlan made 
no attempt to respond to McKennan's suggestion that the "common and 
popular acceptancei' of the words "intemperance," and "impairment of 
health" should govern, and McKennan't implicit conclusion that the popular 
meaning of these words had habitual connotations. In searching for an expla- 
nation of Harlan's failure thus fully to respond to McKennan's (and implicitly 
Nixon's) reasoning, a greater sensitivity to the needs of the insurance com- 
pany, rather than the insured, does suggest itself. Harlan noted (as Nixon 
and McKennan had not) that the reason for the clause in the policy was that 
"the company sought to protect itself against an improper use by the insured 
of alcoholic stimuIants . . .", and Harlan's construction of the phrase, which 
construction ignores McKennan's conception of "common and popular ac- 
ceptance", would seem to reflect a policy of effectuating the intention of the 
insurance company.19'l 



B .  The Elizabeth Paving Litigation 

In the insurance case just discussed, we were able to observe how Nixon's 
belief in the popularly-based jury prerogatives, and perhaps his sympathy for 
policy-holders and antipathy towards insurance companies led to reversal by 
the Supreme Court. An examination of some of the other opinions in which 
Nixon was reversed by the Supreme Court helps further to underscore what 
might be called the morally-based nature of his jurisprudence. Perhaps the 
most important of these are Nixon's opinions in the Elizabeth paving litiga- 
tion, which took several hearings and more than seven years to conclude.'Dn 
This was a patent infringement proceeding, and the invention involved was 
an improvement in the foundation for paved roads, patented by one Samuel 
Nicholson, in the late 1840'~.'~"y the time Nixon's court was asked to pass 
on the patent, 1873, the original inventor had died, and the plaintiffs were a 
company that had been licensed to use the invention by the inventor's admin- 
istrator. There were three defendants, (1) the New Jersey Wood Paving 
Company, a company which used a patent which was found to infringe 
Nicholson's, (2) George W. Tubbs, the President of the New Jersey Wood 
Paving Company, and ( 3 )  the city of Elizabeth, New Jersey which had hired 
the New Jersey Wood Paving Company. The form of the proceeding was a 
bill in equity for an injunction and accounting. 

The circumstances surrounding the infringement in this case were suspi- 
cious. Defendant Tubbs, and others who were eventually to join with him in 
forming the defendant New Jersey Wood Paving Company, successfully lob- 
bied the New Jersey legislature to amend the Elizabeth City Charter to "prac- 
tically repeal" a provision which gave city contracts to the lowest bidder, and 
to substitute therefore a unique system of choosing contractors. As Nixon 
interpreted the new statutory provision, "whenever a City Council should 
determine to cause any improvement to be made, which contemplates the use 
of any patented process or materials, and the owners of one-half of the prop- 
erty . . . . along the line of the intended improvement [request a particular 
patent by nalne], the City Council should award the contract for the said 
work, only in accordance with the request of such proportion of owners."ls7 

Shortly after the passage of this new New Jersey law, the defendant New 
Jersey Wood Paving Company was formed.. The company was remarkably 
thinly capitalized, as its only asset was a license to use the patent that was 
later found to infringe Nicholson's, referred to in the case as the Brocklebank 
& Trainer patent. This thin capitalization should have violated its state 
charter, which expressly required the company not to begin business until it 
had $1 0,000 "subscribed and paid in."lgs In a construction rather favorable 
to the company, however, Nixon held that this "little inconvenience" was 
obviated by another section of the charter which permitted the directors of 
the company to receive patents or patent rights "at a valuation to be agreed 
upon, and in lieu of cash subscriptions for stock."'" This section was appar- 
ently taken advantage of by an original exchange of shares of New Jersey 



Wood Paving Company stock for a license to use the Brocklebank & Trainer 
patent. This license was granted to, and the shares in the New Jersey Wood 
Paving Company were taken by another company, Crane, Tubbs, & Co., 
con trolled by defendant Tubbs and two of his business colleagues. These men, 
then, as directors of Crane, Tubbs, & Co. ,  originally controlled the shares of 
the New Jersey Wood Paving Company. Other shares and directorships in 
New Jersey Wood Paving Company were passed out to persons owning 
property along routes for which paving was contemplated in Elizabeth. 
Originally there were to be nine directors in addition to Tubbs and two of 
his associates from Crane & Co., as the original charter provided for twelve 
named directors. Apparently some individuals "declined or failed to accept 
shares" in the scheme, however, and during the next legislative session the 
New Jersey legislature reduced the number of directors to seven, probably at 
the instance of Tubbs and his associates.200 This reduction insured tight con- 
trol of the New Jersey Wood Paving Company by those in on the scheme. 
Finally, testimony at the hearing before Nixon showed that the property 
owner-directors were to receive a rebate from the company if it did any pav- 
ing on roads adjacent to their property.201 Not surprisingly, then, the New 
Jersey Wood Paving Company was able to secure requests by a majority of 
the concerned property owners that the Brocklebank & Trainer patent be 
used, the statute for which Tubbs and his colIeagues had lobbied came into 
operation, and thus the New Jersey Wood Paving Company, the licensee of 
that patent, was awarded the contracts.'02 What happened in the case, in 
short, was very adept manipulation of the New Jersey legislature and property 
owners in Elizabeth by Tubbs and his colleagues in order to make sure that 
they carried off their scheme to secure paving contracts. 

The extraordinary nature of the scheme was matched by boldness of the 
defense to the equity action for profits because of patent infringement. Even 
if the infringement were conceded, argued the defendants, no "profits" couId 
be awarded to the plaintiffs because the plaintiffs could never have received 
the paving job, since by the law of New Jersey, the request of the majority 
of affected property-holders for the Brocklebank & Trainer patent would 
have had to be granted and a majority had never requested the pIaintiff's 
Nicholson patent.20" While this defense seemed to have a certain amount of 
logic to it, Nixon could not abide the spectacular chutzpah that it revealed. 
He invoked the equitable powers of his court and the purposes behind the 
patent laws, and declared that ( 1 )  his court would not "allow the bulk of 
these profits to be retained by the infringers, because the complainant could 
not be a competitor for the work, when i t  so clearly appears that whatever 
disabilities existed in regard to competition were produced by the infringers 
themselves," and ( 2 )  that the inquiry should not be the "new and false" 
standard of "what the complainant could or could not made," but rather 
"what the defendants actually made."z" Whatever Nixon's sympathies for 
the principle of popular sovereignty then, he would not permit manipulation 
of the New Jersey legislature to be used as an excuse to avoid payment of 



profits by patent infringers in his equity court. 
In addition to Nixon's concern about legislative manipulation, his handling 

of the American Nicholson case also demonstrates a desire of ensuring that 
the public benefit from invention. This can be seen in his handling of another 
defense raised in the case. It appeared that Samuel Nicholson, although he 
filed a "~aveat"'~" for his patent in 1847, did not file specifications and seek 
the patent itself until 1854, six years later.zo6 In the meantime, Nicholson, 
who was the treasurer of the Boston and Roxbury Mill Corporation, a pri- 
vate company which maintained a tollway between Boston and Brookline, 
tried out his new paving system on a stretch of his company's tollway. Nichol- 
son allowed this stretch of his paving to be used by the public for six years, 
and Nicholson watched the results, checking periodically for wear and tear. 
Since the patent statute provided that the application for patents must be 
made within a "reasonable time" after filing the caveat, the defendants argued 
that six years was more than such a reasonable time, and that, in any event, 
since the public had used the pavement during this long period, there was 
such "public use" as would render the invention unpatentable. Citing no 
authority but the caveat statute itself and a description of the statutory 
scheme in a treatisezni Nixon determined that since the "obvious design" of 
the statute was to afford an opportunity of perfecting inventions, since 
Nicholson's conduct was "an honest experiment," and since the public could 
not discern from the surface the exact nature of the pavement, there was no 
loss of patentability by public use.2u8 While the statute required "reasonable 
diligence" in filing the patent, the question of diligence, said Nixon, was "not 
an absolute, but a relative one, and must be considered i~ reference to the 
subject-matter of the experiments." When one is dealing with roads, Nixon 
appeared to suggcst, in order to calculate cost and durability "long use and 
lapse of time were essential ingredients," and six years was not too long.zoY 
Here, then, we have a prime example of a situation where the statute gave 
Nixon only broad guidelines, and he had to determine the meaning of "rea- 
sonable time" using his own judgement of practicalities in the particular 
situation, supporting his conclusion with general references to the policies of 
the statute and the realities of the situation. This is not the "formalistic" 
style thought to predominate in the late nineteenth century, indeed, a clearer 
example of Llewellyn's Grand Style could not be found even in the early 
part of the nineteenth century.210 

Nixon decided that the three defendants, the city of Elizabeth, Tubbs, and 
the New Jersey Wood Paving Company were all liable for the infringement of 
the Nicholson patent, and that the plaintiffs should be awarded the "profits" 
made by the three defendants. All three defendants appealed to the Supreme 
Court. 

On appeal, three years later, the Supreme Court upheld Nixon on the 
question of whether or not there was an infringement,211 and the Supreme 
Court appeared not to have been completely uninfluenced by the remarkable 
circumstances of the case. The court observed that the defendant New Jersey 



Wood Paving Company had claimed, as an expense, "$3 1,111.92 as a profit 
of twenty percent which the . . . Company claimed they had a right to add to 
the actual cost of lumber and other materials and labor." Mr. Justice Bradley 
stated for the court that "It is only necessary to state the claim to show its 
p r e p ~ s t e r ~ ~ ~ n e ~ s . " ~  

Still, the Supreme Court reversed Judge Nixon on the issue of the liability 
of the city of Elizabeth and Tubbs. The city, said the court, actually made no 
profits on the use of the New Jersey Wood Paving Company, since it would 
have paid the same price to the plaintiffs.213imilarly, since Tubbs received 
only a salary for his superintendence of the NRW Jersey Wood Paving Com- 
pany, he could not be charged with "profits." This last aspect of the Supreme 
Court's opinion seems erroneous, Nixon, when he declared that the profits 
made by the New Jersey Wood Paving Company were to be the standard of 
damages, rejected that company's request that he subtract from the damage 
award the profits that the company would have made "but for" the infringing 
use of the patent, because the company had not met its standard of proof on 
that point. Neither had T ~ b b s . ~ l ~  It seems clear that Tubbs's salary would 
not have been earned at all, if the infringing patent had not been used, and 
it also seems clear that he was one of the moving forces behind the scheme, 
even if he operated through two corporate vehicles. Since the case was in 
equity, and since it should have been appropriate to pierce the "corporate 
veil" here, it is hard to understand why the Supreme Court felt it necessary 
to let Tubbs escape liability. The appropriateness in such a case of looking 
beyond the corporate form to the individuals involved appears to have been 
a basic tenet of Nixon's jurisprudential belief~,~'"ut perhaps not of the 
Supreme Court's. 

With regard to the city of Elizabeth, the Supreme Court conceded that "It 
made itself liable for damages, undoubtedly, for using the patented pavement 
of Nicholson; but damages are not sought, or, at least, are not recoverable in 
this suit. Profits only, as such, can be recovered therein." Whatever Nixon's 
style of jurisprudence might have been, this would seem lo be judicial for- 
malism at its worst. Nixon had accepted the notion that only "profits" were 
recoverable, but Nixon made it clear that the use of "profits" as the equity 
standard was simply a convenient means of measuring the damages to the 
plaintiff.""ince, then, at law Elizabeth would have been liable for "dam- 
ages", and since Nixon was using profits in an equitable case as a way of 
compensating for damages, it does not seem inequitable to hold Elizabeth 
liable for damages, measured by the profits of the paving company. Elizabeth 
did, after all, have the use and benefit of the infringement, and it could have 
presumably recovered from the paving company in an action for indemnifica- 
tion, or perhaps breach of contract. That the Supreme Court saw fit to apply 
this "wooden" application of the profits/damages distinction for equity and 
law seems even more incredible in light of the fact that the court itself 
acknowledged that "the general question of profits recoverable in equity by 
a patentee . . . . is surrounded with many difficulties, which the courts have 



not yet succeeded in overcoming.""' On the other hand, since the New 
Jersey Wood Paving Company was insolvent, if Tubbs was not held liable 
then the city of Elizabeth, if liable, would have had to be responsible for the 
entire damage figure, almost $75,000. This realization might have been too 
much for the Supreme Court, which might have decided to sacrifice the inter- 
ests of the American Nicholson Company, which now could recover no 
pr~f i t s , "~  in favor of those of the citizens of Elizabeth. 

Nixon appears to have been disturbed by the Supreme Court's reversal of 
his opinion holding Elizabeth liable. This is suggested by an opinion he de- 
cided two years later, in which he managed to sidestep both the basic princi- 
ples of contract law, and a New Jersey decision, in order to hold Elizabeth 
liable by estoppel for lawyers fees on the appeal.219 The claim, exclusively 
for the appeal to the Supreme Court, was for $5,611.40 and was demanded 
by the lawyer who had originally been hired by the New Jersey Wood Paving 
Company, one Blake. At the time of Nixon's original decision on the ques- 
tion of damages, the New Jersey Wood Paving Company was "insolvent and 
was unable to pay" Mr. Blake.2z0 Blake advised the city tc appeal, and the 
city council so voted. Blake then drew up the appeal papers, sent the bond 
for the city to execute, and perfected the There was never any 
express contract to employ Mr. Blake, and the city claimecl that "at the time 
of the appeal they were assured by Mr. Tubbs that the fees had been paid, or 
secured, and that the city would be put to no expense, and that Mr. Tubbs 
communicated this to Mr. Blake."'"2 Blake disputed this, and maintained 
that he had sent the city solicitor a bill for a retainer, although he had re- 
ceived no reply to this bill.22Wevertheless, Nixon pointed out, after these 
events "the city counsel was in frequent communication with Mr. Blake and 
Mr. Keasbey (whom Blake had hired to work with him) concerning the 
appeal, and was advised of their proceedings, and [the city employed] no 
other counsel . . . . to take charge of the Taking these events into 
consideration, Nixon charged the jury in the case that statements made to 
the city by Tubbs could not bind Blake unless communicated to him, and that 
Blake's letter demanding a retainer was notice to the city that Blake under- 
stood he was acting in its behalf, and the city had a duty to reply. This would 
seem to run counter to the black-letter contracts rule that absent a previous 
understanding silence does not constitute acceptance.22~till ,  Nixon held that 
the city's acquiescence in Blake's continuing as its counsel created a legal 
duty to speak out to reject Blake's offer of services, and thus estopped the 
city from denying the attorney of record relationship, and the city should be 
found liable "to pay a reasonable sum for disbursements and services in the 

Finally, while Keasbey was hired by Blake as his counsel, and not as attor- 
ney for the city, and while the rule of the state of New Jersey was that "the 
law makes a distinction between attorney's and counsel fees" requiring in 
the case of counsel an express agreement, Nixon held that Blake could still 
recover for the fees already paid to Kea~bey.~" Although this was not spelled 



out in the opinion, this was because they were presumably items of expense 
chargeable to Blake, and not by virtue of a contract between the city and 
Keasbey. In this way Nixon managed to sidestep the policy of the New Jersey 
decision requiring express contracts for counsel fees.228 In short, Elizabeth 
escaped liability for the infringement: but Nixon would not allow the city to 
escape from the lawyers. 

C .  The Question of Invention 

Nixon also differed with the Supreme Court on the patent law question of 
what could be held to constitute "invention." In this area too, Nixon may 
have felt that the Supreme Court failed adequately to consider the relevant 
policies, and, indeed, Nixon's opinions are far more thoughtful and less 
formalistic than those of the Supreme Court. 

Adams v. Loft (1879)229 sets forth Nixon's basic views on when activity 
is creative enough to be "invention." In that case, the plaintiff had obtained 
Letters patent for "improvement in chewing gum." The plaintiffs' alleged 
improvement, however, was merely the washing of the "natural product 
known as Chick1y""'With hot water. The plaintiff sought to prevent the 
defendant from infringing his patent. The defendanl, instead of using hot 
water for washing crude chewing gum, used steam and cold water. "Such a 
palpable attempt at evasion," said Nixon, "not having even the merit of 
originality, would not for a moment be tolerated by the court . . ."*"I In this 
case, however, the plantiffs complaint had to be dismissed because his own 
Letters Patent lacked sufficient originality. 

Nixon indicated that he was initially inclined quickly to dismiss the case, 
since chewing gum could be regarded as "frivolous or insignificant," and the 
Patent Act only applied to those who had "invented or discovered any new 
and useful, art, machine, manufacture or composition of matter or any new 
and useful improvement thereof."232 Considering its moral consequences more 
fully, however, Nixon concluded that "chewing gum may have its use, in the 
social economy, as a substitute for greater evil or folly." Since the law merely 
required, then, that patentable articles "be capable of some use, and that the 
use is not prohibited by sound morals or public an improvement 
in chewing gum might, after all, be patentable. However, this particular im- 
provement, namely washing the chewing gum's raw derivatives in hot water, 
lacked sufficient "novelty" in order for it to be patentable. For example, for 
at least 30 years, the washing of "india rubber and gutta percha," crude 
vegetable products similar to "gum thickly," in hot water had been "generally 
known" and so the plaintiff's "invention" came "within the forbidden appIi- 
cation of old contrivances to new  object^."^"^ 

Nixon did strive to protect what he found to be real invention. For instance, 
where the alleged inventor's efforts had resulted in a new combination of old 
processes to produce new or better results, Nixon was quite willing to find a 
patentable endeavor. In doing so, Nixon attempted to protect those whom he 



believed to be righteously struggling inventors because he believed that he 
would thereby encourage the largest possible degree of invention-thereby 
benefitting all of mankind. For exampIe, in Alright v. Celluloid Harness- 
Trimming Company ( 1 877)2"Wixon had before him the case of an "in- 
ventor" who had been anticipated by others in each of three crucial steps in 
the combination he sought to patent. Still, because the plaintiff was the first 
to do  all these things together, by machine in one single action, the plaintiff 
was able to bring upon the market "a better article of rubber-coated harness- 
trimming with less labor and expense," and this new process was 

As was true in the case of the Elizabeth load litigation, however, there 
was disagreement between Nixon's views on the nature of patentable com- 
binations and those of the United States Supreme Court. In Welling v. 
Rubber-Coat.ed Harness Trimming Co. (1  874) ,2" a case similar to Alright, 
the patent at issue was for a "martingale ring",2w which the patentee claimed 
as new because of his manufacturing according to a "new" process. The 
article was formed by 1 )  taking a metallic ring, 2)  enveloping the metallic 
ring with a plastic substance such as a synthetic ivory, and 3 )  pressing and 
solidifying the enveloped ring by means of dies. The process accomplished 
both the strengthening of the pIastic martingale ring (by the use of the 
metallic inner ring) and the appearance of ornamentality desirable for such 
articles (by use of the dies). As in Alright, none of the individual steps were 
new, as there had been martingale rings with metalIic inserts, and there had 
been ornamental martingale rings shaped by dies, but these had never before 
occurred in combination. Nixon noted that there was an "established Ameri- 
can rule, that patents are to be construed liberally, and are not to be sub- 
jected to a rigid interpretation," held that the martingale patent was valid, 
and, further, that it  extended to all manufacture by means of metallic rings 
for martingales coated with a plastic substance and shaped by dies.2"" 

On appeal Nixon was reversed. The Supreme Court, cryptically, announced 
that "There is, in truth, no combined action," but that rather all three steps 
were done "separately, by no combined a~tion.'"'~ The holding would thus 
seem to be that no multi-step process could be a patentable "combination". 
It is difficult to believe that the Court seriously considered the implications of 
such a holding. By announcing that the patent was for a product rather than 
a combination process, however, the Supreme Court was able to point to 
earlier patents for plastic products shaped by molds and dies and suggest 
Iack of novelty for this patent. This view of the court was probably disap- 
proved of (although grudgingly followed) by Nixon, as indicated by a remark 
he made in a case nine years later. "There seems to be a growing sentiment 
among inventors" he wrote, "that the Supreme Court, in its more recent 
decisions, has become, I will not say more exacting, but less IiberaI, in its 
construction of patents for a ~ornbinat ion."~~'  

It seems likely that the difference of views between Nixon and the Supreme 
Court over the nature of patentable combinations flowed from a deeper dif- 
ference, over how liberal one ought to be in construing the rights of American 



patentees. This difference was illustrated by Williamantic Linen Co.  v. Clark 
Thread CO.,"'~ which Nixon decided in 1879, and which the Supreme Court 
reversed in 1890."" The invention in question was a device for winding 
thread upon spools, and the American patent was originally issued to one 
Hezekiah Conant in late 1859,?" although it was applied for in January of 
1859. The defense on which the Supreme Court's denial of the infringement 
claim turned was the defendant's operation under a competing American 
patent, issued in January of 1866. This Iater patent was issued to one William 
Weild, an Englishman, who first patented his device in Great Britain in 1858, 
recording and publishing a description of his patented device on July 22, 
1858. In the Supreme Court, the defendant argued that since the publishing 
of Weild's English patent antedated Conant's American patent, Conant's 
patent was therefore invalid under American patent law.z45 The most im- 
portant issue for the Supreme Court then became whether or not Conant had 
produced his invention before Juiy 22, 1858. This issue was decided in 
Conant's favor by N i x ~ n . ~ ~ ' ;  

The only evidence on the time of Conant's discovery of his invention was 
Conant's testimony that his original conception for an automatic thread- 
winding machine occurred in 1857, but that "in the spring of 1858 , l  decided 
upon anothcr style of machine, which I thought would be more certain in its 
action, and which I completed during the summer of-and, to the best of my 
recollection, in July-1858." The Supreme Court, taking this evidence into 
consideration, announced that since Conant was an interested party, his 
evidence had to be received "with great caution". Therefore, said the court, 
the evidence should be construed "most strongly against" Conant. The court 
then announced that "this would necessarily lead to the inference that the 
invention was completed in the last part of July, subsequent to the publica- 
tion of the English patent." Since there was no evidence at all on the point 
offered by defendants, the Supreme Court seemed to be placing quite a heavy 
burden on the inventor Conant, requiring him to come up with more than a 
mere statement that it was in "July-1858." The evidence did not suggest 
any lack of credibility of Mr. Conant, however, unless it was the Supreme 
Court's suggestion that "such testimony, given for the purpose that this was, 
is necessarily subject to the gravest suspicion, however honest and well- 
intentioned the witness may be."24i Since there was no attack on Conant's 
credibility, however, and since even the Supreme Court seemed willing to 
accept the notion that he did produce his invention in July of 1858, the 
Supreme Court's opinion appears to be a most wooden insistence on arriving 
at a judgement unfavorable to the patentee. The purpose of the provision of 
the patent laws invalidating patents which were antedated by foreign inven- 
tions was presumably only to ensure that American patents rewarded origi- 
nality on the part of American inventors, and since transatlantic communica- 
tions were relatively slow in the late nineteenth century, i t  would seem that 
in this case there could have been no opportunity for Conant to copy Weild's 
patent, as it is almost inconceivable that he could have seen it at any time 
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during July, since it would have taken more than ten days for detailed news 
of the patent to reach America. Perhaps it was for this reason that Nixon was 
able to dispose of the issue so easily. In any event, as has been suggested 
regarding the preponderance of "formaIism" in this era,Z48 the Supreme 
Court's opinions in  both the Welling and the Williamantic cases seem to be 
based on reasoning that fails to take account of the actual purposes that 
motivated the patent laws, purposes which assumed central importance in the 
construction of laws for Nixon. Worse, the Supreme Court, in construing 
Conant's evidence in the worst possible manner for him, seems to have cre- 
ated a presumption against the validity of his patent. It would appear that 
Nixon believed that the appropriate presumption was in favor of the validity 
of the American patent.?"" 

Nixon does not appear to have abandoned rationality in favor of American 
patentees, and, indeed, he seems to have balanced his tendency to find patents 
valid by narrowly construing damages in cases of infringement. Thus, while 
some federal courts were later to disagree,'" Nixon declared that where com- 
plainant's patents were merely improvements over existing means of produc- 
tion, profits recoverable as damages would not be the infringers' rota1 profits, 
but only the additional profits made possible by the use of the "improve- 
ment" in complainant's patents.'" Nixon may have thus chosen to balance 
his liberality in construing the validity of patents with a conservative approach 
to damages. Perhaps he sought in this way to maximize invention and pro- 
duction, as the individual patentee was protected by the law, but an over- 
zealous producer would not suffer too heavily for infringement, and produc- 
tion would therefore not be chilled by a fear of litigation. This kind of 
balancing seems absent from the opinions of the Supreme Court in which 
Nixon was reversed. 

D. Admiralty 

Nixon's opinions in admiralty, like those in patent matters, seem to illus- 
trate a wiilingness to examine policies and to construe jurisdiction broadly, 
providing for maximum creativity in the judicial role. In this area too, Nixon 
seems to have differed from colleagues on the bench. Nixon, in this regard, 
was like his early third circuit predecessor, Richard Peters, who wrote 
emphatically that American admiralty courts should possess all the maritime 
jurisdiction of the courts of the great commercial nations, and should not be 
circumscribed by the English common law, or the practice of the English 
admiralty courts.?"? In Hnslett v. the Enterprise (1874)":$ Judge Nixon early 
made the same point, although he purports to be following a recent case of 
the Supreme C o ~ r t . ~ ~ '  Nixon pointed out that the advocates of narrow juris- 
diction incIuding Chancellor Kentz"" and Justice Baldwinme had held sway in 
some of the subordinate courts of the country, and only in a line of cases 
beginning in I847 and culminating in 1870 was the point clearly settled in 



favor of broader jurisdiction not limited by "the statutes or judicial prohibi- 
tions of England."2,i7 

Nixon's opinion about the wide scope for the exercise of flexible, equitable 
powers in admiralty matters, in at least one instance, led to a reversal by the 
Circuit court. In The Schooner Eliza B. Emory (1880)2m Nixon forbade 
majority owners of a vessel from exercising their ownership right of replacing 
their master, because one of their number had led the master to believe that 
he had been sold a "sailing right", when he bought part ownership in the 
vessel. Nixon conceded that "a sailing right is not transferable" and that "the 
owners of the shares of a vessel are tenants in common . . . and . . . the 
majority in interest may displace the master at their ~ i 1 1 . " ~ ~ ~  Nevertheless, 
though the contract for sale of "sailing rights" was void, Nixon held the 
equitable doctrine of estoppel applicable, because the part-owner in question 
had profited from the illegal sale of "sailing rights", charging more for the 
ownership share than he would have otherwise. Nixon stated that a court of 
admiralty "has the capacity of a court of equity in the mater of granting 
relief and of restraining a wrong, when the rules of natural justice require a 
departure from strict legal  rule^].""'^ In short, Nixon appears to have held 
that because of the "unclean handsv2" of one of the part owners, his owner- 
ship share could not be counted toward a majority necessary to replace the 
master. Given Nixon's strong equitable principles which can be observed in 
other contexts2" the result here is not surprising, but his views seem to have 
been somewhat unique, and the Circuit Court reversed him. 

On appeal Judge McKennan of the Circuit Court held, without citation of 
authority, that there could be no application of the estoppel doctrine in the 
case, because the representation as to "sailing rights" was "not the statement 
of a fact within the knowledge of one party upon whose representation of 
its existence the other party relied and was misled, but . . . . was the state- 
ment of a legal result as to which both parties might form their own judge- 
ment. . . . "2CGiven  the wide discretion of admiralty courts in applying 
equitable principles, it would seem that Nixon's opinion, which was really not 
even analyzed by McKennan, deserved more than a summary dismissal. Judge 
McKennan seems to have been far more impressed with Section 4250 of the 
Revised Statutes, which he said gave "the majority ownership of a vessel . . . . 
the same power to remove a master, who is also part owner, as such majority, 
if owners, have to remove a master not an owner," and that the only excep- 
tion to this power of removal was "a valid written agreement subsisting, by 
virtue of which such master would be entitled to possession."264 McKennan 
did concede that there might be an action for damages for breach of contract 
for failure to sell "sailing rights" as allegedly happened in the case, but that 
the contract "was not susceptible of specific enforcement, either by way of 
estoppel or by a direct proceeding for that purpose. . . . " 2 G T h ~ ~ ,  McKennan 
indicated his acquiescence in the "public policy," that was reflected in other 
cases2" which had affirmed "The absolute right of the owners of a vessel to 
displace the master," a right which McKennan called "so well settled now as 



to be incontestable.""Here again, we find pure formalism, in this instance 
the unqualified acceptance of previous precedent, in the court that reviewed 
Nixon, but not on the part of Nixon himself.z68 

VI. Nixon's Reaction: Moralistic Jurisprudence 

A. Admiralty 

In the closirrg years of Nixon's tenure as a Federal Judge, if we find any 
effect to these formalistic reversals of Nixon's creative policy-oriented juris- 
prudence, it is that Nixon turned, with ever more determination, to a juris- 
prudence that emphasized the moral dimension. 

In his earliest decisions, as we have seen, Nixon had emphasized the im- 
portance of legislative policy-making, and thus had stressed his own preferred 
value of popular sovereignty according to the political principles of America. 
In many of his subsequent decisions Nixon had also tried to promote private 
ordering and economic progress, in a manner consistent with his ideas about 
Americans' duties to serve their fellow man, and to foster material well-being. 
As Nixon's years as a judge drew to a close, however, more and more fre- 
quently, the dominant value in his jurisprudence seems to have been the 
promotion of man's duties to God, through what Nixon perceived as proper 
moral conduct. Some signs of Nixon's move away from the centrality of pri- 
vate ordering can be seen in his opinion in the M. Vandercook (1885) one 
of Nixon's later admiralty decisions,269 where the question was whether a 
claim for damages from negligence in towing arose ex contractu or ex delicto. 
If the claim were a matter of contract law it would have a lower priority as 
a lien against the vessel, and, since the vessel had been sold to pay the claims 
against it, the claim for damages would stand little chance of being paid. If  
the claim were ex delicto, however, according to the rules of maritime liens, 
the claim would have priority over contractual claims. It seems to have been 
the tendency in the late nineteenth century to view matters of private ordering 
as contractual, and to allow parties the maximum freedom to order their own 
affairs pursuant to  contract^."^ Accordingly, the courts in the Eastern and 
Southern Districts of New York had held that damage from towing should 
be viewed simply as breach of a towage contract, and ot as a tort.fi1 Still, 
several opinions by Judge BlatchfordZi2 and an early one by the United States 
Supreme Court"" seemed to suggest that any damage caused by negligent 
navigation was really damage caused by breaches of duty coming from "the 
law", and not from "the contract"."" Nixon's holding then, that this was a 
matter of tort, would seem to repudiate the idea that parties ought to be 
allowed maximum ordering by contract, and to reveal a concept of law some- 
what more favorable to ordering by the general rules of tort. Even those 
who entered into towage contracts, then, were guaranteed protection by the 
rules of tort, rules which emphasized reciprocal social duties, and not maxi- 
mum freedom for individual private ordering. 



The ascendence for Nixon of the moral dimension over the individual 
enterprise orientation, or the triumph of tort concepts over contractual ones 
can also be traced in two salvage cases, The C&C Brooks (1883)2T5 and 
The Young America (1884).27fi In the situation that gave rise to the first of 
these, a schooner worth about $2000 with a cargo worth approximateIy $500 
had been damaged in a collision, and was in danger of sinking, when a tug 
agreed to tow her to safety. After four hours of effort, the tug brought her 
into harbor. The master of the tug had persuaded the master of the schooner 
to agree to pay $1000 for thk towing, and though the evidence was conflict- 
ing, Nixon found that a salvage contract for $1000 had been entered into. 
Nevertheless Nixon refused to enforce payment for anything more than a 
"reasonable charge" for services rendered, which he found to be approxi- 
mate~y $250.00. Nixon quoted with approval a Supreme Court decision which 
indicated that "The genera1 interests of commerce will be much better pro- 
moted by requiring the salvor to trust for compensation to the libera1 recom- 
pense usually awarded by courts for such services."277 "Courts of admiralty," 
said Nixon, look upon salvage contracts with great care, and wilI not be con- 
trolled by them when any advantage has been taken of the necessities of the 
party in need of help."278 Nixon did recognize that it was necessary to allow 
remuneration for salvage "libera1 enough to induce masters of other tugs, 
who are not moved to help their fellow-men, when in distress, by motives of 
sympathy, to do so from motives of compensation and gain.""g Still, Nixon 
could conceive of nothing "more heartless" than the behavior of the master 
of the tug. 

In the Brooks case there had been no elements of real danger to the tug, 
and this seemed to be a factor counting against the award of a large figure for 
salvage services. In the circumstances explained in The Young America it 
appeared more likely that such danger was present. There a disabled schooner 
was rescued from a harbor ablaze from an oil tank explosion. Again a tug 
came to the rescue, although "She came, not merely as an angel of mercy, to 
relieve distress and avert threatened disaster, but with an eye to business and 
profit as well."2B0 Again the alleged contract was for $1,000. Again the con- 
tract was denied by the master of the salvaged ship, and it appeared that the 
master had "an imperfect knowledge of the English language," and may not 
have understood that the master of the tug believed that he had entered into 
a contract for $1,000. Nevertheless, even if the evidence showed a contract, 
said Nixon, "I am not sure that a contract made under such circumstances 
ought to be enforced by the court."*al In this case, it may be, that Nixon was 
prepared to go beyond mere admiralty precedent, as he made no reference 
to admiralty cases, but simpIy stated that "contracts of this nature, entered 
into in the midst of excitement, are justly regarded by the courts with suspi- 
cion, especially when they are of such an unconscionable character."282 Nixon 
determined that in the circumstances $300 was a "liberal alIowanceV for the 
services rendered. However, Nixon specifically indicated that of that amount 
only $25.00 should be allocated to the master of the tug. Significantly, Nixon 



explained that "I should have made a larger allowance to the master of the 
tug if I was not strongly impressed with the thought that, in his demand of 
$1,000 for such a service, he was attempting to profit by the fright and neces- 
sities of the  claimant^."'^^ Here, then, Nixon demonstrated that not only was 
he prepared to set aside private contractual arrangements in admiralty, but 
he was even prepared to reduce what might have been a fair market allow- 
ance when he found instances of immoral conduct. 

B. Bankruptcy 

Even in matters of bankruptcy law, Nixon betrayed a tendency, from time 
to time, to abandon the legislative goal of wiping the slate of the debtor clean, 
in favor of other, more morally-based policies. In the Eking (1 88 1) 2a4 case, 
the petitioner sought discharge in bankruptcy, but the discharge was con- 
tested on the grounds that Eking had violated the eighth clause of Section 
51 10 of the revised statutes, which prohibited a discharge "if the bankrupt, 
or any person in his behaIf, has procured the assent of any creditor, or influ- 
enced the action of any creditor, at any state of the proceedings, by any 
pecuniary consideration or obligation." In this case, while the bankrupt had 
not paid any money to friendly creditors to secure his discharge, he had 
promised some of them that he would "pay all my just debts",285 and to one 
that he would make amends "by paying me all he ever owed me when he got 
able.""6 The precise question was whether a promise, after proceedings had 
begun to discharge a particular debt, to pay the debt "when money became 
available" would be such a "pecuniary" consideration as to defeat the dis- 
charge. Even though a discharge would remove the legal obligation to pay 
the original debt, said Nixon, "the moral obligation to pay still existed (after 
the filing for bankruptcy), and was a sufficient consideration to support the 
prorni~e.""~ Since the promise to pay the debt when the bankrupt became 
able was a legally enforceable promise, reasoned Nixon, it could count as the 
"pecuniary consideration" required in order to defeat the discharge. 

While it is true that Nixon was following precedent in this case, and thus 
it might be difficult to draw inferences regarding Nixon's moral feelings that 
debts should not be shirked, especially by means not authorized by the 
statute, there are considerations here which suggest that Nixon had some 
freedom in this particular case to decide the other way. New Jersey had 
recently enacted a statute "requiring [that to create enforceable obligations] 
every promise of the bankrupt to pay any debt or demand, from which he 
had been released by bankruptcy, [had] to be put in writing, and signed by 
the party to be charged there Nixon seems to have understood him- 
self under an obligation to follow the statute289 but held that the statute was 
inapplicable to the case at hand, since this particular promise had been made 
before the discharge in bankruptcy, but after the filing for bankruptcy. Never- 
theless, Nixon's holding runs directly counter to the "spirit" of the New 
Jersey statute, a guide that was formerly of paramount importance to N i x ~ n . ~ ~ ~  



C. Criminal Law 

Given the application of moral principles in the patent, bankruptcy, and 
admiralty cases and given Nixon's belief in the high standards of conduct 
that ought to govern human affairs,2D1 one might expect his cases in the crimi- 
nal area to reflect a bias in favor of society's rules and against transgressors. 
While there are some cases that certainly tend in this direction, there are a 
surprising number of opinions which suggest that Nixon could be very sympa- 
thetic to the interests of criminal defendants, and that he was prepared quite 
strictly to construe the criminal statutes against the government. Ultimately, 
however, as we shall see, even in the cases when Nixon seemed to be tilting 
toward the accused transgressors, such favoritism stemmed from a well- 
developed sense of the moral proprieties. 

In United Slates v. Sacia (1880),292 a man named Joseph L. Lewis "had 
died at Hoboken, devising the greater part of his estate to his executors, in 
trust, to be applied by them to the reduction of the national debt incurred in 
the war of the rebellion" [the American civil war].293 Lewis's estate was worth 
more than one million dollars. A woman calling herself Jane H. Lewis had 
sought to contest this will, and had procured "a large mass of testimony to 
prove that she was the widow of the testator."294 This testimony was fabri- 
cated, and she eventually filed a formal renunciation of her claim. She 
pleaded guilty to conspiracy to defraud the government, and then was en- 
listed as a government witness in Sacia, a case against five of her co-conspira- 
tors. Nixon first instructed the jury to remember that "all the text books 
agree that the evidence in proof of [a] conspiracy may be, and from the 
nature of the case generally must be, c irc~mstant ial ."~~Nixon acknowledged 
that there had been some comment on the weight which ought to be given 
to the testimony of co-conspirators, like the phony Mrs. Lewis, but Nixon 
cautioned the jury that "The fact that a witness is a co-conspirator doubtless 
operates, and ought to operate, largely against the credibility of his testimony, 
but the jury is not bound to reject it on that account"2s Nixon indicated to 
the jury that where "Mrs. Lewis's" testimony was supported "in material 
respects" by other witnesses the jury was "bound to credit it."'" Even where 
corroboration came from "the mouths of co-conspirators," Nixon advised 
the jury that it was important because such evidence usually was "the only 
source" of direct testimony "in cases of this sort."298 

Lest the jury have any doubt as to which conclusion Nixon would draw 
from this evidence, immediately after informing the jury that if the govern- 
ment had failed to convince the jurors that any defendant was a party to the 
conspiracy they should acquit, he reminded them of the crime that had been 
committed. "If you come to the conclusion, as probably you will, that a con- 
spiracy existed," said Nixon, "your next inquiry will be, were any of the 
alleged acts done by one or more of the parties to give effect to the fraud."ZgD 
Since only the evidence of the co-conspirators and the government couId 
support the charge of conspiracy, this was tantamount to Nixon suggesting 



that he believed at least to some extent in the credibility of the government 
witnesses. Since only five of the nine alleged co-conspirators were on trial, 
however, Nixon then turned more precisely to the question of whether the 
evidence supported the charge of the participation of those five in the con- 
spiracy. Nixon first indicated that lie had "no intention to review the evi- 
dence," and then stated that "Nor is it my province or disposition to express 
any opinion as to the facts.""O Nixon could not resist, however, sharpening 
the questions before the jury in a manner that suggested which way they 
ought to find. 

For example, Nixon told the jury that the real questibn for them was 
"which will you believe, Mrs. Lewis [the government witness] or Dr. Park 
[one of the defendants]?" Nixon then added that, "The course of conduct in 
every one is influenced by motive." He then asked the jury "Has anything 
appeared in the cause which, in your judgment, would prompt a bad301 
woman like Mrs. Lewis to falsely charge Dr. Park with complicity in the 
fraud?" "How", Nixon asked, "does she benefit herself by attempting un- 
justly to drag him in?" Turning then to Dr. Park, Nixon observed, "With 
regard to his testimony, he has every motive to deny it. You must ask your- 
selves, how, and how far, the advantage which must result to him affects the 
credibility of his testimony."302 He further instructed the jurors that "you 
must not be deterred by any consideration of sympathy or mercy from finding 
him [Dr. Park] guilty. Your duty is to decide according to the evidence, 
without regard to the conseq~ences."~~"n his final words to the jury Nixon 
cautioned them that "you are trying these defendants, not for the general mis- 
conduct and bad habits of their lives, not for perjury in the state courts, but 
for a conspiracy formed to defraud the government of the United States.304 
While these remarks were made in the context of Nixon's advice to the jurors 
that they might "give to each [of the defendants] the benefit of every reason- 
able doubt respecting their it is certainly possible that such sug- 
gestion of other evils perpetrated by the defendants could equally well preju- 
dice the jury against them. Not surprisingly, the jury found all of the 
defendants guilty. 

Yet, despite this and similar examples of jury instructions tendered by 
Nixon which seem blatantly pro-prosecution, a surprising number of other 
cases, throughout Nixon's term on the bench, show what seems to be a 
strong tendency to construe criminal laws in favor of the accused. One such 
case of apparent leniency is United States v. Thoma (1879).306 Mr. Thoma 
had been the landlord of one Jacob Schoch, who committed suicide owing 
Thoma $41.00. Before his death Schoch had told Thoma that he was expect- 
ing money from abroad, and would satisfy his debt to Thoma out of that 
money. Following Schoch's suicide, a letter from Switzerland, "containing a 
bill of exchange in favor of Schoch, drawn upon [a New York bank], for 
$155.66" was delivered to Thoma by registered mail. The letter was ad- 
dressed to Schoch, in care of Thoma. Believing that "the postmaster had a 
right" to open letters in the presence of witnesses, Thoma convinced an 



assistant postmaster that he (Thoma) was going to administer Schochys 
estate, and persuaded the assistant postmaster to open the letter and give the 
contents to him. Thoma told the assistant postmaster that he intended to 
satisfy his debt from Schoch, and the debts of others, from the proceeds of 
the draft. Thoma took out no letters of administration, and refused to sur- 
render the draft to Schoch's widow, who had taken out letters of administra- 
tion in New York. Thorna was prosecuted for "taking and embezzling a letter 
which had been in a post ofice before the same had been delivered to the 
person to whom it was addressed.""' Nixon conceded that Thoma's actions 
placed him "within the letter of the law, but not within its spirit." "Penal 
statutes," Nixon explained, "should be construed strictly; and the retention 
of a letter by a person who came lawfully into its possession, is not the mis- 
demeanor that the Congress had in view.""" While the ownership of the draft 
was a question to be decided by local law, once the letter was delivered to 
Thoma by the post office, the interests of the federal government in the matter 
came to an end. While there may have been some authority suggesting that a 
criminal act had been held under similar circ~mstances,"~ there appears to 
have been substantial authority to support Nixon's holding.310 Accordingly, 
upon the special findings of the jury, Nixon entered a verdict of not guilty. 

Another case of leniency in statutory construction, which shows jury in- 
structions in marked contrast to those examined is United States 
v. Hewitt (1882)."2 Hewitt was an "attorney" for one Benjamin Barnes, 
and was employed in prosecuting Barnes's claim for a Civil War pension. As 
Nixon explained to the jury, Congress had passed pension legislation for the 
relief of pensioners and their families, but "As these beneficiaries of the 
nation were generally from the humbler walks of life, and ignorant, it soon 
became necessary to enact laws for their protection against a cIass of men 
called 'pension agents,' who too often used their position in prosecuting the 
claims of pensioners to enrich themselves at the expense of the unfortunate 
persons who were the objects of the bounty of the government."313 Such 
legislation limited the fees which pension agents could receive, and imposed 
heavy fines and imprisonment on any agents "who shall wrongfully withhold 
from a pensioner or claimant the whole or any part of the pension or claim 
aIlowed or  due such pensioner or The indictment charged Mr. 
Hewitt with wrongfully withholding pension funds. Barnes had testified that 
Hewitt wrongfully withheld $500. Referring to this testimony of Barnes, 
Nixon cautioned the jury, "You see how ignorant [Barnes] is; you hear what 
unfortunate habits he has contracted, and you know what allowance should 
be made for his conduct and his c ~ n v e r s a t i o n . " " ~ ~ i x o n  continued by re- 
minding the jury that "You also should not forget the terrible strain which 
a charge of this kind subjects the defendant to, and also what aIlowance 
should be made for his apparently contradictory stories about the precise 
character of the relations of the parties and the nature of the transactions 
between them.""'" Nixon then reviewed the uncontradicted evidence in the 



case which showed that Hewitt had procured Barnes's indorsement on the 
check for the pension funds by explaining to Barnes that he was merely 
signing a voucher for the money which would then be sent on to Wash- 
ington. 

Hewitt's defense, as described by Nixon, was that Barnes had agreed that 
the money from the eventual proceeds of the $1,610 check was to be dis- 
tributed by Hewitt to several of Barnes's creditors, as well as to Barnes him- 
self. One half was to go to a creditor named Starn, $200 to a grocer, q d  
$200 to be retained by Hewitt "for other professional services." The balance, 
said Hewitt, was to be paid to Barnes "from time to time until all the money 
was exhau~ted."~" Reflecting that the statute did not permit any such 
amounts to be withheld, Nixon explained that these facts, if true, revealed 
acts that were "not, in my judgment, in compIiance with the spirit, and cer- 
tainly not with the letter, of the pension laws. . . ."318 Nevertheless, Nixon 
added, the truth of these facts "has much to do with the defendant's actual 
criminality." By this language Nixon appears to have been willing to concede 
that there could be occasions when both the letter and spirit of a criminal 
statute could be violated, and there would still be no crime. 

Nixon did caution the jury that if they were to find "any collusion in this 
case . . . with regard to this poor man's money, then all this defense is a 
pretence." At the close of his charge, however, Nixon toId the jury that "If 
the evidence and law justify it, we all desire that the defendant should be 
acquitted." In line with what appears to be the drift of Nixon's views on the 
matter the jury brought in a verdict of "not 

What accounts for this leniency in criminal matters, and in particular, 
Nixon's position in the Hewitt case that even if the letter and the spirit of 
the penal statute were violated by a defendant there might still be no crime? 
Nixon's allowance of Hewitt's defense, that he thought he was entitled to 
disburse the funds for Barnes, suggests that it was the attitude of the defen- 
dant that was of paramount importance in determining criminality. This 
seems to be something more than merely a question of the requisite mens rea, 
since in Hewitt there was no suggestion in the statute itself that absent an 
intent to commit the offense there was no crime. What the Hewitt case seems 
to be all about, in short, is whether or not Hewitt was the kind of "bad" man 
who commits crimes. In Sacia, it will be remembered,"O Nixon had no trouble 
in characterizing the fraudulent Mrs. Lewis as a "bad" woman, and it ap- 
pears that Hewitt would only have been criminal if he too were "bad". Given 
the imperfections in human nature, and given Nixon's disposition toward 
allowing maximum freedom, we can infer that it was his own personal 
morality that led him so strongly to seize upon the common law's usual pre- 
sumption in favor of innocence, even when clear statutory violations were 
present. What then explains Nixon's increasingly morally-influenced juris- 
prudence, and how is i t  that in this period of supposed formalism, Nixon so 
fails to fit the mold? 



Summary and Conclusions 

The conventional wisdom among American legal historians with regard to 
judging in the late nineteenth century is that the judges believed that it was 
not their job to change legal principles or to engage in great creativity, and 
that judicial decisions of the period are characterized by a formal, rigid and 
arid adherence to precedents. As we have seen this description does not fit 
the jurisprudence of John Thompson Nixon. The guiding tenets of Nixon's 
jurisprudence were his own personal trilogy of paramount values, duty to 
mankind, to country, and to God. 

In his earliest years as a judge, Nixon appears to have emphasized the 
second of these values, insofar as he attempted to implement American prin- 
cipIes of popular sovereignty by giving effect to the particular provisions and 
purposes of American legislation. In these years Nixon did indeed seem to 
be carrying out the nationalist program of the Republicans, whom he had 
served in Congress, and whose President had placed him on the bench. 

Once Nixon had become fairly well established on the bench, however, it 
appears that his jurisprudence may have subtly shifted to favor what may 
have been his primary value, the furtherance of individual efforts in order 
thereby to ensure economic progress, social mobility, and the betterment of 
the race. In case after case during these years, Nixon can be observed to go 
beyond the words of a statute, sometimes even to reject its terms; and also 
to ignore the rules of the common law, where he felt that such procedures 
were necessary to accomplish his goals. In these years too we observe Nixon's 
stated aversion to the power of large concentrations of wealth showing up 
in his opinions, in what seems to be a tendency to favor individuals over 
aggregations of capital, even where Nixon appears to be bending over back- 
wards not to draw distinctions between the treatment of persons and 
corporations. 

In several instances Nixon's particularistic and moralistic jurisprudence 
appears to have led to reversals of his opinions by reviewing courts. The re- 
viewing courts seem to have demonstrated less of a tendency creatively to 
apply policies to solve the problems being Iitigated, and their opinions do 
seem to reflect something of the "formalistic" style said to prevail during this 
period. Nixon appears to have been frustrated by these reversals, and towards 
the end of his tenure on the bench we may be able to observe another shift 
in the values of his jurisprudence. Where he began by favoring popular 
sovereignty, and adherence to the nationalistic program of his party, and 
where he continued by furthering the individualism also dominant during the 
late nineteenth century, he concluded by emphasizing the individual's duty 
to his God, at least insofar as Nixon strived to reward the "good," and punish 
only the "bad." In this way did the three fundamental values of Nixon's 
philosophy reveal themselves in his opinions. 

By the last few years of his term, Nixon's judicial efforts had begun to 
assume proportions that might fairly be termed heroic. In the complicated 



patent area alone, he was turning out literally scores of written opinions each 
year. For the period from 1870 to 1888, the Federal Cases contain opinions 
decided by him in over 300 cases of all kinds.321 Over 100 of these are patent 
opinions, an area of enormous difficulty. Nixon apparently had acquired a 
national reputation of expertise in patent law, and it was common for liti- 
gants' from neighboring states to seek out his court for resolution of their 
patent problems.322 The statistics do  suggest that Nixon was one of the busiest 
of federal judges deciding patent cases.323 This effort was not without great 
cost to Nixon. "Excessive labor in the discharge of his judicial duties" re- 
sulted in impaired health and blindness during his last years, and probably 
hastened his death in 1889.5" It is not likely that Nixon derived excessive 
joy from his physical labors in the technical vineyards of the law, but, he 
prized no human attribute above end~rance ,"~  which he certainly possessed. 

The extent to which Nixon's patent jurisprudence required great physical 
and intellectual sacrifice can be roughly gauged by attempting to puzzle one's 
way through some of the drawings and descriptions which appeared with 
regularity in Nixon's patent opinions. EquaIly taxing for Nixon was the fact 
that even after his monumental efforts at understanding, he was often forced 
to base decisions largely on exasperating expert testimony. In Turrell v. 
Spaeth ( 1878 ) ,32b  case involving a patent for roller skates, Nixon stated 
the problem: 

"Are the devices in the defendant's skatz, producing this result, the equivalents 
of the devices set forth in the Lovatt patent? The experts of the parties, as 
usual, are as wide as the poles asunder. Mr. Serrell says that they are precisely 
alike in principle, and Mr. Faber du Faur thinks they are diametrically 
different.""?; 

Yet Nixon did endure these cases, and maintained a judicial style that does 
not seem to fit the rigid mold that many legal historians claim predominated 
during this period. We have seen, however, that the formalistic jurisprudence 
described by commentators did often exist in the Supreme Court, and seems 
to account, in part, for at least some of the times creative efforts on Nixon's 
part were checked by reversals in reviewing courts."28 Still, only a small per- 
centage of Nixon's opinions were reversed, and only a small percentage of all 
lower federal court opinions were reversed by the Supreme Court. As we 
learn more about the lower courts, we may discover that Nixon's efforts at 
moralistic, principled accommodation of policy needs were not unusual, and 
that the lower federal courts made a significant contribution to the economic 
progress of American society, in areas of crucial concern such as the orderly 
development of new industrial and transportation p roce~ses .~~"  

It remains to suggest something about how Nixon was able to demonstrate 
the great endurance and dedication which his opinions reflect. We have 
already considered the three major goals of Nixon's life-performance of 
duties to mankind, country, and to God-and seen them implemented in the 
various stages of his jurisprudence. It would be easy to dismiss these as sim- 



plistic rhetorical bombast, but to do so we would have to ignore the evidence 
of substantial commitment that Nixon's life provides. 

The chief factor that illuminates and explains Nixon's jurisprudential out- 
look is his commitment to his Presbyterian faith. This commitment, always 
strong, seems to have increased with age, parallelling an increase in the 
moralistic cast of his jurisprudence. In 1864, he represented his Presbytery 
in the National General Assembly of the Presbyterian In 1869, 
Nixon was instrumental in securing a union of the once acrimoniously-sepa- 
rated "old school" and "new school" members of the Presbyterian Church.3ay 
During this period "he was frequently elected a member of the Higher Church 
courts, and of their most important committees, and of the special committee 
on the National Council of Evangelical Churches, to which body he was 
appointed as a delegate of the assembly."332 In 1877, by appointment of the 
General Assembly, he attended the meeting of the Presbyterian Alliance in 
Edinburgh, Scotland, and in 1878 he was a member of the committee that 
revised the Presbyterian Book of Discipline, the very articles of that faith. 
Finally, from 1883 until his death, he served as director of the Princeton 
Theological Seminary, the leading school for members of the Presbyterian 
ministry. For a man who was as busy a judge as Nixon, this involvement 
would seem to indicate a heavy commitment to religion. In light of this, it 
seems appropriate to examine those tenets of Presbyterians which he would 
have embraced, and to speculate how they might have affected his juris- 
prudence. 

Perhaps the most idiosyncratic part of the Presbyterian creed is "predesina- 
tion"-the belief that God has already worked out the future of mankind, 
which plan is ~nalterable.~~"ntegraIly related to this concept is that of "sal- 
vation by grace", meaning that "salvation is an unmerited gift" bestowed at 
the will of God.s4 Still, Presbyterians and their Calvinist predecessors have 
recognized the possibility of making an educated guess about whether a par- 
ticular individual has been "elected" for salvation, by observing the outward 
manifestations of "good" in his or her life.335 

This belief that "saved" individuals demonstrated "goodness" must have 
influenced Nixon's decisions. This belief would account for Nixon's tendency 
in his later years to characterize individuals as "good" or "bad", and to favor 
those with whose moral choices he sympathized. Further, perhaps the ultimate 
unfathomability of God's choice in matters of salvation also accounted for 
Nixon's tendency to be solicitous for the rights of criminal defendants. 

A final example of Nixon's morality influencing his decisions in his closing 
years on the bench is In re Stewart (1884).3" There Nixon used English 
doctrines and United States Rev. Statutes 9 5110 to refuse a discharge in 
bankruptcy because some of the losses sustained by the bankrupt had 
occurred at the gaming table. Nixon's moral condemnation of such behavior 
can probably be observed in his rejection of two of the bankrupt's arguments. 
First, Nixon refused to accept the proposition that the amount lost was "de 
minimis", and held that any gambling loss brought the bankrupt within the 



prohibitory terms of the statute,3J7 This is in marked contrast to Nixon's 
willingness to  consider the "spirit" rather than the "letter" of other IegisIative 
acts.w8 Second, Nixon rejected the argument that the bankrupt's winnings 
from gambling should be taken into account in determining whether he had 
"lost"'money gambling. Nixon cited only English common-law precedent in 
determining that this siaturr did not permit such an ac~ount ing.~"  Instead, 
Nixon noted %at the statute was founded "on the idea that the order of dis- 
charge is not a matter of right, but of favor.""O Nixon was quite sure that 
this "favor" was to be revoked when the bankrupt had lost any portion of his 
funds through "gaming". It must be no  coincidence that the Presbyterian 
Digest of 1886, which includes the revisions of the Book of Discipline which 
Nixon helped formulate, describes gambling activities as "immoral in their 
nature and ruinous in their effects upon individual character and the public 
welfare."341 

Nixon apparently believed advocates would d o  best to adhere to his rigor- 
ous moral code. For instance, in describing a departed member of the New 
Jersey bar, Nixon's own father-in-law, Nixon praised him for his persona1 
characteristics which revealed these qualities: 

He "never deceived his client by giving him a too favorabIe view of his case: 
he never forfeited his own self-respect, by knowingly taking the wrong side of (I 

conlroversy, he never attempted to mislead the court by making the worse 
appear the better reason, and was remarkably free from the too prevalent vice 
of perverting the evidence for the benefit of his client, or of befogging the minds 
of ignorant jurors, by giving a false coloring to the fair import of testimony, 
he never wished, even in the heat of controversy, to succeed in a case if the 
law and the evidence did not entitlc him to a verdi~t.":'.'~ 

For Nixon, then, a courtroom was ideally not an arena for the display of 
intellectual pyrotechnics, but was, simply, a forum for rendering moral judge- 
ment uninfluenced by perversion or pettifoggery. This notion must have 
added an extra burden of responsibility to one like Nixon, for while in God's 
plan a11 outcomes might be predetermined, Nixon's ability to decide correctly 
would serve to demonstrate that he was "elected". Knowledge o r  hope of a 
guaranteed place in heaven may then have proven a powerful incentive for 
Nixon's prodigious judicial efforts. 

No matter what the reason for his dedication, Nixon did decide a great 
number of complicated, tedious cases in areas which appear to have de- 
manded a creative and flexible jurisprudence. From these cases emerges a 
pattern which is different in form and in substance from the perceived stereo- 
type of the period. Instead of favoring an entrenched plutocracy, Nixon came 
more and more to decide largely on the basis of personal morality. He 
favored the advance of commerce through individual effort, but he exhibited 
no slavish adherence to formalistic decisions, as he sought to shape the law 
in a manner which served the vaIues he cherished. 



After Ajax failed to receive Achilles's armor, Sophocles tells us, he had to 
decide how best to respond to an affront that seemed to bertay all the princi- 
ples of virtue and reward to which Greek heroes were supposed to be dedi- 
~ a t e d . " ~  He concluded that his only appropriate course of action was to fall 
on his sword, to make the most powerful statement he could in support of 
the principle of recognition of heroic valor. A life without honor, in other 
words, was not fit for a Greek to live. After Ajax's suicide, the Greek chief- 
tains, Agamemnon and Menelaus, at first refused him decent burial rights, 
adding a last insult to the career of this champion of endurance and heroism. 
Finally, however, Odysseus, in a magnificent act of heroic munificence, con- 
vinced the Greek Kings that his old rival deserved acclaim for his constancy 
and fidelity to the tradition, and Ajax was given the proper ceremonies. 

John Thompson Nixon must have felt, as a result of his reversals by the 
Supreme Court, and as a result of the general deterioration in American 
economic and moral life in the late nineteenth century, that the proper respect 
to the classic virtues of piety, patriotism, and endurance was not forthcoming. 
As the end of his life neared, his moral fervor seems to have grown, and, 
in the manner of Ajax, Nixon accelerated his own blindness and death in 
service of the old values. 
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Friedman and Ladinsky, Social Change and the Law o f  Industrial Accidents, 67 
Col. L. Rev. 50, 59-62 (1967).  
2 Fed. Rep. 892 (C.C.D.N.J. 1880). 
Id., at 896. 
lbid. 
Id., at 892. 
Id., at 892-893. 
Id., a t  894-895. 
Id,, a t  896. 
20 Fed. Rep. 482 (C.C.D.N.J. 1884). 
Id., at 484. 
Davey v. Aetna Life Insurance Company, 20 Fed. Rep. 494 (C.C.D.N.J. On 
application for a rule to show cause, 1884). 
20 Fed. Cas.. at 487. 
Id., at 487. 
Text accompanying notes 168-1 74, ncpra. 
Ibid. 
Id., at 485. 
This is indicated by Nixon's statement in his opinion refusing to set the verdict 
aside that, "It is conceded that the verdict rendered in this case was not expected 
. . ." 20 Fed. Cas., at 494. 
The longest time a jury deliberated in the cases here reviewed. 
20 Fed. Cas., at  494. 
Id. 
Id., emphasis added. 
See 20 Fed. Cas. at  487-488, where, in response to a request to charge regarding 
the cause of death McKennan states, "If the jury find that the illness of William 
A. Davey at  Alexandria Bay in the summer of 1881, which resulted in his death, 
was caused, either wholly or partially, by the intemperate use of alcoholic liquors. 
as explained in answer to  the ninth prayer of the defendant [McKennan's charge 
that a single use might not constitute intemperance], they might find for the 
company." 
20 Fed. Cas., at  494. 
See text accompanying notes 180-1 81, supru. 
Aetrta Life Insrrrance Company o f  Hartford v. Davey, 123 U.S. (1887). 
Mr. Justice Field, in Berrnecke v. Insurance Company, 105 U.S. 350, had written 
that an  insured's occasional use of intoxicating liquors did not render him a man 
of intemperate habits. nor would an exceptional case of excess justify the applica- 
tion of this character to him . . ." When we speak of the habits of a person, we 
refer to his customary conduct, to pursue which he has acquired a tendency from 
frequent repetition of the same acts. It would be incorrect to say that a man has 
a habit of anything from a single act." See also the other cases collected in a note 
to the trial court's charge in Davey, 20 Fed. Cas., at 490-494. 
123 US..  a t  743-744. 
Id., at 742. At the new trial, presided over by Delaware Federal District Judge 
Wales, in spite of instructions which tracked Harlan's opinion, the jury still found 
for the olaintiff, Davev v. Aetna Life Insrrrance Company, 38 Fed. Rep. 650 
(C.C.D.N.J. 1889). 
See American Nicl~olson Pavement Company v. Elizahefh. 1 Fed. Cas. 691 
(c.c.D.N:J. 1874, Case No. 309). 
The patent was for a combination of steps, including ( I )  the laying of a continu- 
ous foundation directly upon the roadway, ( 2 )  forming the wooden surface of 
the pavement by a series of blocks standing endwise in rows. (3 )  a smaller set of 



blocks o r  strips which were placed between the blocks that were to form the sur- 
face, and (4)  the filling of the grooves formed between the principal blocks by 
the auxillary blocks with broken stone. gravel, and tzr, or other like material. 
American Nicholsor~ Pavcmenr Cornparry v. Elizabeth, I Fed. Cas. 703. 705 
(C.C.D.N.J., 1873. Case No. 311 1. 

197. 1 Fed. Cas.. at  696. 
198. Id., at 696. 
199. Id., at 696. 
200. Id.. at 309. Laws N.J. 187 1,  page 3 12. 
201. Id. .  at 696-697. 
202. Id., at 686-697. 
203. Id., at 697-698. The defendants appeared willing to concede that even under this 

defense they would have been liable t o  pay license fees to  the plaintiffs, but ~t 
appeared that the profits made by the New Jersey Wood Paving Company were 
much larger than the license fees. 

204. Id., at 697. 
205. A formal notice which map be fiIed with the Patent Ofice indicating that a patent 

will soon be applied for. which has the effect of preventing others from patenting 
the same device. 

206. 1 Fed. Cas., at 706-707. 
207. Section 12 of the Act of July 4. 1836. Curt. Pat. 270. Id., at 706-707. 
208. 1 Fed. Cas.. at 706-707. 
209. i d . ,  at 707. 
210. For these characterizations of early and late nineteenth cenrury styles of judicial 

reasoning see K. LLEWLLYN, .s~ipru note 3. 
21 1 .  Elizabeth v.  Pavement Company, 97 U.S. 126. 141 ( 1877).  
212. id . ,  at 142. 
213. Id.. at 140. 
214. Anterican Nicholson Pnv~mrnr Co. v. El i znb~r l~ ,  I. Fed. Cas. 691 (C.C.D.N.J. 

1874, Case No. 309). 
21 5. See generally Consolidared Fruit Jar Co. v. Wliirttey, 6 Fed. Cas. 349 (C.C.D.N.J. 

1876) and sources there cited. 
216. Arnericun Nicholson Pavement Co.  v. Elizaberh, I Fed. Gas. 691 (C.C.D.N.J. 

Case No. 309 ) .  
217. 97 US., at 138. 
218. Because the New Jersey Paving Company was insolvent, and because the Supreme 

Court had said (hat Elizabeth and Tubbs had made no "profits". 
2 19. Blake v. Elizohrth, 3 Fed. Cas. 591 ( 1879).  Casc No. 1495 ) .  

220. Id. 
221. 3 Fed. Cas.. at 592. 
222. Id., at 592. 
223. Ibid. 
224. Ihid. 
225. See, e.g.. CORBIN ON CONTRACTS $72, and cazes there cited. 
226. 3 Fed. Cas. Id.. at 593. 
227. Id . ,  at 592. These fees amounted to $2,500. 
228. Sclilomp v.  Sclienck, 1 l Vroorn ( 4 0  N.J. Law) 195. 
229. 1 Fed. Cas. 135 (C.C.D.N.J.). 
230. Ibid. 
23 1. Id.. at 136. 
232. Id., at 135. 
233. Id.. at 135 citing Curt. Pat. Section 106. 
234. Id., at 136. 
235. 1 Fed. Cas. 320 (C.C.D.N.J.). 



Id . ,  at 321-322. 
29 Fed. Cas. 622 (C.C.N.J. Case No. 17382). 
A device used in harnesses for horses. 
Id.. at 623. 
Rubber-Coated Harness-Trimming Company v. Welling, 97 U.S. 7 ,  11-12 (1877). 
Compare Albright v. Celluloid Harness-Trimming Co., notes 235-236, supra. 
Scott Manufacturing Company v. Sayre, 26 Fed. Rep. 153, 154 (C.C.D.N.J. 
1885). Nixon did qualify his remark by adding, "Whether true or not, it is my 
duty to examine the present claims in the light of these decisions, and to give 
them such interpretation and effect as the deliberate judgement of that court 
declares they are entitled to. Nixon went on to hold that in the case at  hand, the 
proposed combination to manufacture an "ice creeper" (a  device to be fastened 
under shoes to facilitate walking on ice) included no new processes used to 
produce ice creepers. Since under the stringent standard applied by the Supreme 
CO& patentable combinations must either form a new machine, or produce a 
new result by the interaction of old processes, the combination failed the test. 
and Nixon rejected it. 
30 Fed. Cas. 43 (C.C.D.N.J. 1879). 
140 U.S. 481 (1890).  The long delay in reversing Nixon seems lo  be even more 
astonishing when it is realized that the original bill of complaint alleging infringe- 
ment was filed in 1877. 30 Fed. Cas., at 43. 
140 U.S.. at 488. 
As the Supreme Court explained it, "the law is that any person sued for infringe- 
ment of an American patent may show in defense that the invention claimed was 
patented or described in some printed publication . . . before the patentee's sup- 
posed invention or discovery thereof." 
30 Fed. Cas., at 43-44. Most of Nixon's opinion is a technical discussion of the 
nature of the infringement, a point not of much importance to the Supreme Court. 
140 U.S. at 488-489. 
See text accompanying notes 3-1 1 ,  supra. 
For a case in which Nixon did construe the "foreign patent" section of the statute 
(Act of July 8, 1870; 16 Stat. 198), Section 24, see Roemer v. Simon, 20 Fed. 
Cas. 1097 (C.C.D.N.J., 1874, Case No. 11,997). In that case Nixon also noted 
the policies behind the "prior use" defense for infringements (section 16), and 
noted that that section requires defendants seeking to invoke that defense to give 
notice to the complainant of names and addresse of persons having knowledge of 
prior use, and to particularize places of such prior use. This procedural require- 
ment would seem to underscore the presumption in favor of the patentee which 
the Supreme Court appears to have ignored in Williamantic. 
See, e.g., Webster Loom Company v. Higgins, 43 Fed. 674. 
Webster v. New Brunswick Carpet Company, 29 Fed. Cas. 557 (C.C.D.N.J. 1875). 
See also, American Nicholsot~ Pavement Company v. City of Elizabeth, srrpra. 
See Chapter Two, supra. 
1 1  Fed. Cas. 783 (C.C.D.N.J. 1874, Case No. 6169). 
It~surance Company v. Gunham 1 1  Wall. 78 U.S. 1 ( 1870). 
Nixon cites 1 Comm. 377. 
Citing "Bains v. The James and Catherine (Case No. 766)". 
1 1  Fed. Cas., at  783-784. 
3 Fed. Rep. 241 (C.C.D.N.J., 1880). 
Id., at 244. 
I d . ,  at 243. For a case in which Nixon restated his belief that "a court of admiralty 
is the 'chancery of the seas,' " see Six Hundred Tons of Iron Ore. 9 Fed. Rep. 595, 
598 (D.C.D.N.J. 1881 ) .  
He called the doctrine he was applying "estoppel". 



262. See infra, next section. 
263. CIayron v. The Schooner Eliza B. Emory, 4 Fed. Rep. 342. 343-344 (C.C.D.N.J. 

1880). 
264. 4 Fed. Rep., at 345. 
265. Id., at 345-346. 
266. e.g., Montgomery v. The Owners of the General Greene Bee's R. 388. 
267. 4 Fed. Rep., a t  344. 
268. For another case where Nixon declared that "The admiralty court, although not 

technically a court of law or of equity, is a court of justice," and used this 
principle equitably to  distribute the proceeds from a sale of a vessel among 
creditors, see Adams v. The Wyoming, 1 Fed. Cas. 161 (D.C.D.N.J. 1879, Case 
No. 71). 

269. 24 Fed. Rep. 472 (D.C.D.N.J. 1885). Further support for Nixon's policy in this 
case, of imposing strict standards of conduct on  tugboat operators, is provided by 
Ulrich v. The Sunbeam, 24 Fed. Cas. 515 (D.C.D.N.J. 1878, Case No. 14,329) 
where Nixon held (pursuant to a recent decision of the Supreme Court, New 
Jersey Stream Navigation Company v .  Merchant's Bank, 6 How (47 U.S.) 384) 
that a tug could not contractually relieve itself from liability for negligence, 
although such an  agreement would shift the burden of proof of "want o r  due care 
o r .  . . gross negligence" onto the libellants. 

270. This tendency was established as early as 1842, see Farwell v. Boston and 
Worcester Railroad Corp.  45 Mass. ( 4  Metc.) 49, and was still in full swing as 
late as 1905, Lochner v. New York,  198 U.S. 45 (1905). 

271. Id., at 476, citing The Samuel J. Christian, 16 Fed. Rep. 796 (E.D.N.Y.), and 
The Grapeshot 22 Fed. Rep. 123 (S.D.N.Y.). 

272. The Brooklyn, 2 Ben 547, The Deer, 4 Ben, 355, and The Frank G. Fowler, 17 
Fed. Rep. 655. 

273. The Quickstep, 9 Wall. 655. 
274. i d . .  at 476-477, quoting Blatchford in The Deer. 
275. 17 Fed. Rep. 548 (D.C.D.N.J. 1883). 
276. 20 Fed. Rep. 926 (D.C.D.N.J. 1884). 
277. Post v. Jones, 19 How. 160. Nixon also quoted language from Justice Story, in 

the En~ulous, I Sumn. 210, to  the effect that salvage contracts would not be 
enforced unless the court can clearly see that no advantage is taken of the parties' 
situation . . ." Id., at 550. 

278. ld.,  at 550. 
279. Id., at 550. 
280. 20 Fed. Rep., at 927. 
281. Id., at 928. 
282. ibid.  
283. ibid.  
284. 6 Fed. Rep. 170. 
285. Id., at 173. 
286. Id., at 174. 
287. Ibid. 
288. Id., at 175. 
289. Indeed, the Rules of Decision Act and the principles of conflict of laws would 

seem to require application of the lex loci co~ltractu principle here when deciding 
the relevant question of contract law. 

290. See text accompanying notes 57-95, supra. 
291. See text accompanying notes 53-56. suprrr. 
292. 2 Fed. Rep. 754 (D.C.N.J. 1880). 
293. Id., at 755. 
294. Ibid. 



id . ,  at 757. 
Id.. at 758. 
Id., at 759. 
Ibid. 
Id., at 760. emphasis added. 
Id., at 761. 
Only a stern moralist like Judge Nixon would feel confident enough to be able t o  
characterize a witness as a "good" or "bad" person. That he thought it appropriate 
lo do so is further evidence of the primary importance to Nixon of honorable 
conduct in human affairs. 
2 Fed. Rep., at 761. 
Id.. at 762. 
Id., at 763. 
Ibid. 
28 Fed. Cas. 74 (D.C.D.N.J. 1879, Case No. 1647 1 ). For another case of leniency 
see U.S. v .  Ninety-Five Boxes, 27 Fed. Cas. 171 (D.C.D.N.J. 1874, Case No. 
15,891). 
28 Fed. Cas. at  74, Section 3792, Rev. St. 
Id., at 75. 
"It was suggested by the district attorney on the argument that the late distin- 
guished judge of the Eastern district of Pennsylvania (Cadwalader) gave a different 
view of the section, holding in a recent case that a defendant was liable . . . who 
opened a letter addressed to his care to a female servant of his family-the letter 
having been delivered to him by the officials of the post office." Id., at 75. The 
case was unreported. 
U.S. v. Parsons (S.D.N.Y., Case No. 16000), U.S. v. Sander (C.C.N.D.O., Case 
No. 16,219) and U.S. v. Driscoll (D.Mass., Case No. 14,994). See also U.S. v. 
McCready, I1 Fed. 231, and U.S. v. Safford, 66 Fed. 945, which cite Nixon's 
opinion. 
In United States v. Sacia, text accompanying notes 292-305, supra. 
I1 Fed. Rep. 243 (D.C.D.N.J.). 
Id.. at 243. 
Rev. Stat. Section 5485, as quoted by the court, Id., at 244. 
Id., at 245. This conduct was not specified. 
Id.. at 245-246. 
Id., at 246. 
Ibid. 
Id., at 248. 
Text accompanying note 301, supra. 
My research indicates a total of 338 published opinions. This number appears to 
be far more than any judge who sat on the federal courts of Pennsylvania, New 
Jersey, or Delaware before 1890. While the Federal Cases do  not contain all the 
opinions written by the federal judges, it is still clear that Nixon's output was 
prodigious. 
Keasbey, supm note 27, a t  48-49. 
For the years 1876 to 1886, Nixon's prime years. he shows up more frequently 
among the top five federal judges, in terms of number of cases listed in the 
Decisions o f  the Commissiorcer o f  Pater~ts and United States Courts in Parent 
Cases, published by the United States Government Printing Office, than does any 
other federal judge. In those years his standing among the approximately sixty 
federal judges. in terms of number of cases noted, rose as high as second (1876), 
and usually hovered around fourth ( 1877, 1878, 1879, 1885). He was in a ten-way 
tie for thirteenth place in 1880, but he was in fifth place in 1881, third in 1882, 
sixth in 1883, and seventh in 1884 and 1886. His patent cases were frequently 



cited in contemporary patent treatises; in particular his American Nicholson Pave- 
ment Company case is cited fifteen times in 0. Bump, The Law o f  Parents, Trade- 
marks and Copyrigha (1877),  making it one of the most frequently cited cases 
in that treatise. 

324. Princeton Seminary Necrological Report, 1890, at 13; Keasbey, supra note 27, 
49-51, Parker, Jolin Thompson Nixon, I3 Dictionary of American Biography, 
531-532 (1934) .  

325. "Endurance" was the title and the main theme of his address at Princeton, note 
37, supra. 

326. 24 Fed. Cas. 382 (No .  14,269). 
327. Id.. at 383. Emphasis added. 
328. Text accompanying notes 173-251. sirpru. 
329. This might be a late-century analogue to what Professor Freyer has described as 

the work of the early nineteenth century federal courts in homogenizing com- 
mercial jurisprudence. T. Freyer. Forums of  Order (1979) .  

330. Keasbey, supra note 27, at 45. 
331. UNIVERSITIES AND T H E I R  SONS, 1899. 
332. PRINCETON SEMINARY NECROLOGICAL REPORT, 1890, at 12. 
333. Lingle, Walter L., PRESBYTERIANS-THEIR HISTORY A N D  BELIEFS, 187 ( 1928). 
334. Id., at 19 I .  
335. Shedd, William G.T., CALVINISM: P U R F  AND MIXED. 19 ( 1893). 
336. 21 Fed. Rep. 398. 
337. Id., at 399. 
338. See, e.g. text accompanying notes 61-64, 85-88. snpm. 
339. 21 Fed. Rep. at 399. 
340. Id., at 398. 
341. THE PRESBYTERIAN DIGEST OF 1886, at 592. This condemnation of gambling went 

so far as to prohibit lotteries for "benevolent and religious objects". Id. 
342. Nixon, "Sketch", sirpru note 44. at 41-42. emphasis added. 
343. Sophocles, Ajax. 
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f3uffitigton, wfiosc decisions on matters of corporation law often reverseti the 
delicate bala~ice attempted by the I)elaware District Cotirt jttdges. 



Adjusting to the Managerial 
Revolution: The Law of Corporations 
in the Federal Courts 
of Delaware 1900- 194 1 

In Chapter Two we saw how the earliest federal judges, principally Richard 
Peters and Samuel Chase, went about responding to the changes in American 
society brought about by the American Revolution.' In particular, that chap- 
ter analyzed how the first federal judges of Pennsylvania confronted the per- 
ceived necessity for altering legal institutions in accordance with the dominant 
American political philosophy of popular sovereignty, and how the character 
of early American jurisprudence allowed them freedom to implement their 
own conceptions of the appropriate legal rules. In Chapter Three the 
principal concern was with one judge. John Thompson Nixon, District Court 
Judge of New Jersey from 1870-1889, who sought to respond to the in- 
creased litigation brought about by another "revolution", what has usually 
been referred to as our "Industrial Revolution", following the American 
Civil War.* 

The subject of this chapter is related to that of the third, and is the man- 
ner in which the federal judges of Delaware and the Third Circuit's Court 
of Appeals dealt in the early twentieth century with the problem of American 
industrialization. The focus of this chapter is somewhat narrower than the 
others, however, since it is concerned simply with the doctrines of the 
law of corporations. Still, as we shall see, it appears that the several judges 
whose work is examined here were responding to yet a third "revolution", 
the "managerial revolution" in the American economy. As was true in the 
previous studies, the choices which the judges appear to have made between 
conflicting doctrines will be the primary interest. In what follows, the im- 



portance of the corporation to the late nineteenth and early twentieth cen- 
tury American economy, and the attitudes of some of its critics will first be 
sketched, in order that the legal doctrines may be placed in context. This 
will be followed by some general comments on the regulatory and facilitating 
activities of the legislatures of two of the states of the Third Circuit, New 
Jersey and Delaware, which activities are also necessary to an understanding 
of the importance of the development of law in the federal courts. A final 
matter to be explored, before examining the decisions of the judges, is the 
character of the "managerial revolution" itself, which may have ultimately 
determined the climate in which the federal judges decided cases on cor- 
porate law. The remainder of this chapter will proceed to examine the back- 
grounds and the judicial opinions of the judges who sat on the bench of the 
Federal District Court for the District of Delaware during this period, Judges 
Bradford, Morris, and Nields, and the disposition of some of these cases 
on appeal to the Third Circuit Court of Appeals. We shall be particularly 
concerned with the appeals decided by, and the characteristics of, Circuit 
Judges Buffington and Davis. The thesis of the chapter is that while Bradford, 
Morris, and Nields sought to respond to the managerial revolution by strik- 
ing a delicate balance between the needs for managerial autonomy and 
corporate democracy and legitimacy attempting to take account of both, the 
balance was often upset on appeal, and tipped toward the needs of the cor- 
porate managers. In the next chapter it will be suggested how the somewhat 
skewed nature of the decision-making by the Third Circuit Courts of Appeals 
in the early years of the twentieth century helped to determine the radically 
different nature of the operation of a dramatically changed United States 
Court of Appeals following still another revolution, the "Constitutional Revo- 
lution" of 1937. 

I. Towards the Modern Business Corporation 

In the early nineteenth century, most economic activity was carried on by 
single proprietors or by partnerships, while the use of the corporate form 
was usually reserved for specially chartered monopolies formed to conduct 
charitable or transportation activities, enterprises with a clear public interest. 
By 1930, however, 90 percent of all products manufactured in the United 
States were made by corporations, and by 1950 m a t  of the key industries 
were dominated by large firms.With the rise of the giant corporations, it 
has frequently been argued that the doctrines of corporate law ought to be 
used as a means of holding corporate decision-makers accountable to the 
public, or at least to all shareholders. These concerns were not absent dur- 
ing the formative period of our law of corporations, the late nineteenth and 
early twentieth centuries, but it appears that other purposes, for example 
the maximization of the autonomy of corporate managers, may have taken 
priority. 



The modern corporation probably first flourished under the New Jersey 
Incorporations Act of 1896," but its greatest friend was to be the legisla- 
ture of the state of Dela~are.~"oth Delaware and New Jersey adopted a 
policy of minimum regulation of corporations, and firms were soon flock- 
ing to those states to incorporate. As a result, federal judges in the District 
of Delaware were to play an important role in the development of the mod- 
em corporation. With so many interstate disputes arising from the far- 
flung activities and policies of Delaware corporations, the federal judges' 
attitudes toward the corporate scheme created by the Delaware legislature 
in large part determined whether the legislative intent respecting corporations 
would be implemented. 

One might have expected to find that the federal judges in Delaware 
shielded corporations from those who sought to restrain them. At the be- 
ginning of this century, according to Willard Hurst, "we treated the corpo- 
rate instrument as so useful for desired economic growth as to warrant 
using law to make it available on terms most responsive to businessmen's 
needs or wishesv4 Indeed, most Americans appeared to believe that 
growth and increased productivity were desirable social goals, and many 
believed that the large corporation was the best means of facilitating 
the mass production necessary for the attainment of those goals. The pro- 
fessional and familial ties of the federal judges in Delaware might also 
suggest that they would be amenable to "corporate" interests. Three federal 
district judges served Delaware in this period: Edward G. Bradford, Jr. 
(1897 to 1918), Hugh M. Morris (1919 to 1930), and John P. Nields 
(1930-1941 ). Judge Bradford was connected by marriage with the Du Ponts, 
the richest and most powerful family in Delaware, and the owners of E.I. Du 
Pont de Nemours Co., one of the leading manufacturing firms in the country. 
Judges Morris and Nields, before their appointments, pursued lucrative cor- 
porate law practices in Wilrnington. Nields had once served as personal attor- 
ney for Pierre S. Du Pont, president of E.I. Du Pont de Nemours, and later of 
General Motors. 

Nevertheless, federal district judges in Delaware frequently decided 
against corporate managers and majority stockholders, and in favor of 
aggrieved minority stockholders. These   el aware federal judges seem to 
have believed that part of their role was to make sure that traditional derno- 
cratic ideals were not slighted, and they thus appear to have sought means 
to bring the operation of corporations into line with received American 
ideals: to "legitimize" the private exercise of power within the corporate 
framework. 

To a certain extent, then, the Delaware judges appear to have believed 
their task to be to ensure that stockholders not be exploited by corrupt 
managers or by crafty "robber barons".While a great many Americans in 
the early twentieth century might have seen economic salvation in the cor- 
poration, there were still many public figures continually expressing their 
fear that economic concentration, resulting in a few large firms controlling 



entire industries, would crush individual initiative--nay, democracy itself." 
In this atmosphere, the federal judges in Delaware appear to have sought 
to control the increased corporate autonomy created by the state's incor- 
poration statutes by reviewing decision-making processes in the corporations 
and by guarding against the abuse of power by directors and majority share- 
holders. At the same time, however, the judges seem to have believed 
in the economic importance of corporations and thus were cautious in their 
reviewing function. It appears likely, however, that ultimately the jurispru- 
dential activity of the judges,' particularly the decisions on the appellate 
level, did more to facilitate the concentration of economic power in corporate 
managers, who soon came to determine the allocation of goods and services 
in the national economy.' Before studying this activity, however, i t  is im- 
portant to understand the nature of the legislative scheme the judges were 
called upon to interpret. 

11. The Legislatures and the Corporations 

In the late nineteenth century, especially in transportation and manufac- 
turing, corporations and "trusts" rapidly became the predominant form of 
economic organization, and were often able to drive smaller enterprises out 
of the market. Combinations, acquisitions, and mergers often allowed large 
firms to take advantage of economies of scale and lower prices to a point 
that made operation by smaller firms unprofitable. Some industrial magnates 
of this era were able to accumulate fabulous wealth, occasionally enough 
to extend loans to the federal g~vernment .~  In the early years of this period, 
however, most corporations were subject to state regulation which limited 
capital stock, and allowed for continual judicial interference in corporate 
affairs. In Delaware, for example, an 1871 statute had fixed maximum and 
minimum levels of capital stock at $1 00,000 and $10,000.9 Such limita- 
tions on levels of capital stock meant that there were no legal means by 
which corporations could merge into giant firms capable of dominating entire 
industries. Further, every state then required corporations to adhere closely 
to the business purposes set forth in their charters, thereby preventing 
corporate diversification and vertical integration.I0 Finally, the states did 
not allow corporations to amend the scheme of shareholder democracy 
mandated by law and by their charters, so that the corporate decision 
making processes were not necessarily adaptable to changing economic 
 circumstance^.^^ 

Seeking the economic benefits of large-scale operations," enterpreneurs 
such as John D. Rockefeller first attempted to circumvent state regulation 
over corporations by concentrating capital in unincorporated "trusts". This 
scheme, developed by the ingenious attorney Samuel C. T. Dodd in 1871 
for Rockefeller's Standard Oil Company,'" was an arrangement by which 



several corporations put their properties under the control of a group of 
trustees, who then operated the enterprise in concert." The trust avoided 
the pitfalls of corporate law, but the arrangement had weaknesses. If a 
number of corporations in the trust disagreed with the majority, they could 
leave the trust, causing a renewal of the costly competition that had brought 
about the formation of the trust in the first place. Further, the trust was 
endangered in 1890 when Congress passed the Sherman Antitrust Act. 

Perceiving an opportunity for state gain, the legislature of New Jersey 
soon came to the rescue by enacting a series of new corporate statutes. These 
laws permitted unlimited capitalization and encouraged holding companies. 
They eliminated or greatly liberalized earlier laws which had imposed limits 
on corporate purpose and corporate life-times. Finally, by 1896, the revised 
New Jersey incorporation act's "self-determination clause" permitted corpo- 
rations to amend their charters to modify, regulate or create corporate 
powers, so long as these amendments were not contrary to other provisions 
of state law.15 In short, these revisions "turned corporate law inside out" by 
changing the long-standing rule that corporations could exercise only those 
powers expressly granted by the legislat~re. '~ 

Many enterprises soon relocated in New Jersey, and incorporation fees 
began to supply a large part of government revenue. By 1902 New Jersey 
was able to abolish its property taxes; and by 1905 it had a $3 million 
surplus in its treasury.'; Across the state line, Delaware was growing "gan- 
grened with envy at the spectacle of the truck-patchers, sand-duners, and 
mosquito wafters of New Jersey getting all the money in the country into her 
coffers."ls Thus, in 1899 Delaware enacted its own liberal incorporation 
statute, modelled on that of New Jersey.'" 

Even though Delaware sought to take advantage of the laws of competition 
and the market by charging a lower incorporation fee, Delaware's statutes 
initially attracted few corporations to the state, probably because potential 
incorporators were suspicious of what appeared to be Delaware's sudden 
"camp-meeting" conversion, and thus decided not to leave states where 
corporate policy had become stable.'O This changed in 19 13, when New 
Jersey's Governor Woodrow Wilson destroyed that state's popularity among 
incorporators by bringing about the enactment of laws decidedly unfavorable 
to corporate autonomy. Corporate regulation was a part of Wilson's general 
reform program, which covered everything from public utilities to high food 
prices.21 Governor Wilson's attempts to circumscribe corporations reflected 
a still widespread hostility toward corporations in particular and the con- 
centration of economic power in general. In his inaugural address, for exam- 
ple, Wilson promised to enact legislation that would "prevent the abuse of 
the privilege of incorporation which has in recent years brought so much 
discredit upon our State."22 It was necessary, he believed "to prescribe 
methods by which the public shall be safeguarded against fraud, deception, 
extortion, and every abuse of its confidence." Corporate regulation, Wilson 
believed, was necessary to protect small stockholders and the public generally 



from exploitation by corporate managers and others who had been "preying 
upon them."23 

As New Jersey seemed to perform a complete reversal to demand greater 
corporate responsibility, Delaware became "the happy hunting ground of the 
corporate promoter."24 The advantages accruing to Delaware from this situa- 
tion were considerable. The revenue generated by the state's incorporating 
fees significantly eased the tax burden on its citizens, and from 1913 to 1934 
franchise taxes and related fees contributed an average of 25% of Delaware's 
total state revenues.25 Accordingly, the DeIaware legislature, from time to 
time, amended its incorporation statutes further to facilitate corporate for- 
mation and to enlarge the range of corporate autonomy." It has been 
generally concluded that under the new Delaware Corporation laws, ideas of 
corporate democracy were of secondary importance, as "the various amend- 
ments of the Delaware Act . . . tended to concentrate in the board of 
directors the exercise of powers which had heretofore required ratification by 
the  stockholder^."^^ 

111. The Context of Federal Judicial Interpretatiort 
o f  Delaware Corporation Law 

If the theories of an independent judiciary articulated by the framers of 
the federal court system have any validity, we should expect the judges of 
the federal courts in Delaware, who were called upon to interpret the cor- 
poration laws, to manifest a somewhat different perspective from that of the 
legislators who passed the statutes. As indicated, the legislators appear to 
have acted on the basis of a desire for the maximization of state revenue. 
We might expect to find that the judges would be interested in the goal of 
economic expansion for the state, but we would also expect the judges to be 
interested in maintaining other goals of the legal system, such as adherence 
to the principles of popular sovereignty or democracy. We might also expect 
the judges to be sensitive to the climate of public opinion which as Woodrow 
Wilson's victory in New Jersey indicated, could be hostile toward corporate 
autonomy. Finally, as men who had been involved in their legal practices 
with corporations, it seems likely that the judges would also be aware of, 
and sensitive to, the "managerial revolution" which was then occurring in 
the national economy. 

As business historians have recently shown, this "managerial revolution" 
came about because of the fact that mass production had rendered many 
market mechanisms obsolete. A haphazard network of wholesalers found 
it dificult to distribute the increased number of manufactured goods. Sup- 
ply often outran demand, and manufacturers came to recognize that market 
mechanisms too often brought cut-throat competition and rapidly falling 
prices.28 The manufacturers eventually realized that, if mass production was 
to provide an adequate return on investment, they wouId have to remove 
both competitors and middlemen, and capture entire markets. By the 



end of the nineteenth century, then, some manufacturers had taken advan- 
tage of the new legal climate to initiate programs of vertical integration, 
setting up their own distribution units and also buying out the producers 
of raw materials. They were then in a position to begin to buy out their 
competitors, and this resulted in the most pervasive merger movement this 
country has ever witne~sed.'~ By the turn of the century entire industries 
were controlled by a handful of giant firms; firms so large that the original 
magnates and entrepreneurs could not operate them alone. The manufac- 
turers thus hired thousands of managers to staff their vast and far-flung 
enterprises, and to create central committees, made up of department heads, 
to formulate the broad policies of the enterprise. According to Alfred D. 
Chandler, 

"By then the visible hand of management replaced the invisible hand of market 
forces in coordinating the flow from the suppliers of raw materials to the 
ultimate consumer,"3o 

As managers acquired control over the day-to-day allocation of goods in 
the economy, it was they who acquired the knowledge and expertise necessary 
to plan the efficient functioning of business, and accordingly, they became 
more influential in corporate governance. By the late nineteenth century, in  
the larger corporations, there had begun to be noticeable an increased separ- 
ation between control and o ~ n e r s h i p . ~ ~  Eventually, with increasing levels of 
capitalization in the large corporations and the resultant diffusion of stock 
ownership, often no stockholder or group of stockholders could round up 
enough votes to  defeat management in a proxy fight."' Stockholders at the 
corporations' annual meetings often simply ratified the decisions of the board 
of directors, and re-elected management's slate of directors. Following World 
War 11, even where the legal "owners" were elected to the board of directors, 
"they [took] less and less part in the running of the business. Management 
consider[ed] them 'outsiders' and resentred] any 'interference' from ~hern."~'  

By the beginning of the twentieth century several state and national insti- 
tutions appear to have chosen to facilitate the concentration of power in 
management, thus establishing an enclave of corporate autonomy free from 
govemrnetal influence. The Supreme Court's interpretation of the Fourteenth 
Amendment to hold that a corporation is a "person" within the meaning of 
that Amendment, and its development of substantive Due Process, "sub- 
stantially curbed the legitimacy of government regulation of corporate 
b e h a ~ i o r . " ~ ~  Moreover, as we have seen, some of the states' liberalization of 
incorporation acts seems to have been designed to enhance the power of 
management, and to restrict the authority of stockholders." Still, the facilita- 
tion of corporate management seems to have been undertaken in an atmo- 
sphere in which altruism was not absent. Government officials seem to have 
recognized the advantages of corporate autonomy to the productive capacity 
of the country. By the turn of the century, corporations were turning out 66 
percent of the United States' manufactured output, and this figure rose to 87 



percent by 1920.36 According to Hurst, "no social goal was dearer to the 
late-nineteenth-century United States than increase of economic productivity 
[and] . . . the corporation . . . emerged as the principal instrument for organ- 
izing large business enterprise.""' 

Nevertheless, the federal district court judges in Delaware seem to have 
been cautious about enhancing corporate managerial autonomy. As we shall 
see, for the most part, they often tenaciously held management and directors 
to the standards of fiduciary duty that had been enforced prior to the incor- 
porating statutes of the 1890's. They still sought to prevent majority share- 
holders from formulating corporate policy in ways that imposed dispropor- 
tibnate burdens on minority stockholders. They required corporations to 
adhere closely to charter provisions, and they refused to recognize corporate 
transactions that were not clearly authorized by state  la^.^^ 

A number of reasons have been posited which might account for this con- 
tinued judicial regulation. First of all, until relatively recently, courts changed 
directions in policy only through modest incremental steps over a long period 
of time; and, in spite of the abrupt changes in corporate law wrought by the 
Delaware legislature, federal judges in that state could thus have been expect- 
ed to retain and apply the same principles of corporate responsibility set down 
i n  cases prior to the liberalization of the 1890's.'"econd, it is possible that 
the judges may have felt that the state legislature, recognizing the prospect of . 

state profit in corporate autonomy, "had abdicated its responsibilties as a 
lawmaker."40 J. Willard Hurst has suggested that this legislative "abdication" 
left the courts, both state and federal, as the only effective means of monitor- 
ing corporate activities and preventing management from abusing its newly 
acquired power." 

In addition to pressures from institutional conservatism and legislative 
"abdication" of responsibility, the courts, as indicated earlier, may have 
sensed that a cautious attitude was appropriate because of the need to "legiti- 
mize" managerial autonomy in the eyes of both the public and corporate 
stockholders. This would have been an almost inescapable conclusion to any 
judges who followed the comments of popular and professional commenta- 
tors. While many admitted the functional significance of the modern corpor- 
ation (and thus of modern management) to mass prod~ct ion,~ '  a number of 
public spokesmen from the 1890's to the 1930's decried the increasing eco- 
nomic and political power of corporations. Grover Cleveland, for example, 
in his 1896 inaugural address, charged that the trust relegated the common 
man "to the level of a mere appurtenance to a great machine, with little free 
will, with no duty but that of passive ~bediance."~"ttorney Edward Keasbey, 
speaking in 1899 to the American Bar Association on the subject of New 
Jersey corporations, recognized "the undefined but very real fear on the part 
of the people of the growing power of wealth and of the concentration of the 
control of great industries in a few hands.""' J. Bryce, writing The American 
Cammonweal~h in 1895, called the control of corporations "a political prob- 
lem of the first rnagnit~de."~' 



The most articulate attack against corporations came from William Cook's 
The Corporation Problem, written in 1893. Cook called the corporation "as 
perfect and heartless a money-making machine as the wit of man has ever 
devised."4G He stated that: 

. . . the control, the management, and the ownership of the great corporations 
of the land are to-day in the hands of the wealthy few. Plutocracy has appeared 
in a new guise, a new coat of mail-the corporation. The struggle of democracy 
against plutocracy-a struggle that is coming lo the American people-will be 
between democracy and the corporation:': 

Cook's solution to the problem was increased government regulat i~n."~ 
On the federal level, at the close of the nineteenth century, at least, it 

appeared that efforts to regulate the corporation were underway. In 1887, 
public hostility against the railroads led to the Interstate Commerce Act; 
and in 1890, public fear of the power of trusts resulted in the Sherman Act. 
In 1903, President Roosevelt organized the Bureau of Corporations, which 
proceeded to investigate the Standard Oil and American Tobacco Trusts.4R 
To a certain extent this attitude was shared by the United States Supreme 
Court. While the Court's first decision under the Antitrust Act severely under- 
cut that measure by refusing to find that "manufacturing" was interstate 
commerce, and thus liable to federal regulation," subsequent decisions 
opened the way for relatively rigorous enforcement of the Sherman Act's 
provisions."' In 1914 Congress created the Federal Trade Commission to 
guard against some illegal corporate ac t i v i t i e~ ,~~  Ultimately, of course, in 
1934 Congress created the Securities and Exchange Commission to regulate 
the issuance of corporate stock and to prevent the erosion of stockholders' 
rights.53 

Though there were these attempts at regulation, and though there were 
"devil" theories of the corporation and popular fears of its Leviathan-like 
power, it still appears that the public and the government's attitude toward 
corporations from the 1890's to the 1930's is best characterized as one of 
Janus-faced ambivalence. Government officials and public spokesmen knew, 
and sometimes maintained, that corporations facilitated the increased produc- 
tivity which brought mass-produced consumer goods to the public, and some 
advocated corporate managerial autonomy so that productivity might con- 
tinue. In spite of this, or perhaps as an inescapable corollary, many of these 
some persons characterized the corporation as a bloodless money-making 
monster, a menace to the common man, that would not only take away his 
livelihood, but would also corrupt his republic. In short, "the use Americans 
have made of the corporate device [was] strangely at odds with [their] 
historic mistrust of corporations and 'Big 

The federal judges in Delaware and elsewhere, then, can be seen to have 
had contradictory and somewhat irreconcilable responsibilities. First, they 
were required to make certain that the rights of all stockholders were pro- 
tected against the abuse of power. The courts appear to have concluded that 
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the protection of a stockholder's rights, especially his right to govern corpor- 
ate policy by voting his stock, would best confer legitimacy on the corporate 
autonomy newly created by permissive legislative frameworks." Only by 
maintaining some semblance of "democratic" shareholder control could the 
courts allay the "vague and indescribable dread and suspicion"" of corporate 
plutocracy that seemed to be gnawing at the public psyche. 

It seems likely that the Delaware federal judges may also have realized that 
their reviewing of corporate decision-making, in an attempt to protect stock- 
holder rights not only would encourage general public acceptance of corpor- 
ations, but might also make stockholders less fearful of corporate relocation 
in Delaware, thereby generating more state revenues. When stockholders 
perceived that there was a judicial, if not a legislative, check against the 
infringement of their rights in Delaware, they may have reasoned, they would 
be more willing to vote in favor of relocation, so as to enjoy the advanages of 
corporate autonomy while avoiding the dangers. This would have been of 
particular importance during the years of competition with New Jersey. More- 
over, the federal judges' regulation of corporate activities might sensibly have 
been believed to have enhanced the growth of corporate autonomy, because 
such growth ultimately depended on public and stockholder support which 
could be better obtained if the exercise of managerial power could be "legiti- 
mated." 

Still, the federal judges had a second responsibility-to guard against being 
so zealous to protect shareholcier democracy that they might fatally endanger 
managerial autonomy, and thus discourage incorporation. Perhaps sensing 
this responsibility, the judges generally refused to intervene in corporate activ- 
ities when su'ch intervention would have interfered substantially with the 
corporations' abilities to make business decisions. The conclusion from the 
judicial record of review of decisions on matters of corporate law appears 
thus to be that the judges refused to intervene unless the corporate activity 
complained of fell within narrow categories of fraud or ~rongdoing .~ '  This 
conclusion appears to hold true for the District Judges of Delaware, but, as 
will be seen below, even when the federal district judges in Delaware held 
management liable for violations of fiduciary duties, the court of Appeals 
for the Third Circuit often appeared to be so concerned with maximizing 
managerial autonomy that the District court's attempts to regulate corpora- 
tions may have been futile. 

IV. Working Toward the Balance 

A brief review of the backgrounds of the District Judges suggests a per- 
sonal dimension to the pressures of conflicting policies they were asked to 
resolve. Judges Morris and Nields had pursued successful corporate law 
practices, and both belonged to the Wilmington Club, the city's most prestigi- 
ous business club, where they would have come in contact with corporate 
promoters or magnates. Furthermore, Judges Bradford and Nields were per- 



sonally or professionally asociated with the Du Ponts, the state's leading 
commercial family. In short, it it likely that their personal and professional 
contacts made the judges well aware of the feelings of businessmen, and thus 
probably aware of the need for corporate autonomy. At the same time, how- 
ever, each of the judges came from well established, respected Delaware 
families. Judge Bradford was the son of an accomplished Delaware judge and 
politician, Edward G .  Bradford, was a direct descendant of the second gov- 
ernor of Plymouth Planatation, William Bradford, and was committed to 
historical research.58 Judge Morris's family had been prominent in Delaware 
for six generations, and Judge Morris's law partner was a Democratic United 
States Senator from Delaware. Judge Nields was the son of a respected Wil- 
mington attorney and Civil War hero, Colonel Benjamin Nields. It seems 
likely, then, that if these judges were closely tied to the new world of the 
great corporation, they were also sufficiently imbued with a sense of national 
history, political realities and family honor to make them aware of aspects of 
democratic ideals which might conceivably lead to their questioning the 
accumulation of power in corporations. 

A. Bradford and Thompson: Moral Indignation 

While Judge Bradford was connected to Delaware business through his 
marriage to Eleuthera Du Font, he gave the impression of possessing such 
attentiveness and moral fibre that he would permit no one within his control 
to be remiss in their fiduciary duties. A state historian wrote that Bradford 
was "of a studious d i spo~i t ion ,"~hnd John P. Nields, eulogizing Bradford in 
1928, said that the judge's moral indignation often reached the intensity of 
the "fire of S a v a n a r ~ l a . " ~ ~  Bradford had acted on his beliefs at the state con- 
stitutional convention in 1897, where he advocated measures to prevent cor- 
ruption and bribery at  election^.^' Bradford was a vestryman in the Episcopal 
Church, and brought his notions of stern and uncomprising moral duty with 
him to the federal bench."" 

1 .  Jones v. Mutual Fidelity 

Perhaps the best example of Bradford's attitude toward corporate abuses 
comes in Jones v. Mutual Fidelity Co. ( 1903 ) .63 The defendant was a Dela- 
ware corporation which had sold "certificates of investment" to the plaintiffs, 
Tennessee residents. The certificates were vaguely worded, so that in the 
certificates, at least, the investors may actually have been promised nothing 
by the Delaware corporation. Still, Bradford was convinced that the certifi- 
cates were "ambiguous, misleading and obscure, and so artfully worded as to 
prove a snare to the ignorant and unwary," that the defendant had engaged 
in "fraudulent representation," and that the defendant hatched a "disreputable 
and overreaching scheme," accomplished by "deception and illegitimate 
means" which held out the promise of "well-nigh impossible  profit^.""^ There 



were two technical arguments, however, which in the hands of a judge dis- 
posed to deny relief could have enabled Bradford to dismiss the claims of the 
plaintiffs. First, none of the individual plaintiffs had claims which were large 
enough to meet the test of the $2000 requirement for federal diversity juris- 

although the aggregate of their claims was greater than $2000.00. 
Second, the equitable remedy which plaintiffs sought-placing the insolvent 
defendant in receivership and ordering a pro-rata distribution of defendant's 
assets to its creditors, including the plaintiffs-though provided for in a 
Delaware statute by application to the Delaware Chancellor, was not express- 
ly authorized as a proceeding in the Federal courts by any state or Federal 
statute. 

Bradford disposed of the first problem, the jurisdictional amount issue, by 
stating that the test for the jurisdictional amount was not to be the plaintiffs' 
individual claims, but the amount of assets of the corporation that would be 
placed in receivership if plaintiffs succeeded. There appears to have been 
some lower federal court authority which supported Judge Bradford here, 
but there also appears to have been several holdings by the United States 
Supreme Court which suggested that his view of jurisdictional amount calcu- 
lation was too liberaL6" 

The second problem, whether the Federal court could apply the state 
equitable receivership statute, was a more difficult hurdle for Judge Bradford, 
because the Supreme Court had explicitly stated, in Hollins v. Brierfield Coal 
& Iron Co. that where plaintiffs were unsecured creditors, whose claims had 
not yet been reduced to judgment (as was the case in Jones): 

It is the settled law of this court that such creditors cannot come into a court 
of equity to obtain the seizure of the property of their debtor, and its application 
to the satisfaction of their claims; and this, notwithstanding a statute of the state 
may auhorize such a procceding in the courts of the state. The line of 
demarcation between equitable and legal remedies in the Federal courts cannot 
be obliterated by state Iegi~lation.~~ 

Bradford dismissed this language, and perhaps the policy of strict construc- 
tion of federal jurisdiction, with the observation that it was "mere obiter 

Still, Judge Bradford seemed reluctant to disagree with the clear 
language of the Supreme Court, but he concluded that it would be an 
" a b s ~ r d i t y " ~ ~  to apply the Supreme Court's rule in a case where refusing the 
parties equitable relief in the federal court "would defeat and practically 
nullify the equitable right provided by [the state]  statute.";"^ appears that 
Bradford chose to reject the Supreme Court's reasoning on this point, and in- 
stead to rely on broad principles such as "a party by going into a nationaI 
court does not lose any right or appropriate remedy of which he might have 
availed himself in the state ~our t s , ' '~ '  or "justice and positive rights, founded 
both on valid statutes and valid contracts, should not be sacrified to mere 
questions of mode and form."" 

Perhaps the most impressive judicial legerdemain in Bradford's opinion, 
however, was in the final few paragraphs, where he turned a case of fraud 



which the plaintiffs might have had some difficulty proving into a case "on 
the common count in assumpsit for money had and received," where the stand- 
ard of proof could probably be met simply by the plaintiffs' entering their 
certificates of investment into evidence. Specifically, Bradford observed that 
under Tennessee law a foreign corporation seeking to do business in the state 
was required to file a copy of its charter with the Tennessee secretary of state, 
and that failure so to file made it "unlawful for any foreign corporations to 
do . . . business in the state."13 The Defendant had never made the requisite 
filing. This meant, Bradford held, that the transaction by which the 'certifi- 
cates of investment" were sold to the plaintiffs was "unlawful," and this 
meant, in turn, that the plaintiffs, who Bradford said (without explanation) 
"were not chargeable with knowledge of the fact that the defendant had failed 
to comply with the requirements of the Tennessee statute," were "innocent 
parties to unlawful and void  contract^."^' In spite of the fact that the plaintiffs 
could hardly be calIed "innocent" in that they sought "impossible profits" 
through what amounted to illegal activity, Bradford declared that they were 
entitled to be treated as creditors, and to recover from the defendant "all 
moneys paid by them to it on account of the prohibited contracts," Bradford 
was able to cite a Supreme Court opinion and a treatise that mandated such 
treatment for "innocent" parties who had lost money under illegal contracts, 
but other than the plaintiffs' gullibility, avarice, and ignorance of the Ten- 
nessee statute, he offered no  explanation of their inn~cence . '~  

It appears, then, that in Jones Bradford refused to follow relevant federal 
precedent, judically expanded the boundaries of federal jurisdiction, and 
used Tennessee state law as a pretext for granting relief where he believed 
a Delaware corporation had defrauded investors. Decisions such as Jones, 
Bradford might have reasonably believed, would tend to assure the public 
that the federal judiciary would take all means at its disposal to make cer- 
tain that corporation conducted their activities in a manner consistent with 
not only the law, but with basic principles of fairness. It seems likely that 
Bradford's strong moral sensitivityiR must have reacted to Mutual Fidelity's 
methods of extracting money from gullible and weak investors. 

Similar indications of Judge Bradford's being willing vigilantly to act in 
cases of "fraudulent representation," "direputable schemes", or "deception" 
occur in several other corporations cases he decided. It appears, however, 
that Bradford generally required much evidence of wrongdoing before he 
would conclude that the conduct of the officers of a corporation ought to 
result in liability. In Wright v. Barr~ard,~~" a case decided near the end of his 
term, for example, in justifying his decision to bind the company to liability 
for the misconduct of its Vice President and secretary-treasurer who held 
only a minority of its stock Bradford seemed careful to note that "It is diffi- 
cult to conceive of a case more permeated with fraud than that now before 
this court," and further that "The evidence . . . has established to a moral 
certainty fraud and wrongdoing . . ."76b It is probably aIso of significance that 
in the Wright case the complainant was the company's "general manager" 



who had been promised a share of ownership of the corporation if he would 
agree to continue in his successful managerial role for the enterprise. The 
other officers of the company, while taking advantage of the complainant's 
services, had fraudulently failed to carry out their promises to him to see that 
the company was reorganized in a manner which would have permitted him to 
own shares. In the Wright, case, then, by finding the company liable, Judge 
Bradford was actually rewarding one who had demonstrated an ability to 
exercise managerial skill, which, as has been suggested, was among the dom- 
inant values involved in striking the delicate balance between corporate 
autonomy and corporate accountability, which seems to have been the task of 
the District court in corporations cases. Normally limiting the liability of a 
corporation and its officers in the case of exercises of manageria1 discretion 
resulted in encouraging that discretion, but where, as here, the primary man- 
ager of the company was the one who sought compensation for fraud, and 
where the evidence seemed clear it must have been easy to strike the balance 
in a tnanner to afford him relief. 

One other case in the last year of Judge Bradford's service underscores 
the commitment of his court to facilitating the development of corporate 
enterprise, through the protection of productive individuals, even if it 
meant subjecting others in their corporations to liability. In Beltz v. Great 
Western Lead M f g .  Co. et. al.,;"" Judge Bradford was presented with an- 
other case involving a manager, this time a mining superintendent, who 
sought relief against the corporation for which he had served. This time 
there was apparently no fraud involved, but there was a failure on the 
part of several individuals involved in the corporation to carry through 
a contractural promise to deliver one fifth of the capital stock of the cor- 
poration in return for the complainant's delivery of all the capital stock 
in a predecessor corporation. The complainant had invested considerable 
time and money in the old corporation, bringing a deposit of ore nearly 
to the stage where it would yield profitable results. The complainant, the 
court observed, was a man "of but little education," suggesting that this might 
account for the "inconsistencies and discrepancies on minor points," in his 
testimony. Taking account of how the individual defendants had actually 
allowed many others to profit from the initial success of the company, and 
how poorly the complainant seemed to have fared at the hands of the new 
corporation, however, Bradford declared that "it is against the dictates of 
self-interest and the known rules of human conduct that after acquiring the 
mining lease and turning it over to the [new] company in consideration of 
which its total capital stock was issued, he should . . . have intended or con- 
templated that [the stock] would be so manipulated as to produce the gro- 
tesque result the defendants seek to The new corporation had, in 
the meantime, gone into bankruptcy, but Bradford proceeded to hold four 
individual defendants, who had been the founders of the new corporation 
along with the complainant, personally liable for the failure to deliver stock 
to defendant as per their agreement resulting in the incorporation of the new 



company. Bradford appears to have given the complainant the benefit of the 
doubt in resolving some inconsistencies in the testimony, and it seems likely, 
given his expressed views in the two cases considered earlier, that the initiative 
and expense undertaken by the complainant as a manager for the company 
and the likelihood of the lapse of moral duties manifested in the defendants 
breach of contract played a role in his decision. 

There is evidence in other opinions of Bradford's, however, that he was less 
inclined to grant relief in the case of non-managerial shareholders or of 
creditors who sought relief against corporate officials when there was no 
clearly-proved fraud or strong evidence of deception involved. In Sellman v.  
German Union Fire Insurance Co. of Bal t i rn~re ,~~ '  for example, Judge Brad- 
ford was asked, in his role as an equity judge, to appoint a receiver for a 
corporation, and to direct the receiver to wind up the corporations' affairs, 
distribute assets, and restrain the defendant's officers from interfering with 
the grant of such relief. The plaintiffs were several stockholders and creditors 
of the company who asked for such relief on the grounds that the company's 
board of directors had so disregarded the rights of the stockholders and 
creditors as to bring "such peril to the corporation" that the drastic relief 
they called for was necessary. Bradford observed that there were "many 
authorities" which stated that "where the facts clearly disclose such fraudu- 
lent or wrongful management of its business and affairs as to produce a con- 
viction that further control of the corporation by its board would result in the 
destruction of its business or create a great and unnecessary loss to its 
creditors and stockholders" relief of the sort sought by the plaintiffs might 
be granted. In the case at bar, however, Bradford was indisposed to grant 
such relief. This was because "the stockholders are by no means unanimous 
on the question of the wisdom or propriety of the relief sought by the bill," 
and "in the case of a corporation which is a solvent and going concern the 
proofs must be clear and convincing to justify the winding up of its business 
and affairs."76f Stating what seems to have been the assumption of Delaware 
law that a strong presumption of legitimacy was to be accorded by Delaware 
law to the acts of managers, or at least to the acts of the Board of Directors of 
corporations, Bradford observed that "The board of directors of a corporation 
is charged by law with the control of its business and affairs; and when the law 
making power had declared that the business and affairs of a corporation, 
created and organized under that power, shall be directed by its board, i t  
ill-becomes courts created for the administration of law, unless under special 
and peculiar circumstances, to declare that its business and affairs shall not 
be directed by such a  board."'"^ Thus, though Bradford would be moved to 
intervene in corporate affairs where his stern morality became aroused, he 
appears to have tried to balance any inclination to intervene by attentiveness 
to the policies which he could discern behind the Delaware incorporation act, 
policies which dictated a maximum of autonomy for the managers of corpor- 
ations. Still, when Bradford felt compelled to act, as the Jones and Reltz 
cases demonstrate, he was somehow able to brush aside conflicting legal doc- 



trines or to dispel doubts about the evidence in a manner which appears to 
have satisfied his conscience. 

2. Du Pont v. Du Pont 

The moral indignation which Bradford may have shown in some cases 
was also evident in the resolution of Du Pont v. Du Pont ( 19 16) ," decided 
by the Eastern District of Pennsylvania's Judge J .  Whitaker Thompson, 
rather than by Bradford, because Bradford had connections by marriage to 
both sides in the dispute. The Du Pont case arose from the efforts of Pierre S. 
Du Pont to assume control of E.I. Du Pont de Nemours & Company and to 
diminish the influence of his cousins Alfred and William. This controversy 
was one of the most important events in the career of Pierre S. Du Pont, as 
he began to develop his plans to transform the Du Pont company from a rela- 
tively small gunpowder company into one of the world's great industrial 
giants. Pierre was a pioneer in the emerging business arts of vertical integra- 
tion and financial management, and his efforts on behalf of Du Pont have 
been characterized as of fundamental importance in bringing about the "man- 
agerial revolution" which ensured the hegemony of American business in the 
mid-twentieth century. The D u  Pont case, then, was crucial in the develop- 
ment of the modern corporation, and may thus have been the most im- 
portant corporations case decided by the Delaware Federaal courts during 
this period. It thus deserves treatment in some detail,'* even though the Judge 
involved at the district court level, Thompson, was not one of the three who 
are most important to this analysis. Still, the views articulated by Thompson, 
in their preoccupation with moral and fiduciary duties bear a strong re- 
semblance to those of Judge Bradford. Furthermore the reaction of the Court 
of Appeals to Thompson's opinion, which will be considered shortly, appears 
to be of a piece with the treatment of several other opinions by the "perma- 
nent" district court judges of Delaware. It seems fair, then, to include this 
case of Thompson's in the data to be examined in reaching general conclu- 
sions about the development of the doctrines of corporation law in general 
and the interaction of the district and appeals courts in particular. 

(a )  Background 

The Du Pont litigation arose because of the manner in which Pierre S. Du 
Pont acquired control of the company. The key act by Pierre was the forma- 
tion of a holding company and the purchase of 63,000 shares of Du Pont 
stock from Pierre's cousin, T. Coleman Du Pont. This stock was the largest 
single block of stock in the Company. At that time the next two largest hold- 
ings had been those of Pierre himself, and of another cousin, Alfred Du 
Pont. Before the holding company's purchase of Coleman's shares, Pierre, 
Alfred and Coleman had held the Company's highest executive positions. In 
late 1914, however, Coleman was in need of liquid assets to enable him to 
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purchase New York real estate, and to pursue political ambitions. Accord- 
ingly, he offered to sell 20,000 shares of his common stock to the Company 
at a price of $160 per share. When communicating his offer to Pierre, who 
was then acting for the Company, Coleman stated that he believed the stock 
to be worth at least $200 per share, because of the profits the Company could 
expect to reap from gunpowder sales to the Allied nations then fighting the 
World War. The apparent generosity of Coleman's offer, in light of the value 
he placed on the stock, was a result of his expectation that the stock would 
be resold by the company, under favorable terms, to some of the junior 
executives of the company. The activities of these young executives had 
already resulted in great profit to Coleman and the other Du Ponts, and he 
felt them deserving of this consideration. 

Pierre relayed Coleman's offer to the Company's finance committee- 
which then included Pierre, Alfred, and still another cousin, William Du 
Pont. Alfred appears to have been more pessimistic about the company's 
immediate prospects then was Coleman, and while he believed that the pur- 
chase for resale to the executives was a sound plan, he believed that a 
counter-offer should be made to Coleman of $125 per share. When the 
finance committee voted whether to accept Coleman's offer, William sided 
with Alfred. Pierre voted to accept Coleman's $160 offer. According to 
Alfred's and William's testimony at trial, the finance committee understood 
that Pierre would continue negotiations on price with Coleman. The minutes 
of the finance committee, however, signed by all the parties, simply stated 
that Pierre was directed to inform Coleman that "we do not feel justified in 
paying more than $125 per share for this st~ck."~"ix days later, however, 
the report of the finance committee presented to the company's board of 
directors stated that "The committee expressed the feeling that we are not 
justified in paying more than $1 25 per share for the stock and asked Mr. P.S. 
Du Pont to  take the matter up  wifh Mr.  T.C. Du font fur-ther."Ro The evi- 
dence on whether or not Pierre was expected to continue to act on behalf of 
the finance committee once he had communicated the finance committee's 
rejection of Coleman's offer was thus contradictory. The minutes of the 
Finance committee suggest a clear rejection, and a limited duty simply to 
communicate this rejection to Coleman, but the report to the Board of Direc- 
tors suggests a duty imposed on Pierre to continue negotiations. 

Pierre did communicate the finance committee's rejection of the $160 offer 
to Coleman's attorney, but he apparently did not suggest that the committee's 
$125 counter-offer meant that the committee contemplated continued nego- 
tiations. Pierre proceeded to combine with a ,number of his associates to form 
a holding company (Du Pont Securities) which eventually reached agreement 
with Coleman for the purchase of all of his stock-63,000 shares of common 
and 14,000 shares of preferred-at a price of $200 per share for the com- 
mon stock. The holding company then borrowed more than $8.5 million in a 
loan from several banks brokered by J.P. Morgan & Co., and the holding 
company put a substantial portion of Coleman's stock up as collateral for the 



loan. Soon after the purchase was made public, Philip Du Pont, a Pennsyl- 
vania cousin, filed suit in federal court, asking that an injunction be issued 
requiring that the holding company offer Coleman's stock to the Du Pont 
Company on the grounds that (a)  Pierre had deceived both Coleman and the 
finance committee in a plot to obtain possession of Coleman's stock and 
control of the Du Pont company for himself, and (b)  Pierre and the others 
had wrongfully used his position as vice president of the Du Pont Company 
to secure the multi-million dollar loan needed to purchase Coleman's stock. 
Philip may have been acting at Alfred's direction. In any event, he was soon 
joined by Alfred as a plaintiff. 

(b)  Du Pont v. Du Pont-I 

The first issue that resulted in an opinion in the Du Potzt cases1 was a mat- 
ter of discovery. In an attempt to show that Pierre and his associates had 
used their executive positions at Du Pont to secure the $8.5 million dollar 
loan, plaintiffs Philip and Alfred Du Pont petitioned Judge Thompson to 
order Pierre to answer interrogatories concerning all the bank deposits the 
Du Pont Company had made following the loan. Phillip and Alfred main- 
tained that they could show that Pierre and associates had directed the Com- 
pany's funds to the banks that had participated in the loan. Judge Thompson 
dismissed the petition because the "mass of details" sought by the plaintiffs 
was "undoubtedly calculated to burden, oppress, and harass the corporation 
defendant."s2 The interrogatories appear to have been broadly drafted, and 
were not restricted to matters involving the banks that had participated in the 
loan, but rather sought information concerning all banks holding Du Pont 
funds. Here, of course, Judge Thompson had to make the usual decision 
which faces a judge in discovery proceedings, that is, how to determine the 
appropriate balance to be struck between relevancy and materiality on the 
one hand and of burdensomeness on the other. Perhaps one cannot make 
too much of this relatively routine discovery decision, but perhaps it does 
not go too far to infer from Thompson's insistence on narrowly drawn inter- 
rogatories that, as may also be implied from Bradford's opinions, he recog- 
nized the need to protect corporate management from undue harassment 
from dissatisfied stockholders. 

In any event, it may be that Thompson's decree was prompted by concern 
more for Du Pont's banks than for Du Pont itself. Thompson stated that the 
decree was necessary to protect "banking institutions in no way connected 
with the cause, from being unduly oppressed and harassed by unnecessarily 
disclosing their intimate business affairs."s3 Moreover, Thompson seemed 
prepared to allow Philip and Alfred something of a fishing expedition, as he 
held that since the plaintiffs were suing on behalf of the Company in a deriva- 
tive action, they were entitled to inspect the Company's books and records 
to establish "any fact material to the In this discovery context, then, 
it does appear that Thompson was attempting to strike a balance beween the 



needs for managerial autonomy and corporate legitimacy: he seemed to want 
to protect Du Pont's and the banks' corporate privacy as much as possible, 
but not at the expense of imposing so many procedural barriers in the way 
of the plaintiffs as to make it impossible for them to prove a manager's abuse 
of power. Thompson believed that by allowing examination of the books he 
would be permitting the plaintiffs enough leeway to find evidence (if it existed) 
to support their allegations that (1)  Pierre and his associates had used their 
corporate positions to "reward" banks which loaned them the money to pur- 
chase Coleman's stock, and (2)  that contrary to the claims of Pierre, the 
company had in its treasury money sufficient to have purchased Coleman's 
stock itself. 

(c) Du Pont v. Du Pont-11 

Thompson sought to strike a similar balance when he finally ruled upon the 
merits of the case.85 He first appeared to move in the direction of implernent- 
ing "corporate legitimacy" by holding Pierre to the strict duty of fiduciary. A 
corporate officer's fiduciary duty. Thompson stated, "requires him to exercise 
the utmost good faith in managing the business affairs of the company with a 
view to promote not his own interests, but the common interests, and he can- 
not directly or indirectly derive any personal benefit or advantage by reason 
of his position distinct from the coshareholder~."~~ If the officer obtained 
any personal advantage in a transaction where his personal interest was in 
conflict with the corporation's interest, said Thompson, "the law holds the 
transaction constructively fraudulent and voidable at the election of the cor- 
p ~ r a t i o n . ' ' ~ ~  Thompson's comments on the fiduciary duties of corporate 
officers were to make this a leading opinion of corporation law. 

Applying his fiduciary standard to Pierre's conduct, Thompson held that 
Pierre had breached his duties, first by failing to inform the finance committee 
of Coleman's belief that the stock he was offering for $160 was worth $200, 
and second, by failing to keep negotiations going with Coleman by informing 
him that the finance committee did not wish to shut off negotiations with its 
$125 counter-offer. With regard to Coleman's opinion of the worth of the 
stock, Thompson apparently believed that an officer such as Pierre was under 
a duty of full disclosure of all facts which might inure to the benefit of the 
corporation, and Thompson must have believed that if all of the members 
of the corporation's finance committee knew of Coleman's optimistic evalua- 
tion of company prospects, they might have voted to buy the shares at $160. 
It appears, however, that to hold Pierre to such a duty of disclosure was 
seriously to put form over substance, since the other members of the finance 
committee were fully aware of the prospect of profits arising from the Com- 
pany's war contracts on which Coleman had based his optimis-tic evaluation. 
Evaluating the same information, it was clear that Alfred, and by implication, 
William, still believed the stock only to be worth $125.8s Judge Thompson 
did have more of a basis for his holding that Pierre was under a duty to con- 



tinue negotiations, namely the language of the finance committee's report to 
the Directors which stated that Pierre was directed "to take the matter up 
with Mr. T.C. Du Pont further," after communicating the $125 counter- 
offer.89 Still, Thompson had to dismiss as incomplete the minutes of the 
finance committee's December 24 meeting, which minutes were signed by all 
of the members, and which minutes suggest that Pierre was not under a duty 
to continue  negotiation^.^^ On the existence of Pierre's duty to continue nego- 
tiating, then, there was an adequate factual basis to reach a conclusion either 
way. It seems fair to speculate that Thompson's interest in imposing high 
standards on corporate directors tipped the balan~e,!'~" especially in light of 
the holding on the "disclosure of Coleman's reasoning" issue. 

Thompson also proceeded to hold that Pierre had fraudulently used his 
position at the Company to secure the $8.5 million loan-in spite of the 
testimony of several bank presidents that they had participated in the loan 
simply because of the personal worth of the participants in the holding com- 
pany and the value of the collateral offered. In the course of his opinion, in 
effect, Thompson found Pierre a man without principle, who was prepared 
to sacrifice his relatives to acquire control of the Du Pont C ~ m p a n y . ~ '  
Thompson then held that the Company, if it so desired, should be permitted 
to purchase Coleman's stock from Du Pont Securities at the price of $200 
per share. 

Thompson's formulation of a demanding standard of fiduciary care, his 
strict application of that standard against Pierre, and his denunciation of 
Pierre's conduct might have been calculated, like Bradford's opinion in Jones 
v. Mutual Fidelity Co., to demonstrate to the public that the federal district 
court would unflinchingly intervene in corporate decision-making when con- 
fronted with clear evidence of wrongdoing committed by corporate officers. 
In addition, Thompson suggested that he would not water down the standard 
of fiduciary care through exceptions or narrow interpretations, but rather 
would hold constructively fraudulent any benefit accruing to an officer in a 
conflict-of-interest situation. Thompson's fervency against the abuse of power 
in Du Pont thus can be taken to have promoted the legitimacy of corporate 
autonomy by demonstrating to the public that, notwithstanding liberalized 
incorporation statutes, the federal courts stood ready to prevent officers from 
reaping personal profits at the expense of stockholders.!"" 

Though Thompson thus sought to enhance corporate legitimacy by formu- 
lating a demanding standard of fiduciary care, he still managed somewhat to 
enhance corporate autonomy by broadly construing the power given to Du 
Pont in its ~har te r .~" '  Such a broad construction of corporate powers was 
necessary if Thompson was to hold Pierre accountable for his conduct. This 
was because Pierre had defended his holding company's purchase of Cole- 
man's stock, inter alia, on the ground that Du Pont did not have sufficient 
capital surplus on hand lawfully to purchase Coleman's stock. When Pierre 
had been confronted by his cousin Alfred regarding Pierre's holding com- 
pany's purchase of Coleman's stock, Alfred had demanded that Pierre offer 



the stock to the company. Pierre at first refused, but then thought better of it, 
and offered the stock, at the $200 cost to his syndicate, to the corporation, at 
a meeting of the board of directors, held March 6, 19 15. Counsel to the cor- 
poration. John P. Laffey, then advised the board that the stock purchase 
would be illegal, because there was not enough capital surplus to cover it. 
There is nothing to suggest that Laffey did not believe in the legal advice he 
offered, although i t  was clear that Laffey was acting an Pierre's instructions. 
Four days later the Board rejected Pierre's offer, and before adjournment, 
elected Laffey a director.!'? 

Perhaps Judge Thompson believed that Laffey's advice was not free from 
self-interest, then, and Thompson clearly disagreed with Laffey's and Pierre's 
construction of the company's charter provision. He held that the provision 
cited did not "exclude the use of other funds of the company in making such 
purchases."" So long as the Company did not diminish its liquid assets to 
the point where its creditors werc endangered, Thompson said, it could have 
used any liquid assets on hand to purchase Coleman's stock. Since the Com- 
pany's current liquid assets exceeded $33 million, Thompson found that it 
had "ample assets on hand out of which it could lawfully have paid for the 
stock without depleting its paid-in-capital."" Thompson cited no authority to 
support his conclusion, reached implicitly, that Pierre and the corporation's 
Board could not rely on the construction of the difficult legal question reached 
by the corporation's counsel, Mr. Laffey. Perhaps sensitive to this difficulty, 
and to the possible charge that he acted on the basis of a perception that 
Laffey was not rendering impartial objective advice, Thompson finally de- 
cided to limit his intervention in Du Pont's decision-making to the measures 
least intrusive of corporate autonomy. Plaintiffs Philip and Alfred had re- 
quested Thompson to order the immediate sale of Coleman's stock to the 
Company without the formality of a stockholders' vote authorizing the Com- 
pany to purchase the stock. Since Pierre's holding company would have had 
to account for the spectacular dividends it had earned on Coleman's stock, 
Du Pont would then have been in a position to use those clividends to pur- 
chase Coleman's stock without expending any of its own assets. Furthermore, 
the sale would have been an extremely profitable bargain for Du Pont: the 
Company could have acq~iired the stock at a court-ordered rate of $200 per 
share, at a time when the company's wartime activities had raised the market 
price to $900 per share. No stockholder in his right mind, Philip and Alfred 
argued, would reject such a bargain. Consequently, they urged Thompson 
there was no need to take the matter up with the stockholders; rather, they 
prayed that Thompson simply order that the transfer of stock take place.!'" 

Judge Thompson, however, refused to order the transfer of stock without 
a stockholder's vote on the ground that "that question of business policy is 
not one for the determination of the court.""" Even though it was "a foregone 
conclusion that its acquisition would be of enormous profi t to the company ,"!" 
the stock had to remain the possession of Pierre's holding company for the 
time being because Thompson refused to substitute his judgment for that of 



the corporation in a matter of business policy. Thompson realized that such a 
decision normally should have been made by the Board of Directors of Du 
Pont, but since the Board was then controlled by Pierre, and since a majority 
of the Board had an interest in Coleman's stock through its participation in 
Du Pont Securities Co., Thompson ordered that the shareholders vote. To 
guarantee further the fairness of the procedure, Thompson ordered that a 
special master supervise the vote whether to purchase Coleman's stock. In 
addition, Thompson barred Pierre from voting the shares purchased from 
Coleman, though Pierre was allowed to vote his own substantial block of 

(d )  The aftermath 

Pierre appears to have been deeply hurt by Thompson's assertions that he 
had committed fraud and breached his fiduciary duties. To  demonstrate that 
he sought little profit for himself from his participation in Coleman's sale of 
stock, Pierre promised that if the shareholders' vote went against him, he 
would compensate his colleagues in the Du Pont Securities company for the 
loss of their shares by transferring to them stock from his personal original 
holdings in Du Pont. Since these associates were the managers who had so 
dramatically increased the company's earnings, Pierre believed that they de- 
served to be so compensated. Whatever the eventual outcome turned out to 
be, for a while Pierre appears to have believed that he might have lost the 
crucial shareholder vote, because of the allegations of fraud against him, and 
because of some other possible legal  battle^.^!' 

Still, Pierre won the shareholder's vote 3 12,587 to 157,959. Judge Thomp- 
son then refused to reverse the stockholders' decision, in spite of allegations 
that Pierre or his associates had unduly influenced a number of stockholders. 
"The question of influence exerted upon other stockholders," Thompson 
stated, "would involve an inquiry by the court into the motives which actuated 
each stockholder in depositing his vote, which is beyond the power or policy 
of the courts to pursue."10" 

Thompson's refusal to overrule the stockholders where they had implicitly 
approved what he had decreed to be an abuse of power by one of Du Pont's 
executives indicates the high premium that even he placed on maximum 
freedom for the exercise of corporate business judgements. In particular, 
Thompson stated that a reasonable shareholder might have wished to vote in 
accordance with Pierre's desires in order to keep him, and the same manage- 
ment team that had recently done so well, in control. 

Taken together, then, Thompson's three Du Pont decisions do seem to have 
been an attempt to strike an appropriate balance between legitimacy and 
autonomy: Thompson served the legitimizing function by formulating a strict 
fiduciary duty and finding Pierre guilty of fraud, but he preserved corporate 
autonomy even while ostensibly implementing shareholder democracy by 
leaving it up to the shareholders of Du Pont, if they desired, to rectify the 
results of Pierrd's wrongdoing. 



(e)  In the Court of Appeals 

After losing the shareholder vote, Alfred and Philip took their case to the 
Third Circuit's Court of Appeals,lol contending that Judge Thompson had 
erred in failing to order the immediate transfer of Coleman's stock to the Du 
Pont Company, without a stockholder vote. Judge Joseph Buffington, deliv- 
ering the Court of Appeals's opinion, not only held that the shareholders' 
decision not to  purchase Coleman's stock was a matter of business policy 
beyond the judiciary's purview, but extensively reevaluated the facts, and 
declared that Pierre had not violated any of his fiduciary duties in participat- 
ing in the acquisition of Coleman's stock. Buffington held that Pierre was not 
under a continuing duty to negotiate with Coleman on behalf of the company 
for the purchase of Coleman's stock, as the finance comnlittee had decisively 
rejected Coleman's offer. In order to reach this conclusion, of course, Bufing- 
ton relied on Pierre's interpretation of finance committee events, and relied on 
the text of the finance committee's minutes. It seems worth noting that Judge 
Thompson had drawn an opposite inference as to the facts, and that Buffing- 
ton gave no explanation of his assumption of authority to rule on the factual 
question that was Thompson's province as the trial court judge. Further, 
Buffington minimized the importance of the Finance Committee's report to 
the board of  director^,'^' suggesting opaquely that the language that directed 
Pierre to "take the matter up with Mr. Du Pont further," was sinlply a 
"courteous way" of directing Pierre to reject "what Coleman regarded as a 
generous offer."'03 

Buffington's relatively narrow interpretation of Pierre's duties as a DuPont 
executive, and his repeated assertions that Pierre was guilty of no fraud sug- 
gest that Buffington favored the enlargement of management's discretion be- 
yond that range established by Judge Thompson. Thompson had held that 
any personal benefit reaped by managers was constructively fraudulent, but 
Buffington, in efiect, held that managers could actively pursue their own 
interests. Buffington appears to have acknowledged that the instructions given 
to Pierre by the finance committee were vague and that they might have been 
able to be construed, in the way Phillip and Alfred suggested, to have placed 
Pierre under a continuing duty to act for the Committee, and not for his own 
account. Still, Buffington urged that since the instructions were vague, and 
since the other members of the finance committee (who differed in intcrpreta- 
tion of the instructions from Pierre) had several opportunities to reaffirm 
his agency on behalf of the finance committee, and chose not to do so, Pierre 
was justified in believing that his agency to negotiate on behalf of the com- 
pany was at an end, and he could proceed to act on his own initiative and in 
his own interest.lo4 Buffington's understanding of the role of directors seems 
consistent with human nature, as he understood the difficulty of proceeding 
under vague instructions, but Buffington's construction of the duty of corpo- 
rate fiduciaries seems to have departed from what is now said to be the usual 
standard in corporate opportunity cases. In Judge Cardozo's words, which in 
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content, if not in phrasing are close to the sentiments of Judge Thompson, 
such fiduciaries are to held "to something stricter than the morals of the mar- 
ket place. Not honesty alone, but the punctilio of an honor the most sensitive, 
is [for them] the standard of behavior."lOWhat might explain this departure 
of Judge Buffington's from what has come to be the usual, albeit unrealistic, 
standard? 

Judge Joseph Buffington was a fascinating figure. Well known before and 
during the first World War for his speeches to the European immigrants to 
Pennsylvania, Buffington seems to have relished his duty to lecture the for- 
eign-born on the duties of American citizenship. Most often in Buffington's 
statements these duties included sobriety, obedience to the law, and accept- 
ance of existing American socio-economic conditions. In 1919, Buffington 
told a group of new American citizens that "the man who is always kicking 
about the Government is a domestic enemy, and you should avoid him."lo6 

At this time he made aliens going through the naturalization process recite 
a special oath which he had composed that they were neither anarchists nor 
 polygamist^.'^' He appears also to have been particularly wary of "Bolshe- 
vism."lo8 For Buffington there was no need for social reform. "Law and order 
and love of country sum up our needs,"'"" he stated in 1919. As a proponent 
of "law and order," Buffington was nearly unmatched. He called for "stern, 
unflinching and vigorous suppression of mob rule,"""and he recommended 
the whipping post for repeat offenders because "a professional criminal who 
is punished by such an institution as the whipping post is not only punished 
in his eyes but loses caste with his fellow-criminals."'" In 1933, with the 
close of Prohibition and the advent of the bank "holiday," Buffington told his 
immigrants, "Don't be like some of the younger gener'ation who think it 
smart to drink a cocktail;" and "Don't be frightened by what has happened in 
recent days about banks. There are many, many honest banks and bankers 
who will take care of your money."112 

Judge Buffington, as a good Republican, as a good Episcopalian, and as a 
man prominent in Philadelphia social circles, may have believed that it would 
be best for the country to have a relatively subn~issive working class, and 
orderly development of the American economic syste~n."~ A few years earlier, 
in an opinion in which he declined to hold that the activities of United States 
Steel violated the Sherman Antitrust Act, Buffington had made clear his con- 
currence in the views that "Success and magnitude of buisness, the rewards 
of fair and honorable endeavor, were not among the evils which threatened 
the public welfare and attracted the attention of Congress." He appeared to 
agree with the characterization of a government witness who commented on 
the "magnificent" and "wonderful" organization which resulted in specializa- 
tion of the managers of the international operations of United States Steel, he 
noted approvingly the domestic benefits to be gained by the foreign operations 
of the company, and he concluded that the company's success was not due to 
a conspiracy in restraint of trade but rather to the company's inspired inte- 
gration of operations and "economy of rnanagemer~t.""~' Perhaps Buffing- 



ton's decision in the Du Pont case also illustrates a sympathy for managerial 
interests, and his faith that economic affairs could safely be entrusted to cor- 
porate managers. The different interpretations of the facts and law of the 
district court and the Court of Appeals in respect to an officer's fiduciary duty 
to the corporation might thus have arisen from the judges' divergent attitudes 
toward the concentration of corporate power in managers. 

It seems that Judge Thompson may have been trying to establish some 
basic mechanisms of stockholder democracy without interfering too seriously 
with corporate autonomy, and it seems likely that he was writing with the 
general public audience in mind. On the other hand, it appears likely that 
Judge Buffiington's opinion, his long summary of all the facts, and his inter- 
pretation consistently favorable to Pierre was designed for a somewhat differ- 
ent audience, the corporate managers. Perhaps Buffington wished to reassure 
them that where they believed themselves to be acting in good faith in the 
best interests of their companies, the federal courts would not hamstring them. 
I t  seems that Bufington was most impressed by the fact that though Pierre 
executed his scheme to seize personal control of the company, and removed 
some of his relatives from influential positions, he did so because he believed 
that the situation of the company demanded it. There was some testimony in 
the case that was clearly supportive of this view, although that testimony does 
not appear to have weighed heavily with Judge Thomp~on . "~  Buffington sug- 
gested that his holding (and his facual interpretation) was influenced by other 
factors passed over by Thompson as well, for example that Pierre believed i t  
necessary to relieve Coleman of his stockholdings because there was a possi- 
bility that Coleman's debt would lead to possession of his stock by pro- 
German interests, and that rumors circulating to that effect were already 
threatening to result in the loss of orders and profits for the company."" 
Buffington appears also to have been impressed that Pierre, through partici- 
pation in the holding company, used Coleman's stock in a manner that re- 
warded some of the junior officers at Du Pont, men whom the company felt it 
needed to encourage because of their great productivity. The importance of 
such a system of rewarding achievement, and the great success of the Du 
Pont company in supplying essential war material to the allies in World War 
1 were matters of grave significance for the highly patriotic Buffington. Fi- 
nally, it is probable that Buffington may have been influenced by T. Coleman 
Du Pont's letter to the Du Pont directors and stockholders, written on May 
11, 1917: shortly after Judge Thompson's opinion ordering a stockholder 
meeting, in which Coleman claimed that Pierre fully apprised him of the atti- 
tude of the finance committee, that the statements of the plaintiffs' attornies 
to the contrary were "entirely unwarranted and are untrue in every particu- 
lar," that he never intended to offer more stock to the company than he did 
in his original [rejected offer], and that "the stockholders should know di- 
rectly from [him] that [he believed] that they have no right or interest what- 
ever in the stock which [he] formerly owned. . . ."Vf Buffington enlarged the 
ambit of corporate managerial autonomy to legitimize Pierre's actions, it 



seems understandable, and, given the circumstances of the company, perhaps 
not undesirable. 

B .  Judge Morris: Maintaining the Balance 

Notwithstanding what appears to be the Court of Appeals's sympathy for 
managerial interest in its Du Pont opinion, the district court in Delaware con- 
tinued to seek to emphasize the availability of democratic restraints on 
management after Hugh Martin Morris was appointed in 1918. Prior to 
ascending the federal bench, Morris carried on "an excellent and lucrative"'l' 
corporate practice with Willard Saulsbury, Delaware's United States Senator. 
Morris was a vice president of the Equitable Trust Company of Wilmington, 
and a trustee of the Wilmington Trust Company. In addition, he was a direc- 
tor of the Delaware Power Company, and the Delaware Light & Power Com- 
pany.lI8 Judge Morris thus seemed sufficiently steeped in corporate and 
manageria1 associations adequately to represent a corporate or managerial 
viewpoint on the federal bench. 

Still, Morris appears to have been able to maintain a relatively objective 
perspective, and, like Bradford and Thompson, he was aware of the need to 
balance the desire for managerial autonomy with the maintenance of mechan- 
isms to prevent the abuse of power by managers. Morris's family had been a 
part of Delaware history for over six generations."Worris was a Son of the 
American Revolution, and a leader in Delaware's Americanization move- 
ment.lZ0 This heritage made him sensitive to democratic ideals, as did his 
service in the Democratic party. Indeed, even while he was on the bench, he 
may have been advising the Chairman of the Democratic party on how to deal 
with the influence of the Republican Du Ponts in Delaware. In a letter dated 
October 2, 1920, that appears to have been written by Judge Morris, he indi- 
cates that "The worship of the Golden Calf in this community has gone to 
sucn an extent that the atmosphere reeks of the yellow rich." In the letter it 
is acknowledged that Pierre S. Du Pont "is reputed to be a very good man," 
but that "He is a sample of the very rich men who think that in some way the 
Almighty has made him [sic] a trustee of wealth and that his [sic] ideas 
regarding its management and disposition are infallible." Judge Morris la- 
ments in the letter that Pierre "is, of course, surrounded completely by a lot 
of boot licks praising his greatness, his generosity and infallibility.""' It is 
thus consistent with his background and political views for Morris to have 
sought some managerial restraints while on the bench. 

1 .  Eagleson, Port Lobos, and Myers: Restraining Interjerence but 
Preventing A buses 

Morris's wilingness to check the abuse of power, suggested by his com- 
ments on Pierre S. Du Pont, is illustrated by his decision in Eagleson v .  Pacific 
Timber Co.  ( 1920) . I m  Revolution in Mexico had rendered Pacific Timber's 
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property in that country virtually worthless, driving the corporation into 
insolvency. A reorganization plan was devised by Pacific whereby all the 
assets of the old corporation would be transferred to a new one. Those hold- 
ing common stock in Pacific Timber could exchange their stock for an equal 
number of shares in the new corporation. Holders of preferred stock were also 
allowed to exchange their stock for preferred stock in the new corporation, 
but only if they paid $10 per share of preferred stock they sought to acquire. 
Preferred stock in the new corporation was also available to the public at $10 
per share. Those who held both common and preferred stock could not par- 
ticipate in the exchange plan for common stockholders unless they purchased 
an amount of preferred stock in the new corporation equal to the amount they 
held in the original corporation. Eagleson, a holder of common and preferred 
stock in Pacific, challenged the reorganization plan on the ground that he was 
not being treated equally with other common stockholders. 

Judge Morris held that by effectively denying preferred stockholders the 
privilege of participating in the exchange plan, Pacific Timber ignored the 
pre-emptive rights they were supposed to enjoy over the common stockhold- 
ers, as "the effect of the reorganization plan was the complete forfeiture of the 
preferred Morris thus insisted that Pacific Timber adhere to the 
spirit of its original charter provisions, even though the reorganization plan 
had been passed by majority vote and there had been no evidence of decep- 
tion on the part of management. 

The right to participate in the new corporation, Morris stated, "must be 
equally favorable to all stockholders of the same class, and . . . a denial of 
such equality of opportunity is a legal fraud upon the stockholders thus dis- 
criminated against."Iz4 Since the plan imposed a disproportionate burden on 
those who held both common and preferred stock, and since very few com- 
mon stockholders fell into this category, it was obvious that "the plan of 
reorganization was for the benefit of the majority, to the detriment of the 
minority, and consequently unfair and f ra~dulent . " '~~  Morris followed a long 
line of authority that demanded equal rights for similarly-situated share- 
holders, and was thus prepared to undermine corporate autonomy to the 
extent necessary to protect minority rights.lz" 

Judge Morris appears to have believed in the importance of maintaining the 
viability of litigation as a means of correcting corporate wrongs, and thus he 
may have tried to lower some procedural barriers that might have otherwise 
impeded stockholder litigation. On the other hand, Morris realized that totally 
lax procedural standards might lead to harassment of corporations by dissatis- 
fied stockholders filing frivolous suits. Morris's solution was to subject stock- 
holder-litigants to strict pleading standards when they alleged corporate 
wrongdoing, but also to provide procedural alternatives to stockholder-liti- 
gants when the strict pleading requirements threatened to prevent litigation, 
and thus deprive his court of an opportunity to prevent the abuse of power. 

Morris's procedural balance is best illustrated by his decision in Atlantic 
Refining Co. v. Port Lobos Petroleum Corporation (1922).127 In that case 



Port Lobos had contracted with Atlantic to sell to Atlantic all the oil it pro- 
duced in consideration for Atlantic's loan for the construcion of pipelines. A 
suit for breach of contract arose from a dispute as to the amount of oil the 
contract obligated Port Lobos to supply to Atlantic. A stockholder of Port 
Lobos petitioned for leave to intervene in the case on Port Lobos's behalf 
on the ground that Port Lobos was so closely connected with Atlantic that it 
could not present an adequate defense, and that the inadequacy of the defense 
would damage Port Lobos's .minority shareholders. Denis, the stockholder, 
alleged that Atlantic owned a majority of Port Lobos's stock and designated 
a majority of Port Lobos's board of directors from a pool comprised of its 
own employees and officers. 

Judge Morris dismissed Denis's petition on the ground that there were no 
specific facts alleged to support the charge that Port Lobos was acting against 
the interests of its minority stockholders. "A petition founded upon fraud or 
misconduct," Morris stated, "which does not allege definite, tangible facts to 
sustain the general charge of fraud, is insufficient and cannot be ~ustained.""~ 
Denis had to do more than allege that Atlantic and Port Lobos were engaged 
in a collusive suit designed to defraud Port Lobos's stockholders. The ques- 
tion before Judge Morris, the permissibility of intervention by a stockholder 
acting on behalf of the corporation, was one of the court's equitable discre- 
tion, and one of first impression in the Delaware District Court. In  essence 
Morris imposed two procedural hurdles to a successful intervenor alleging 
collusion. Denis had to show Port Lobos's unwillingness to defend itself, and 
his own ability to present a viable defense. 

Morris's strict requirements served to enhance corporate autonomy by 
allowing corporations with closely connected directorates to do business with 
minimal fear of frivolous suits by disenchanted stockholders. Morris stressed 
that it was not impermissible for such corporations to do business with each 

Although he formulated strict procedural requirements for intervention by 
a stockholder, because there was no objection to the right of Denis to amend 
his petition,'"%orris did give Denis leave to amend his petition to meet the 
procedural requirements. In addition, Morris enhanced Denis's right to inter- 
vene by holding that in making the decision on the appropriateness of the 
intervention, the court woujd assume that the petitioner's allegations were 
true without requiring supporting affidavits. 

Morris's refusal to close the doors to Denis's petition ultimately redounded 
to Denis's favor, for in a later opinion in the Atlantic Refining case1" Morris 
held that the petitioner had finally alleged sufficient facts for Morris to allow 
his intervention in the case. This time Denis included in his amended petition 
a long list of specific allegations. Not only did Atlantic have a controlling 
interest in Port Lobos, Denis maintained, but Port Lobos had in fact been 
reorganized to merge with one of Atlantic's subsidiaries. Denis alleged fur- 
ther that the reorganized Port Lobos had assumed the obligation under the 
old contract to sell Atlantic its oil, even though it was under no legal com- 



pulsion to do so, that the sale of all its oil under the contract at the rate of 25 
cents a barrel was ruinous to Port Lobos, and that Port Lobos had assumed 
these obligations over the objections of its minority stockholders. Once the 
alleged facts met Morris's standards, then, he appeared willing to allow inter- 
vention. 

Yet Morris was not eager to push the equitable powers of his court to the 
limits to guard against managerial or majority stockholder wrongdoing. In 
Myers v .  Occidental Oil Corp.  ( 1  9 2 3 )  Plaintiff Myers alleged that defend- 
ant Occidental Corporation was insolvent, that it had unlawfully issued stock 
to its officers, and that the officers had converted the assets of the corporation 
to their own use. He petitioned the court to appoint a receiver to sell Occi- 
dental's assets, so that the proceeds of such a sale could be distributed to the 
shareholders, and Myers also asked that the court cancel the allegedly unlaw- 
fully-issued stock. 

Myers was seeking relief under the same Delaware receivership statute 
Judge Bradford had boldly held applicable in proceedings in federal courts in 
Jones v .  Mutual Fidelity Co. ,  supra.'" Morris declared he could not appoint 
a receiver without proof of insolvency because "the appointment of a receiver 
is merely a remedy incidental and ancillary to the primary object of litigation, 
and cannot itself constitute such primary ~bject."':'~ Myers had alleged insol- 
vency, because of fraud, but had not offered proof. In this manner, Morris 
limited the interventionary powers of his own court so as to protect corporate 
autonomy against novel remedies sought by dissatisfied stockholders. In the 
authority Myers advanced in support of his request there was no case of such 
relief being granted without a statute clearly setting forth its availability, 
although one statute, that of Louisiana, was said simply to be "declaratory 
of pre-existing equitable rights."135 Morris rejected the notion that such 
equitable powers existed for his court.'"" 

At the same time, as was true in the Port Lobos case, Morris did not want 
to make a judicial remedy totally inaccessible to stockholders like Myers. 
Myers had chosen not to sue the officers, perhaps because they were not resi- 
dents of Delaware, and service upon them would have been difficult. Judge 
Morris proceeded to offer alternative means of bringing such officers to 
account for their abuse of power. Since shares in a corporation's capital stock 
were personal property having their situs in the incorporating state, said 
Morris, a suit seeking the cancellation of stock unlawfully issued by a Del- 
aware corporation "may be brought in this district and service had . . . on 
defendants residing el~ewhere."'~; Morris's court could also assert in rem 
jurisdiction over corporate assets unlawfully converted by officers'if those 
assets were located in Delaware. As was true with the opinions of Bradford 
and Thompson, then, Morris's procedural decisions in Myers and Atlantic 
Refining seem to represent an attempt to strike a balance, to generate a level 
of stockholder litigation sufficient to allow the court to serve its legitimizing 
function, but without encouraging so much litigation that desirable corporate 
activities would be undermined. 



2. Morris vs. The Court of Appeals: The Hodgman Case 

In Hodgman v. Atlantic Refining Co. (1924) Morris was once again 
called upon to act to protect stockholders from the alleged abuse of power 
by corporate managers. The case arose as a result of an agreement between 
defendant Atlantic Refining Company and the Superior Oil Company that 
Atlantic would cancel a $2.5 million debt owed by Superior to it if Superior 
would transfer to Atlantic 325,000 shares of its common stock, enabling 
Atlantic thus to acquire Superior's stock at approximately $8 per share. A 
roughly contemporaneous arrangement that may have been part of the deal 
obligated Atlantic to buy all of Superior's oil output for ten years. At the 
time of this agreement Superior was enagaged in some complicated financing 
arrangements. A syndicate of underwriters was negotiating to purchase other 
shares of Superior for $16.00 per share, and was eventually to sell those 
shares to the public for about $19.00 per share. Also at about the time of the 
agreement between Atlantic and Superior the Old Dominion Oil Company 
had conveyed land to Superior in exchange for still other shares of Superior's 
stock at a rate of about $16.00 per share. 

The President of Superior, one Robert M. Catts, had received 45,000 
shares of Superior, apparently as compensation for his closing the deal with 
the Atlantic Refining Company. The evidence established that Catts had 
intentionally misrepresented the price being paid by Atlantic for Superior's 
shares both to Superior's Board of Directors, and to the underwriters who 
were buying shares at $16.00, leading both to believe that Atlantic was paying 
$16.00 per share. At the time the misrepresentations were being made to 
Superior's Board, one Mr. E.J. Henry, an officer of Atlantic who sat on 
Superior's Board, remained silent, though he knew that Atlantic was in effect 
paying $8.00, not $16.00 per share. It appears that the underwriters eventu- 
ally found out about the misrepresentation, but raised no objection. 

Judge Morris declared that the sale of Superior shares to Atlantic was 
"consistent with no hypothesis other than that of deliberate fraud."'" He 
reached this conclusion not only on the basis of the discrepancy in the prices 
between the sales to Atlantic and to the underwriters but because that dis- 
crepancy was accompanied by false statements made by Catts to Superior's 
Board of Directors and to the underwriters. Morris declared that the position 
of the President of a corporation was "fiduciary to a high degree," and that 
"Occupying such a position of trust, honesty and fair dealing, as well as the 
law, require that in transactions with the corporation in which transactions the 
president or director has a personal interest, there must be the fullest disclo- 
sure, the utmost good faith, and no sccret profits inuring to the offcer or 
director from the t r an~ac t ions . "~~  Since Catts, by his receipt of 45,000 shares, 
had profitted personally, and since Catts had made misrepresentations, this 
meant that the sale of the stock to Atlantic was fraudulent, and could be set 
aside, as requested by the Plaintiff, a minority shareholder in Superior. Fur- 
ther, Morris reasoned, Atlantic was equally guilty of the fraud, since its offi- 
cer, Henry, had knowledge of misrepresentations made to Superior's Board 



and to its stockholders, and since Atlantic also knew about misrepresentations 
to the syndicate of underwriters. 

Morris proceeded to grant relief against Atlantic, and it appears that his 
desire to discourage managerial or corporate fraud led him to formulate a 
creative remedy. By the time the decision to impose liability had been reached, 
the market value of Superior's stock had dropped to $4 per share. The usuaI 
remedy in such a case would simply have been recission of the contract, with 
a refund to Atlantic of the money it paid. This, however, would have entaiIed 
a transfer of wealth from Superior's stockholders to one of the guilty parties, 
Atlantic. To prevent Atlantic's unjust enrichment, then, Morris ordered 
Atlantic to pay Superior $2.5 million, the difference between the amount 
actually paid to Superior and the amount Atlantic would have paid if the 
price had been $16 per share. Borrowing from the law of contracts, Judge 
Morris thus sought to do equity where the tort remedy would reward a 
~ r o n g d 0 e r . l ~ ~  Atlantic and the miscreant managers had to be punished for 
their abuse of power; and apparently the loss Atlantic had suffered from the 
decreasing market value of Superior's stock was not sufficient retribution . . . 

Judge Morris's opinion in Hodgman was reversed by the Third Circuit's 
Court of Appeals, in an opinion written by Judge B~ff ingt0n . l~~ Buffington's 
reversal of the District court in Hodgman is similar to his reversal of the Dis- 
trict court in the Du Pont case, in that both opinions demonstrate a willing- 
ness to create great discretion for management, and both reveal less of an 
inclination to find fraudulent conduct on the part of managers. 

To begin with, Buffington declared in Hodgmnn that his court had the bene- 
fit of a Delaware chancery court decision which had come down between the 
time the District court's opinion was written and the delivery of his opinion. In 
that case, Bodeli v. Gen. Gas. & Electric Corp.,ld3 said Buffington, the Del- 
aware court decided that where "fairness in light of all the circumstances" 
dictated different prices of stock sold to different persons, and where such a 
differential saIe was done in the "genuine and beneficial interest of the cor- 
poration" none of the transactions need be set aside. Buffington proceeded 
to decIare that the deal struck between Superior and Atlantic was such a 
transaction which should not be set aside for fraud. 

En general, and even if  Buffington relied on authority not available to Mor- 
ris, it is also clear that Buffington concentrated his analysis on aspects of the 
transaction which were of minimal importance to Judge Morris, and Buffing- 
ton minimized the aspects which had most disturbed Morris. For example, 
Morris appears to have believed that the roughtly contemporaneous ten-year 
purchase contract Atlantic had made with Superior should not have been treated 
as an element of the stock deal. Morris observed that though Atlantic was 
obligated to buy all of Superior's oil, it was to buy at market prices, and 
"The Superior product was of a desirable quality, and usually sold read- 
ily at a premium above posted prices." Further, testimony taken at the 
trial showed that "The overbearing element" of Atlantic's decision in mak- 



ing the ten-year arrangement was "our desire to assure for our refineries 
for a long period of time the appreciable and staple quality of crude oil" 
which Superior could supply.'*' In contrast, Buffington declared that the 
ten-year deal had become effective at a time when "oil was at low figures and 
a drag on the market," so that Atlanic was not simply benefitting itself by the 
ten-year 0b1igation.l~~ Buffington stressed that whatever misleading with 
regard to the price paid by Atlantic for Superior stock had been done to the 
underwriters, they would not have entered into their stock purchase without 
the ten-year guaranteed acquisition of Superior's output by Atlantic, and this 
meant to Buffington that Superior would not have received the $16.00 a share 
it did from the underwriting deal without the sale to Atlantic at the lower 

Since Superior was badly in need of the operating capital it received 
from the underwriting, Buffiington reasoned, it clearly benefitted from the 
Atlantic sale, even at the lower price. Further, Buffington observed, the under- 
writing venture itself would not have been possible unless Atlantic released 
Superior from its obligations under the original $2.5 million loan from Atlan- 
tic to Superior, since that loan had as a condition that no further issuance of 
stock was permitted until the loan was paid. This too appears to have been 
of little importance to Morris. 

Similarly of little importance to Morris, but of great moment to Buffington, 
was the fact that Atlantic obligated itself not to sell any of the shares it re- 
ceived for two years. Buf ig ton  commented that this meant that Atlantic 
benefitted Superior 'by changing its position of creditor with assured periodic 
interest payments for that of stockholder with uncertain dividends; by tying 
up its stock for 2 years as that stock which others, during the tie-up period, 
sold for $1 6, and indeed as high as $20.75, had only a value of some $6 
when the tieup expired." Atlantic, then, had hardly profited from this arrange- 
ment, Buffington suggested, and what had turned out to be the benefits to 
Superior meant that the whole transaction was within the corporation's "zone 
of discretion," and could not be challenged by a dissident stockholder. Indeed, 
stated BufEington, "there was equaI, if not stronger, ground for stockholders 
of Atlantic criticizing their company's management for entering into these 
contracts than for Superior's blaming their management."14i 

Buffington then proceeded, in effect, to overrule Morris's findings of fact, 
and held that even though Superior's President Catts might have committed 
fraud, Catts's fraudulent acts "were in no way connected with, participated 
in, or even known to, Atlanti~.""~ Buffington acknowledged that Atlantic's 
officers had followed Catts's instructions not to reveal to the underwriters the 
price at which Atlantic was buying Superior's stock, even though they knew 
Catts was telling the underwriters that Atlantic was paying $16 per share, but 
Buffington observed that the underwriters eventually learned what price 
Atlantic was paying. More troublesome to him, perhaps, was the fact that 
Henry, Atlantic's officer, had sat quietly at Superior's Board of Directors 
meeting as Catts made incorrect statements regarding the price Atlantic was 
to pay for Superior's stock. 



This part of Buffington's opinion appears to come very close, if it does not 
actually pass the point, of condoning actual fraud on the part of Henry. First 
Buffington declared that Henry denied the fact that he was present when mis- 
representations as to the price Atlantic was paying were made, and that 
others' testimony supported Henry. Perhaps ultimately refusing to reverse 
Judge Morris's finding of fact to the contrary, however, Buffington attempted 
to excuse Henry's conduct by holding that 

assuming for present purposes such statements were mzde, and that Henry, who 
knew that Atlantic was onIy paying $8, remained silent, such silence is not 
necessarily fraudulent in purpose, for Henry might well have assumed that, as 
Superior had intrusted the financing plan to Catts, its president, as Catts was 
its sole representative in dealing with the bankers and Atlantic, and as Catts 
had requested Atlantic not to disclose its price, we may as well attribute Henry's 
siIence to his feeling he was complying with Superior's wishes, expressed by its 
president. about a sale at different prices, which was lawful. as to evidence a 
purpose to mislead and defraud.149 

What this means, then, is that for Buffington intentional misleading of other 
Directors or stockholders might not necessarily be fraud, but might be con- 
sistent with the overall business purposes of the corporation. Clearly Morris 
reached an opposite conclusion, believing that where there was intentional 
misleading in circumstances such as those of Hodgman, where the party 
engaged in the misrepresentations derived financial benefits, the strict stan- 
dards of fiduciary conduct which he believed ought to apply to a corporate 
offeror required that such misrepresentations could be nothing but fraud. As 
he had done in his Du Pont opinion, then, but perhaps with less justification, 
in his Hodgman opinion Buffington loosened fiduciary standards, and facili- 
tated the concentration of corporate power in management. Still, Bufington 
was not alone in his views, and he took special pains in his opinion to reveal 
that after he and his brethren Judges Davis and Wooley had heard the argu- 
ments, but before they met in conference to discuss the disposition of the 
case, each had independently concluded that Judge Morris should be re- 
versed.'" This certainly seems like.an unusual revelation for Buffington to 
make, and suggests that he was aware his opinion might be misconstrued. 

C. Judge John P. Nields: Restraining Abuses, hut Rewarding Heroism 

If personal associations and career experiences dictated judicial decisions, 
Judge John P. Nields, appointed by Presidelit Hoover in 1930 to replace 
fudge Morris, would probably have been a strong supporter of managerial 
autonomy and corporate discretion. In contrast to the private beliefs of Judge 
Morris, for example, Judge Nields, who appears to have been Pierre S. Du 
Pont's personal lawyer in connection with certain of his charitable en- 
deavors,'" was conceived that Picrre was a "remarkable" man, who was 
engaged in a "holy experiment" designed to better the education and the 
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material well-being of the citizens of Delaware in a manner "so near the ideal 
that few can believe it today."t52 Nields thought that the contribution of the 
Du Pont Company to the Allied Armies in World War 1, made possible by the 
company's "manufacturing experience and . . . well-trained organization", was 
the most "outstanding achievement" in Delaware history during the period 
from 1876 to 1926, and he appears to have shared in the sentiment of Lord 
Moulton, who gave the Du Pont Company, J.  P. Morgan & Company, and the 
Bethlehem Steel Company the credit for enabling the British and French 
armies to "hold their own" during the War.'" Nields appears to have been 
on close personal terms with the son of the leader of the corporate bar Josiah 
Marvel,'" and Nields appears to have traveled in rather aristocratic Delaware 
Republican and Episcopalian circles.155 Still, Nields appears to have been 
greatly influenced by the career of Theodore Roosevelt, and to have embraced 
what he perceived to be Roosevelt's commitment to "ideas of social and indus- 
trial justice."'56 He seems to have agreed that when Roosevelt took over from 
the assasinated McKinley, Roosevelt was nothing less than a hero [responding 
to] an Olympian summons," and to have subscribed to Roosevelt's opinion 
that "The surest way to invite disaster is to be rich, aggressive, and unpre- 
pared."15' Nields seems to have recognized that after 1900 it was clear that 
Americans had decided against the notion "that the Iaissez faire doctrine 
should control legislators in dealing with vast corporate wealth and influ- 
e n ~ e . " ' ~ ~  Something of a similar dichotomy in beliefs held by Judge Nields is 
revealed in his attitude toward the South. He appears to have believed that the 
Civil War was badly misnamed because that conflict was in reality "an attempt 
by the North, the strongest of two separate nations," to "attack, conquer and 
re-annex the weaker."'" Even if the North was the agressor against the 
weaker South, however, Nields believed that at least one of the South's 
responses after the war to rebuiId its social system, the Ku Klux Klan, was an 
"abomination of  abomination^."'^^ One can discern a similar attempt to 
achieve moderation in Nields's judicial treatment of the law of corporations. 

A case decided by Judge Nields, which resulted in a difference of approach 
between his court and the Court of Appeals similar to the divergence taken 
in the Hodgman and du Pont cases, was Mallery v. Managers' Securities Co. 
(1932).161 The case arose as a result of an attempt by the majority stock- 
holders in The Managers' Securities Co.  (Managers') to shift part of a $25 
million debt onto the minority. Managers' had been set up by General Motors 
in 1923 as a profit-sharing program for its managers. By the time the case was 
decided, the company had two stockholder classes. Pursuant to Managers' 
Charter, Class A stockholders, all of whom were currentIy employed by GM, 
received special dividends from the proceeds of a "5 after 7" contract with 
GM, which provided that Managers' would receive 5 percent of GM's net 
income over a 7 percent return on the company's investment. Managers' 
Class B stockholders received dividends from 2.25 million shares of GM stock 
owned by Managers'. According to Managers' charter, only current GM 
executives were entitled to hold Class A stock. At the company's inception, 



the executives whom GM sought to involve were sold an equal number of 
Class A and Class B shares. When any of the executives terminated their 
employment at GM, they were required to allow Managers' to repurchase 
their Class A stock. 

In 1928, the current class A stockholders approved a program whereby 
they would forego the dividends from their Class A stock in order to enhance 
Managers' future earnings capacity. Pursuant to this plan, Managers', after 
procuring a $25 million loan from J.P. Morgan & Co., purchased additional 
GM stock and set about retiring the loan gradually with income from the " 5  
after 7" contract. Had the loan and the extra investment in GM stock not 
been made, of course, the income from the "5  after 7" contract would have 
been paid to the Class A shareholders. With the Stock Market Crash of 1929, 
however, Managers' 1928 investment in GM stock resulted in a great loss. 
The market value of Managers' GM stock plummeted, and the income from 
the "5  after 7" contract vanished, leaving Managers' with a great debt to 
Morgan which it could not pay. Managers' was forced to dissolve. During 
dissolution, the question arose as to allocating the J.P. Morgan debt among 
the stockholders. When the decision was made by Managers' to treat the debt 
as one allocable to all the stockholders, Mallery, a former GM executive who 
held only Class B stock, filed suit. He challenged the dissolution plan on the 
ground that the Class A stockholders, who held a majority interest in the 
company, were attempting to shift part of the Morgan debt onto the minority 
who held only Class B stock. He contended that the charter provisions which 
mandated separate accounts for Class A and Class B stockholders, and the 
fact that the loan was originally to be repaid only from the "5 after 7" con- 
tract proceeds, showed that the Class A account should absorb the debt. 
District Judge John P. Nields's professional ties might have led one to expect 
that he would support management's side in the Mullery case, the side that 
argued in favor of spreading the debt to the minority shareholders. As we 
have seen before, however, the views of this District judge were not so con- 
strained. 

Nields struck down Managers' dissolution plan, and held for plaintiff 
Mallery on the ground that the stockholders from the company's beginning 
had intended to keep the Class A and Class B accounts completely separate. 
Because the Class A account was always separate from the Class B account, 
"it foilowed as a necessary legal consequence that the investment of that fund 
is for the sole account of Class A stockholders."lB2 If the benefits from the 
1928 stock purchase would have been enjoyed by Class A stockholdkrs alone, 
the burdens of loss could not be shifted onto the company as a whole. Fur- 
ther, the judge also was impressed with the argument that Managers' charter 
itself provided for separate Class A and general surplus accounts. "Class A 
stockholders having agreed with the class B stockholders in and by defen- 
dant's charter that the proceeds of the ' 5  after 7 contract' should constitute a 
separate fund for the sole benefit of Class A stockholders,"'" they could not 
disregard the charter and avoid in part the burden of the J.P. Morgan debt. 



The Managers' Company, consequently, could not in effect violate its charter 
and make the Class B stockholders bear part of the loss arising from the stock 
purchase. With this reasoning, Nields attempted to protect Managers' minority 
against an abuse of power by the majority in its allocation of the burdens of 
corporate membership. 

When the case reached the Third Circuit Court of Appeals, however, 
Judge J. Warren Davis reversed Nields's decision, and held that the J.P. 
Morgan debt had to be borne by the company as a whole because "money 
earned by a corporation does not become the property of its stockholders 
until it is distributed to them as dividends or in dissolution."164 Even though 
the "5  after 7" income was credited to a separate Class A account, "until it 
was distributed in dividends or in retiring stock, it remained an asset of the 
corporation."165 Consequently, any debt procured through the "5 after 7" 
income had to be borne by the corporation, not by a single class of stock- 
holders. 

Judge Davis arrived at this conclusion after first declaring that Managers' 
1928 purchase of GM stock was in vioIation of its charter, and that conse- 
quently the loss arising from the violation had to be borne by the corporation 
rather than the Class A stockholders, since all had to take responsibility for 
the corporation's illegal act. Since the charter had provided that the "5 after 
7" income was to be used only for retiring Class A shares and for paying 
dividends to Class A stockholders, he reasoned, Managers' had "improperly 
used the earnings to purchase that stock, and the Class A stockholders, as 
such, may not be held liable for the defendant's illegal acts which directly 
injured them more than it did anyone else."16" Davis thus used Managers' 
charter to enforce the imposition of the J.P. Morgan debt onto the company 
as a whole, even though only the Class A stockholders had stood to gain 
from the 1928 investment. Davis's opinion was not without some logic or 
without some authority to support it, insofar as he rested it on the proposi- 
tion that all stockholders should have borne the responsibility for an ultra 
vires action.'" Nevertheless, the proceeding was one in equity; and it would 
seem that Judge Nields might well have possessed equitable discretion to 
decide as he did, that the Class A shareholders should have been made to 
bear the loss, since they would have stood to gain the most. 

It seems possible, then, that the MaElery case further illustrates divergent 
approaches to corporate law pursued by the district court and the Court of 
Appeals. Whereas Nields in Mallery (and Thompson in Du Pont and Morris 
in Hodman)  sought to "legitimize" corporate autonomy by checking a major- 
ity's or a manager's abuse of power, Davis lent support to a corporation's 
discretionary use of power by a somewhat strained interpretation of Man- 
agers' charter. This is suggested by the fact that the company's charter did not 
explicitly proscribe the use of " 5  after 7" income for purchasing additional 
stock, but merely stipulated two uses to which the income would be put- 
the retirement of debts and the payment of dividends. The reinvestment plan, 
after all, was a deferred scheme for the payment of dividends, and if one 
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wished liberally to construe the charter it might have been permissible. HOW 
then do we explain the Appeals Court's tendency in these cases to favor 
managerial discretion? 

One extraordinarily intriguing explanation is suggested by the fact that in 
less than a year after the Court of Appeals decided the Mallery decision, i t  
was clear that a "malign influence"168 on the court was at work through Judge 
Davis. For example, in 1937 and 1938, even though Judge Buffington was in 
his eighties, nearly blind and deaf, and fiercely adamant in his refusal to hire 
a clerk, opinions bearing his name routinely issued from the Courts of 
Appeals.169 It was subsequently revealed that Judge Davis was writing some 
of these opi~lions, Davis apparently decided in favor of former movie mogul 
William Fox as a result of "loans" from Fox totalling $27,500.170 Davis's 
apparent corruption was not restricted to the Fox case. The Third Circuit 
Court of Appeals, in 1944, had to re-open two patent cases decided by Davis 
because they were "tainted with fraud."lil The party winning those cases, the 
Universal Oil Products Corporation, had apparently earned Davis's favor 
because its counsel made a $10,000 "loan" to Davis's cousin which was to 
be "repaid" to Davis. There is no indication, however, with regard to the 
Managers' case just discussed that the Managers' Company exercised any 
influence on the Court of Appeals. Still, in the Mallery case it appears that 
Judge Davis may have rendered a decision enabling one party, the Class A 
shareholders, to take undue advantage of another party, the Class B minority 
stockholders. Whether or not any corruption was involved in any of the cases 
here discussed, it does appear that for Davis and Buffington, it seemed appro- 
priate to go further in assuring the autonomy of corporate officers than it did 
for the District Judges. Given a choice between the values of individualism 
and economic advancement through the course of managerial discretion on 
the one hand, and the communitarian strict standards of fiduciary responsi- 
biIity on the other, at least from the cases reviewed here, it appears that the 
Disrict Court Judges favored fiduciary responsibility and the Court of Appeals 
judges managerial discretion. Curiously, at least on the part of the District 
judges, this preference appears to have transcended party loyalties and to 
have been as strong in the Republicans Bradford and Nields as in the Demo- 
cratic Morris. 

In any event, Judge Nields, notwithstanding the Court of Appeals' licit 
or illicit sympathy for managerial interests, continued to reflect his personal 
political and philosophical beliefs by attempting to guard against corporate 
abuses of power. In Re Mississippi Valley Utilities Corp. ( 1933) Nields 
overturned an adjudication of bankruptcy because Mississippi Valley had 
failed to adhere to its charter provisions in calling the meeting where the 
vote was made to seek the adjudication. The Company's failure to give notice 
to all its stockholders of the meeting at which it decided to seek bankruptcy, 
said Nields, required setting aside the adjudication. Yet Nields went even fur- 
ther in insisting on procedural regularity, for he set aside the adjudication in 
spite of a second stockholders' meeting which had satisfied the notice require- 



ment mandated by his court's earlier decree, and which second meeting had 
sought to "ratify" the court's bankruptcy adjudication. "The [bankruptcy] 
adjudication," Nields stated, "is the act of the court. The stockholders and 
directors can ratify their own acts but cannot rectify and make valid an 
adjudication of the courts upon an invalid petition."173 Nields insisted that the 
stockholders meet again, in accordance with the charter's notice requirement, 
and vote to seek another bankruptcy adj~dicati0n.l'~ 

What amounted to Nields's glorification of form over substance in Missis- 
sippi Valley might have been designed to signal to corporate officers that the 
federal court in Delaware would not tolerate even procedural irregularities. 
Many of these procedural requirements included in corporate charters, of 
course, were intended to protect stockholders from the abuse of power by 
managers-in short, to ensure that the appearance and reality of corporate 
democracy would be preserved, and Nields's decision thus gave some assur- 
ance that the judiciary would stand alert against potential inroads to corpor- 
ate democracy. 

Whatever Nields's Mallery and Mississippi Valley decisions may suggest, 
the final decision of Nields that we consider, Koplar v. Warner Bros. Pictures, 
Inc. (1937)li6 indicates that like Bradford and Morris he could also exercise 
self-restraint in interfering with managerial autonomy, even when he may 
have personally disagreed with the results reached by corporate decision- 
makers. The Koplar case arose from a stockholder's objections to the finan- 
cial remuneration Warner Bros. Pictures had conferred on a number of its 
officers, the three brothers Warner. Pursuant to a contract of employment 
entered into in late 1928, Warner Bros. issued 90,000 shares of common 
stock then worth $10,000,000 to the brothers, and agreed to pay them 
$10,000 a week for their services for the next six years. In addition to agree- 
ing to work for the company in return for their salaries, the brothers agreed 
not to compete with the company. In a derivative suit, Koplar challenged this 
salary agreement on the grounds that (a )  it operated as a fraud on the stock- 
holders, and (b)  the stock issued to the brothers was without consideration 
and therefore illegal under the laws of Delaware. 

Judge Nields held that the salary agreement was neither fraudulent nor ille- 
gal. Nields found that it was "perfectly apparent" that "the major considera- 
tion for the delivery of the 90,000 shares of common stock was the past and 
future financial aid of the Warner brothers to the Warner Company."176 In 
leaner times, it appeared, the brothers had generously given their stock in 
the company to the company to be used to secure financing. Nields also 
found no fraud practiced on the stockholders, because they had ratified the 
agreement at  their 1928 meeting, and "during the years 1929, 1930 and 1931 
not a single stockholder voted against the re-election of the Warner slate of 
directors. Not a single stockholder ever complained of the employment con- 
tract so long as the company was making money.""' Since the salary agree- 
ment had been executed in the open, with the knowledge and acquiescence 
of Warner's stockholders, Nields did not think it appropriate for him to inter- 



vene on Koplar's behalf. Such a reversal of the stockholders' decision to sup- 
port the salary agreement, Nields must have reasoned, would have seriously 
undermined Warner's managerial autonomy. 

Nields also found that, even if the agreement had been fraudulent, the 
stockholders themselves had already resolved the dispute through their rati- 
fication of a "settlement" of other lawsuits challenging the employment con- 
tract drafted by Warner's board of directors. Pursuant to this settlement, the 
brothers transferred 100,000 shares of common stock back to the company 
and surrendered all claims to the money already earned by the brothers under 
the agreement. Since the settlement appeared to be a fair compromise, Nields 
held that the company had satisfactorily dealt with the issues raised by Koplar 
in his derivative suit and dismissed Koplar's bill of complaint. 

Nields's support of the compromise agreement, however, may not have 
meant that he approved of the brothers' conduct. Referring to the $10,000 
weekly salaries voted to them by a Board of Directors on which they sat, he 
stated that 

as a matter of morals such payments may be questioned. Directors have the 
power to award just compensation. That power should be used. not abused. 
Fair human requirements should set somc limits to salaries. Extraordinary 
talent is not acquired. I f  it were, it would not be extraordinary. Doubtless, it  is 
an endowment which the holder should not place on the auction block.178 

Yet Nields did not allow his conception of a fair salary to interfere with his 
determination of the case, but rather let the stockholders decide for them- 
selves the salary question. 

Indeed, it appears that Nields's moral scruples against the compensation 
awarded the Warner brothers was counter-balanced by his obvious admiration 
for their business success prior to the depression. In particular he was im- 
pressed by their courage in concocting million-dollar schemes to finance their 
enterprises, and to enable them to become "pioneers in the 'talkies.' 
Nields credited the brothers with transforming the theatrical business from 
silent movies to "talkies," and of this transformation he stated, seemingly in 
awe: 

Their pl2n cf financing their businzss through bank credits instead of advances 
from franchise holders was a move involving millions. Their acquisition of a 
great chain of theaters to use their films was a step involving more millions. To 
keep abreast of the march of time demanded extraordinary and heroic efforts.lsO 

There were several reasons why Nields could be so impressed with Warner 
Brothers' activities that he would speak of them in terms like those he ap- 
plied to Theodore Roosevelt or Pierre S. Du Pont,181 as "extraordinary" and 
"heroic." First was the fact that the brothers had succeeded, at least until 
the depression was we11 underway, through their daring management of the 
company, to earn staggering sums. Nields also may have been struck by the 



fact that the brothers continued, even in dark times, to tie their fortunes to 
those of the company: 

In the fiscal year ending August 3 1 ,  1929, the net profits were $17.271,805. For 
the six months ending March 1 ,  1930, the net profits were $10,092,109. For the 
fiscal year ending August 30, 1930, the net profits were $7,074,621, despite the 
fact that the last half of that fiscal year showed a net operating loss of 
$3,000,000. Thereafter as the depression deepened, the Company's losses 
increased. Throughout the depression the Brothers continued to loan the 
Company substantial amounts.1s2 

Finally, it could not have escaped Nield's notice that by the brothers' pioneer- 
ing efforts in developing "talkies," the public enjoyed perhaps its most absorb- 
ing, if frivolous, diversions from the economic agonies of the depression. In- 
deed it seems more than coincidental that Judge Nields appears to have been 
a devoted fan of "class B cowboy pictures," who had the habit of sneaking 
off to the movies at lunch time.Is3 

Nields's Koplar decision, then, could have been calculated to preserve 
what he too believed to be the invaluable benefits of management autonomy 
by allowing the stockholders and managers settlement decision on the Warner 
Brothers' salaries to stand, although Judge Nields's beliefs about his "legiti- 
mizing" function may have led him to admonish the Warner brothers for 
reaping such lavish financial rewards. Nields's Koplar decision thus may 
have suggested to corporate officers that under his guidance the District court 
would hesitate to intrude upon management autonomy unless the corporate 
decision-making process was so defective that no possibility existed of the 
process's correcting itself. Nields's self-restraint, in short, may have rested 
on the corporation's capacity for self-correction. 

Conclusion 

In the first half of this century, as indicated earlier, the American public 
was both attracted and repelled by corporations. While many in government 
and business perceived large corporations and economic concentration as 
necessary concomitants to a mass production economy, public spokesmen 
decried what they believed to be an alarming accumulation of social and 
economic power. Americans wanted the goods produced by the highly indus- 
trialized economy of the twentieth century, but as Mr. Justice Brandeis 
observed in Liggerr v .  Lee,18" there was still a pervading suspicion "that by 
the control which the few have exerted through giant corporations, individual 
initiative and effort are being paralyzed, creative power impaired and human 
happiness le~sened."'~" 

The public ambivalence toward corporations was reflected, as we have 
seen, in the federal district court in Delaware as an attempt to strike a bal- 
ance between corporate "legitimacy" and managerial autonomy. In their 
decisions, Judges Bradford, Thompson, Morris and Nields sought to "legiti- 



mize" the managerial autonomy, created in large part by the activities of the 
Delaware legislature, by maintaining mechanisms of democratic control over 
corporate decision-making and by preventing managers from egregiously 
abusing corporate power. At the same time, the judges acted to preserve man- 
agerial autonomy by exercising self-restraint-by limiting their intervention- 
ary activities to those instances of clear abuse of power through such means 
as deception, discrimination against minority stockholders, or violation of 
charter provisions. This judicial self-restraint, in combination with the broad 
opportunities the Delaware legislature had given corporations, facilitated the 
concentration of economic power in corporate management. With the sharp 
reduction in demands legal and governmental institutions imposed on cor- 
porations, the corporations were left relatively free to respond to economic 
necessities. These economic necessities then gave rise to what Alfred 0. 
Chandler has called the "managerial revolution:" 

Technological innovation, the rapid growth and spread of population, and 
expanding per capita income made the processes of production and distribution 
more complex and increased the speed and volume of the flow of materials 
through them. Existing market mechanisms were often no longer able to 
coordinate these flows effectively. The new technologies and expanding markets 
thus created for the first time a nced for administrative coordination. To carry 
out this function enterpreneurs built multiunit business enterprises and hired 
the managers needed to adrninistcr them. . . . As technology became both more 
complex and more productive, and as markets continued to expand, these 
managers assumed command in the central sectors of the American economy.Ia6 

By expanding and legitimizing managerial autonomy, federal judges in 
Delaware appear to have helped to ensure that the level of legal restraints on 
corporations remained low enough to allow managers to gain the ascendance 
in the corporate power structure, as they were able to do, for example, in the 
case of Delaware's premier industry, the Du Pont corp~ration.'~' With the 
concentration of corporate power in management, the managers could make 
their production and distribution decisions without significant fear of stock- 
holder interference through judicial machinery. Until about 1937, so long as 
the managers remained within the limits the lower federal court judges estab- 
lished to "legitimize" corporate and managerial autonomy, they were free to 
operate their enterprises as they saw fit, individual stockholders' objections, 
or even groups of stockholders' objections generally notwithstanding. The 
stock market crash of 1929 and the ensuing Great Depression shook Amer- 
icans' faith in the benefits to be gained by autonomy of industrial concerns, 
however, and, in particular, the economic chaos that ensued led many 
Americans to question whether the market in corporate securities could be 
allowed to continue with so little federal regulation. The result was the pas- 
sage of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and 
the creation of the Securities and Exchange Commission. While the earlier 
climate of favoring the autonomy of corporate managers prevailed, the 
behavior of the Court of Appeals, in going even farther than did the District 



Courts in facilitating the concentration of power in management, and, in 
some cases, even appearing to disregard some of the "legitimizing" legal 
restraints on managerial and corporate power, may not have seemed particu- 
larly alarming to observers of the legal system. Still, what seems to have been 
done by Judges Buffington and Davis and others like them eventually 
resulted in a reaction which tipped the balance between managerial autonomy 
and corporate democracy, which they had skewed toward autonomy, back 
in the other direction. 

In particular, events such as those that had been approved by Judge Buf- 
fington in the Hodgman case, the selling of shares under less than full dis- 
closure, came to be seen as an evil in need of immediate efforts at eradica- 
tion, as millions lost their savings when the speculative fever of the twenties 
ended disastrously. This economic disaster appears to have resulted in both 
personal tragedy and doctrinal change on the bench of the Third Circuit, 
and they are the subjects of the next chapter. 
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CHAPTER v 

The Impact of the "Constitutional 
Revolution" on the United States 
Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit 

I .  Introduction 

In 1937, as every student of American Constitutional Law knows, the 
United States Supreme Court became noticeably more willing to accept the 
constitutionality of federal legislation which sought broadly to regulate inter- 
state commerce and to redress perceived imbalances in the national economy.' 
This change in attitude has come to be known as a "Constitutional Revolu- 
tion," and has led to increased public recognition of judicially-protectable 
fundamental rights. It is probably no overstatement to suggest that most 
Americans now believe that the federal government has as one of its respon- 
sibilities the insurance of an acceptable level of welfare for all, and this 
belief has led to a situation where many individuals and groups who have 
suffered discrimination or deprivation have sought redress in the federal 
courts. The implementation of federally-protected rights and the supervision 
of the operation of a burgeoning federal government since the Constitutional 
Revolution of 1937 has been primarily the task of the lower federal  court^.^ 

In  Chapter Two we saw how the earliest federal judges believed that they 
were charged with the responsibility of helping the federal government to 
provide for the basic needs of national security and for restraints on the 
anarchic and overly-democratic tendencies of part of the population. By the 
late nineteenth century however, if the work of Judge Nixon examined in 
Chapter Three can serve as a representative example, the task of the federal 
judges had primarily become that of ensuring that federal law protected the 
exercise of individual initiative, creativity, and moral development. Still later, 
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in the early twentieth century, as the work of the Delaware federal judges 
examined in Chapter Four suggests, the federal courts may have been most 
concerned with increasing the overall productivity of the national economy 
through the encouragement of the efficient functioning of American corpor- 
ations. The subject of this chapter, however, is what may be the latest in the 
series of shifts in the concerns facing the federal judges, a return to preoccu- 
pation with individuals. This time, however, pursuant to the "Constitutional 
Revolution" of 1937, the task for the courts has not been to help in the 
securing of the maximum exercise of individual or corporate initiative, nor to 
secure the maximum protection for national security conceived broadly. 
Rather it has been to redress historic imbalances and to provide remedies for 
perceived damages to individuals and groups brought about by previous poli- 
cies of local, state, and federal governments. This shift in jurisprudential 
concerns occurred in the Third Circuit following a virtual "reconstitution" of 
the court of appeals. 

11. The Reconstitution of the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals 

Transformation of the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals began on March 
2, 1937 when John Biggs was sworn in as a Judge. Born in Wilmington, 
Delaware in 1895, Biggs was educated at Princeton University and at Harvard 
Law Scho01.~ Bigg's 1937 appointment by Roosevelt was apparently the result 
of an effort to improve the jurisprudential quality of the Third Circuit. Asso- 
ciate Supreme Court Justice William .I. Brennan, who had been a young 
lawyer practicing in 1937, recalled ". . . that in 1937, practitioners before 
the Third Circuit often felt that oral and written arguments, however well 
done, seemed wasted . . ."' Part of the problems which Justice Brennan per- 
ceived were the result simply of the advanced age of the Third Circuit's 
judges. Before Biggs's appointment, the two youngest members of the court 
were J. Warren Davis and Victor B. Wooley, both of whom were 70 years of 
age. J. Whittaker Thompson was 76 and Joseph Buffington was 82.5 Thomp- 
son, Woolley and Buffington all retired in 1938, and Judge Davis followed in 
1939.6 Thus, in 1939, only two years after his appointment as Judge, John 
Biggs became Chief Judge of the Third Circuit.? Meanwhile, Roosevelt had 
appointed Albert B. Maris and William Clark to the Third Circuit in 1938, 
and Francis Biddle and Charles Alvin Jones in 1939.s The President was also 
placing five justices on the Supreme Court during roughly the same time 
period. Roosevelt's new appointees had judicial philosophies which Justice 
Brennan has characterized as "humanitarian liberali~m."~ Chief Judge Biggs 
and Roosevelt's "new" Supreme Court were to stay in close philosophical 
step. Between 1937 and 1947, the Supreme Court reversed all 19 Third 
Circuit decisions argued before it in which Biggs had dissented, while it 
affirmed 20 of 29 Biggs majority opinions.1° 

Some insight into Judge Biggs's jurisprudential perspective and the nature 
of the Third Circuit's transformation may be gained by considering the varied 
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nature of the works Judge Biggs pubIished. Biggs had roomed with the class- 
conscious and perceptive "jazz-age" novelist F. Scott Fitzgerald at Princeton, 
Biggs himseIf had received "high critical acclaim" for his novels Demi- 
gods ( 1926) and Seven Days Whipping ( 1929) ,I1 and Biggs also contributed 
short stories to "Scribner's Magazine." Biggs's writing could also be highly 
practical, however, as shown by his co-authoring a text book entitled Dela- 
ware Laws Aflecting Business  corporation^.'^ Most important, probabIy, was 
Biggs's 1955 Isaac Ray Award winning work, The Guilty Mind, which 
remains a widely-acclaimed, study of the historical interaction between law 
and psychiatry. In that book Biggs described the practices of several ancient 
civilizations and their struggles with criminal behavior and insanity, and 
compared the efforts of modem psychiatrists and modem society generally to 
bring forensic psychiatry beyond primitive conceptions and into a form that 
might contribute to a more just resolution of criminal cases. 

In the foreword to The Guilty Mind, Biggs explains that his interest in 
forensic psychiatry resulted, in part, from a concern about injustices occurring 
in courtrooms because of the obvious "hiatus" between the theoretical a p  
proaches of the psychiatrist and the judge. Upon his appointment to the 
federal bench, Biggs encountered equally serious probIems in the area 
of judicial administration, and brought to their resolution the same analytical 
zeal he demonstrated in his writing. Biggs sensed the increasing importance 
of the federal courts and quickly became an effective lobbyist for the federa1 
judiciary. He first became active as a member of the Judicial Conference of 
the United States in September 1939. By 1955 Biggs had been named Chair- 
man of the Conference's newly created Court Administration CommitteeJ3 
Judge Biggs has been credited with effective advocacy for such "Iandmark" 
developments as the "Biggs Bill" with its 70-year maximum age for Chief 
Judges, the setting of the $10,000 jurisdictional amount in diversity cases, 
and the creation of many new federal judgeships." Biggs atso proposed pro- 
visions for judicial widows'  pension^,'^ and pressed for other ways to meet the 
need for adequate pension and retirement provisions, in order effectively to 
bring in new judges and to establish the lower federal judiciary as a career 
with just rewards for long service. 

John Biggs's apopintment thus established an extremely high standard of 
excellence, and Roosevelt's next choice for the Third Circuit met that stan- 
dard. Atbert B. Maris, who had served for two years on the federal district 
court for Eastern Pennsylvania by appointment by President Roosevelt, was 
commissioned as circuit judge on June 24, 1938.18 Maris was born in Phila- 
deIphia in 1893, and received his LL.B from Temple University in 191 8. He 
later earned an engineering degree from Drexel Institute of Technology, 
graduating in 1926. Maris had been an active Democrat, serving as county 
chairman and state committeeman. He had also served in local public offices 
as borough auditor and councilman." Like Biggs, Maris was instrumental in 
improving judicial administration. Maris served on several Judicial Confer- 
ence Committees almost from the Conference's inception in 1938. Maris 



served on the Conference's Committee on Supporting Personnel beginning in 
1943. During the 16 years from 195 1 until 1967, Maris was Chairman of the 
Conference Committee on Revision of the Laws. This committee worked with 
the House Judiciary Committee to revise U.S.C. titles 18 and 28.18 In 1959, 
Maris was appointed Chairman of the Conference's standing Committee on 
Rules of Practice and Procedures.lg For many years, at each session of the 
Third Circuit Judicial Conference Judge Maris reported on the varied activi- 
ties of his committee. Maris may not have been a novelist like Biggs, but he 
possessed an uncommon ability infectiously to communicate in a lucid and 
gripping manner his interest and fascination with developments and con- 
templated reforms of the Federal Rules of Court P r o c e d ~ r e . ~ ~  

Maris's work as a codifier was not limited to activities on behalf of the 
Judicial Conference. Maris also codified and rewrote large portions of the 
Virgin Islands Revised Organic Act of 1954, and served on the subsequent 
commission to codify and revise the local laws of the Islands. He did similar 
work for the newly formed civil government of Guam in 1941 and for Samoa 
in 1 952.21 

As was true for Judge Biggs, it seems likely that Judge Maris's jurispru- 
dential philosophy was close to that of Roosevelt's refurbished Supreme 
Court. Maris was designated a judge for the United States Emergency Court 
of Appeals under the Price Control Act in March of 1942, and became Chief 
Judge of that court in June of 1943. As Chief Judge, Maris never had a de- 
cision reversed by the Supreme C o ~ r t . ~ '  The depth of the development of 
Mans's legal expertise and endurance was equally evident in 1959, when 
Maris was appointed by the United States Supreme Court as Special Master 
in the highly complicated Lake Michigan water diversion case. His opinion 
and report, which were produced after 158 days of hearings in seven cities, 
the introduction of 1300 exhibits, and the accumulation of a transcript. of 
30,681 pages were accepted by the parties and affirmed by the Supreme 
Court without a single revision.23 A somewhat similar service was performed 
by Judge Maris, when he was appointed by the Supreme Court in 1970 and 
served as special master in an action brought by several states to challenge the 
federal government's claim to ownership of off-shore drilling rights. Maris's 
report and recommendations were again accepted by the Supreme C o ~ r t . ~ '  

Finally, in an example of using benefits he helped create to further improve 
the system, Maris was to retire as an active judge long before his physical or  
mental faculties might have dictated. In Judge Maris's letter of election to 
retire from active service written to President Eisenhower on December 19, 
1958 he stated: 

The opportunity to serve our country which judicial office afforded me has beer! 
one of the most treasured privileges of my life. I t  has been a most congenial 
service and I have devoted to it the utmost of the powers which God has given 
me. But I should be less than candid if I did not recognize that there are many 
others in the Third Circuit who are well qualified to render satisfactory judicial 
service and who would welcome the opportunity to do so. I do not want to 



stand in the way of anyone else having the same opportunity for judicial service 
which I have so much enjoyed. By assuming the status of scnior judge I shall 
open the way for another to be called now, rather than after my death, to serve 
in judicial office. At the same time I shall continue to render judicial service 
myself so long as I am able and called upon to do so.'" 

In apparent contrast to several of his Third Circuit predecessors, and with 
characteristic modesty, Maris indicated in his letter that "It is the lot of 
judges, along with all others, to experience with advancing years a diminution 
of their mental and physical powers." He went on to state that "Because of 
this possibility 1 believe it to be in the public interest that my 'future judicial 
service should be performed only under specific assignment by the chief judge 
or Judicial Council of the Third Circuit or the Chief Justice of the United 
States."" At this writing, more than twenty years after his assumption of 
Senior Status, and forty-two years after his original appointment to the 
Court of Appeals, Judge Maris continues to render exemplary service. The 
example of Maris's retirement may be even' more striking, however, when it 
is noted that at the time of his retirement 70 federal judges had reached an 
age making them eligible for Senior status, but had failed to assume it." 

On May 7, 1940, Roosevelt appointed Herbert F. Goodrich to the Third 
Circuit to replace Francis Biddle,'who was leaving to become United States 
Solicitor General, and who ultimately served as Attorney General. Goodrich 
was born in Minnesota in 1889, and was educated at Careton College and 
Harvard Law School. Goodrich's appointment further developed the diversity 
and professional expertise on the Third Circuit. Goodrich was Dean of the 
University of Pennsylvania School of Law when he was appointed, and was 
thus one of a group of legal academics placed by Roosevelt on the federal 
bench. Goodrich had served as a law professor at the State University of Iowa 
( 191 4-22), the University of Michigan ( 1922-29), and the University of 
Pennsylvania ( 1929-40). He continued as a lecturer at Pennsylvania for eight 
years after his app~intrnent."~ 

As was Judge Maris, Goodrich was an active member of the American Law 
Institute, serving as Director of Public Relations, Assistant Director, and 
Directorz8 and participating in the drafting of the Restatement Second of 
Conflict of Laws."O Rejecting the thought of some of the then-current radical 
exponents of legal realism, who appeared to maintain that judicial discretion 
was unb~unded,~ '  Goodrich's work with the Restatement Second revealed 
his belief that judges could be rational, impartial, and impersonal settlers of 
controversies. Goodrich was the author of Cases of Conflict of Laws, ( 1  936, 
2nd Edition, 1940) and Goodrich on Conflict of Laws ( 1927), the third edi- 
tion of which he published in 1949, nine years after his appointment to the 
Third C i r c ~ i t . ~ ~  

In 1943, Roosevelt appointed Gerald McLaughlin, a well-known trial 
lawyer, to a seat vacated by Judge William Clark, who had joined the army."3 
McLaughlin was a Roman Catholic Democrat from Newark, New Jersey. He 
attended Fordham University as an undergraduate and law student, and had 



been practicing law in Newark since 1919. Gerald McLaughlin was Roose- 
velt's last appointment to the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals. 

President Truman's appointments to the Third Circuit showed even greater 
diversity than did Roosevelt's.34 Truman added to the Third Circuit bench an 
outspoken Jewish Zionist, two Roman Catholics, and America's first black 
federal judge. 

Truman's first appointee was John J. O'Connell, appointed in 1945 to 
replace Judge Charles Alvin Jones, who had taken a seat on the Pennsylvania 
Supreme Court. O'Connell was a Roman Catholic from Pittsburgh who prac- 
ticed for 19 years counselling in matters involving mining and related indus- 
tries of western Penn~ylvania .~~ Judge O'Connell died after serving only four 
years. 

In 1946, Truman appointed Philadelphian Harry E. Kalodner. Kalodner 
had entered the University of Pennsylvania Law School at age 18. His career 
had included private practice in Philadelphia and extensive experience with 
the Philadelphia North American ( 19 19-25) and the Philadelphia Record, 
where he was Financial and Political Editor from 1928 until 1934.36 Kalodner 
had received two Pulitzer Prize Honorable Mentions in 1931 and 1932 for 
stories exposing corruption in Philadelphia city government, and for report- 
ing on a fraudulent securities scheme.37 Kalodner had been active in state 
Democratic politics, and had served as then Pennsylvania Governor Earle's 
campaign manager in 1935, and as Secretary of Revenue after Earle's election. 
After two years on the Philadelphia County Court of Common Pleas in 
1936-37, Kalodner was appointed by Roosevelt to the United States District 
Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, where he remained until his 
1947 appointment to the Third C i r c ~ i t . ~ ~  Kalodner was a member of many 
Local and national committees which promoted the cause of a Holy Land 
homeland for Jews, and which provided other services to the Jewish com- 
m~nity.~O 

In 1949, after the untimely death of Judge O'Connell, President Truman 
apointed William H. Hastie to the Third Circuit. Hastie was born in Knox- 
ville, Tennessee in 1904. H e  graduated from Amherst College and the Har- 
vard Law School. After three years of private practice, Hastie served as an 
assistant solicitor in the United States Department of the Interior, until 1937, 
when he was appointed by Roosevelt to sit as the Judge for the District Court 
of the Virgin Islands.'O 

Interior Secretary Harold L. Ickes was a fervent supporter of his assistant 
solicitor for a federal judgeship, and took his proposal that Hastie be nom- 
inated as a judge over the head of the rather unresponsive Attorney General 
Homer Cummings, to speak directly to President Roosevelt. After a few 
months delay, which caused inquiries to be made by other backers of Hastie, 
such as Justice Frankfurter, Roosevelt announced Hastie's nomination on 
February 5, 1937, the same day that Roosevelt unveiled his "court-packing" 
plan. As suggested by Jonathan J. Rusch, perhaps the fortuitous timing was 
designed to ". . . soften the impact of presenting the Senate with its first 



black judicial appointee. . . ."41 Ickes also found it necessary to prod an 
unusually slow Senate Judiciary Committee, particuIarly Sen. Millard Tydings 
of Maryland. Ickes quietly but effectively spread word among Tydings' black 
constituents that Mr. Tydings was blocking Hastie's appointment. Tydings 
apparently then retreated, and William Hastie became America's first black 
federally-appointed judge.42 

Hastie resigned from the Virgin Islands' court in 1939, to become the Dean 
at Howard University Law School, where he remained until 1946. In  1946, 
Hastie was appointed Governor of the Virgin Islands, ". . . the first of his 
race to attain so high a position in the Executive B r a n ~ h . " ~ ~  His next federa1 
appointment was his last, and he served on the Third Circuit until his death 
in 1976. 

Hastie's 1949 nomination to the Third Circuit by President Truman en- 
countered opposition from some members of the Senate Judiciary Committee. 
In spite of his previous professional achievements, not onIy did Hastie have 
to fight his usual battle against racial prejudice,"' he encountered consider- 
able questioning and delay because of his youthful affiliation with the left- 
leaning National Lawyers Three days after the members of the Third 
Circuit's Court of Appeals offered to travel to Washington to testify on Has- 
tie's behalf, the Committee a7proved the nominaticn. The entire confirmation 
process had taken ten rnonth~. '~ 

The final act of transition for the Third Circuit from its pre-1937 days 
occurred in 1950 when Truman appointed Austin L. Staley to the Court. 
Born in Pittsburgh in 1902, Staley, like Judge Kalodner, and like Judge 
Maris, had obtained no undergraduate education, but went directly into law 
study. He received an LL.B. from Duquesne University in 1928. Like Judges 
McLaughlin and O'Connell, StaIey was a Roman Catholic. Staley had exten- 
sive experience in Pennsylvania politics. He had served as an assistant city 
solicitor for Pittsburgh in 1934, as the Deputy Attorney General for Pennsyl- 
vania in 1935, as the Director of the Pennsylvania Workman's Compensation 
Bureau in 1936, and as the Deputy Secretary of the Department of Labor and 
Industry for Pennsylvania in 1937. Like Judges Goodrich and Maris, Staley 
was a member of the American Law In~titute. '~ 

111. The Third Circuit during the "Biggs Years:" 
Judic~al Development and then Judicial Restraint 

A. Expiation and New Directions 

Perhaps one of the most important tasks before the rejuvenated Third Cir- 
cuit Court of Appeals, begun soon after Goodrich's appointment, was to 
correct the damage to litigants and to the court itself done by the allegations 
that former Court of Appeals Judge Davis had engaged in obstruction of 
justice.4B The completion of this task was to take seven years. A few days after 
Judge Davis's first trial on charges of corruptly influencing decisions had 
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ended with the jury unable to agree on a verdict,49 an informal hearing of the 
Court of Appeals was held on the matter on June 5, 1941, and a special 
master was appointed to look into Judge Davis's conduct, and to report on 
whether any of his decisions were "tainted and invalidated by fraud."50 The 
special master, following examination of the grand jury testimony which led 
to the indictments against Judge Davis, reported on October 19, 1943 his 
conclusion that Davis's and some of "BuEEngton's" decisions were so tainted."' 
After hearing objections from some of the parties whose judgments the master 
had found tainted by fraud, the Court of Appeals, on June 15, 1944, adopted 
the findings and conclusions of the master, vacated many of the judgments, 
and restored the cases to its reargument list. The court also taxed the expenses 
of the proceeding against the parties whose judgments had been invalidated. 
This order of the Court of Appeals was then reversed by the Supreme Court, 
on the grounds that the proceeding invoIving the master had failed to follow 
"the usual safeguards of adversary proceedings."" This meant that the Court 
of Appeals had to start its self-vindication over again. 

Accordingly, on June 20, 1947 the court vacated its order of June 14, 
1944, but ordered some of the parties to "show cause why their judgments 
should not be vacated by reason of fraud or corruption practiced upon this 
court. . . ."" Then, on January 16, 1948, an order of the Chief Justice of the 
United States designated Circuit Judges Soper and Mahoney and Associate 
Justice Prettyman to act as Circuit Judges in the Third Circuit, and reexamine 
the judgments in three allegedly "tainted" cases.54 On July 6, 1948, following 
trial of the cases in which they took testimony from all concerned for ten 
days, these three judges announced their conclusions, echoing the findings 
of taint found by the master.55 Their opinion stressed that they realized that 
they were acting to correct "a wrong against the institutions set up to protect 
and safeguard the public, institutions in which fraud cannot complacently be 
tolerated consistently with the good order of society."" In all of the cases in 
question, the court found that attorney Morgan Kaufman had been hired by 
the parties who eventually won "in order that he might influence Judge Davis 
improperly and secure judicial action favorable to them," and in all cases 
the court concluded that "Judge Davis was in fact so infl~enced."~' The 
court's findings are reported in painstaking detail, and their efforts to bare the 
record even extended to some implicit criticism of former Federal District 
Judge Hugh Martin Morris, for accepting a retainer from one of the parties, 
Universal Oil Products Co., the day following his resignation from the Federal 
Bench, and only a short time after he had ruled on a motion for a bill of 
particulars and two motions for leave to file interrogatories in cases involving 
U n i v e r ~ a l . ~ ~  

The court concluded that $10,000 paid to Kaufman by his clients was in- 
directly paid to Davis by the "false front" of a loan to Davis's cousin.59 The 
court also implicitly excoriated Davis for clandestinely meeting under an 
assumed name with another party to a proceeding in his court, William Fox, 
and for accepting "loans" from Fox, in return for favorable rulings on his 
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case." Finding this evidence of Kaufman's and Davis's misconduct, the court 
ordered that the judgements obtained by the parties who had allegedly hired 
Kaufman for his ability to influence Davis be vacated, and the suits dismissed, 
reasoning that no matter what the merits of the individual cases, the parties 
were not entitled to relief because of their "unclean hands." So it was that 
Judge Davis, who had never been convicted of a crime, was found guilty of 
official misconduct by a panel sitting in his own court. 

Davis died shortly after his criminal trials had ended with no convictions, 
and he was thus not able to defend his conduct in the proceeding in his Court 
of Appeals. Much of the testimony against Davis had come from William Fox, 
whose testimony also resulted in the disbarment of Morgan Kaufman from 
the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania in 
1943 and from the United states Court of Appeals in 1944.61 Twenty-five 
years later, however, Morgan Kaufman was to be reinstated as a member of 
the bar, when evidence was discovered that William Fox may have been fabri- 
cating his testimony against Kaufman and Davis in order to ward off federal 
prosecution on other charges. Fox's testimony against the two men had earlier 
been believed because Davis's and Kaufman's advocates had been unable to 
provide a reason for Fox to lie.62 The discovery of Fox's motive for duplicity 
came too late for Judge Davis. Still, some matters, for example, some of the 
circumstances surrounding Davis's meeting with Fox under assumed names, 
originally came from the testimony of Davis himself. Other suspicious mat- 
ters, however, for example, the loan to Davis's cousin, might have had benign 
e x p l a n a t i o n ~ . ~ ~ t  may be, then, that J .  Warren Davis was not the thoroughly 
corrupt judge he seemed in the early forties. In any event, as will be seen, 
infra, in addition to the Third Circuit's "expiation" for the supposed sins of 
Davis by undoing the results in the cases he allegedly "tainted," a new course 
for the Third Circuit was charted with the issuance of several bold decisions 
in the "Biggs" years. 

One such pathbreaking decision, that must be accounted for principally by 
the strength of the beliefs of Judges Biggs and Maris, was issued in January 
of 1939, before any widespread disclosures of the conduct of Judge Davis, 
who sat on the panel with Biggs and Maris. This was Hague v. Committee for 
Industrial Organization, which might fairly be characterized as one of the 
first great Civil Rights Cases to be decided after Reconstruction." The dispo- 
sition of the case was suggested by the very first sentence of Judge Biggs's 
opinion, "The question presented by the appeal at bar is whether or not cer- 
tain fundamental civil liberties safeguarded by the Constitution of the United 
States shall be observed and protected in Jersey City or shall there stand 
abridged."6"he major of Jersey City (Frank Hague), the Director of Public 
Safety, the Chief of Police, and the Board of Commissioners of Jersey City 
were the original defendants. The original plaintiffs, the Committee for In- 
dustrial Organization (CIO), affiliated labor organizations, and the American 
Civil Liberties Union, had sought an injunction to prevent interference with 
their "rights to be and move about freely in Jersey City, to distribute leaflets 



and circulars, to hold and address public meetings and to display placards." 
Defendant Hague was one of the most powerful politicians in the Democratic 
party, and presided over Jersey City and Hudson County as if it were his 
personal satrapy. The case had come about because Union officials and 
organizers sought to exercise their rights under federal labor law legislation 
and to prevent Hague from keeping his "tacit promise that the new industrial 
unions would not be permitted to organize in Jersey City.'76G 

Reviewing the evidence, Judge Biggs observed that law enforcement offi- 
cials of Jersey City, supported apparently by the majority of the inhabitants 
of Jersey City, engaged in conduct which was "in gross violation of the civiI 
rights" of the plaintiffs, and that "CIO members and sympathizers were de- 
ported from Jersey City and searches of individuals continued to be made 
without warrant or probable cause."6i Judge Biggs declared that such conduct 
on the part of the officials of Jersey City was clearly in violation of the rights 
guaranteed to the plaintiffs by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to 
the Constitution, and that the statutory provisions under which the Jersey City 
officials purported to be acting, for example a Jersey City ordinance prohibit- 
ing the distribution in a public place of handbills, were also in violation of 
the freedoms of speech and press protected by the Fourteenth Amendment.6* 
Finally, Judge Biggs held that the Jersey City officials' actions, taken pursuant 
to another city ordinance prohibiting public meetings without a permit, were 
also unconstitutional in that they constituted previous restraints on the rights 
guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to individuals to speak before 
assemblies of their fellows in public places." Clearly Judge Biggs believed 
that incidents such as those which passed in Jersey City were of the greatest 
danger to the republic: 

We think that an American community, devoted to American principles, cannot 
exist upon the terms offered by the appellants. Minorities, however unpopular, 
must be allowed to make their voices heard and the whipping up of public 
indignation and public clamor to the end that free expression of opinion and 
free assembly may not be had sits with little grace upon the officials of an 
American city. Fundamental civil liberties must not be tampered with if  our 
system of democratic government is to survive.70 

Judge Davis dissented from Judge Biggs's opinion, on the ground that the 
city ordinances in question were valid exercises of the state's right "to pro- 
mote the health, safety, morals, and general welfare of its people." Davis's 
position on this legal issue was one that had the explicit support of several 
decisions of the United States Supreme Court," and Judge Davis indicated 
"with regret" that he could not agree with Judge Biggs that the rule of these 
cases had been "modified" by subsequent Supreme Court  decision^.'^ Further, 
considering all the evidence, Judge Davis declared that the officials who ad- 
ministered the ordinances might well have honestly believed that they were 
required to refuse permits for the CIO to assemble because of the risks of 
violence and damage to pr~perty.~%ven Judge Davis, however, appeared 



to agree with the majority that the conduct of the police of Jersey City might 
have gone too far in the acts of "deportation" and searches and seizures of 
the ~Iaintiffs.~' Still, while Judge Davis's conservative views about the extent 
of the right to public assembly may have been in accordance with the law as 
it had been laid down in the past by the Supreme Court, Judges Biggs and 
Maris had "resuscitate[d] the long dead Civil Rights Act" and rendered a 
decision on broad democratic principles which anticipated the great civil 
rights cases of the future. Indeed, because of recent rulings of the Supreme 
Court which effectively limit the ability of the federal courts to intervene to 
prevent state officials from infringing individual civil rights, it is probable that 
a decision like that rendered by Biggs and Maris against Frank Hague could 
not be repeated today.75 

Further evidence that the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals, and, indeed, 
Judges Maris and Biggs, were prepared to adopt a new Constitutional phi- 
losophy which anticipated the work of the Supreme Court is provided by 
another landmark case, invohing the right of children of Jehovah's Witnesses 
to refuse to salute the flag in school ceremonies. In Gobitis v. Minersville 
School District (1937), Jehovah's Witnesses argued before the then District 
Judge for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, Albert B. Maris, that the flag 
salute imposed on their children by their school district was an idolatrous 
religious practice which violated their liberties guaranteed by the Fourteenth 
Amendment to practice their religion without the interference of the state 
government. In that case of first impression, Judge Maris heId for the plaintiff 
Jehovah's Witnesses, and his decision was affirmed by the Court of Appeals 
in an opinion by Judge Clark, Judge Biggs and District Judge Kalodner con- 
curring.'" When the case reached the Supreme Court, however, the decision 
of the Court of Appeals was reversed, in an opinion by Justice Frankfurter, 
from which Justice Stone dissented.77 Still, a scant three years later, in West 
Virginia State Board of Education v. B~rnet te , '~ in an opinion by Justice 
Jackson, the Supreme Court, over the dissent of Justice Frankfurter, overruled 
their Gobitis decision, and held in accordance with the opinions of Judge 
Maris and the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals. Significantly, Justices Black 
and Douglas, who had concurred in the Supreme Court's reversal of the Third 
Circuit in Gobitis, and who were to go on shortly to become leading expo- 
nents of broad construction of the guarantees of the Bill of Rights, filed a joint 
concurring opinion, indicating that they had become convinced that they were 
wrong to concur in the Supreme .Court's decision in Gobitis. 

In 1946 the Federal District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania 
decided Kardon v .  National Gypsum CO.,'~ probably one of the most im- 
portant opinions to be rendered by any of the courts of the Third Circuit. 
The question in that case was whether there was a private right of action for 
investors injured by acts in violation of the anti-fraud provisions of Section 
lO(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.80 The defendants argued that 
since other provisions of the Act, notably Sections 9, 16, and 18, expressly 
provided that acts in violation of their provisions would give rise to private 



civil actions, the inescapable inference was that Congress, in writing Section 
10, which contained no such express provision, did not intend to create a 
private cause of action.81 It seems to have become the currently accepted 
opinion of most of the members of the United States Supreme Court that 
"when Congress wished to provide a private damage remedy, it knew how to 
do so and did so expli~i t ly ."~~ District Judge Kirkpatrick rejected such a line 
of reasoning, however, and followed instead the logic of Restatement Torts, 
Vol. 2, Section 286.83 The restatement suggests that civil actions are appro- 
priate when a statute making certain conduct illegal is intended to protect 
particular interests of individuals and when the individual seeking to bring a 
civil action is a member of a class sought by the legislature to be protected.84 
Judge Kirkpatrick proceeded to declare, in effect, that the decision of Con- 
gress not to provide expressly for a private right of action in Section 10 was 
irrelevant. He stated that the question was not merely one of statutory in- 
terpretation, but rather: 

It is whether an intention can be implied to deny a remcdy and to wipe out a 
liability which normally, by virtue of basic principles of tort law accompanies 
the doing of the prohibited act. Where, as here, the whole statute discloses a 
broad purpose to regulate securitics transactions of all kinds and, as a part of 
such regulation, the specific section in question provides for the elimination of 
all manipulative or deceptive methods in such transactions, the construction 
contended for by the defendants may not be adopted, In other words, in view 
of the general purpose of the Act, the mere omission of an express provision for 
civil liability is not sufficient to negative what the general law implies.85 

The Supreme Court did not rule on the availability of the private right of 
action under Section 10(b)  until 1971, twenty-five years later, but in the 
meantime the Kardon case became a judicial landmark, and was embraced by 
many other lower federal courts.86 In light of the Supreme Court's current 
attitude in the securities area that "The ultimate question is one of congres- 
sional intent, not one of whether this Court thinks that it can improve upon 
the statutory scheme that Congress enacted into Judge Kirkpatrick's 
opinion can be seen not to be free of bootstrap reasoning. Judge Kirkpatrick 
was relying on what he called the implication of "general law," by which he 
presumably meant the Restatement of Torts section to which he referred. 
The Restatements, of course, are not, strictly speaking, law unless previously 
so declared by a competent law-maker for the jurisdiction, and, in any event, 
the Restatement provision seems to have been of doubtful applicability where 
the legislative provisions of other sections might have suggested a deliberate 
Congressional omission of a private right of action for Section 10. What then, 
might have led Judge Kirkpatrick in the direction of his holding? Perhaps 
the most likely explanation is simply the increasing prominence of the juris- 
prudential perspective already noted for the Court of Appeals, a perspective 
that sought to give greater scope to the protection of individual rights. In- 
deed, if one can take further license to speculate, perhaps Judge Kirkpatrick 
might have been influenced by the fact that another Pennsylvania federa1 



district judge, Judge Albert W. Johnson had just resigned after charges of 
corruption, and perhaps he remembered the ruination and corruption as a 
result of losses in the market of Judge J. Warren Davis and of Judge Martin 
T. Manton of the Second Circuit.88 Perhaps this memory led to a desire that 
the chance for such ruination and corruption be diminished, and perhaps 
Judge Kirkpatrick's provision of a private right of action under the anti-fraud 
section of the Exchange Act, Section 10(b), was a means for the effectuation 
of such a desire. 

In any event, one can see a similar spirit of broad equitable construction 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 on the bench of the Third Circuit's 
Court of Appeals, perhaps best exemplified by Judge Biggs's opinion in SEC 
v .  Transamerica C~rporation,~"ecided in the year following Kardon; and 
which became a leading case on the interpretation of the Securities Exchange 
Act's provisions regarding the solicitation of proxies by corporate manage- 
ment. The principal issue in the Transamerica case was whether the provision 
of Delaware law that dictated management of the business of a corporation 
by its board of directorsB%eant that the Board had discretion over whether 
or not to select independent auditors and whether or not to send an account 
or a report of the proceedings at the annual meeting to stockholders. Trans- 
america's management argued that Delaware's statute gave it such discretion, 
and that therefore it could legally refuse to send out proxies regarding a 
shareholder's proposals concerning these matters. 

Judge Biggs, construing the proxy provisions of the Securities and Ex- 
change Act of 1934, declared that "A corporation is run for the benefit of its 
stockholders and not for that of its  manager^."^' This meant, he held, that 
stockholders were "entitled to employ watchmen to eye the guardians of their 
enterprise, the directors," and therefore the Delaware statutory provision 
regarding board management could not be invoked to prevent voting on a 
shareholder proposal for the hiring of indenendent allditnrc 82 

With regard to the stockholder proposal concerning the mailing out of re- 
ports of the annual meeting, Judge Biggs wrote that "accurate information as 
to what transpires respecting the corporation is an absolute necessity if stock- 
holders are to act for their joint intere~t."~Vudge Biggs went on to hold, in 
effect, that such joint action by stockholders was precisely what the framers 
of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 had in mind. In language that was 
to be quoted innumerable times in the next few decades, Judge Biggs de- 
clared that 

I t  was the intent of Congress to require fair opportunity for the operation of 
corporate suffrage. The control of great corporations by a very few persons was 
the abuse at which Congress struck in enacting Section 14(a).84 

In this manner Judge Biggs set a precedent that the Securities Laws should be 
construed in a fashion that encouraged the expansion of "corporate democ- 
racy." There was some support in the legislative history for Judge Biggs's 
opinion as to the linkage between ideas about corporate democracy and the 



passage of the proxy provisions of the Act of 1934,95 but the overwhelming 
purpose of the provisions in the 1934 Act would seem to have been the 
furtherance of "disclosure" with regard to the value of securities, and not the 
furtherance of the participation of stockholders in corporate governan~e.~" 
Further, at least in the case of a large publicly traded corporation such as 
Transamerica, it would seem arguable that extended action on shareholder 
proposals is not necessary adequately to protect the monetary interests of 
shareholders, since a shareholder who was disenchanted with management 
has the easy option of sale of his or her shares. This possibility, then, would 
serve to keep management in line, since management's performance and sub- 
sequent rewards depend in part on the maintenance of an environment in 
which investors are encouraged to buy and hold rather than to sell shares, 
and would serve also to afford an inexpensive remedy for the individual dis- 
satisfied shareholder." As may have been true in the Kardon and the Hague 
v. CIO cases, perhaps Judge Biggs believed that the primary goaI of his court 
was fundamentally to reaffirm the principles of fairness and democracy by 
means of greater protection of the rights of individuals, particularly in light 
of the allegations of misconduct recently levelled at Third Circuit judges. Per- 
haps the furtherance of this goal led him to the paradoxical declaration in 
Transamerica that the fact that the facilitation of the participation of share- 
holders in the governance of the corporation might result in considerable 
expense to the corporation (and thus indirectly to its shareholders) was 
irrelevant in light of the "absolute necessity" of permitting shareholders to 
'Lact for their joint interest.""* 

B. Caution 

Whatever the reasons for the boldness of these opinions, by the 1950's, 
the members of the Third Circuit Court of Appeals appear to have become 
concerned with certain inherent limitations on a court's law making activities. 
The "Constitutional Revolution" of 1937 eventually generated pressure on 
the Supreme Court to sort out its various roles and to harmonize conflicting 
notions of judging," and similar pressure seems to have been felt by the 
members of the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals. 

Competing judicial philosophies resulted in conflicting pressures on twenti- 
eth century appellate judges.'" On the one hand, influenced primarily by 
the legal realists, and working as a 'social engineer' a judge like Judge Biggs, 
Judge Maris, or Judge Kirkpatrick could promote causes and issues he thought 
important. On the other hand, impartiality, impersonality, and rationality 
remained as important judicial q~alities, '~'  and these suggested caution in 
implementing judges' personal values. By the mid-fifties or so, it may have 
appeared that the judges of the Third Circuit were more concerned with 
judging as a specialized profession bound by a certain level of restraint rather 
than with judging as a vehicle for achieving a personal vision of social re- 
organizaiton. The Third Circuit judges appear to have concluded that social 



changes were still necessary, but that changes could be made to occur natu- 
rally, rationally, and with increased public acceptance, if the judges stressed 
what might be characterized as "judicial integrity." 

The judicial career of Judge Hastie may provide the best example of these 
developments. Before being appointed to the Third Circuit's bench, Hastie 
had worked with civil rights lawyers such as Charles Houston and Thurgood 
Marshall, and had achieved a remarkable record of courtroom victories over 
racial d;scrimination."" Hastie had worked as counsel in such cases of Fisher 
v. Hirst, 333 U.S. 147 (1948), in which the Supreme Court enforced the 
right of access for blacks to state professional schools of quality equal to 
those available for whites; Smith v. Allright, 321 U.S. 449 (1944) in which 
the Court invalidated Texas's "white primary;" and Alston v. School Bd., 112 
F .  2d. 992 (4th Cir. 1940) in which the court of appeals declared unconsti- 
tutional different salary schedules for black and white public school teachers. 

Moreover, Hastie's government service had included two years as a civiIian 
aide to the Secretary of War (1  940-42) at the end of which he again demon- 
strated his personal commitment to racial equality. This position as aide was 
supposed to have lasted the duration of the war, but Hastie resigned as ". . . a 
public challenge to the discriminatory policies and practices of the Army Air 
Force."lo3 This last incident might be taken to emphasize the difference be- 
tween private citizen Hastie, who felt free to express his outrage at a racially 
prejudiced system, and Judge Hastie, who wrote opinions which appear to 
reflect a notion of the court as ". . . a truly limited . . ." branch of govern- 
ment.lo4 

Hastie's entire judicial career, from appointment hearings to retirement was 
one of "faithful observance of judicial self-restraint."'05 His protracted con- 
firmation proceedings for both the Virgin Islands District Court judgeship 
and for the Third Circuit Judgeship must have been exceptionaIly painful 
examples of prejudice.lo8 Still, "Judge Hastie's reaction was remarkably 
mild."to' He does appear to have believed that as a judge he could use the 

Constitution as an ". . . eventual instrument of justice."10B Hastie felt, how- 
ever, that the dispensation of justice could be effectuated "only by demon- 
strating the integrity and orderliness of the judicial process. . . ."'Og 

For example, in Gentile v .  Finch, 423 F. 2d 244 (3rd Cir. 1970), writing 
for the court, Judge Hastie reversed the district court in an OASDI disability 
case. He stated that he was required to read the statute narrowly, and he 
found no "disability," though his finding meant denying a coal miner with 
obvious black lung disease any statutory benefits."" Hastie admitted that this 
result was "harsh," but he concluded, perhaps somewhat contrarily to the 
spirit of the Kardon and Hague cases, that the court was ". . . bound by the 
explicit Congressional ~omrnand.""~ As early as 1952 Judge Hastie had indi- 
cated his tendencies toward judicial restraint, when he participated in a 
decision that held that the National Labor Relations Act did not impose a 
broad duty of non-racially discriminatory repre~entat ion,~~'  In order so to 
hold Hastie had to reject the rather compelling analogy which might have 
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been drawn to the Supreme Court's recent holding of such a non-discrimina- 
tory duty implied by the Railway Labor Act.lla 

IV. 6 960-1 981 : Ideological Diversity 

It appears, then, that the 1950's were a decade of relatively stability and 
orderly development for the Third Circuit, as they were for the country. The 
1960's were more uneven. In the beginning of this period there were many 
changes in the personnel of the Court of Appeals. In 1959, as indicated 
earlier, Judge Maris retired to Senior Judge status and Phillip Forman, 
Eisenhower's only appointment to the Third Circuit Court of Appeals, took 
his place on the bench.ll* Judge Forman, who had been sitting on the District 
Court, was a living link to the national past, having been appointed United 
States Attorney by President Coolidge and appointed a District Judge in 1932 
by President Hoover. Beginning after his appointment to the Court of Ap- 
peals, he served as the Chairman of the Judicial Conference's Advisory Rules 
Committee on Bankruptcy Rules. His length of federal judicial service was 
one of the longest, although after only two years as a Court of Appeals judge, 
Forman retired and joined Judge Maris as a senior judge. 

In 1961, J. Cullen Ganeylls and William F. Smith1le were appointed to the 
Third Circuit by John Kennedy. Herbert F. Goodrich died in 1962, and was 
replaced in 1964 by Abraham L. Freedman, a Johnson appointee.l17 Judge 
Biggs retained his position as Chief until 1965, at which time he assumed 
Senior Judge status. He was followed as Chief Judge by Judge Kalodner on 
October 6, 1965. Judge Kalodner stepped down as Chief Judge on March 28, 
1966 at the age of 70, but did not assume Senior status until October 3, 1969. 
Kalodner was replaced as Chief Judge by Staley on March 29, 1966, who in 
turn assumed senior status on December 31, 1967. Judge Hastie became 
Chief Judge on January 1, 1968. Collins J. Seitz,lls on July 18, 1966, filled 
the vacancy created after Judge Biggs assumed senior status. Judge J .  Cullen 
Ganey assumed senior status in August 1966. Francis L. VanDusen replaced 
Staley.ll" Judge Smith died in 1968, and was replaced by Ruggero J. AIdi- 
sert.'*O David Stahl12' was appointed to the Court of Appeals in October of 
1968. Judges Arlin M. Adams and John J. Gibbons joined the Third Circuit 
in 1969.lZ2 

These rapid personnel changes, of course, altered the character of the Third 
Circuit, which had remained a virtually unchanged bench for more than a 
decade. Still, the Court's identity continued to be molded by the traditions of 
the "Biggs" years. Furthermore, Biggs's successors, Kalodner in 1965, Staley 
in 1966, and Hastie in 1968, had all been appointed to the court by 1950, 
and had all served with Chief Judge Biggs since their appointments. Still 
another source of continuity for the Third Circuit was the provision of federal 
law which ensures that a retired or Senior Judge might still work to the extent 
that he is willing and able. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §294(b) and 371(b), any 
United States District or Circuit Judge may elect to become Senior Judge at 



age 65 if he or she has served 15 years, or at age 70 if he or she has served 
10 years. 

As indicated earlier, the assumption of Senior Status also allows for the 
appointment of a replacement judge, thereby easing a court's workload. Most 
observers have agreed with Judge Lumbard, who stated that 

The federal judicial system would be strengthened in several ways if every 
circuit and district judge became a senior judge at age 70 or as soon after 70 
as he or she has served 10 years.12" 

The experience of the Third Circuit supports this view, as it was aided 
considerably by the election of senior status by Maris in '59, Forman in '61, 
Biggs in '65, Ganey in '66, and Staley in '67. These Senior judges continued 
to assume a large share of responsibility in case disposition. During the years 
1965 until 1969, the Third Circuit ranked a very close second to the Seventh 
Circuit in the percentages of three judge panels which included a senior judge. 
27.2% of the panels, better than one in four, included a senior judge. In 
contrast, the Third Circuit ranked 9th among the eleven circuits in frequency 
of utilizing the two other tools available to Circuit Chiefs for additional 
judicial manpower. Only 13.3% of the Third Circuit panels included District 
Court judges while only 1.7% of the panels employed a visiting judge.'" The 
figure for District Court judges employed might have been lower still were it 
not for the Third Circuit's practice of inviting each new District Judge, some 
time during his or her first year of service to sit on a panel of the Court of 
Appeals, in order better to understand the problems confronted by the 
appellate court. 

Still, the constant influx of new judges to the Third Circuit bench during 
the 1960's might have been expect.ed to lead to some jurisprudential differ- 
ences. The statistics compiled by one scholar indicate, however, that the 
Third Circuit maintained a reasonably high level of unanimity during the 
early 1960's. In his study of the Federal Circuit Courts of Appeals sociolo- 
gist Sheldon Goldman suggested that dissents were "relatively infrequent." 
Between JuIy 1,  1961 and June 30, 1964, however, the Third Circuit had 
dissenting opinions filed in 9.4% of its cases decided, a figure which was the 
fourth highest of the eleven circuits.lz5 

The figures on dissents in almost one out of ten cases might still thus be 
seen to reflect new pressures being exerted upon the federal appellate courts. 
In the sixties, in an increasing number of cases, Federal judges were asked to 
redress continuing societal wrongs, Many litigants perceived the executive 
and legislative branches of government as lumbering and ineffectual, as un- 
able to respond effectively to a series of events which included domestic tur- 
bulence in the cities, the assassinations of national leaders, and the death and 
destruction caused by an undeclared war in Southeast Asia. These events 
apparently led several judges to feel that it was appropriate and necessary for 
them to decide cases accordins to their own substantive values126 and deci- 



sions prompted by and statements of substantive values by judges inevitably 
led to disagreement. 

The increasing difficulties faced by the federal judges is suggested by the 
striking increase in the number of cases initiated in the federal district courts 
in the sixties and early seventies and a subsequent increase in the number of 
appeals filed. In 1960, 3,889 cases were filed in the eleven circuit courts of 
appeal. By 1962, the number had risen by almost 25% to 4,823, but by 
1972, the number of filings had increased again by more than 300%, to 
14,535. Meanwhile, the number of federal Appellate Court judgeships during 
the ten year period from 1962 to 1972 rose only 20% from 78 to 97.12' 

If we examine some representative opinions of this period we can find 
evidence of conflict over "substantive values," and difficulty in maintaining 
the posture of "judicial restraint" that may have characterized the jurispru- 
dence of the preceeding decade. One landmark of the early sixties was Judge 
Biggs's decision in United States v. Currents (1961 ) .Iz8 In that case Judge 
Biggs was presented with an opportunity to apply judicially the insights he 
had developed in his book, The Guilty Mind (1955).lm The question pre- 
sented in the Currens case was the psychological nature of criminal guilt. The 
defendant had pleaded "not guilty" by reason of insanity, and, in determining 
the question of whether the defendant possessed the requisite "sanity" to 
possess criminal guilt, the trial court had instructed the jury according to the 
traditional "M'Naghten Rules."lR"According to that standard, the defendant 
was to be declared "sane" and thus potentially guilty, if it could be demon- 
strated that at the time of doing the acts for which he was being prosecuted, 
he was capable of distinguishing "right7' from "wrong." 

According to Judge Biggs, a test for sanity that depended on the ability to 
distinguish "right" from "wrong", was a "sham." "Our institutions, he pointed 
out, "contain many patients who are insane or mentally ill or mentally 
diseased and who know the difference between right and wrong." Biggs ex- 
plained that the truth of this assertion would be obvious to any layman who 
toured a mental h0spita1.l~' Based on the research he undertook in The 
Guilty Mind, Judge Biggs exposed the origins of the M'Naghten Rules in a 
sixteenth century English text, published in a time "in which belief in witch- 
craft and demonology, even among well educated men, was widespread."132 
Referring to a number of modern scholarly and textbook works in psychology 
and psychiatry,'"' Biggs maintained that the view of "guilt" inherent in the 
M'Naghten Rules was as fallacious and simplistic as the belief in witchcraft 
or demonology. 

Accordingly, Biggs declared that the Third Circuit would become the first 
Circuit to follow the D.C. Circuit's seven-year-old decision in the Durham 
case,'".' and adopt the rule that a defendant could be found not guilty by 
reason of insanity if "at the time of committing a prohibited act, defendant, 
as a result of mental disease or defect, lacked substantial capacity to conform 
his conduct to the requirements of law he allegedly violated."lm By rejecting 
the rigid M'Naghten Rule, Biggs maintained he was allowing the courts of 



the Third Circuit to take advantage of the insights of modern psychology. 
Biggs sought thus to free juries from the "frozen" dictates of an outmoded 
demonology, and sought to ensure that instead of being forced into an arti- 
ficial inquiry having little to do with the actual mental capabilities of defend- 
ants, juries would be allowed to engage in a more sophisticated analysis of 
mental disabilities, advised by the insights and the testimony of experts. 

Whatever the ultimate wisdom of the psychological test of Currens and 
Durhum,lM it is clear that Biggs was making a bold effort to adapt the sub- 
stantive law to the complexities and realities of modern society. It  would 
appear that in so doing Judge Biggs had, at least in part, departed from some 
of the tenets of the jurisprudence which had recently characterized many of 
the Court of Appeals's decisions. 

This departure is suggested by the separate opinion in Currens filed 
by perhaps the leading proponent of "judicial restraint" on the Court of Ap- 
peals, Judge Hastie. He suggested that while Judge Biggs's views on the 
appropriate test of insanity were correct, they would have been better stated 
in an opinion where the facts more clearly indicated that the old and new 
standards would result in different decisions.137 Perhaps it is fair to say that 
Judge Hastie was implicitly criticizing Judge Biggs for overreaching in order 
to establish the substantive legal rule Biggs thought best for the Third Circuit. 

One can find a similar debate over the appropriate psychological determi- 
nations for legal purposes, and perhaps more clear conflicts over substantive 
values in a different context at the end of this period, in the beginning of the 
next decade, when the Court of Appeals considered a number of cases involv- 
ing young men indicted for refusing induction during the Vietnam War. The 
psychological question associated with these determinations was the nature 
of the choice made by those who sought to be exempted from induction on 
the grounds that they were "conscientious objectors." In Scott v. Command- 
ing Oficer, one of the most important draft cases, which was decided in 
1970,13%n inductee claimed that he was entitled to a review of his draft 
status on the grounds that he had become a "conscientious objector" to war. 
The success of his case depended on the court's determining that his personal 
"conversion" to conscientious objector status was "beyond his control," since 
it occurred after he received his notice of induction. The applicable federal 
regulations only permitted a change of classification by the local board in 
such cases where events "beyond the control" of the individual had led to a 
change in his status. In accepting the argument of the inductee, Judge Seitz, 
writing for the court, explained that the making of a "conscientious objector" 
was an "evolutionary" process, involving a "crystallization of beliefs," and 
that such a crystallization might take place involuntarily only when a notice 
of induction was actually received and when one was "finally forced to con- 
front the reality of a world dominated by military force."139 

This aspect of Judge Seitz's opinion was dissented from by Judge Aldisert, 
who believed that the conversion to conscientious objector status was a mat- 
ter of personal choice, a matter within the control of the individual. Judge 



Aldisert pointed out that Judge Seitz's holding on this matter was a "minor- 
ity" position held by only one other circuit and rejected by five.140 Judge 
Aldisert cited the works of several philosophers, including William James, 
John Dewey, and Bertrand Russell in support of his views on the voluntary 
nature of human beliefs,141 but Judge Aldisert appeared to recognize that his 
own views on the matter might have been dictated by his personal feelings: 

"At the risk of being accused of undue cynicism, I must confess my own 
subjective inclination to examine carefully all tardy expressions of conscientious 
objector belief. When the public expression of this formulation first takes place 
after receipt of the notice of induction. I am not willing to afFix to such an 
occurrence, as would the majority, the irrebuttable presumption that it has 
happened on the road to Darna~us." '~~ 

Judge Aldisert may have been somewhat more "cynical" than the majority, 
and his position in these draft cases seems to have made him somewhat less 
willing to relax the standards for cases of conscientious objection than were 
some of his brethren.'43 Still, Judge Aldisert took pains to point out in the 
Scott Case that he believed that there might be some cases where "the crystal- 
lization of conscientious objector beliefs" was "beyond the control of the 
registrant," and that he was willing to have "each case be evaluated on its 
own 

Furthermore, Judge Aldisert appears to have been wholly in agreement 
with the main point decided by the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals in Scott, 
that when a prima facie case for conscientious objector status was made out 
by a registrant, and a local board rejected such a claim and ordered induc- 
tion, that the board was required to state its basis of decision and reasoning.145 
Perhaps it is fair to suggest that given the volatility of public criticism of the 
Vietnam War, and the dislocations erupting in America as a result, funda- 
mental fairness was thought by most of the judges of the Third Circuit to 
dictate at least this minimal procedural step on the part of the local boards. 
By thus requiring a precise statement of rationale by the local boards, of 
course, the Court made the task of an inductee seeking to overturn the 
Board's rejection of conscientious objector status much easier, as the state- 
ment would tend to narrow the matters in dispute. The agreement on this 
point by the Court of Appeals and by the United States Supreme Court is 
even more striking when one considers that the applicable statute originally 
seems to have been drafted in a manner that would forbid judicial review of 
these  decision^."^ 

This interpretation of the Scott case, that is, that it may have resulted from 
a desire to liberalize the requirements for conscientious objector status in 
light of expressed public dissatisfaction with the war in Vietnam, is given 
further credence by the difficulties that at least one other Third Circuit Judge, 
Judge McLaughlin, had with the Scott standards. For example, in United 
States v. Merkle,14? Circuit Judge Van Dusen, joined by District Judge Han- 
num, held that the defendant made out a prima facie case for conscientious 



objector status by maintaining in his application that (1)  "Love and under- 
standing among men are delicate [and] . . . are destroyed by violence and 
war," (2) that "to kill another is an act of despair and blindness," and (3 )  
that he was "not willing to do this;" where the defendant's sincerity was 
attested to by supporting letters.148 The majority further held that since the 
local board had not submitted its reasons for denying the defendant's C.O. 
application, the defendant's conviction for refusing induction had to be 

Judge McLaughlin, dissenting, pointed out that the registrant, in his first 
filing with his draft board had not asked for conscientious objector status, but 
had instead requested a student deferment, and, upon that being granted, had 
"put in what seems to have been a comfortable four years at college."150 Judge 
McLaughlin expressed his skepticism regarding the defendant's claim that 
reading Dostoyevsky had influenced him to assume a conscientious objector's 
beliefs. First the judge questioned whether the defendant reaIly had read 
Dostoyevsky's works, since he referred specifically to none of them. Then, 
indicating his own feelings on the legitimacy of the Vietnam War, Judge 
McLaughlin stated, ". . . Dostoyevsky had pity for suflering humanity. There 
is not even an attempted suggestion by [the defendant] that Dostoyevsky 
would not have pitied the South Vietnamese whose every existence as a nation 
and as individual human beings was and is destroyed by North Vietnam with 
the open help and cooperation of Soviet Russia and Communist China."15' 
Judge McLaughlin also declared that the defendant had not adequately sup- 
ported his claim that the ancient Chinese philosophy of Taoism had influ- 
enced his beIiefs, and again Judge McLaughlin did so in terms that revealed 
the nature of his political beliefs: 

"Nothing was presented to his Local Board . . . that could be twisted to charge 
that honest, old fashioned Chinese Taoism practitioners, if Mao-Tse-Tung has 
left any of them alive, would not feel badly at the plight of the South 
Vietnamese and if free to do so, gladly help 

In light of this analysis, Judge McLaughlin believed that there was a factual 
basis for denying the sincerity of the defendant's beliefs regarding conscien- 
tious objection, and he maintained that this was enough "reasoning" to sup- 
port the decision of the draft board. It is thus difficult to believe that Judge 
McLaughlin's sympathies with the expressed American aims in the Vietna- 
mese War effort did not influence his attitude toward the disallowance of 
conscientious objector ~ 1 a i m s . l ~ ~  

It seems most important to observe, however, that even if there were occa- 
sional expressions of dissent over matters of political ideology, in the early 
seventies the rate of dissents was still low, and thus the Judges of the Third 
Circuit, even in the acrimonious Iate sixties and early seventies, seem to have 
been successful in using en banc panels and other means available to them 
in maintaining a relative uniformity of law within the Circuit.ls4 



V. The Third Circuit Today: Technical Wizardry nnd 
A Young Bench 

As indicated, the relatively stable bench of judges on the Third Circuit 
through the 1940's and 1950's is in stark contrast to the changes in personnel 
which occurred during the late 1960's and 1970's. The retirement of Judges 
McLaughlin, Hastie and Kalodner and the deaths of Judges Smith, Freedman 
and Ganey moved Judge Seitz from junior judge in 1966 to the Chief Judge- 
ship only five years later in 1971.'" Richard Nixon appointed eight new 
judges in less than four years from October 1969 until August 1973. This 
large number of appointments was made necessary in part by the untimely 
deaths of David StahI in 1970 and James Rosen in 1971, StahI sat on the 
court for 16 months, while Rosen sat for only a year.15c The other Nixon 
appointees, all of whom are still active circuit judges, were Max Rosenn in 
October of 1970,x5r James Hunter 111 in September of 1971,'" Joseph F. 
Weis, Jr. in March of 1973,'" and Leonard J. Garth in August of 1973.16" 
The Circuit's only Republican appointment since World War I1 had been 
Judge Forman, who had retired in 1961. With the Nixon appointments the 
Third Circuit became a predominantly "Republican" court after over 30 
years as a "Democratic" institution. 

It still seems fair to suggest that much of the character of the Third Circuit 
remains unchanged. The Chief Judge of the Third Circuit since Judge Hastie's 
retirement in 1971 has been Collins J. Seitz, a Democrat appointed to the 
court by President Johnson in 1966.1G1 Seitz's appointment to the Third Cir- 
cuit and his tenure as Chief Judge have led to a continuation of the judicial 
philosophy for the Third Circuit espoused by Judge Biggs, even if the court's 
composition has changed. An indication of Judge Seitz's judicial philosophy 
might be gained from an examination of Parker v .  Universiry of Delaware, 7 5  
A. 2d 225 (Del. 1950), and some successor cases which Seitz decided in his 
position as Vice Chancellor of Delaware. The Parker case was brought on be- 
half of 30 black studcnts who sought admission to the then all-white Univers- 
i ty  of Delaware. The Plaintiffs complained that the conditions at Delaware 
State College for negroes was inferior to those at the University of Delaware, 
and that this was unconstitutional, even in view of the 'separate but equal' 
doctrine of Plessy v .  Ferguson.'" Vice Chancellor Seirz visited both cam- 
puses, determined that the College for blacks was significantly inferior, 
and accordingly ordered the plaintiffs admitted to the University. This was 
the first time a state run undergraduate institution had been desegregated 
under the Plessy doctrine by court order.lti3 

Two years later, the NAACP brought two suits before Seitz attacking 
Pfess~~ itself on the basis that segregation was 'per set unequal.1G4 Despite 
Seitz's obviously strong feelings against segregation, Seitz declined to over- 
rule Plessy. Seitz was willing to apply the 'separate but equal' rule to grant 
the plaintiffs relief, but in language that indicated subscription to the views of 
judicial restraint espoused by Judges such as Hastie, he stated: 
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. . . I do not believe a lower court can reject a principle of United States 
Constitutional law which has been adopted by fair implication by the highest 
court of the land. I believe the "separate but equal" doctrine in education should 
be rejected, but I also believe its rejection must come from that Court.1fi5 

Not only is Chief Judge Seitz's judicial philosophy thus similar to that 
articulated by previous judges of the Third Circuit, but the administration of 
the Third Circuit during the tenure of Chief Judge Seitz has continued to be 
exceptional. As indicated, in these years the courts have had to face an in- 
creasingly litigious American population. Indeed, as Judge Seitz remarked at 
the Third Circuit Judicial Conference in September of 1979: 

In looking back (to 1971 ) . . . I find many recurring themes-judicial vacancies, 
the shortage of supporting personnel and facilities, and the ever increasing 
case load.1m" 

Additional administrative pressures have resulted from the 1974 enactment 
by Congress of the "Speedy Trial Act," which sets time limits for the final 
disposition of criminal cases.I6' The result, Seitz has observed, ". . . is an 
ominous delay in trying and deciding civil cases."'68 This is particularly sig- 
nificant in the Third Circuit, where in 1978, 83% of all filings in the Third 
Circuit District Courts were civil cases.169 

Nevertheless, the Third Circuit Court of Appeals's record of disposition of 
cases during the late 1970's has been impressive. In his 1978 "State of the 
Circuit" address, Chief Judge Seitz stated: 

In the last eight quarters, our court of appeals consistently has the fewest 
number of cases in the country falling into a delayed disposition category. 
Indeed, in five of the last eight quarters not one of our cases fell into a delayed 
disposition category.i70 

More recently, in his 1979 address, Seitz remarked: 

I am delighted to report that about 90% of all cases being heard this fall in our 
court of appeals were docketed this year. Thus, the appeal process in the Third 
Circuit could be more current than in any Circuit in the co~ntry. '~'  

Seitz's court has been able effectively to handle its caseload under difficult 
conditions, in large part because the Third Circuit has retained the innovative 
spirit which characterized the court under Chief Judge Biggs and Judge 
Maris. The court has shown a willingness to find new men, machines and 
procedures to streamline the administration of justice. It has increasingly 
utilized staff attorneys to pre-screen briefs for jurisdictional defects. In pro se 
appeals, these men and women develop the issues, establish complete records 
for the judges' inspection, and write bench 

The Third Circuit now uses computers for docketing cases and for circu- 
lating draft ~pinions.~~Torrespondence between judges is transmitted by 



electronic mail which relies upon a computer in Washington, D.C., and word 
processors in each judge's chambers.174 Other uses of electronics are being 
explored, yet there may be some wariness about the nature of progress in 
this area. Judge Seitz states, with characteristic restraint; 

We are moving carefully on this phase so that we do not adopt gadgetry for its 
own sake but only where it will help the court perform its assigned tasks more 
efficiently 

In conjunction with the Judicial Conference, the Third Circuit has initiated 
a 'satellite library system' to promote efficient use of legal resources while 
cutting costs.lT6 Rather than having each of the Third Circuit's courthouses 
support a complete legal library, each judge has been encouraged to main- 
tain only essential sources. Other research materials are then kept at three 
"satellite" libraries in Pittsburgh, Newark and Wilmington, where librarians 
and staff respond to individual requests by judges throughout the circuit for 
specialized materials. "Mini-satellites" are maintained in Wilkes-Barre and 
Camden.17' The resuIt of these developments is a smaller overall library staff, 
reduced number of legal volumes, and reduced expenses. The Third Circuit's 
library pilot program has been so successful that it has been recommended 
for adoption by the entire judiciary.178 It seems characteristic of the Third 
Circuit not only to have been chosen as the experimental circuit, but to have 
transformed the experiment into a practical success. In an earlier experiment 
conducted in cooperation with the Federal Judicial Center, from August 15, 
1971, to August 15, 1972, seven judges and fourteen law clerks kept precise 
time records on their disposition of appellate cases, in order to facilitate the 
study of suggestions for improving the administration of the Circuit Courts 
of Appeals.17" The experiment resulted in the only Time Study ever con- 
ducted by a federal Court of Appeals, and perhaps by any court. 

Also in accordance with the Third Circuit's tradition of recognition of the 
need for some diversity in analysis and of the value of suggestions for irn- 
provement, the Third Circuit was the first circuit in the country to establish a 
Lawyer's Advisory Committee, which it did in December of 1975.lS0 Formu- 
lated pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 9332, the Advisory Committee 

". . . is authorized to entertain communications from the Bar about the judicial 
system and personnel. If requested, the identity of the complaining party is not 
disclosed to the court. In this way, the court or the council may initiate an 
inquiry in an appropriate case without threat of recrimination. Beyond this, it 
is a valuable conduit by which the court can be made aware of the concerns 
of the Bar.ls1 

In addition to taking advantage of administrative innovations, the Third 
Circuit in recent years has also been able to achieve current status because of 
increased "productivity" of its judges. In 1975, the normal three judge panels 
of the court met for 26 weeks a year.lE2 This was increased to 29 weeks in 
1976, a year in which an average judge reviewed 240 cases.ls3 In 1977, the 



figures were increased to 30 weeks and 260 cases. In 1978, the traditional 
ten-month sitting schedule was increased to a 12 month schedule, which has 
resulted in a more uniform and continual disposition of cases.ls4 By 1979, 
Third Circuit judges were sitting on an average of 280 cases a year.lE5 

Since Collins J.  Seitz assumed the position of Chief Judge, the size of the 
court has grown to its present number of ten judges, and the Third Circuit 
has maintained its diverse character. For example, since the New Deal the 
court has continued to have on the bench men and women from varied reli- 
gious and ethnic backgrounds. Judges Adams, Rosenn and Garth are Jewish, 
Judges Aldisert, Weis and Gibbons are Catholic, as is Chief Judge Seitz. The 
court has recently been joined by Democratic Carter appointments A. Leon 
Higginbotham, who is black,ls6 and Dolores K. Sloviter, the Court of Ap- 
peals's first woman judge.lE7 Most of the New Deal judges have died; Biggs 
in 1979, Staley in 1978. Only Albert B. Maris, a marvelously vital individual, 
survives. 

Because of the lack of any perspective furnished by hindsight, it is difficult 
if not impossible to characterize the Third Circuit Court of Appeal's present 
judicial philosophy. The Third Circuit is again a "young" court, and there are 
signs that the court may be experimenting with a variety of approaches to 
contemporary Iegal issues, particularly the scope of individual rights, which, 
as we have seen, is perhaps the dominant concern in post New-Deal juris- 
prudence. For example, in U.S. v .  Dalia, (1978) the Third Circuit's Court of 
Appeals held that a law enforcement agency was implicitly authorized under 
Title I11 of the Safe Streets Act surreptitiously to enter a dwelling to install a 
listening device, although a court order only authorized specifically the sur- 
veillance itself.lE8 This result might be thought of as favoring the faciliation of 
law-enforcement activities, but the holding differs from results reached in the 
4th, 6th, 8th, 9th, and D.C. C i r c ~ i t s . ' ~ ~  

Dalia might instructively be compared with U.S. v. Molt, a case decided the 
same year, in which the Third Circuit held that a "good faith" misrepresenta- 
tion made by a government agent to a defendant regarding a warrantless 
search rendered it involuntary, despite the fact that the defendant was college 
educated, had consulted with counsel, had some business experience, and had 
initially consented.'" In that decision, of course, the facilitation of law en- 
forcement was subordinated to the desire for the protection of the rights of 
individuals to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. 

In Rosen v. Public S,ervice Electric & Gas Company (1975), the court 
held that sex discrimination in a pension plan violates Title VII.'91 Similarly, 
in E.E.O.C. v .  DuPont de Nemours & Company (1975), the court rejected 
the defendant's claim that racial discrimination suits under Title VII must be 
brought within 180 days of the alleged discrimination. The important role of 
the E.E.O.C. as Title VII enforcer was lauded, and its enforcement efforts 
were thus aided.lg2 Still, in Kober v. Westinghouse Electric Company (1973), 
two years earlier, the court of appeals had denied a claim under Title VII 
for back pay due to sex discrimination. Relief was denied in Kober despite a 



court finding that the defendant had intentionally discriminated. The Third 
Circuit held that no back pay was due where Westinghouse had acted in 
"good faith."lg3 

Another area in which the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals has recently 
demonstrated differing attitudes is that of the law regarding corporate secur- 
ities. It will be remembered that the "Biggs" court was strongly committed to 
the ideal of "corporate democracy," and to the protection of individual 
investors.ID4 One 1978 case, Monson v Consolidated Dressed Beef Co., 
Inc., lg5 gives strong evidence that this commitment continues. In ;hat case 
Circuit Judge Rosenn held that there was "aiding and abetting" liability under 
the Securities Laws1" where a bank's officers "effectively assisted" securities 
violators by telling them that future bank loans to them would be contingent 
on the continuation of a program where the prospective borrowers were 
exchanging promissory notes for their employees'payroll deductions in appar- 
ent violation of the securities laws. This was perhaps one of the least restric- 
tive interpretations of "aiding and abetting" liability by a federal court of 
appeals, an area of law that could potentially impose massive liability on 
financial institutions and, in effect, make lenders "insurers" that their borrow- 
ers were involved in no securities violations. For this reason, the leading 
scholarship on "aiding and abetting" liability cautions against liberally impos- 
ing such liability.'y7 

Still, a year after Monson, in Collins v .  Signetics Corporation,lYs Circuit 
Judge Aldisert refused to depart from the rule of the Third Circuit's district 
courts that privity between issuer and purchaser was required before liability 
could be imposed under 12(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 for misstate- 
ments in connection with the sale of securities. Judge Aldisert explained that 
Congress had provided a remedy under $1 1 of the Securities Act of 19331gs 
for a purchaser to utilize against an isuer for misstatements made in regis- 
tration statements. He stated that it would "torture the plain meaning of the 
statutory language," and would also "frustrate the statutory schema" to 
permit issuers also to be held liable, absent privity, under §12(2).200 
Judge Aldisert stressed that "In interpreting liability provisions of the acts, 
we must respect recent Supreme Court teachings that militate against exces- 
sively expansive readings."201 He noted several of these recent "Supreme 
Court teachings," including, inter alia, a decision that "A defeated tender 
offeror has no implied cause of action for damages under §14(e) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of I934 or under rule 106-5."m2 There is no doubt 
that Judge Aldisert's statement of the current "teachings" of the United States 
Supreme Court was correct,203 and that the Supreme Court has suggested that 
it feels it appropriate to reject an expansive construction of the federal secur- 
ities law so as not to permit private actions when they are not expressly pro- 
~ i d e d . ~ ~ ~  Still, in adopting the perspective of the Supreme Court, Judge 
Aldisert did depart from the line of reasoning in the Kardon c a ~ e , ~ ~ + h i c h  
appears to have been that such an expansive construction was the best means 
to protect investors and to secure 'Lcorporate democracy." 



The Third Circuit has just finished a decade-long period of reconstruction 
in personnel, much like the period beteen 1937 and 1950. The years 1966 to 
1979 have seen a nearly total change in the members of the Third Circuit 
Court of Appeals and perhaps the differences in perspective just discussed 
reveal accommodations to new judicial concerns. Indeed, a somewhat cursory 
study of 59 representative cases reveals thirteen with dissenting opinions.'06 
That 22 percent figure is substantially higher than the "dissent" figure re- 
ported in two previous studies of the court's work, both of which were below 
ten percent.20i 

Conclusion 

The Third Circuit Court of Appeals of the 1970's recalls the Third Circuit 
of the 1940's and 1950's in more ways than the initial experience of a rapid 
turnover in personnel. For example, both courts benefitted from the leader- 
ship of a young, highly experienced, and innovative Chief Judge. While the 
court may be once again engaged in the search for an appropriate judicial 
philosophy, given time, cooperation, and leadership, as happened in the 
nineteen-forties, consistency and consensus could increase. A perceived 
decline in the quality of jurisprudence on the Second Circuit after the retire- 
ment of Learned Hand might provide a lesson for the Third Circuit. Under 
the leadership of Judge Hand during the 1940's, the Second Circuit was be- 
lieved to be the country's most efficient court in terms of total number of cases 
pending and average time for disposition of a case.*08 According to Marvin 
Schick, author of Learned Hand's Court, after Hand's retirement in 1951, the 
2nd Circuit achieved one of the poorest records in those same areas. Upon 
close examination, Schick found ". . . a distinct difference between the per- 
formance of the 2nd Circuit in the 1940's and the court's record after Learned 
Hand's retirement. . . ."'09 In contrast, there were no distinct differences 
between the performances of the 3rd Circuit after Chief Judge John Biggs, 
nor after Chief Judge Harry E. Kalodner, nor after Chief Judge Austin L. 
Staley, nor after Chief Judge William H. Hastie. If the administrative system 
now being constructed by Chief Judge Seitz and his colleagues is treated with 
the same kind of innovative attention it has received since 1939, and if the 
current debates over substantive law are resolved as they have been in the 
past, an outstanding post-'Revolution' tradition of both the vindication of 
individual rights and judicial self-restraint can be maintained. 
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Summary and Conclusions 

These studies in the history of the federal courts of the Third Circuit have 
presented developments as responses to four "Revolutions" in American 
History: the American Revolution (Chapter II), the Industrial Revolution 
(Chapter 111) , the Managerial Revolution (Chapter IV) , and the Constitu- 
tional Revolution (Chapter V) .  Perhaps a less grandiose way of characteriz- 
ing the matters surveyed would be to say simply that we have treated the 
impact of several major political or economic dislocations on the federal 
courts. In Chapter I, then, we examined how, once the United States had 
separated from England, the new American federal courts sought to fashion 
and implement rules of American law which could function in a more satis- 
factory manner than had the common law rules of the British Empire. In 
Chapter 111, we saw how one judge, John Thompson Nixon, attempted to 
apply the moral and legal principles of antebellum America to the new and 
troubled society which emerged after the American Civil War. In Chapter 111 
we compared the work of the district and appellate courts as they sought to 
determine rules appropriate for the organization of American business as the 
economy of America changed in the period between two world wars. Finally, 
in Chapter V, concentrating primarily on the work and the personnel of the 
Third Circuit's Court of Appeals, we sought to review how judges responded 
to the inequities exposed by the Great Depression and to the demands for 
economic and social relief increasingly being made on all branches of the 
federal government. 

While the conditions which gave rise to the cases we have studied have had 
certain dramatic and perhaps even "revolutionary" differences, the nature of 
federal judicial decision-making has also exhibited some striking consisten- 
cies. Certain key legal assumptions, or core values, which were present in the 
post-revolutionary era continued to be implemented throughout American 



history. Further, the task of reconciling competing assumptions and values 
has not significantly altered, although the types of legal matters which have 
had to be resolved may have changed. 

I. The Past 

Richard Peters and Samuel Chase, the subjects of Chapter 11, both had 
distinguished careers during the revolutionary war, and both fought for the 
principles of sovereignty of the people and for the idea of republican instead 
of monarchical government. Both may have also accepted the notion that 
American greatness depended on the development of legal rules that would 
lead to commercial prosperity. Chase appears to have differed with Peters, 
however on the extent to which popular participation was necessary in federal 
law-making. He sought to circumscribe the popular jury in the Fries trial, and 
sought to limit the freedom for criticism of the government in the trials for 
seditious libel. Peters appears to have been more willing to allow diverse legal 
arguments to be made to juries, and there is evidence that Peters's admiralty 
opinions were quite sensitive to the needs of common sailors. Yet, in the 
dispute over the federal common law of crimes, Chase appears, initially at 
least, to have been more reluctant than Peters to sanction criminal punish- 
ment when there had been no express pronouncement by the people's repre- 
sentatives. In any event, as Chase's speech to Fries at the close of his trial 
demonstrated1 Chase believed that rigorous enforcement of federal tax and 
treason laws was necessary simply because no individuals had the right to 
revoke the work of the sovereign people's representatives. Similarly, Chase 
appears to have been harsh in the trials for seditious libel because he believed 
that the structure of American popular government was in severe danger of 
collapse. Unfortunately, the conception of limited onging popular participa- 
tion in government which was probably shared by Peters and Chase resulted 
in popular perceptions of Federalist judicial tyranny, and led to efforts to 
restrain the power and prerogatives of federal judges. 

John Thompson Nixon, the subject of Chapter 111, assumed a position on 
the federal bench at a time when the jurisdiction of the lower federal courts 
had finally been allowed to expand almost to its constitutional limits, and at 
a time when congress had repeatedly failed to provide the courts with the 
resources required to function consistently with the purposes of the multi- 
tiered court structure. As a result, Nixon found himself acting as both a Dis- 
trict and Circuit Court judge for New Jersey, and he was confronted with in- 
creasingly complex and perplexing litigation. Nixon, too, sought valiantly to 
apply the pririciples of popular sovereignty, and in his early decisions, as least, 
he tried to make the expressions of purposes of the legislature his strongest 
guides. As Nixon began to be confronted with a bewildering variety of matters 
resulting from increased industrialization and American economic develop- 
ment, however, particularly in patent cases, he seems to have emphasized a 
personal value preference for rewarding individual effort. He hoped thereby to 
encourage economic development which would benefit all. Eventually Nixon 



demonstrated a capability of departing even from precedents that he had set 
in upholding "popular construction" of language and the power of juries. 

Particularly toward the end of his tenure on the bench, Nixon's jurispru- 
dence demonstrated a creative and flexible standard of judging, which Nixon 
used to reach results he considered equitable in particular cases. The flexible 
and equitable nature of Nixon's judging resulted in significant reversals by 
the Circuit and Supreme Courts, which appear to have been less willing seri- 
ously to consider the purpose behind American laws, and to have been more 
disposed to rigid application of simple rules. 

While Chase and Peters may have found themselves losing touch with 
popular opinion, it appears that the basic equitable notions Nixon employed 
(and which the courts which reversed him might have ignored) were based 
on the early nineteenth century popular conceptions which Chase and 
Peters appeared to reject. In particular, Nixon seems to have been more con- 
cerned with the possibility of aggregations of economic power crushing 
valiant individuals, and to have sympathized, for example, with inventors in 
their struggles with "capitalists." While Nixon himself appears to have strug- 
gled to repress a popularly-based prejudice against corporations, a reading of 
jury instructions which he gave in several cases suggests that he was never 
able to divorce himself totally from such views. 

The conflict between the interests of individuals and the prerogatives of 
business organizations and the essential American ambivalence toward cor- 
porations was the explicit subject of Chapter IV. Like Nixon, other Ameri- 
cans in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries appear to have 
realized that concentrations of great economic power were inevitable if goals 
of American material prosperity were to be met. Still, again like Nixon, 
Americans struggled with the problem that such concentrations of economic 
power threatened other cherished conceptions, such as the supremacy of 
democratic ideals. In Chapter IV, then, we saw how the federal district court 
judges of Delaware, a state which had greatly encouraged incorporation, 
sought to balance increasing economic needs for managerial autonomy with 
older concepts of economic democracy. 

Judges Thompson and Morris, for example, seem to have showed great 
concern over the possibilities for self-dealing on the part of corporate mana- 
gers, and to have tried to construct fiduciary principles which would limit the 
possibility of such abuses. Circuit Judge Buffington, however, appears to 
have been more willing than were the district judges to create discretion in 
corporate managers, and to have gone so far in this direction that he may 
have exceeded his authority as an appellate judge in reversing determinations 
of facts. Similarly, District Judge Nields was concerned about the possibility 
of corporate fraud, although he admired the efforts, which he termed 
"heroic", of corporate entrepreneurs. Circuit Judge Davis, like his colleague 
Judge Buffington, appears to have been willing to tolerate greater autonomy 
for corporate managers. Indeed, it appears that Judge Davis's faith in the 
unbounded possibilities of American economic growth led him to invest 



heavily in the stock market, and, following the Great Crash, Davis's losses 
led him to compromise the independence of his office. He was never convicted 
of a crime in connection with such indiscretions, but a special panel sitting in 
his court found that he had been bribed, and reversed several of his judge- 
ments. 

The subject of Chapter V was the reconstitution of the Third Circuit's 
Court of Appeals, which proceeded as a result of the change in the character 
of political leadership and constitutional interpretation in the 'thirties and 
'forties. As men like Judges Biggs and Maris replaced Davis and Buffington, 
there was less of an articulated concern with the needs of economic organiza- 
tions, and more concentration on the rights of individuals. The lower federal 
courts do not, of course, choose the cases which come before them, and this 
is not to suggest that Biggs and Maris or their colleagues sought consciously 
to mold the law in order to redress past abuses. Still, the expressed concern 
with civil rights in the Hague v. CIO and Jehovah's witnesses cases, and the 
concern with the protection of shareholders and "corporate democracy" in 
Kardon v. National Gypsum, Inc. and S.E.C. v. Transamerica Corp. do ap- 
pear to mark a difference in attitude and approach to the resolution of legal 
problems. Insofar as these judges appear to have emphasized the rights and 
concerns of individuals, however, their jurisprudence contains elements simi- 
lar to that of Judge Nixon. 

Since World War I1 there has not been any major world or national cata- 
clysm approaching those which gave rise to the legal events studied here, but 
the work of the courts of the Third Circuit has continued to be characterized 
by the task of reconciling competing legal values. In several draft cases 
which resulted from the undeclared war in Vietnam, the bench of the Third 
Circuit divided in a manner which revealed tensions similar to those which 
divided the country in the time of Peters and Chase. Perhaps Judge Mc- 
Laughlin's belief that American participation in Indochina was in accordance 
with primary principles of democracy, and was a struggle against tyranny, led 
him to support discretion for local draft boards, in the same manner that 
Justice Chase had felt that strong support for the early American federal 
government was necessary to preserve the principles for which the Revolu- 
tionary War had been fought. Similarly, it may be that those judges who 
sought to circumscribe the actions of local boards, and to allow for increased 
conscientious objection on the part of draftees, reflected an emphasis on 
individual rights that was shared by those who opposed the early Federalist 
Judges. In any event, in the last several decades, in the Third Circuit and 
elsewhere, as we have seen, the recognition of the possibility of judicial law- 
making which might be contrary to the manifestations of popular will ex- 
pressed in the acts of legislatures or the Constitution itself has led some 
judges to espouse a philosophy of "judicial restraint," and to eschew the sort 
of creative jurisprudence which we have seen exercised by several of the 
judges here studied. Still, it appears that the pressures to make law exerted on 
the judges of the Third Circuit cannot be escaped. Two of the most recent 



cases make the inevitability of the judicial choices with which these studies 
have been concerned explicit. 

11. The Present 
In 1980, in the Japanese Electronic Products Antitrust Litigation2 the Court 

of Appeals was asked to resolve a matter on interlocutory Appeal from the 
District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania which raised issues of 
the appropriate participation of juries reminiscent of those Chase confronted. 
As Chief Judge Seitz posed the problem, it was "In an action for treble dam- 
ages under the antitrust and antidumping laws, do the parties have a right to 
trial by jury without regard to the practical ability of a jury to decide the case 
properly?" The plaintiffs, American corporations, had asked for a jury, and 
the defendants, Japanese competitors, had resisted. The issues involved deter- 
minations whether the Japanese corporations had engaged in conspiracies to 
destroy their American competitors, and whether they had engaged in price- 
discriminations among purchasers, in violation of various American anti- 
trust laws. 

By the time the case reached the trial stage, the activities of over one hun- 
dred corporations had become a subject of dispute, and, following nine years 
of discovery "millions of documents and over 100,000 pages of depositions," 
had been produced. The defendants argued that the case was too large and 
complex to go to a jury. The District court had ruled that the seventh 
amendment to the United States Constitution, which guarantees a jury trial 
in matters of common law involving disputes over twenty dollars, did not 
recognize the complexity of a lawsuit as a valid reason for denying a jury 
trial. The court of appeals, in an opinion by Judge Seitz, reversed the inter- 
locutory order of the District court. While Judge Seitz did not determine the 
merits of the dispute, he did declare that the law in the Third Circuit was 
that the fifth amendment to the constitution, insofar as it mandated "due 
process," required that "the decisionmaker's conclusion . . . rest solely on 
the legal rules and evidence adduced at the l~earing."~ 

To Judge Seitz this meant that unless the jury could understand the legal 
rules and the evidence that might be brought before them they would not be 
deciding in a "rational manner", and that a decision that was not rendered in 
such a "rational manner" would violate fifth amendment "due process" 
 requirement^.^ Recognizing the conflict between the seventh and fifth 
amendments, and declaring that his task was to "balance the constitutionally- 
protected interests", Judge Seitz concIuded that the fifth amendment interests 
were more fundamental. He observed that where jury verdicts might be based 
on improperly understood legal rules or evidence, "legal remedies will not 
be applied consistently with the purposes of the laws," and further that 
"There i s  a danger that jury verdicts will be erratic and completely unpre- 
dictable, which would be inconsistent with evenhanded justice." Finally, said 
Judge Seitz, "unless the jury can understand the evidence and the legal rules 
sufficiently to rest its decision on them, the objective of most rules of evidence 
and procedure in promoting a fair trial will be lost ent irel~."~ 



Noting that the existence of equitabIe and maritime actions without juries 
"indicates that federal courts can provide fair trials and can grant relief in 
accordance with . . . basic justice," Seitz concluded that the seventh amend- 
ment guarantee of a jury trial was not as fundamental as the fifth amend- 
ment guarantee of ra t i~na l i ty .~  Seitz indicated that it was not always true that 
judges would have an easier time rationally resolving complex problems of 
civil litigation than would juries, but he stated his belief that there were cer- 
tain instances when a judge would be able to  do a rational job when a jury 
would not, because judges might be more familiar with both the technical sub- 
ject matter of complex cases and the process of civil litigation, and judges 
might also be less disabled by having to spend a long period in the resoIution 
of a single dispute.' 

In the course of his discussion of the fifth amendment problems Judge 
Seitz indicated that while the function of "jury equity" might be legitimate 
when the jury modified law to conform to community values, "when the jury 
is unable to  determine the normal application of the law to the facts of a case 
and reaches a verdict on the basis of nothing more than its own determina- 
tion of community wisdom and values, its operation is indistinguishable from 
arbitrary and unprincipled de~isionmaking."~ Like Justice Chase, then, 
Judge Seitz seems to have been prepared to circumscribe the operation of 
juries where other fundamental legal values might be at stake. Still, accord- 
ing to  Judge Seitz's tests, perhaps some of the jury trials we explored in 
Chapters I1 and 111 often resulted in judgements which might have to be 
characterized as "irrational," insofar as they ignored the clear directions of 
the judges, and the undisputed character of the evidence. Indeed, the very 
principle of popular sovereignty, on which the sixth and seventh amendment 
right to jury trials rest, is one that does not seem to be based principally on 
notions of rationality, but rather on "community wisdom and values." Perhaps 
Judge Gibbons's reluctant dissent to Judge Seitz's opinion recognized this 
probIem when Judge Gibbons appeared to reject the majority's assertion that 
a trial judge could conceivably meet fifth amendment. requirements in com- 
plex civil litigation when a jury could not. Judge Gibbons thought that the 
precise issue was not presented in the case at bar, but he said that "I cannot 
conceive of a case in which what would be a separate claim for relief at  com- 
mon law, sufficiently comprehensible to  a trial judge to satisfy due process, 
would be too complex for trial to a jury."O StilI, part of Judge Gibbons's 
disagreement with the majority ran deeper, and resulted from his "percep- 
tion of the nature of the judicial process and the role of juries in that pro- 
cess."'O In words that might have been uttered by some of the republican 
opponents to Justice Chase who sought his impeachment, Judge Gibbons 
wrote: 

It is often said that thc judicial process involves the search for objective truth. 
We have no real assurance, however, of objective truth whether the trial is to 
the court or to a jury. The judicial process can do no more than legitimize the 
imposition of sanctions by requiring that some minimum standards of fair play, 
which we call due process, are adhered to. In  this legitimizing process, the 



seventh amendment is not a useless appendage to the Bill of Rights, but an 
important resource in maintaining the authority of the rule of law. In the 
process of gaining public acceptance for the imposition of sanctions, the role of 
the jury is highly significant. The jury is a sort of ad hoc parliament convened 
from the citizenry at large to lend respectability and authority to the process. 
Judges are often prone to believe that they, alone, can bear the fu l l  weight of 
this legitimizing function. I doubt that they can. Any erosion of citizen 
participation in the sanctioning system is in the long run likely, in my view, to 
rcsult in a reduction in the moral authority that supports the process.ll 

Insofar as Judge Seitz's ultimate concerns may have rested with the need 
for certainty of verdicts and the rational application of antitrust law in com- 
plex litigation in order to facilitate rational economic planning and develop- 
ment, then, he was making a choice between competing values in a manner 
similar to that of the Federalists Chase and Peters. This was a choice rejected 
by his colleague Judge Gibbons, who, like the republican opponents of 
Chase, chose to adhere to the values of popular sovereignty which he saw as 
dictating fuller "citizen participation in the sanctioning system." 

Another fundamental judicial choice appears to have been made recently 
by the specially-convened three-judge District Court for the Eastern District 
of Pennsylvania, in Goldberg v. Rostker (Civil Action No. 71-1480, Mem- 
orandum Opinion issued July 18, 198O), where the court was required to 
determine the constitutionality of the selective service registration of males 
only.12 Judge Seitz's opinion in the Japanese Electronic Products litigation 
was the first pronouncement by a federal court of appeals of the superiority 
of the fifth amendment over the seventh amendment rights in complex civil 
litigation, and in that sense might be said clearly to have made "new law." 
The opinion of District Judge Cahn in Goldberg purported simply to be fol- 
lowing the Supreme Court's rule that statutory classifications based on gender 
were unconstitutional unless they are substantially related to an important 
governmental interest.lJ Still, since the "important government objective" for 
gender classifications test is itself a rather blatant example of judicial law- 
making by the Supreme Court,lQnd since Judge Cahn's opinion is, at this 
writing, the only one to hold the males-only selective service registration 
uncon~titutional,~~ it seems worthy of note in a discussion of the inevitability 
of judicial value choices. 

Judge Cahn noted, again in accordance with the expressions of the 
Supreme Court, that "Outdated stereotypical notions are not a valid basis for 
gender discrimination,"16 and he also remarked in a footnote that "when the 
MSSA was adopted in 1948 an aura of male chauvinism permeated Congres- 
sional attitudes toward women in the military."" Congress, in its Report of  
the Subcommittee on Manpower and Personnel on the Rejection of Legisla- 
tion Requiring the Registration of Young Women under the Military Service 
Act, advanced several reasons in support of a males-only registration, and 
among the most important were that there was no "military need to include 
women in a selective service system," that the usefulness of women to the 



military was limited because by law and policy they could not be placed in 
combat positions, and that "strains on family life . . . would result from the 
registration and possible induction of women." In his opinion, Judge Cahn 
examined testimony on the usefulness of women to the military, and then 
concluded that all the evidence (and, indeed, the testimony of military offici- 
als) supported the suggestion that women could be extremely useful to the 
military in non-combat positions during wartime, freeing more men for 
essential combat tasks, and thus the government had not met its burden of 
justifying the gender-based discrimination against women. 

Curiously, Judge Cahn never weighed the Congressional assertion that 
"strains on family life . . . would result from the registration and possible 
induction of women." Judge Cahn reviewed no evidence suggesting that the 
Congressional assertion was groundless, unless that was the purpose of his 
suggestion that "outdated stereotypical notions are not a valid basis for gen- 
der classification." Insofar as this Congressional argument (admittedly un- 
supported by expert testimony or empirical study) was rejected without 
analysis, it would appear that while Judge Cahn and his bretheren purported 
to be following the mandates of the Supreme Court, they were actually deter- 
mining that a Congressional desire to minimize disturbances in family life, 
by not subjecting women to the risk of possible induction or the inconveni- 
ence of registration, was not an important governmental purpose. In short, 
if one may engage in a little construction, Judge Cahn's opinion may reflect 
a legal value choice which placed equality of opportunity for women above 
the maintenance of traditional child-nurturing roles for women. Given the his- 
torical primacy of the legislature as an organ of expression of popular values, 
given the failure of the passage of the Equal Rights Amendment to the Con- 
stitution, and given the artificiality of the "important governmental interest" 
test, this does seem like a relatively bold step for the courts to take, even in 
these days given to discarding "outmoded" stereotypes. Perhaps this too is an 
application of particular judges' notions of democratic ideals which might or 
might not be shared by the population at large, and this choice poses the same 
kind of difficulties as some of those we have observed made by Chase, Nixon, 
Buffington, Davis, Biggs, Maris and others. 

111. The Future 
In a recent speech Chief Judge Seitz asserted that a predominant feature 

of the judiciary was "significant reshaping of the law" in response to "great 
movements in society" or "great ground swells of popular op in i~n ." '~  Most 
of the materials in the previous Chapters, and these recent examples of 
judicial choice, appear to have been the result of such disturbances, and 
Judge Seitz, at least, saw every indication that they will continue. He noted 
an increasing tendency for legislatures to pass bills for their "presumed politi- 
cal value, without providing the means for an administrative agency or the 
judicial branch to implement [them] effe~tively,"'~ a tendency which puts a 
great burden on the courts. Seitz also saw a risk of increased litigation brought 



as a result of legislation which encourages "individuals who rationalize their 
inadequacies by embracing a conspiratorial concept of life. Any failure to 
obtain a job or a promotion or tenure, in their view is explained by [illegal] 
discrimination by others."20 In general Seitz found a failure of will on the 
part of legislatures. He suggested that state legislatures have failed to fulfill 
their constitutional duty to reapportion themselves to conform to changed 
population patterns, that this default has resultedh resolution by the courts, 
and that this is a sign of the dacul ty  of maintaining "rigid judicial restraint 
when presented with a citizen's grievance crying out for redress after pro- 
longed inaction for inappropriate reasons by the other bran~hes."~' Seitz 
concluded that "legislators will find it increasingly difficult to legislate in large 
areas of controversial subject matter because of the continuing fractionaliza- 
tion of our society." He proceeded to predict that "the courts will continue to 
be presented with subject matter that a political purist would say is exclu- 
sively for the legislative branch."22 It would appear, then, that the philosophy 
of judicial restraint, which Judges Hastie and Seitz were seen to espouse in 
Chapter V, is not likely to be greatly in favor in the future. Judge Gibbons 
has recently asserted that "both the role of the federal courts in interpreting 
the United States Constitution and access to those courts by aggrieved parties 
appears . . . to be dimini~hing."~~ Still, the Goldberg case, and even the 
debate between Judges Gibbons and Seitz in the Japanese Electronic Products 
case suggest that Judge Seitz is correct that the role of the court as a frequent 
Constitutional expounder will continue. 

Commenting on efforts by "pressure groups" which "unintentionally foist 
important policy decisions on the judiciary by rendering the other branches 
of government politically powerless," and then "make the judiciary their 
whipping boy when, on occasion, it fills the void," Seitz revealed his present 
position toward a restrictive philosophy of judicial decision. "Certainly judic- 
ial restraint is admirable," he noted, "but I suggest that the judicial branch, 
by Constitutional interpretation, has helped many times to provide this 
country with some of its most important social accomodations and thereby 
assuaged some of the great social pressures on our representative form of 
go~ernment."~' Perhaps the work of Judge Nixon and the District Court 
Judges of Delaware, which we observed in Chapters I11 and IV, suggests that 
the "social accomodations" have been made, and will continue to be made, 
not only in the areas of Constitutional interpretation, but also in the interpre- 
tation of the basic rules of contracts, torts, property, and corporations. 

Still, Judge Seitz appears to share many of the concerns of Judge Gibbons 
when he declares that "I am far from sanguine because I am not certain that 
enough voting Americans believe that in practice individual liberties are as 
valuable as the majority view, at least so long as they are in the majority."z5 
Seitz made that remark in the context of expressing his fears that Americans 
might not continue to prize the constitutional value, or as Judge Seitz put it, 
the "article of faith," that "judicial independence is a prized adjunct of our 
system." He proceeded to catalogue the difficult decisions which the federal 



judiciary might find itself facing in the next few years, all of which might 
result in resolutions which could incur the wrath of powerful forces against 
the judiciary. Among these were choices between the imposition of economic 
or environmental burdens, the conflict between seniority rights and minority 
opportunities, the acknowledgement of nontraditional family units, or the 
reconciliation of the rights of father, mother, and unborn fetus. Judge Seitz 
noted some of the trends evident in Chapter V, the increased tendency to de- 
mand solution for major economic problems from the federal government and 
consequently the federal courts, and, most recently, the demand that correc- 
tion of abuses in the poIitical process be made by remedial federal criminal 
~tatutes .?~ Finally, Seitz noted the difficulty faced by the courts in continuing 
to maintain the importance of the jury as a valued institution, in attempting to 
reconcile the conflict between the public's right to be informed and the right 
of the individual to privacy or a fair trial, and in imposing prison sentences 
when prison conditions are so intolerable that incarceration might itself pose 
constitutional problems. 

Seitz closed his remarks by indicating that only the American public of the 
future could determine whether the judiciary could continue to withstand 
threats to its independence and continue to discharge its constitutional respon- 
sibility.'; He stated that it was the task of the public to be "militant in defense 
of challenges to the independence of the judiciary," and that "Here too will 
eternal vigilence be the price of true liberty."28 All of this seems hard to dis- 
pute. To  an outsider, however, reviewing nearly two hundred years of experi- 
ence in the federal courts of Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and Delaware, a 
striking feature is the resiliency of the judicial institution and the fortitude of 
the individuals who have been judges, Despite a century or more of con- 
gressional neglect, a trend that has by no means ceased, the federal judiciary 
continued to play an important role in American society, and individual 
judges continued to exert massive principled effort, even i f ,  on occasion, as 
happened to John Thompson Nixon, this resulted in blindness and death. Not 
all of the third Circuit's judges have been totally above reproach, of course, 
as the foibles of Judges Davis and Buffington, and the leaving of the bench by 
Judge Morris for the greener pastures of private practice, would seem to illus- 
trate. Still, these men too were not without principle, and their decisions are 
not without the assertion of accepted legal values. Indeed, since Judges are 
always forced to buttress their actions by the citation of previous cases, there 
is always at least some minimal assent to recognized and valued principles, 
even if it is only to the principle of the rule of law itself." An examination of 
the activity of the judges presented in these studies, however, shows some- 
thing more. It shows that even if some judges have been exhausted from or 
compelled to cease their efforts, they have usually been replaced by others 
with similar or greater commitments to the nearly impossible task of imple- 
menting and reconciling the highest values of American law, democracy and 
the protection of individual rights. 
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Note on the Appendices 

The following appendices briefly discuss each of the federal judges of the 
Third Circuit who served between the years 1798 and 1980. Each appendix 
is followed by a table which gives the date of birth, the year appointed, the 
date of termination of judicial service, and the name of the President making 
the appointment. Since the subject of judicial retirement is a rather complex 
one, the remainder of this note describes the relevant legislation, and the 
terminology here employed. I am indebted to Judge Maris for this information. 

The first provision for retirement of federal judges with pay was made by 
the Act of April 10, 1869, c. 22, 55, 18 Stat. 45, which provided that judges 
who resigned after attaining age 70 and after having served 10 years or more 
should continue to receive for life the salary they were receiving when they 
resigned. This provision for salary after resignation is now provided for by 
section 371 (a )  of Title 28 United States Code. 

Fifty years later, section 260 of the Judicial Code of 191 1 was amended 
by the Act of February 25, 1919, c. 29, $6, 40 Stat. 1157, to authorize 
federal judges after attaining the age of 70 and after having served 10 years 
or more to retire from regular active service while retaining their commis- 
sions and the right to continue to perform judicial service if willing and able. 
Such retired judges were to continue to receive for life the salary they were 
receiving when they retired. This retirement provision was incorporated in 
section 371 (b)  of Title 28 United States Code as enacted in 1948 with the 
change that such retired judges should continue to receive for life "the salary 
of the office." A provision for similar retirement at any age of permanently 
disabled judges is contained in section 372(a) of Title 28, and incorporates 
provisions first enacted by the Act of August 5, 1939, c. 433, 331-4, 53 Stat. 
1204. 

Section 371(b) was amended by the Act of February 10, 1954, c. 6, 
54(a) 68 Stat. 12, to extend the retirement privilege to judges who had 
attained age 65 and had served 15 years or more. And, finally, section 294 
(b)  of Title 28 United States Code was amended by the Act of August 25, 
1958, Pub.L. 85-755, $5,  72 Stat. 849, to designate a judge retiring under 
sections 371 (b)  or 372(a) as a "senior judge", the designation now widely 
used for such judges. In these appendices and annexed tables that designation 
is used for all judges who have retired under the Acts of 1919, 1939 or sec- 
tions 371 ( b )  or 372(al of Title 28. The "Year Retired or Resigned" for 
those judges is marked with an "*" in the following tables. The term "re- 
signed" is used to signify the complete giving up of judicial office. For Judges 
who resigned or who retired prior to 191 1, the "Year Retired or Resigned" 
appears without "*." When there is no entry for a particular judge under 
"year retired or resigned," the judge either remained in active service until 
his or her death, or is still serving. 



Ftancis tiopkirlsoii, the First Uriited States District Colrtt Jtirigc fot ttic 
District of Pennsylvania, 1789-1791. 



APPENDM I 

Appendix I 
The Federal judges 
of Pennsylvania 

The earliest federal Judges of Pennsylvania appear to have been products of 
the eighteenth-century Enlightenment as well as successfui politicians. Many 
of them were also businessmen who sought means of conciliation with the 
South as the American sectional crisis worsened in the 1840's and 50's. What- 
ever the similarities of the early judges, however, the characteristics of the 
later federal judges in Pennsylvania seem to have changed, and their diversity 
has increased as the American social structure has evolved. The judges of the 
post-Revolutionary period seem to have come from a propertied upper class, 
but the backgrounds of the federal judges sitting in Pennsylvania today reflect 
the relative pluralism and mobility which have characterized modern Ameri- 
can society. 

I .  The Post-Revolutionary Period: 1789-1828 
Francis Hopkinson (D. of Pa., 1789).* 
WiIliam Lewis (D.  of Pa., 179 1 ). 
Richard Peters (D. of Pa., 1792). 
Jonathan H. Walker (W.D. Pa., 1818). 
William Wilkins (W.D. Pa., 1824). 

The judges appointed to the federal courts in the post-Revolutionary 
period appear to have had wide-ranging interests. Many of the judges were 

* The date given is the date of the Judge's commission signed by the President. Other 
dates of service are to be found in the table following this appendix. 



prominent in their churches, and some were noted scholars. Three of them 
participated in the Revolutionary War: Francis Hopkinson as head of the 
Navy Department, Richard Peters as Secretary of the Board of War, and 
Jonathan H. Walker as an officer in the campaign against Quebec. William 
Wilkins was President of the Bank of Pittsburgh, and also sat on the Board 
of Directors for the Monongahela Bridge Company and the Greensburg and 
Pittsburgh Turnpike Company. At the time of his death Wilkins owned more 
than $200,000 in real property.= 

Some Pennsylvania federal judges appear to have ended political careers 
with their arrival on the bench, but others found their judgeships led to still 
higher office. Before American independence, Frances Hopkinson served on 
New Jersey's provincial council. He represented New Jersey in the Conti- 
nental Congress of 1776, signed the Declaration of Independence, and sat on 
the committee that drafted the Articles of Confederation. Richard Peters aIso 
served in the Continental congress in the 1780's. At the time of his appoint- 
ment to the bench, as indicated earlier, Peters was speaker of the Pennsyl- 
vania Senate. William Wilkins, however, became a U.S. Senator after serving 
as judge in the Western District of Pennsylvania. In 1834 Wilkins was ap- 
pointed minister to Russia, in 1842 he served as a member of Congress, and, 
in 1844, he was appointed U.S. Secretary of War. Though William Lewis 
does not appear to have held any governmental post after resigning from the 
federal bench, he appears to have had a practice which deeply involved him 
in locaI politics. In 1794, he acted as counsel for the petitioners against the 
election of the Jeffersonian Albert Gallatin to the U.S. Senate, but in 1800 
he defended John Fries before Justice Samuel Chase in the famous treason 
trial that followed the "Hot-water" War. Lewis was also active in the Society 
of Friends' crusade against slavery, and he participated in drafting the 1780 
act that abolished slavery in Pennsylvania. 

Judges Hopkinson and Peters were lay leaders in the American Episcopal 
Church. Peters was instrumental in getting the British Parliament to pass the 
act of secession which made possible the estabIishment of an independent 
Episcopal Church in America. Hopkinson served as Secretary of the conven- 
tion that proceeded to organize the American Episcopal Church. Hopkinson 
and Peters were also notabIe for a number of intellectual and cultural achieve- 
ments. Hopkinson became one of the first American composers of secular 
music when he set some of his poems to music he had written for his harpis- 
chord. He also wrote essays and poems, among them "The Battle of the 
Kegs", "The New Roof", and "The PoliticaI Catechism". Peters, as noted 
earlier, was fluent in a number of languages, and well-versed in the ancient 
texts of maritime law.2 He published several books and more than one hun- 
dred papers on agriculture, and was the first President of the Philadelphia 
Society for the f romotion of Agriculture. 

2. Ante-Bellurn Period: 1828-1860 
Joseph Hopkinson (E.D. Pa., 1828) 



Thomas Irwin (W.D. Pa., 1831 ). 
Archibald Randall (E.D. Pa., 1842). 
John K. Kane (E.D. Pa., 1846). 
John Cadwalader (E.D. Pa., 1858). 
Wilson McCandless (W.D. Pa., 1859). 

The federal judges of the ante-bellum period in Pennsylvania were much 
like their post-Revolutionary predecessors. Most were conspicuous partici- 
pants in the politics of their time, some pursued scholarly interests, and others 
were prominent in their churches, or led philanthropic or cultural societies. 
More of the ante-bellum judges had what we might now characterize as busi- 
ness backgrounds, and one, Judge Thomas Irwin, was forced out of office in 
1859 by charges that he and his son (who was clerk for the Western District 
of Pennsylvania) had corruptly held unnecessary court sessions and demanded 
that the federal marshal turn over a quarter of his annual income to them. 

Most of Pennsylvania's judges in the ante-bellum period were distinguished 
participants in the work of the Democratic Party. Thomas Irwin had been a 
member of the U.S. House of Representatives, John K. Kane a member of the 
Pennsylvania legislature and also state attorney general, and John Cadwalader 
a member of Congress and a personal friend of Pennsylvania resident and 
Democratic President James Buchanan. Joseph Hopkinson had defended the 
insurgents of Western Pennsylvania in 1794, and later represented Chase in 
the impeachment trial in 1804. Hopkinson was an articulate FederaIist 
ideologue, even composing a song, "Hail Columbia", which helped turn pub- 
lic opinion against French republicanism in the 1790's. Hopkinson repre- 
sented Pennsylvania in the U.S. Congress from 1814 to 1819, and attended 
the Pennsylvania constitutional convention of 1839. 

As did their predecessors, the judges of the ante-bellum period pursued 
interests beyond the field of politics. Judge Hopkinson was a trustee of the 
University of Pennsylvania, President of the Academy of Fine Arts in Phila- 
delphia, and Vice-President of the American Philosophical Society. John K. 
Kane was President of the Board of the Second Presbyterian Church of Phila- 
delphia, a trustee of the General Assembly of the Presbyterian Church, and 
the Vice-President of the Institution for the Instruction of the Blind. Archi- 
bald Randall was also active in philanthropy, serving as a member of the 
Philadelphia Society for Alleviating the Miseries of Public Prisons and as 
Director of the Philadelphia Schools. 

John K. Kane was on the board of directors of the Delaware & Chesapeake 
Canal Company and of the Girard Bank. John Cadwalader worked as 
solicitor for the United States Bank, a position offered him by a relative, 
Nicholas Biddle. 

In one of the areas that must have been the most difficult, given the climate 
of popular opinion in Pennsylvania, the judges demonstrated their under- 
standing of the importance of protecting property rights to the future of the 
union. The judges were careful to defend Southern interests in slave property 



from the abolitionists seeking to obstruct the implementation of the Federal 
Fugitive Slave Act. John K. Kane, for example, survived a Republican im- 
peachment attempt, after he had imprisoned Passmore Williamson, secretary 
of Pennsylvania's Antislavery Society, because Williamson had refused to aid 
in the recovery of a slave "kidnapped" by abolitionists. John Cadwalader 
defended the Fugitive Slave Act while a member of Congress, and called for 
conciliation with Southern ~Iaveholders on the territorial question. Wilson 
McCandless supported President Buchanan's acquiescence in the solution to 
the territorial issue (no restrictions on slave-holding in the territories) articu- 
lated by the Supreme Court in Dred Scott v. S a n f ~ r d . ~  

The Pennsylvania judges' conciliatory attitude on the slavery issue, their 
connection with business interests, and their philanthropic interests together 
suggest that the judges viewed antebellum society from a relatively conserva- 
tive perspective. They probably understood that as members of a privileged 
class they had an obligation to work for the support of those less fortunate, 
but, at the same time, they sought to preserve the national economic and 
social structure that had brought much of the country great prosperity, and 
had enabled them to rise to positions of distinction. 

3. From the Civil War to World War I 
Winthrop W. Ketchum (W.D. Pa., 1876). 
William Butler (E.D. Pa., 1879). 
Marcus W. Acheson (W.D. Pa., 1880). 
James H. Reed (W.D. Pa., 189 1 ) . 
Joseph Bufington (W.D. Pa., 1892). 
John B. McPherson (E.D. Pa., 1899). 
Robert W. Archbald (M.D. Pa., 1901 ). 
James B. Holland (E.D. Pa., 1904). 
Nathaniel Ewing (W.D. Pa., 1906). 
James S. Young (W.D. Pa., 1908). 
Charles P. Orr (W.D. Pa., 1909). 
Charles B. Witmer (M.D. Pa., 191 1 ). 
J. Whitaker Thompson (E.D. Pa., 1912). 
Oliver B. Dickinson (E.D. Pa., 19 14) .  
W. H. Seward Thomson (W.D. Pa., 19 14).  

The judges of the Gilded Age and the Progressive Era were less frequently 
politicians or entreprenurial businessmen than they were "professional" law- 
yers. Still, they were attorneys with sophisticated expertise in the effective 
representation of business interesrs, cut fro111 the same mold as David Dudley 
Field. Most of the judges were not men of substantial property, but appear to 
have been successful professionals. In contrast to the judges of earlier periods, 
the judges appointed in the decades after the Civil War appeared to have had 
relatively few interests outside of their legal careers. The composition of the 



federal bench in this period, then, may have reflected the emergence of pro- 
fessionals and managers in society at large.J 

Only a few of the federal judges in Pennsylvania in this period had been 
prominently involved in public affairs. Winthrop W. Ketchum was the only 
judge who served in the U.S. Congress. Nathaniel Ewing had served on the 
Court of Common Pleas of Fayette County, as had his father and grand- 
father. He resigned from the bench in 1908 to become chairman of the Penn- 
sylvania State Railroad Commission and then its successor, the Public Service 
Commission of Pennsylvania. In large part, however, the judges had repre- 
sented, rather than participated in, business interests. Judge Ewing had been 
counsel for the H.C. Frick Coke Company, the Pennsylvania Railroad Com- 
pany, and other corporations. Still, he was also President of the National 
Bank of Fayette County, and a board member for the Finance Company of 
Pennsylvania and the Pittsburgh Life & Trust Company. James H. Reed was 
a partner in the law firm Reed, Smith, Shaw & Beal, and President of the 
Bessemer & L.E. Railroad. 

Prior to this time, as we have seen, the Pennsylvania federal judges seem 
to have come from relatively similar social strata. The judicial personnel in 
this period, however, show a diversity of interests and backgrounds. Winthrop 
W. Ketchum had been an instructor at Wyoming Seminary in Kingston, Pa.; 
William Butler had been a small-town newspaper publisher before being ad- 
mitted to the bar. Oliver B. Dickinson, in addition to being a trustee of Crozer 
Theological Seminary and J. Louis Crozer Home and Hospital, was a member 
of the Delaware County Historical Society, the Delaware County Institute of 
Science, and the Philadelphia Academy of Fine Arts. J. Whitaker Thompson 
served as a trustee for the State Hospital for the Insane and for the State 
Institution for the Feeble Minded and Epileptic. 

Although a number of the federal judges in Pennsylvania during this period 
were thus interested in philanthropic, intellectual or cultural activities, the 
percentage of them who were involved in these activities does not appear to 
be as high as it was for their predecessors. Such a narrowing of interests 
could reflect the growing somewhat-narrower expertise and specialization of 
the entire legal profession. 

4 .  The Inter- War Years: 1922-1945 
Robert M. Gibson (W.D.Pa., 1922). 
Charles L. McKeehan (E.D. Pa., 1923). 
Frederic P. Schoonmaker (W.D. Pa., 1923). 
Albert W. Johnson (M.D. Pa., 1925). 
William H. Kirkpatrick (E.D. Pa., 1927). 
Nelson McVicar (W.D. Pa., 1928). 
Albert L. Watson (M.D. Pa., 1929). 
George A. Welsh (E.D. Pa., 1932). 
Albert B. Maris (E.D. Pa., 1936). 



Harry E. Kalodner (E.D. Pa., 1938). 
Guy K. Bard (E.D. Pa., 1939). 
J.  Cullen Ganey (E.D. Pa., 1940). 
Wallace S. Gourley (W.D. Pa., 1945). 

The judges appointed to Pennsylvania's federal courts in the 1920's and 
30's were also characterized by diversity of background and interest, although 
some similarities do emerge when we consider the party affiliation of the 
Presidents who appointed particular judges. The Republican appointees were 
predominantly members of the Episcopalian or Presbyterian Church, while 
the appointees of the Democrat, Roosevelt, represented a greater variety of 
religious groups. Three of the five Democratic appointees went on to become 
judges on the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals. Almost all of the Roosevelt 
appointees were connected in some way with education, two of them were 
distinguished journalists, and one was prominently involved in national 
politics. 

To a greater extent than their immediate predecessors, the federal judges 
of the inter-war years had been involved in political pursuits. William H. 
Kirkpatrick and George A. Welsh were both members of Congress before 
their judicial appointments. Guy K. Bard had perhaps the most illustrious 
political career of the judges of this period. Besides serving on Pennsylvania's 
Public Utility Commission, Bard was an active delegate to the Democratic 
Convention that first nominated Franklin D. Roosevelt to the Presidency. 
Serving on the 1932 Democratic Rules Committee, Bard drafted the plank 
calling for the repeal of Prohibition. In 1953 Bard was an unsuccessful candi- 
date for U.S. Senator from Pennsylvania. 

Guy K. Bard had been the supervising principal of the Ephrata, Pa. schools 
before pursuing his legal career. Albert W. Johnson had been an instructor 
at the Bucknell University Law School, and Albert B. Maris was an adjunct 
professor at the Temple University Law School during his judicial tenure. 
Harry E. Kalodner was a trustee at Yeshiva University, and George A. Welsh 
was a trustee at Temple University and a member of the local Board of Edu- 
cation. Judge Maris had been editor of the Legal Intelligencer before entering 
the federal judiciary, and Judge Kalodner had been the financial and political 
editor of the Philadelphia Record. Kalodner was also on the Board of Direc- 
tors of the Independence Hall Association, the Philadelphia Psychiatric Hos- 
pital, and the Federation of Jewish Agencies of Greater Philadelphia. Albert 
B. Maris, Harry E. Kalodner and J. Cullen Ganey, following distinguished 
careers as District Judges, all became judges of the Third Circuit's Court of 
Appeals. 

The changing character of the bench during this period-from a largely 
homogeneous group of professional lawyers to a group whose members had 
diverse interests and backgrounds-illustrates the increasing diversity and 
social mobility of twentieth century America, and this diversity was to con- 
tinue in the years that followed. 



5 .  The Post- War Period: 1946-1982 

Truman appointees: 
Frederick V .  Follmer (M.D. Pa., 1946). 
James P. McGranery (E.D. Pa., 1946). 
John W. Murphy (M.D. Pa., 1946). 
Thomas J. Clary (E.D. Pa., 1949). 
Allan K. Grim (E.D. Pa., 1949). 
Owen M. Bums (W.D. Pa., 1949). 
Rabe F. Marsh, Jr. (W.D. Pa., 1949). 
William A. Stewart (W.D. Pa., 1951). 

Eisenhower appointees: 
Joseph P. Willson (W.D. Pa., 1953). 
John W. Lord, Jr. (E.D. Pa., 1954). 
John L. Miller (W.D. Pa.. 1954). 
C. William Kraft, Jr. ( E B .  Pa., 1955). 
John W. McIlvaine (W.D. Pa., 1955). 
Herbert P. Sorg (W.D. Pa., 1955). 
Francis L. Van Dusen (E.D. Pa., 1955 ) . 
Thomas C. Egan (E.D. Pa., 1957). 
Harold K. Wood (E.D. Pa., 1959). 

Kennedy-Johnson appointees: 
Edward Dumbauld (W.D. Pa., 1961 ) . 
Michael H. Sheridan (M.D. Pa., 1961 ) . 
Abraham L. Freedman (E.D. Pa., 1961 ). 
Joseph S. Lord I11 (E.D. Pa., 1961 ) . 
Alfred L. Luongo (E.D. Pa., 1961 ). 
Louis Rosenberg (W.D. Pa., 1961 ) . 
Ralph C. Body (E.D. Pa., 1962). 
William J.  Nealon (M.D. Pa., 1962). 
A. Leon Higginbotham, Jr. (E.D. Pa., 1963). 
John Morgan Davis (E.D. Pa., 1964). 
Gerald J. Weber (W.D. Pa., 1964). 
John P. Fullam (E.D. Pa., 1966). 
Thomas A. Masterson (E.D. Pa., 1967). 
Charles R. Weiner (E.D. Pa., 1967). 
E. Mac Troutman (E.D. Pa., 1967). 

Nixon-Ford appointees: 
John B.  Hannum (E.D. Pa., 1969). 
R. Dixon Herman (M.D. Pa., 1969). 
Joseph F. Weis, Jr. (W.D. Pa., 1970). 
William W. Knox (W.D. Pa., 1970). 
Malcolm Muir (M.D. Pa., 1970). 
Edward R. Becker (E.D. Pa., 1970). 



Donald W. Van Artsdalen (E.D. Pa., 1970). 
J. William Ditter, Jr. (E.D. pa., 1970). 
Daniel H. Huyett (E.D. Pa., 1970). 
James H. Gorbey (E.D. Pa., 1970). 
Hubert I. Teitelbaum (W.D. Pa., 1970). 
Barron P. McCune (W.D. Pa., 1970). 
Raymond J. Broderick (E.D. Pa., 1971 ) . 
Clifford S. Green (E.D. Pa., 1971 ) . 
Clarence C. Newcomer (E.D. Pa., 1971 ). 
Ralph F. Scalera (W.D. Pa., 197 1 ) . 
Louis C. Bechtle (E.D. Pa., 1972). 
Herbert A. Fogel (E.D. Pa., 1973). 
Daniel J. Snyder, Jr. (W.D. Pa., 1973). 
Joseph L. McGlynn, Jr. (E.D. Pa., 1974). 
Edward N. Cahn (E.D. Pa., 1974). 
Maurice B. Cohill, Jr. (W.D. Pa., 1976). 

Carter appointees: 
Paul A. Simmons (W.D. Pa., 1978). 
Gustave Diamond (W.D. Pa., 1978). 
Donald E. Ziegler (W.D. Pa., 1978). 
Louis H. Pollak (E.D. Pa., 1978). 
Norma L. Shapiro (E.D. Pa., 1978). 
Richard P. Conaboy (M.D. Pa., 1979). 
Sylvia H. Rambo (M.D. Pa., 1979). 
Alan N. Bloch (W.D. Pa., 1979). 
lames T. Giles (E.D. Pa., 1979). 

Reagan appointees: 
Glenn E. Mencer (W.D. Pa., 1982). 
William W. Caldwell (M.D. Pa., 1982). 
Carol Los Mansmann (W.D. Pa., 1982). 

Once again, while there is great diversity, there are also some contrasts 
between the Republican and Democratic nominees. Most of the judges ap- 
pointed by Eisenhower, Nixon or Ford were heavily involved in philanthropic 
activities, while most of the Democratic judges were likely to have served 
full-time in political offices. The Republican Presidents seem to have been 
much more likely than the Democrats to appoint Episcopalians or Presby- 
terians to Pennsylvania's federal courts. Kennedy's appointees often had 
academic positions. One-third of Eisenhower's appointees had careers in the 
business community. Broadly speaking, the Republican appointees seem to 
have been primarily businessmen and professionals who, having achieved 
prominence in the private sector, were also active in private philanthropic 
activities. The Democrats, on the other hand, were more likely to have served 
in public office, and gained the federal bench as a culmination of political 



careers. Still, the judges were more active politically and philanthropically 
than were their predecessors. 

Ralph F. Scalera, a Nixon appointee, well illustrates a Republican involve- 
ment in philanthropic activities. He has been chairman of both the Beaver 
County Arthritis and Rheumatism Foundation and of a fund drive for the 
Medical Center of Beaver County, and he has been on the Board for the 
McGuire Memorial Home for Retarded Children, the Gateway Rehabilitation 
Center, and the Golden triangle YMCA. Among the other Nixon-Ford ap- 
pointees, R. Dixon Herman has been a member of the Board for the Harris- 
burg Hospital; William W. Knox a board member for the Family and Child 
Service of Trie; Hubert I. Teitelbaum a trustee for the Woodsville State Mental 
Hospital; Joseph F. Weis, Jr., a member of the Allegheny County Mental 
Health and Mental Retardation Board; Clifford S. Green a board member 
for the Children's Aid Society; and Herbert A. Fogel a board member for the 
Eagleville Hospital and Rehabilitation Center. Nearly half of Eisenhower's 
appointees were prominent in philanthropic activities. John L. Miller was a 
director at St. John's General Hospital; C. William Kraft, Jr., was a Board 
member for Crozer Hospital; and Harold K. Wood was Board President for 
the Memorial Hospital of Chester County. The Kennedy-Johnson appointees 
have also included a number of philanthropists. William J. Nealon had been 
a Board member of the American Cancer Society; E. Mac Troutman a board 
member for the Schuylkill County Society for Crippled Children; and Charles 
R. Weiner a director of the Mental Health Association of Pennsylvania. A. 
Leon Higginbotham has served as President of the American Foundation for 
Negro Affairs, and President of the Philadelphia NAACP. 

As indicated, while the Republicans have somewhat surpassed the Demo- 
crats in private philanthropy, more Democrats have occupied political offices. 
James P. McGranery was probably the most active of Truman's appointees 
in this regard, serving as a member of Congress, and as U.S. Attorney Gen- 
eral in 1952 and '53. John W. Murphy, another Truman appointee, had also 
been a member of Congress before taking his judicial post. A. Leon Higgin- 
botham had been a member of the Federal Trade Commission. Some of the 
Democratic appointees had also occupied state political office. John M. Davis 
had been Lieutenant-Governor of Pennsylvania, and Charles R. Weiner had 
been majority floor leader in the Pennsylvania Senate. Some of the Repub- 
lican judges had also been active in state politics. Herbert P. Sorg, an Eisen- 
hower appointee, had been speaker of the Pennsylvania House of Repre- 
sentatives before his judicial appointment. Raymond J, Broderick, appointed 
by President Nixon in 197 1, had been President of Pennsylvania's 1967 con- 
stitutional convention, and Lieutenant-Governor of the state from 1966 to 
1971. 

Finally, many of the post-war judges have had academic and cultural inter- 
ests that seem reminiscent of those of the first federal judges in Pennsylvania. 
Eisenhower appointees John W. Lord, Jr., and John W. McIlvaine had been 
instructors at Temple University Law School and Washington and Jefferson 



College, respectively. Nixon appointee ClifFord S. Green has been a lecturer 
at the Temple University Law School in addition to his judicial duties. Ken- 
nedy appointee Abraham L. Freedman taught family law at the University 
of Pennsylvania Law School, while A. Leon Higginbotham was an adjunct 
professor at Yale Law School and at the University of Michigan Law School. 
Edward Dumbauld has served on the Board of the American Society for 
Legal History, has published a number of books concerning international law 
and the documents of the American Revolution, and has recently written a 
landmark study, Thomas Jeflerson and the Law (1979).s Alfred L. Luongo 
has been a member of the Allens Lane Art Center Association and the 
Philadelphia Grand Opera Company; William S. Nealon a trustee of the 
Everhart Museum. A. Leon Higginbotham has been a frequent contributor 
to law journals and has recently published an impressive analysis of race and 
the law, In the Matter of  Color (1979). Charles R. Weiner has been a mem- 
ber of the Pennsylvania Board of Arts and Sciences. Truman appointee James 
P. McGranery wrote Private Chamberlain of  the Cape and Sword, and Abra- 
ham L. Freedman wrote the Law of Marriage and Divorce in Pennsylvania. 
The Nixon-Ford appointees have also distinguished themselves in academic 
and cultural pursuits. Joseph F. Weis has contributed a number of articles to 
professional journals, and ,Ralph F. Scalera has served as board member for 
the Merrick Art Gallery Association. Finally, Carter appointee Louis H. 
Pollak had perhaps the most distinguished academic career of any of the 
Third Circuit's judges, having served as both faculty member and Dean at 
both Yale and the University of Pennsylvania Law Schools. 

The diversity of interests and backgrounds of the post-war judges reflects 
the diversity of twentieth century America. The earliest federal judges in 
Pennsylvania had been products of the eighteenth-century Enlightenment, 
and may have been principally inspired by philosophy and literature. It 
appears that the judges of the modern period have pursued divergent lines of 
experience and inquiry, realizing perhaps that familiarity with a wide variety 
of human endeavors is necessary for the decisions judges must make in an 
increasingly pluralistic society. 
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Judge 

J. Whitaker Thompson 

Oliver B. Dickinson 
W. H. Seward Thomson 
Robert M. Gibson 
Charles L. McKeehan 
Frederic P. Schoonmaker 
Albert W. Johnson 
William H. Kirkpatrick 
Nelson McVicar 
Albert L. Watson 
George A. Welsh 
Albert B. Maris 

Harry E. Kalodner 

Guy K. Bard 
J. Cullen Ganey 

Wallace S. Gourley 
Frederick V. Follmer 
James P. McGranery 
John W. Murphy 
Thomas J. Clary 
Allan K. Grim 

TABLE I (continued) 
THE FEDERAL DISTRICT COURT JUDGES OF PENNSYLVANIA 

Year Year Year Retired Year President 
Born Appointed or Resigned Died Who Appointed 

1861 1912 . 193 1 (to Ct. 1946 Taft 
of Appeals) 

1857 1914 - 1939 Wilson 
1856 1914 1928* 1932 Wilson 
1869 1922 1949* 1 949 Harding 
1876 1923 - 1925 Harding 
1870 1923 - 1945 Harding 
1872 1925 1945 1957 Coolidge 
1885 1927 1958* 1970 Coolidge 
1871 1928 1951* 1960 Coolidge 
1876 1929 1955* 1960 Hoover 
1878 1932 1957* 1970 Hoover 
1893 1936 1938 (to Ct. F. D. Roosevelt 

of Appeals) 
1896 1938 1946 (to Ct. 1977 F. D. Roosevelt 

of Appeals) 
1895 1939 1952 1953 F. D. Roosevelt 
1899 1940 1961 (to Ct. 1972 F. D. Roosevelt 

of Appeals) 
1904 1945 1969* 1976 F. D. Roosevelt 
1885 1946 1967* 1971 Truman 
1895 1946 1952 1967 Truman 
1902 1946 - 1962 Truman 
1899 1949 1969 * 1977 Truman 
1904 1949 1961* 1965 Truman 

N 
Owen M. Burns 1892 1949 

(A w * Indicates that Senior Status was assumed. 

1952 Truman 

District 

Eastern 

Eastern 
Western 
Western 
Eastern 
Western 
Middle 
Eastern 
Western 
Middle 
Eastern 
Eastern 

Eastern 

Eastern 
Eastern 

Western 
Middle 
Eastern 
Middle 
Eastern 
Eastern 
Western 









Appendix 11 
The Judges of the Federal District 
Court of New Jersey 

Most of the Judges of the District of New Jersey were community leaders, 
but, as a group, they appear to have been less active in politics than were the 
federal judges of Pennsylvania. The New Jersey judges have moved more 
frequently from positions in the state judiciary to the federal bench. Further, 
while it appears that the federal judges in Pennsylvania came from increas- 
ingly diversified backgrounds, it generally appears that the New Jersey judges 
have specialized in their profession, and have concentrated more exclusively 
on their judicial careers. 

Before the Civil War: 1789-1863 
David Brearly ( 1789) 
Robert Morris ( 1790) 
William S. Pennington ( 18 15 ) 
William RosseIl ( 1826) 
Mahlon Dickerson (1 840) 
PhiIemon Dickerson (1 841 ) 
Richard S. Field ( 1 863) 

Most of the judges appointed to New Jersey's federal court prior to the 
close of the Civil War had experience in politics, and most served as state 
judges before their appointments. Two of the judges served in the colonial 
army during the Revolutionary War. Judge Richard S. Field had been a 
professor of constitutional law and jurisprudence at the College of New 
Jersey (now Princeton) before pursuing a judicial career. Most of the judges 
served more than ten years each on the federal bench. An exception to this 



pattern of long judicial tenure was Mahlon Dickerson, who held his judicial 
post only until political conditions were favorable for the appointment of 
Philemon Dickerson, Mahlon's brother, to the New Jersey district court.' 
Apparently all of the judges were either Episcopalian or Presbyterian. 

William S. Pennington and the two Dickersons all served as New Jersey 
governors before assuming their Federal judicial duties. David Brearly rep- 
resented New Jersey at the U.S. Constitutional Convention in 1789; and 
Richard S. Field served in the U.S. Senate in 1862 and 1863. Mahlon Dicker- 
son, however, has the most impressive political career of these men.2 Not 
only did he preside over New Jersey, first as governor, and then as unofficial 
political leader, but he also represented the state in the U.S. Senate from 
1817 to 1833, and served as Secretary of the United States Navy. Mahlon's 
brother, Philemon, was a US. Congressman for six years. 

Five of the seven had judicial experience before becoming federal judges. 
Robert Morris and David Brearly had served as Chief Justices of the Supreme 
Court of New Jersey, and Pennington, Rossell and Mahlon Dickerson had 
been Associate Justices of that court.3 

The New Jersey judges may not have been as nationally prominent in in- 
tellectual circles as were Pennsylvania judges Frances Hopkinson and Richard 
Peters. Still, some of the New Jersey judges made notable literary or cultural 
contributions. Philemon Dickerson wrote The City of Paterson: Its Past, 
Present and Future, and Richard S .  Field was the author of a classic in New 
Jersey Legal History, The Provincial Courts of New Jersey. Field was also 
a co-founder of the New Jersey Historical Society. David Brearly was a dele- 
gate to the Episcopal General Convention of 1786, and helped form the 
American Episcopal Church. 

From the Civil War to World War One: 1865-1916 
John T. Nixon ( 1870) 
Edward T. Green (1 889) 
Andrew Kirkpatrick ( 1896) 
William M. Lanning (1904) 
Joseph Cross (1905) 
John Rellstab ( 1909) 
Thomas G. Haight (1914) 
J. Warren Davis ( 19 16) 

The homogeneity which characterized New Jersey's federal judiciary in 
the decades prior to the Civil War carried over into the Gilded Age and the 
Progressive Era. Most of the judges in the period between the Civil War and 
World War I had judicial experience prior to their appointments, and half of 
them were prominent in politics. All but one of the judges were either 
Episcopalians or Presbyterians. Three of them were educators. Still, as in the 
ante-bellum period, the judges in the Gilded Age were usually former poli- 
ticians or state judges with relatively few outside interests. 



Although they were not as visible in politics as their ante-bellum prede- 
cessors, New Jersey's federal judges were at least more politically active 
during this period than were their Pennsylvania colleagues. John T. Nixon 
was elected to the New Jersey Assembly in 1849, and to the U.S. House of 
Representatives in 1858 and 1860. William M. Lanning served a two-year 
term in the U.S. Congress. Joseph Cross was speaker of the New Jersey 
Assembly in 1895, and President of the New Jersey Senate ten years later. 
J. Warren Davis served in the State Senate before being appointed U.S. 
Attorney for New Jersey. 

It again appears, however, that more of New Jersey's federal judges were 
involved in judicial than political careers prior to their appointment to the 
federal bench. Andrew Kirkpatrick, William M. Lanning, Joseph Cross and 
John Rellstab had all served at least three years on New Jersey's state courts 
before becoming federal judges. In contrast to the judges of the ante-bellum 
period, however, none of the federal judges in this period were alumni of the 
Supreme Court of New Jersey. William M. Lanning, Thomas G. Haight and 
J. Warren Davis were appointed to the Third Circuit Court of Appeals from 
their positions on the District Court. 

John Thompson Nixon taught languages at the College of New Jersey, 
and tutored for the family of Judge Isaac S. Pennypacker of Virginia. J. 
Warren Davis, an ordained Baptist minister, taught at Crozer Seminary from 
1899 to 1902. William M. Lanning was on the Board of Directors for the 
Princeton Theological Seminary, as was Nixon. William M. Lanning pub- 
lished Help for Township Oficers in 1885 ,  and John T. Nixon wrote several 
volumes on New Jersey practice. 

The Inter- War Years; 191 9-1 945 
Charles F. Lynch (1919) 
Joseph L. Bodine ( 1920) 
William N. Runyon ( 1922) 
William Clark ( 1 925 ) 
James W. McCarthy ( 1928) 
Guy Laverne Fake (1929) 
John B. Avis (1929) 
Phillip Forman (1932) 
Thomas Glynn Walker ( 1939) 
William F. Smith ( 1941 ) 
Thomas F. Meaney ( 1942) 
Thomas M. Madden ( 1945) 

The judges appointed to the federal district court in New Jersey in the 
inter-war years had political and judicial backgrounds similar to those of 
their predecessors. Still, there are significant differences. Nine of the twelve 
judges appointed in the inter-war years had been involved in the administra- 
tion of justice--either as state judges or as U.S. Attorneys-prior to their 



appointment to the federal judiciary. As was true with the Pennsylvania 
judges, although the phenomenon may be observable somewhat earlier in 
Pennsylvania, the New Jersey federal judges of the inter-war years illustrate 
the increasing professionalism of the federal judiciary, which resulted in a 
bench which included fewer politicians or businessmen and more career 
attorneys or former state judges. 

A number of New Jersey's inter-war appointees were active in state poli- 
tics, but none were prominent in national politics. William N. Runyon was 
President of the New Jersey Senate, and served as Acting Governor in 1919 
and 1920. Thomas Glynn Walker was Speaker of New Jersey's General 
Assembly, as was John B. Avis. Guy L. Fake was in the New Jersey General 
Assembly and then served as a state judge for fifteen years. 

As Judge Fake's nlove from the General Assembly to the state bench sug- 
gests, most of the inter-war appointees had given up political office for work 
in the judiciary. Five of the twelve judges served as state judges before being 
appointed to the federal court. Two of these, William Clark and Thomas G. 
Walker, were on the highest state court, New Jersey's Court of Errors and 
Appeals, when they were appointed federal judges. Joseph L. Bodine left the 
federal judiciary to sit as a Justice on the New Jersey Supreme Court. Other 
judges left the district court when they were appointed to higher positions 
in the federa1 judiciary. William Clark served on the Third Circuit Court of 
Appeals after sitting for thirteen years on the district court. Phillip Forman 
served on the New Jersey district court for 27 years, and was appointed to 
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit in 1959. 

After the First World War it became increasingly common for the United 
States Attorneys for New Jersey to be appointed federal judges, a tendency 
that does not seem as pronounced for Pennsylvania. In the inter-war years 
Charles F. Lynch, Joseph L. Bodine, Phillip Forman and William F. Smith 
all served as U.S. Attorney before becoming federal judges. 

One other change in the characteristics of the New Jersey federal judges 
in this period is religious affiliation. The Republican appointees in the twen- 
ties were predominantly Presbyterian, but all of the Roosevelt appointees in 
New Jersey were Catholic, perhaps indicating a different source of support for 
the Democratic admini~tration.~ 

The Post- War Period: 1946-1 979 
Truman appointees: 
Alfred E. Modarelli ( 195 1 ) 
Richard Hartshorne ( 195 1 ) 

Eisenhower appointees: 
Reynier J. Wortendyke, Jr. ( 1955) 
Mendon Morrill (1958) 
Arthur S. Lane (1960) 

Kennedy-lohnson appointees: 
Anthony T. Augelli (1961 ) 



James A. Coolahan ( 1962) 
Robert Shaw (1962) 
Mitchell H. Cohen (1962) 
Lawrence A. Whipple (1967) 

Nixon-Ford appointees: 
George H. Barlow (1969) 
Leonard I. Garth (1969) 
Clarkson S. Fisher (1970) 
John J. Kitchen (1970) 
Frederick B. Lacey ( 197 1 ) 
Vincent P. Biunno (1973) 
Herbert J. Stern (1973) 
H. Curtis Meanor (1974) 
John F. Gerry (1974) 
Stanley S. Brotman ( 1  975) 

Carter appointees: 
Dickinson R.  Debevoise ( 1979) 
Anne E. Thompson (1979) 
H. Lee Sarokin ( 1979) 
Harold A. Ackerman (1979) 

The post-war appointees to New Jersey's federal court had the same pro- 
fessional orientation as those of the inter-war years. Most of the federal 
judges in the post-war period pursued judicial careers before or after their 
tenure on the federal bench. Very few of the post-war judges held political 
office prior to their appointment. Three of the post-war judges served as U.S. 
Attorney before their judicial appointments. 

None of the New Jersey federal judges in the post-war period had held 
national public office. Only two of them, Robert Shaw and Clarkson S. 
Fisher, served in the New Jersey legislature, and each served for only one 
two-year term. The Pennsylvania judges of this period, in contrast, had been 
more active in both national and state politics, one of them becoming U.S. 
Attorney General, and one Lieutenant-Governor of Pennsylvania. 

Twelve of the judges in this period served on either county or state courts 
before entering the federal judiciary. Lawrence A. Whipple, George H. Bar- 
low, Clarkson S. Fisher, John J.  Kitchen, John F. Gerry and H. Curtis Meanor 
all sat on the Superior Court of New Jersey. In  contrast to previous periods, 
none of the post-war appointees came from New Jersey's appellate courts. 

Richard Hartshorne was a professor of constitutional law and insurance 
law at the New Jersey Law School, while Leonard I. Garth was a lecturer at 
Rutgers Law School. Frederick B. Lacey has been a trustee of Rutgers Uni- 
versity, and Vincent P. Biunno a member of the advisory board of Western 
Reserve University School of Library Science. Judges Hartshorne, Biunno 



and Stanley S. Brotrnan have all been frequent contributors to professional 
journals. 

As the personnel on New Jersey's federal court have become more spe- 
cialized in their interests, positions on the court seem to have gone to peopIe 
from a wider segment of the legal profession. All of the Truman and Eisen- 
hower appointees in New Jersey had graduated from either Columbia or 
Harvard Law Schools, but after Kennedy's election New Jersey federal judi- 
cial positions were occupied by graduates from other legal institutions as 
well, including Dickinson, John Marshall and Notre Dame. For the most 
part, however, the post-1960 appointees have graduated from the New Jersey 
Law School, Rutgers or Harvard." 

A review of the federal judicial personnel in Pennsylvania suggested that 
there has been increasing diversity in interests and backgrounds. The New 
Jersey judges, in contrast, appear to have become more specialized in their 
judicial careers. Relatively few of them, especially in the post-war period, 
wre involved in teaching or education; and relatively few were prominent in 
state or national politics. Perhaps like Judge John T. Nixon, the subject of 
Chapter 111, the New Jersey Judges have managed to find sufficient sources of 
personal challenge and reward simply from judicial service in their home 
state. 



Notes 

1. See K. Hall, The Politics o f  Justice: Lower Federal Judicial Selection arid the Second 
Party Systern, 182961  34, 35 (1979) for a description of the political conditions 
surrounding Mahlon's appointment to the federal court in New Jersey. 

2. Id., at 33. 
3. Until 1947, the Court of Errors and Appeals was the highest court of New Jersey. 

The Supreme Court was a court of Original Jurisdiction with some appellate juris- 
diction. The Court of Errors and Appeals consisted of the Chancellor of New Jer- 
sey, the Chief Justice and justices of the Supreme Court, and six additional specially 
appointed judges. When the 1844 constitution was replaced by the Constitution of 
1947, a "Supreme Court" became the highest state court. 

4. Four out of the six Republican judges whose religious affiIiations are a matter of 
record were Presbyterian. Joseph L. Bodine was Baptist, and Phillip Forman was 
Jewish. 

5. President Roosevelt, for example, appointed Fordham and Rutgers graduates to the 
federal court in New Jersey. The Republican judges of the 20's, on the other hand, 
were predominantly from Harvard or New York University. 





Judge 

Phillip Forman 

Thomas Glynn Walker 
Wiliam F. Smith 

Thomas F. Meaney 
Thomas M. Madden 
Alfred E. Modarelli 
Richard Hartshorne 
Reynier J. Wortendyke, Jr. 
Mendon Morrill 
Arthur S. Lane 
Anthony T. Augelli 
J an~es  A. Coolahan 
Robert Shaw 
Mitchell H. Cohen 
Lawrence A. Whipple 
George H. Barlow 
Leonard I. Garth 
Clarkson S. Fisher 
John J. Kitchen 
Frederick B. Lacey 
Vincent P. Biunno 
Herbert J. Stern 
H. Curtis Meanor 
John F. Gerry 

TABLE II (continued) 
THE FEDERAL DISTRICT COURT JUDGES OF NEW JERSEY 

Year Year Year Retired Year President 
Born Appointed or Resigned Died Who Appointed 

1895 1932 1959 (to Ct. I978 Hoover 
of Appeals) 

1899 1939 I941 F. D. Roosevelt 
1903 194 1 1961 (to Ct. 1968 F. D. Roosevelt 

of Appeals) 
1888 1942 1966* 1968 F. D. Roosevelt 
1907 1945 1968* 1976 F. D. Roosevelt 
I898 195 1 1957 Truman 
1888 195 1 1961' 1975 Truman 
1895 1955 1 9701' 1975 Eisenhower 
1902 1958 196 1 Eisenhower 
1910 1960 I967 Eisenhower 
1902 1961 1972" Kennedy 
1903 1962 1974' Kennedy 
1907 1962 1972 Kennedy 
1904 1962 1974': Kennedy 
1910 1967 1 978" L. B. Johnson 
1921 1969 1979 Nixon 
1921 1969 1973 (to Ct. Nixon 
192 1 I970 of Appeals) Nixon 
191 1 1970 1972 Nixon 
1920 1971 Nixon 
1916 1973 1982* Nixon 
1936 1973 Nixon 
1929 1974 Nixon 
1925 1974 Ford 

* Indicates assumed Senior status. 



Judge 

TABLE IT (continued) 
THE FEDERAL DlSTRlCT COURT JUDGES OF NEW JERSEY 

Year Year Year Retired Year Resident 
Born Appointed or Resigned Died Who Appointed 

Stanley S. Brotman 1924 1975 
Dickinson R. Debevoise 1924 1979 
Anne E. Thompson 1934 1979 
H. Lee Sarokin 1928 1979 
Harold A. Ackcrman 1928 1979 

Ford 
Carter 
Carter 
Carter 
Carter 

* Indicates that Senior Status was assumed. 



Appendix 111 
The Judges of the Fzderal District 
Court of Delaware 

Delaware federal judges Bradford, Morris, and Nields, as we have seen, came 
to the bench with experience which enabled them to become familiar with the 
character and needs of the modem business corporation. Delaware's present 
federal judges, however, appear to have been less directly involved with busi- 
ness. A few have had corporate practices, but more have come to the federal 
judiciary from positions in state courts or administrative bodies. The Dela- 
ware judges of the nineteenth century, in contrast, were predominantly former 
politicians. 

It seems likely that as was true for Pennsylvania and New Jersey, the char- 
acteristics of the individuals appointed have changed as the necessity for 
particularized judicial expertise, rather than business or political experience, 
has become a more important qualification for the federal judiciary. 

Before the Civil War: 1789-1 865 
Gunning Bedford, Jr. ( 1789) 
John Fisher ( 18 12) 
Willard Hall (1 823) 

The three judges who sat on Delaware's federal court in the ante-bellum 
decades all came to the court after careers in state or national politics, and 
might have been described as members of Delaware's upper class. As was 
true of the early New Jersey federal judges, they were either Episcopalian or 
Presbyterian. They appear to have received the iinest education available in 
America at that time. Gunning Bedford, Jr. graduated from what was to 
become Princeton University and Willard Hall from Harvard. 



The three judges were prominent in state and national politics. John Fisher 
was Delaware's Secretary of State in 181 1; and Willard Hall held the same 
position from 181 1 to 18 14. Hall sat in the U.S. House of Representatives 
from 1817 to 1821, and was a member of the Delaware Senate when ap- 
pointed to the federal court. Gunning Bedford, Jr., probably had the most 
noteworthy political career. He served during the late 1780's as General 
George Washington's aide-de-camp, sat in the Delaware legislature, and was 
a member of the Delaware Council. In the 17803, Bedford was Attorney 
General of Delaware, and was a delegate to the Continental Congress, the 
Annapolis Convention of 1786, and to the U.S. Constitutional Convention of 
1787. As a Constitutional delegate, Bedford argued for the equal representa- 
tion of states, for short Presidential terms, and for a strong legislative branch. 
His acceptance of the compromises worked out in that convention, of course, 
was instrumental in Delaware's being the first state to ratify the new federal 
Constitution. 

The federal judges in Pennsylvania and New Jersey, as indicated, often left 
the judiciary to pursue political careers or private practice; but the Delaware 
judges in this period stayed on the bench for comparatively long periods. 
Bedford was a federal judge for 23 years, Fisher for eleven years, and b ail 
for nearly half a century. Bedford was president of the trustees for Wilming- 
ton Academy, and Hall was president of the Wilmington School Board, but 
once on the bench the Delaware judges appear to have concentrated on judg- 
ing rather than on philanthropic or cultural activities. 

Between the Civil War and World War One: 1871-1919 
Edward G. Bradford (1  87 1 ) 
Leonard E. Wales (1 884) 
Edward G. Bradford, Jr. (1 897) 
Hugh M. Morris ( 191 9)  

Although the Delaware federal judges of the Gilded Age and the Progres- 
sive Era came from social backgrounds similar to those of their predecessors, 
there are significant differences. Judge Wales and the elder Judge Bradford 
were both prominent in politics prior to their judicial appointments, and in 
this sense were like the judges of the decades prior to the Civil War. Yet the 
judges appointed after 1884 were not particularly active in politics, or at 
least did not hold high political office, and this pattern has continued to the 
present. The judges appointed between the Civil War and the close of World 
War I predominantly came from business backgrounds, either carrying on 
corporate practices or holding executive positions in local companies. 

The elder Judge Bradford was a member of the Delaware legislature, and 
a leader in the state's Republican Party. Leonard E. Wales, before being 
admitted to the Delaware bar, was an editor of the Delaware State Journal, 
an organ of Delaware's Whig Party. After becoming dissatisfied with Whig 
policies in the 1850's, Wales helped to form Delaware's Republican Party in 
1856. 



After Wales's tenure on Delaware's federal court, however, political service 
appears not to have been the most significant qualification for federal judicial 
position in Delaware. Hugh M. Morris, for example, was one of the most 
successful corporate lawyers in Delaware, both before and after his tenure 
on the federal court. The two Bradfords were also closely connected with the 
state's business community. The elder Bradford was a director of the Wil- 
mington Farmers' Bank, and the younger Bradford married a Du Pont. Judge 
Morris was a member of many corporate directorates, including those of the 
Wilmington Trust Company, the Delaware Power Company, the Delaware 
Light & Power Company, and the Philadelphia, Baltimore & Washington 
Railroad Company. 

Since World War One: 1930-1 974 
John P. Nields (1930) 
Paul C. Leahy ( 1942) 
Richard S. Rodney ( 1946) 
Caleb M. Wright (1955) 
Caleb R. Layton III ( 1957 ) 
Edwin D. Steel, Jr. (1958) 
James L. Latchum (1968) 
Walter K. Stapleton ( 1970) 
Murray M. Schwartz (1974) 

As indicated, none of Delaware's federal judges have held high national or 
state elective office since Leonard E. Wales. It also appears that the most 
recent judges are less closely connected with the business community than 
were their predecessors. While some have represented members of Delaware's 
business community, most appear not to have served as directors of local 
corporations. In short, as we saw for New Jersey and Pennsylvania, the Iatest 
Delaware federal judges seem to be a group of legal professionals-in the 
sense that they have more exclusively pursued their professional rather than 
political or business careers. In Delaware, however, as in Pennsylvania, the 
judges have kept up many philanthropic and cultural interests. 

Some of these men had close contact with Delaware's business community, 
usually through their work as corporate attorneys. Both Edwin D. Steel and 
Walter K. Stapleton were partners in the firm of Morris, Steel, Nichols & 
Arsht or its predecessors, perhaps the foremost law firm in the state. John P. 
Nields also carried on a highly successful practice. Richard S. Rodney began 
practice as a partner with Hugh M. Morris. 

Some of the judges have held board or salaried positions in corporations. 
Edwin D. Steel, for example, has been on the board of directors of the 
Kaumaugraph Company, and, during the Second World War, was general 
counsel for War Material, Inc. 

Some of the judges since the First World War have come on the federal 
bench following judicial experience in the state courts or on state administra- 



tive commissions. Richard S. Rodney had perhaps the most distinguished 
such judicial career, as an Associate Justice on Delaware's Supreme Court for 
24 years. Caleb R. Layton served eleven years on Delaware's Superior Court, 
and Paul C. Leahy was a member of the Delaware Unemployment Compen- 
sation Commission for five years. Like their predecessors, the judges of this 
period served for long terms, for an average of eleven years. 

John Nields served as President of the Wilmington Public Library and the 
Wilmington Boys' Club. Nields, Caleb R. Layton and Edwin D. Steel were 
members of the Delaware Historical Society, and Steel served as the Society's 
President in 1961 and 1962. Judge Steel has also served as a director of 
the Wilmington General Hospital. James L. Latchum served on the board of 
directors for the Delaware Steeplechase and Race Association. 



Judge 

Gunning Bedford, Jr. 
John Fisher 
Willard Hall 
Edward G. Bradford 
Leonard E. Wales 
Edward G. Bradford, Jr. 
Hugh M. Morris 
John P. Nields 
Paul C. Leahy 
Richard S. Rodney 
Caleb M. Wright 
Caleb R. Layton 111 
Edwin D. Steel, Jr. 
James L. Latchum 
Walter K. Stapleton 
Murray M. Schwartz 

TABLE nI 
THE FEDERAL DISTRICT COURT JUDGES OF DELAWARE 

Year 
Born 

Year 
Appointed 

1789 
1812 
1823 
187 1 
1884 
1897 
1919 
1930 
1942 
1946 
1955 
1957 
1958 
1968 
1970 
1 974 

Year Retired 
or Resigned 

Year 
Died 

President 
Who Appointed 

Washington 
Madison 
Monroe 
Grant 
Arthur 
McKinley 
Wilson 
Hoover 
F. D. Roosevelt 
Truman 
Eisenhower 
Eisenhower 
Eisenhower 
L. Johnson 
Nixon 
Nixon 

* Indicates that Senior Status was assumed. 





Appendix IV 
The Judges of the District Court 
of the Virgin Islands 

George P. Jones ( 1936) 
William H. Hastie ( 1937) 
Herman E. Moore ( 1939) 
Walter A. Gordon (1958) 
Almeric L. Christian ( 1969) 
Warren H. Young (1971 ) 
David V. O'Brien (198 1 ) 

The Virgin Islands of the United States were acquired from Denmark in 
1917. Congress then provided that appeals from the Islands' local court which 
had been taken to the Supreme Court of Denmark should thereafter be made 
to the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit. In 1922, the local 
colonial councils, by identical ordinances, created an insular district court, its 
judge to be appointed by the Governor of the Islands. It was not until 1936, 
however, that the present District Court of the Virgin Islands was created by 
Congress, which designated that the court's judge was to be appointed by the 
President. Finally, with the enactment of title 28 of the United States Code 
in 1948, the United States Territory of the Virgin Islands became a part of 
the Third Circuit. The District Court of the Virgin Islands is not, however, a 
United States District Court, but is rather a territorial court exercising both 
local and federal jurisdiction.' 

Of the judges of the District Court, only Almeric L. Christian was born and 
raised in the Islands. Christian attended college at the University of Puerto 
Rico and Columbia, and, after receiving his LL.B. from Columbia Law 



School, he returned to St. Croix and established a private practice. Warren 
H. Young left a legal position in Chicago and practiced law for twenty-one 
years in St. Croix prior to his appointment. Walter A. Gordon was born in 
Atlanta and was educated and first practiced in Berkeley, California. Gordon 
also served as a Berkeley, California p o k e  officer for eleven years, and as 
an assistant football coach at the University of California for twenty-four 
years. William H. Hastie was born in Tennessee, educated at Amherst and 
Harvard, and previously worked in Washington, D.C. 

For most of the judges, their appointments served as capstones of their 
legal careers. Gordon, Christian, and Young, as indicated, left firmly estab- 
lished private practices for the bench. Judge Hastie, as we have seen in Chap- 
ter V, supra, was an exception. He was appointed when he was only thirty- 
three, and his only previous legaI experience had been a four year term as 
assistant solicitor for the Department of the Interior. After leaving the Virgin 
Islands District judgeship, Hastie went on to serve as Dean of the Howard 
University School of Law, as Governor of the Territory of the Virgin Islands, 
and as a judge on the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals. 

* See, e.g. United States v .  George, 625 F. 2d 1081. 1087-1089. 





Olci Post Office Building, 9th arid Market St., Philadelphia. Ttie Third Cilcttit 
Cot11 t of Appeals arid The Easterri District of Pennsylvania presided here on the 
second floor frorn ttie early 1880's until ttic I~iiiltl i~ig's clcsttiictioii in 1037. 

United States Coitrtlioi~sc, 9th arid Market, IJliiladclphia. 
Site of the rliirtl Circuit from 1937 to 1975. 



APPENDIX V 

Appendix V 
The Judges of the Third Circuit's 
Courts of Appeal 

Since the creation of a federal Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit,l most 
of its judges have been "professionals" with years of judicial experience. 
Some of the judges were active in state politics, but rarely have they held 
national elective office. The federal appellate judges have usually been drawn 
from state or federal trial courts, and, once appointed, they have usually 
served on the federal Court of Appeals for many years. For more information 
on the most recent activity of the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals, see 
Chapters V and VI, supra. 

From the Civil War to World War One: 1869-1918 
William McKennan ( 1 869 ) ' 
Marcus W. Acheson ( 1891 ) 
George M. Dallas (1 892) 
George Gray ( 1899) 
Joseph Buffington (1906) 
William M. Lanning ( 1909) 
John B. McPherson (1912) 
Victor B. Woolley ( 19 14) 

Five of the eight judges appointed to the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals 
in the period between the Civil War and World War One came from other 
courts, four from federal district courts, and one from the Supreme Court of 
Delaware. The judges also had similar religious affiliations. The majority 



were either Presbyterian or Episcopalian, as were most of the judges in the 
Third Circuit's district courts. 

Marcus W. Acheson, Joseph Bufhgton, William M. Lanning and John B. 
McPherson served in the federal district courts before their appointments to 
the Court of Appeals, having had an average of ten years' experience on the 
lower court. Victor B. Woolley had been an Associate Judge of the state 
Superior Court for fourteen years. Once on the Court of Appeals, the judges 
remained for an average of 16 years. Joseph Buffington served 32 years. Most 
of the judges on the Court of Appeals thus had decades of judicial experience 
and had apparently concentrated on their judicial careers rather than on poli- 
tics or private practice. 

Of those who were more active politically, George Gray seems most note- 
worthy. He was Delaware's attorney-general for six years, and U.S. Senator 
from Delaware from 1885 to 1899. William M. Lanning sat in Congress, and 
William McKennan had served as Pennsylvania's deputy attorney-general, and 
was a delegate at a number of state and national conventions. 

As was true for some of the District Court judges, some of the judges on 
the Court of Appeals were professional educators. George M. Dallas had been 
a professor in torts and evidence at the University of Pennsylvania Law 
School. William M. Lanning had taught in the district schools of Mercer 
County, New Jersey, and at Trenton Academy. While a judge on the Court 
of Appeals, Lanning was also a director at the Princeton Theological Semi- 
nary. Victor R. Woolley was a lecturer on Delaware practice at the University 
of Pennsylvania Law School, and wrote Woolley on Delaware Practice while 
an Associate Judge on the state Superior Court. With the exception of edu- 
cation, however, it appears that the judges had relatively few interests out- 
side of their judicial careers. 

The Inter- War Years: 191 9-1 945 
Thomas G. Haight ( 19 19) 
J. Warren Davis ( 1920) 
J. Whitaker Thompson ( 193 1 ) 
John Biggs, Jr. (1937) 
Albert B. Maris (1938) 
William Clark ( 1938) 
Francis Biddle (1939) 
Charles A. Jones (1939) 
Herbert F. Goodrich ( 1940) 
Gerald McLaughlin ( 1943) 
John J. O'Connell (1945) 

The judges appointed to the Court of Appeals in the inter-war period had 
experiences similar to those of their predecessors. Most had served on either 
lower federal courts or on state courts. Once appointed to the Court of Ap- 
peals, the judges remained on the Court an average of fifteen years-an 



average quite close to the sixteen years average achieved by their predeces- 
sors. While the judges of the two periods are hardly distinguishable in terms 
of their professional backgrounds, there were still some notable divergences 
between the two groups of judges. For example, with the election of Franklin 
D. Roosevelt, judges with more diverse religious affiliations began to be 
appointed to the Court of Appeals. 

Half of the judges appointed to the Court of Appeals in this period had 
prior judicial experience. Thomas G. Haight, .I. Warren Davis, J. Whitaker 
Thompson, William Clark and Albert B. Maris had all sewed on federal dis- 
trict courts. William Clark had also been a judge on New Jersey's Court of 
Errors and Appeals before he became a federal judge. Charles Alvin Jones, 
however, left the federal Court of AppeaIs to take a position in a state court 
-the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania. 

The growing importance of judicial expertise compared with political office- 
hoIding as a criterion for selection is again suggested by the fact that rela- 
tively few of the Court of Appeals judges held high political office. Charles 
Alvin Jones had once been the Democratic nominee for Governor of Penn- 
sylvania. Albert B. Maris had been a member of Pennsylvania's Democratic 
State Committee, and J. Warren Davis a member of the New Jersey Senate. 
None of the inter-war appointees appears to have held national elective office, 
and a majority of them appear to have been minimally involved in politics. 

StiI1, the inter-war appointees do show a greater amount of involvement in 
fields other than adjudication. Herbert F. Goodrich's career is particularly 
illustrative. After graduating from Harvard Law School in 1914, Goodrich 
was a professor of law at the State University of Iowa, as well as Acting Dean 
of the law school in 1921 and 1922. Goodrich taught conflict of laws at the 
University of Michigan in the twenties, and was Dean and professor of law at 
the University of Pennsylvania in the thirties. He also published treatises and 
casebooks, writing Goodrich on Conflict of Laws in 1927 and co-editing 
Cases on Conflict of Laws (Cheatham, Dowling and Goodrich) in 1936. 

The Post- War Period: 1946-1 981 
Harry E. Kalodner ( 1946) 
William H. Hastie (1949) 
Austin L. StaIey ( 1950) 
Phillip Forman ( 1959) 
J. Cullen Ganey (1961 ) 
William F. Smith ( 1961 ) 
Abraham L. Freedman ( 1 964) 
Collins J. Seitz (1966) 
Francis L. Van Dusen ( 1967) 
Ruggero J . Aldisert ( 1968) 
David Stahl (1968) 
Arlin M. Adarns (1969) 
John J. Gibbons ( 1969) 



Max Rosenn ( 1970) 
James Rosen (1971 ) 
James Hunter I11 (1971 ) 
Joseph F. Weis, Jr. (1973) 
Leonard I. Garth (1973) 
A. Leon Higginbotham, Jr. (1977) 
Dolores K. Sloviter (1979) 
Edward R. Becker ( 1981 ) 

Most judges appointed to the Court of Appeals in the post-war period were 
judges prior to their appointments to the Court of Appeals. None of them 
had held national political office and none had held elective positions in 
state governments. As in the past, judicial qualifications rather than poIitical 
experience seems to have been the major prerequisite to a position on the 
Court of Appeals. At the same time, while the pre-war appointees were 
almost exclusively protestants, and usually Episcopalian or Presbyterian, the 
post-war appointees have included many judges who are Catholic or Jewish. 
The post-war appointees also seem to differ from their predecessors in their 
experience in governmental administration. Many of them held appointive 
positions in state governments before their entrance into the federal judiciary. 
Finally, the post-war appointees have been involved in philanthropic and 
cultural activities to a greater extent than their pre-war predecessors. Repeat- 
ing the pattern that we observed for the Pennsylvania and Delaware district 
courts, the continued professional homogeneity of the Court of Appeals has 
been accompanied by a growing diversity in the interests and backgrounds 
of the judges. 

Eight of the post-war appointees were on the Third Circuit's district courts, 
and four of them were judges on the state courts. Collins J. Seitz served as 
Chancellor of Delaware for fifteen years, where he delivered many significant 
opinions on the Delaware law of corporations, and, as we have seen, on the 
law of equal protection. As in the past, then, judicial expertise has been im- 
portant for appointees. Particularly during the Nixon Administration, how- 
ever, a career in private practice has served as preparation for appointment 
to the Court of Appeals. Arlin M. Adams, John J. Gibbons, Max Rosenn, 
and James Hunter 111-all Nixon appointees-were so engaged when ap- 
pointed to the Court of Appeals. 

Service in state or local government appears to have been an increasingly 
common means of preparation for the Court of Appeals. Harry E. Kalodner 
was Pennsylvania's Secretary of Revenue before entering the state judiciary; 
William H. Hastie was Governor of the Virgin Islands from 1946 to 1949; 
and Austin L. Staley was director of the Workmen's Compensation Bureau of 
Pennsylvania. Arlin M. Adams was Pennsylvania's Secretary of Public Wel- 
fare for three years, and Max Rosenn succeeded Adams at that post when 
Adams returned to private practice. 

A relatively great number of the post-war judges have held important posi- 



tions in legal and university education. William H. Hastie served as Dean of 
the Howard University School of Law from 1939 to 1946, and William F. 
Kalodner was on the board of trustees for Yeshiva University, Austin L. 
Staley on the advisory board at Duquesne University, and Ruggero J. Aldisert 
on the board of trustees at the University of Pittsburgh. Judge Aldisert has 
taught at the University of Texas, has continued to be an Adjunct Professor 
of Law at the School of Law of the University of Pittsburgh, and is the author 
of a unique casebook based in part on his experience on the bench, The 
Judicial Process (1976). Judge Aldisert has also been a member of the 
faculty of the Appellate Judges Seminar at New York University Law School 
and a member of the Board of the Federal Judicial Center. John J. Gibbons 
has written often for professional journals, has taught at all three New Jersey 
law schools and at Suffolk University Law School in Massachusetts. He has 
been a Trustee of Holy Cross College, and was also President of The New 
Jersey State Bar Association. Dolores K. Sloviter, the first woman to be 
appointed to the Third Circuit's Court of Appeals, was Professor of Law at 
Temple University at the time of her appointment. 

The post-war appointees have aIso been active in a number of philanthropi'c 
and cultural organizations. Harry E. Kalodner was on the board of directors 
of the Philadelphia Psychiatric Hospital and on the board of directors for the 
Independence Hall Association. Phillip Forman was a director at the 
McKinley Memorial Hospital and the New Jersey State Hospital. Francis L. 
Van Dusen has been a director of the Philadelphia division of the American 
Cancer Society, Ruggero J. Aldisert a district chairman of the Multiple 
Sclerosis Society, and Max Rosenn chairman of the Pennsylvania Governor's 
Council for Human Services. William H. Hastie was a Fellow of the American 
Academy of Arts and Sciences, Ruggero J.  Aldisert has served on the board 
of directors of the Civic Light Opera Association, and Francis L. Van Dusen 
is a member of the Pennsylvania Historical Society. Dolores K. Sloviter was 
a member of the Philadelphia citizens' "watchdog" group, the Committee of 
70. A. Leon Higgenbotham, Jr. is the author of the highly-acclaimed study 
af race relations, In the Matter of Color (1 979). 

As we have seen for the district courts, the modem Court of Appeals is 
characterized by increasing professionalization, increasing diversity, and in- 
creasing involvement with a variety of educational and cultural institutions. 



Notes 

I .  Pursuant to the Evarts Act (The Circuit Court of Appeals Act of 1891), Act of 
March 3, 1891, 26 Stat. 826. 

2. Date of Commission, as in previous appendices. Judge McKennan was appointed a 
United States Circuit Judge for the Third Circuit, pursuant to the Act of April 10, 
1869, but retired from office before the circuit Court of Appeals was established in 
1891. 







APPENDIX VI 

Appendix VI 
United States Supreme Court Justices 
Assigned to the Third Circuit 

Justice Date of Assignment 

Bushrod Washington 
Henry Baldwin 
Robert C .  Grier 
William Strong 
Joseph P. Bradler 
John M. Harlan 
George Shiras, Jr. 
Henry Brown 
Edward D. White 
William H. Moody 
Horce H. Lurton 
Mahlon Pitney 
Pierce Butler 
Louis D. Brandeis 
Owen J. Roberts 
Harold H. Burton 
William J. Brennan 

July 1, 1802 
February 11, 1830 
April 8, 1846 
April 4, 1870 
January 10, 1881 
February 1 ,  1892 
October 17, 1892 
March 9, 1903 
May 29, 1906 
December 24, 1906 
January 9, 191 1 
March 18, 1911 
January 22, 1923 
March 16, 1925 
June 2, 1930 
October 15, 1945 
October 16, 1956 

C ~ u r c e :  Legislative History of the United States Circuit Courts of Appeals and the Judges 
Who Served During the Period 1801 Through May 1972. Committee on  the ludiciary, 
United States Senate, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington 1972. 
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Acheson, Marcus W., 244, 252, 276, 
277, 283 

Ackerman, Harold A., 261-266 
Adams, Arlin M., 205, 221 n., 121, 279, 

280, 284 
Admiralty 

American vs. English 
Practice, 22 

Cases decided by John 
Thompson Nixon, 79-82, 103-1 07 

Cases decided by Richard 
Peters, 22-23 

Jurisdiction under 
Judiciary Act of 1789, 2 1-22 

Aldisert, Ruggero J. 
Appointed to Third Circuit, 205 
Biographical Information, 221 n., 120, 

279, 281, 284 
Opinion in Scott v .  

Commanding Officer, 208-209 
Archbald, Robert W., 244, 252 
Augelli, Anthony T., 260, 265 
Avis, John B., 259, 260, 264 
Bankruptcy 

Acts construed by Nixon, 76-79, 107 

Barlow, George H., 261, 265 
Bard, Guy K., 246, 253 
Bechtle, Louis C., 248, 255 

Becker, Edward R., 247, 255, 280, 284 
Bedford, Gunning, Jr., 267, 268, 271 
Biddle, Francis, 278, 283 
Biggs, John 

Biographical Information, 187, 278, 
283 

Judicial Conference activity, 189 
Opinion in United States v. 

Currents, 207-208 
Opinion in Hague v .  CIO, 197-198 
Opinion in SEC v. 
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Publications of, 189, 207 

Biunno, Vincent P., 261, 265 
Bloch, Alan N., 248, 256 
Bodine, Joseph L., 259, 260, 264 
Body, Ralph C., 247,254 
Bradford, Edward G., 268, 269, 271 
Bradford, Edward G., Jr., 

Biographical Information, 268, 269, 
27 1 

Connected by marriage to 
Du Pont Family, 13 1, 139, 140 

Corporations law decisions 
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Mfg. CO., 143-144 
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142, 144, 161 



Sellman v. German Union, 144 
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within, 140, 179n.62 
Brearly, David, 257; 258, 264 
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On constitutionality of 
1802 Judiciary Act, 3 4  

On lack of need for 180 1 
Judiciary Act, 4 

Brennan, William J., 187, 285 
Broderick, Raymond J., 248, 249, 255 
Brotman, Stanley S., 261, 262, 266 
Buffington, Joseph 

Biography and Philosophy of, 154- 
155, 181nns.107, 111, 113, 276, 
277, 283 

Corporations Cases of, 
reversing court below: 

Du Pont v. Du Pont, 153-154, 
155-157 
Hodgman v .  Atlantic, 163-165, 
176 

District Court Judge, 244, 252 
Burns, Owen M., 247, 253 
Buttler, William, 244, 245, 252 

Cadwalader, John, 243, 244, 252 
Cahn, Edward N. 

Biographical Information, 248, 255 
Opinion in Goldherg v .  

Rostker, 233-234 
Caldwell, William W., 248, 256 
Chase, Samuel 

Becomes Federalist, 38 
Biographical information, 37-38, 50- 

52 
Conventional view of, 37 
Impeachment of 

personal impact, 53 
political impact, 56-57 

On Federal Common Law, 33-36 
Personal Peculiarities, 51-52, 228 
Presides over retrial of 

John Fries, 46-49 
Sedition Act Trials 

Callender's Trial, 50 
Cooper's Trial, 49-50 

Christian, Alrneric L., 273, 274, 275 

Circuit Courts 
Abolished by 191 1 Code, 10 
Difficulty of riding circuit, 2, 4, 7, 9 
District judges holding, 4, 7 
Under Judiciary Act of 1789, 2 
Under Judiciary Act of 1801, 2-3 
Under Circuit Court of 

Appeals Act of 189 1, 8-9 
Circuit Justices, 1 4 ,  285 
Civil Rights 

Diversity of Recent Cases, 215-216 
Hague v.  CZO, 197-199 
Voting Rights Act of 1870, 

construed by Nixon, 75-76 
Clark, William, 259, 260, 264, 278, 279, 

283 
Clary, Thomas W., 247, 253 
Cohen, Mitchell H., 261, 265 
Cohill, Maurice B., Jr., 248, 255 
Common Law of Crimes, see Federal 

Common Law of Crimes 
Conaboy, Richard P., 248, 256 
Constitutional Revolution of 1937 

Described, 185, 187 
Contracts 

Cases decided by John 
Thompson Nixon, 84-86 

Role of Jury in early 
Nineteenth Century, 26 

Coolahan, James A., 261, 265 
Cooper, Thomas 

See Sedition Act of 1798 
Corporations 

Aims of Delaware Federal 
Judges to legitimize acts 
of corporate managers, 13 1-132, 
135-139, 174-176 
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Thompson Nixon, 86-91 

Delaware cases, Chapter Four, Passim 
Hostility toward, 137, 175 
Rise of modern corporations, 130- 

131, 132-134, 175 
Court of Appeals for the Third 
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see Third Circuit Court of Appeals 

Criminal Law 
see also Federal Common Law 
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1798, and Treason Trials 
Opinions of John Thompson 

Nixon, 108-1 1 1 
Cross, Joseph, 258, 259, 264 

Dallas, Alexander James 
Carried Sword Cane in 1790's, 41 
In Worral's Trial, 32-33 
In Fries's Trial, with 

William Lewis, 44-47 
' Dallas, George M., 276, 277, 283 
Davis, J. Warren 

Biographical Information, 258, 259, 
264, 278, 279, 283 

Dissents in Hague v .  CIO, 198-199 
"Malign Influence" of, 171 
Reversed Nields in Mallery, 169-1 71 
Third Circuit's Expiation for 

Activities of, 193-197 
Tried for corruption, 183n.170 

Davis, John Morgan, 247, 249, 254 
Debevoise, Dickenson, R., 261, 266 
Delaware, Federal Judges of, 

see also Bradford, Edward G., 
Jr.; Morris, Hugh M.; 
Nields, John P. 

Complete Listing, 267-27 1 
Corporate law decisions of, 

summarized, 229-230 
Diamond, Gustave, 248, 256 
Dickenson, Oliver B., 244, 245, 252 
Dickerson, Mahlon, 257, 258, 264 
Dickerson, Philemon, 257, 258, 264 
District Courts 

Jurisdiction expanded pursuant 
to Republicans' policy following 
Civil War, 69 

Provided for in Pennsylvania, 
New Jersey, and Delaware 
under legislation 1802 to 
1869, 4-6 

Under 1891 Act, 9-10 
Under 191 1 Code, I I 

Ditter, J. William, Jr., 248, 255 
Draft Cases, See also Vietnam War 

Goldberg v. Rostker. 233-234 
Du Pont Family 

See Bradford, Edward G., Jr.; 
Du Pont v. Du Pont 

Du Pont v. Du Pont 
Appellate Opinion by 

Buffington vindicates 
Pierre S. Du Pont, 153-157 

Discovery ruling, 148-149 
Origin of case in Pierre S. 

Du Pont's efforts to 
control Du Pont Co., 145-148 

Shareholder vote supports 
Pierre S. Du Pont, 152 

Trial court opinion on 
Pierre S. Du Pont's alleged 
Breach of Fiduciary Duty, 149-1 53 

Dumbauld, Edward 
Biographical information, 247, 254 
Bibliographical information, 250, 25 1 

Egan, Thomas C., 247, 254 
Elizabeth Paving Litigation 

Background, 94-95, 122-1 23n. 196 
infringement found by Nixon, 96-97 
Lawyers fees allowed by 

Nixon, 98-99 
Nixon reversed on 

Liability of city and of 
President of paving 
company, 97-98 

Ewing, Nathaniel, 244, 245, 252 

Fake, Guy Laverne, 259, 260, 264 
Federal Common Law of Crimes 

Chase's view on, 33-34 
Henfield's Case, 27-32 
Importance of the issue. 26-27,33-37 
Intention of Framers of 

Judiciary Act of 1789, 34-35 
Peter's views on, 33-34, 35 
Ravara's Case, 30 
Supreme Court on, 36-37 
Worral's Case, 32-36 

Federalists 
Differed with Jeffersonian 

Republicans over scope of 
popular participation, 54-55, 228 

Discontent with Eighteenth 
Century Politics, 2&21 

Fears of French Revolution, 39-40, 
4 8 4 9 ,  53-55 



Goals of Commercial Progress 
and political hegemony, 19-20 

Political Opposition to, 38-40, 50-5 1, 
55 

Promise of Popular 
Sovereignty, 19, 2 1, 55-57 

Field, Richard S., 257, 258, 264 
Fisher, Clarkson S., 261, 265 
Fisher, John, 267, 268, 271 
Fogel, Herbert A., 248, 249, 255 
Follmer, Frederick W., 247, 253 
Forman, Phillip 

Appointment to .Third Circuit, 205, 
21 1 

Biographical Information, 22 In.] 13, 
259, 260, 265,279, 281, 283 

Freedman, Abraham, 205, 221 n. 1 17, 
247,250,254, 279, 284 

Fries's Rebellion 
see also Treason Trials, 

Background of, 8 
Fullam, John P., 247, 254 

Ganey, J. Cullen, 205, 22111.115, 246, 
253, 279, 283 

Garth, Leonard A., 21 1, 223n. 1 60, 26 1, 
265,280, 284 

Gerry, John F., 261, 265 
Gibbons, John J. 

Appointed to Third Circuit, 205 
Biographical Information, 22 1 n. 122, 

279, 280, 281,284 
Opinion in Japanese 

Products case, 232-233 
Appointed to Third Circuit, 191 
Biography, 19 1, 205 

Gibson, Robert M., 245, 253 
Giles, James T., 248, 256 
Goodrich, Herbert F., 278, 279, 283 
Gorbey, James H., 248, 255 
Gordon, Walter A., 273, 274, 275 
Gourley, Wallace S., 246, 253 
Gray, George, 276, 277, 283 
Green, Clifford S., 248, 249, 250, 255 
Green, Edward T., 258, 264 
Grim, Allan K., 247, 253 

Hague v. Committee for Industrial 
Organization see Civil Rights 

Haight, Thomas G., 258, 259, 264, 278, 
279, 283 

Hall, Willard, 267, 268, 271 
Hamilton, Alexander, 54, 55-56 
Hannum, John B., 247, 255 
Hartshorne, Richard, 260, 261, 265 
Hastie, William H. 

Appointed to Third Circuit, 192, 193 
Biographical Information, 192-1 93, 

279, 280, 28 1,283 
Judicial Restraint of, 203-205, 208 
Virgin Islands Judge, 273, 274, 275 

Hayburn's Case 
Test of judicial independence, 24-25 

Henfield's Case 
See Fedcral Common Law of Crimes 

Herman, R. Dixon, 247,249, 255 
Higginbotham, A. Leon, 21 5, 22311.186, 

247, 249, 250,254, 280, 281, 284 
Holland, James B., 244, 252 
Hopkinson, Francis, 24 1, 242, 252, 258 
Hopkinson, Joseph, 242, 243, 252 
"Hot Water War" 

See Fries's Rebellion 
Hunter, James 111, 21 1, 222n. 158, 280, 

284 
Huyett, Daniel H., 248, 255 

Insurance 
Cases decided by John 

Thompson Nixon, 88-93 
Iredell, James 

In Fries's Trial, 44, 45, 55, 65n. 185 
On discretion of juries in 

contracts cases, 26 
Irwin, Thomas, 243, 252 

Johnson, Albert W., 245, 246, 253 
Jones, Charles A., 278, 279, 283 
Jones, George P., 273, 275 
Judicial Code of 191 1 

Abolished Circuit Courts, 10 
Perfected Current Structure, 1 1-1 2 
Raised Jurisdictional Amount, 10 

Judiciary Act of 1789 
Admiralty jurisdiction, 2 1-22 
Circuit-riding as keystone, 2 
Intention of framers, 1-2 
Provided three-tiered 

judicial system, 1-2 



Section 29 interpreted in 
Whiskey Rebels' Trial, 41-42 

Judiciary ACL ~f 1801 
Intention to improve 1789 Act, 2-3 
Partisan purposes, 3 
Repealed by Judiciary Act of 

1802, 3-4 
Judiciary Acts of 1802 

Constitutionality of Repeal of 
Judiciary Act of 1801,3-4 

Reforms of Second 1802 
Judiciary Act, 4 

Judiciary Act of 1869 
Creation of Circuit Judges, 6-7 
Preserved Circuit-Riding, 7 

Judiciary Act of 1875 
Expanded Jurisdiction of lower 

Federal Courts, 7-8 
Jury 

Asked to decide law in 
First Fries Trial 

Bias in First Fries Trial, 45, 65n.184 
Circumscribed by Chase in Trial 

of John Fries, 46-48 
Factual conclusions dictated 

by Paterson, 43 
In Corltracts cases, 26 
In Henfield's Case, 27, 29-33 
instructed by John 

Thompson Nixon, 87-93, 108-1 1 1 

Kalodner, Harry A. 
Appointed to Third Circuit, 192 
Biographical Information, 192, 205, 

246,253, 279, 280, 28 I .  283 
Kane, John K., 243, 244, 252 
Kardon v. National Gypsum Co., 

see Securities Cases 
Ketchurn, Winthrop W., 244, 245, 252 
Kirkpatrick, Andrew, 258, 259, 264 
Kirkpatrick, William H. 

see slso Securities Cases, 
Kardon v. Natiotlal Gypsum Co. 
Biographical Information, 245, 
246, 253 

Kitchen, John J., 26 1,  265 
Knox, William W., 247, 249, 255 
Kraft, C. William, Jr., 247, 249, 254 

Lacey, Frederick B., 261, 265 

Lane, Arthur S., 260, 265 
Lanning, WiIliam M., 258, 259, 264, 

276, 277, 283 
Latchum, James L., 269, 270, 271 
Layton, Caleb R., 111, 269, 270, 271 
Leahy, Paul C., 269, 270,27 1 
Lewis,' William 

See also Dallas, Alexander James 
Biographical information, 24 1, 
242, 252 

Lord, John W., Jr., 247, 249, 254 
Lord, Joseph S., 111, 247, 254 
Luongo, Alfred L., 247, 250, 254 
Lynch, Charles F., 259,260, 264 

Madden, Thomas M., 259, 265 
Managerial Revolution, 134-137 
Mansmann, Carol Los, 248, 256 
hlaris, Albert B. 

Biographical information, 189-1 90, 
191, 245, 246, 253, 278, 279, 283 

Jehovah's Witnesses' Case, 199 
Panel Member in Hague v. CIO, 197 
Retirement Letter to President 

Eisenhower, 190-1 91 
Marsh, Rabe F., Jr., 247, 254 
Masterson, Thomas A,, 247,255 
McCandless, Wilson, 243, 244, 252 
McCarthy, James W., 259, 264 
McCune, Barron P., 248, 255 
McGlynn, Joseph L., Jr., 248, 255 
McGranery, James P., 247, 249, 250. 

253 
Mcllvaine, John W., 247, 249, 254 
McKeehan, Charles L., 245, 253 
McKennan, William, 276, 277, 283 
McLaughlin, Gerald 

Appointed to Third Circuit, 191 
Biographical Information, 191-1 92, 

278, 283 
Opinion in U.S. v. Merkle, 210 

McPherson, John B., 244, 252, 276, 
277, 283 

McVicar, Nelson, 245, 253 
Meaney, Thomas F., 259, 265 
Meanor. H. Curtis, 261, 265 
Mencer. Glenn E., 248, 256 
Midnight Judges' Act 

See Judiciary Act of 1801 
Miller. John L., 247, 249, 254 



Modarelli, Alfred E., 260, 265 
Moore, Herman E., 273, 274, 275 
MorrilI, Mendon, 260, 265 
Morris, Hugh M. 

Balanced needs for corporate 
autonomy and legitimacy, 157- 165 

Biographical Information, 268, 269, 
27 1 

Corporations Law decisions 
Atlantic v. Porf Lobos. 159-161 
Eagleson V. Pacific, 1 57-1 59 
Hodgman v. Arlantic, 1 62-1 63, 
164-1 65 
Myers v. Occidental, 1 6 1-163 

Democratic connections, 140 
Prominence of Family, 140 
Successful practice of, 13 1 ,  139 

Morris, Robert, 257, 258, 264 
Muir, Malcolm, 247, 255 
Murphy, John W., 247,249, 253 

Nealon, William L., 247, 249, 250. 254 
New Jersey, Federal District 

Court Judges 
complete listings, 257-266 

Newcomer, Clarence C., 248, 255 
Nields, John P. 

Admired T. Roosevelt, 167, 173 
Biographical Information, 269, 270, 

27 1 
Corporate cases of 

Mallery v .  Managers, 167-1 69 
Mississippi Valley, 171-1 72 
Warner Bros. Pictures. 172-175 

Eulogized Bradford, 140 
Represented Pierre S. 

Du Pont, 131, 139, 165-167. I73 
Restrained corporate 

abuses, but sought to 
reward corporate heroism, 165-1 74 

Son of Civil War hero, 140 
Nixon, John Thompson, Chapter 
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Biographical Information, 72-73. 
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Reversed by reviewing courts, 92-105 
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as a judge, 12611.321, 126- 
127n.323 

O'Brien, David V., 273, 275 
O'Connell, John J., 192, 278, 283 
Orr, Charles P., 244, 252 

Patents 
Opinions by John Thompson 

Nixon, 82-84, 94-103, 124n.24 I, 
12411.249 

Paterson, William 
Expresses opinion on facts in 

Whiskey Rebel's trial, 43, 54 
In Van Horne's Lessee v. 

Dorrance, 25-26, 54 
Opinion on Treason Law, 4 1 4 2  
Standards for Guilt in 

Seditious libel, 50 
Pennington, William S., 257, 258, 264 
Pennsylvania, Federal Judges of; 

see also Chase, Samuel: 
Peters, Richard 
Complete Listing, 24 1-256 

Peters, Richard 
Admiralty cases of, 22-23 
Biographical information, 21, 23. 

6011.34, 241, 242, 252, 264 
Classical knowledge, 2 1 
Compared to Joseph Story, 6111.38 
Firm Federalist, 21, 53 
On common law of crimes, 33-34,35 
Personal qualities, 23 

compared to Chase, 5 1-52, 228 
Treason Trials 

Fries's, 43-47, 53-54 



Whiskey Rebels', 41-43 
Wit of, 66n.254 

Pollak, Louis H., 248, 250, 256 
Popular Sovereignty 

In Eighteenth Century 
American Politics, 20-2 1 

Federalists' promise of, 19, 21 

Rambo, Sylvia H., 248, 256 
Randall, Archibald, 243, 252 
Rawle, William 

In Fries's Trial, 47 
In Henfield's trial, 29 
In Whiskey Rebels' trial, 41 
In Worral's Trial, 33 

Reed, James H., 244, 245, 252 
Rellstab, John, 258, 259, 264 
Republicans 

Jefferso-nian, see Federalists 
Majority on Third Circuit, 21 1 

Rodney, Richard S., 269, 270, 271 
Rosen, James, 21 1, 22211.156, 280, 284 
Rosenberg, Louis, 247, 254 
Rosenn, Max, 2 1 1,280, 28 1, 284 
Rossell, William, 257, 264 
Runyon, William N., 259, 260, 264 

Sarokin, H. Lee, 261, 266 
Scalera, Ralph F., 248, 249, 250, 255 
Schoonmaker, Frederic P., 245, 253 
Schwartz, Murray M., 269, 271 
Securities Cases 

Diversity in Recent cases, 216 
Kardon v. National Gypsum, 199- 

20 1 
SEC v. Transamerica. 201-202 

Sedition Act of 1798 
As reaction to French 

Revolution, 48-49 
Liberalization of the 

Common Law, 49 
Trials under 

Callender's Trial, 50 
Cooper's Trial, 49-50 

Scitz, Collins J. 
Administration as Chief 

Judge, 213-215 
Appointed to Third Circuit, 205 
Biographical Information, 223n. 161, 

279, 280, 284 
Civil Rights Cases of, 2 1 1-2 13 
on Future Course of the 

Judiciary, 234-236 
Opinion in Japanese 

Products case, 23 1-232 
Opinion in Scott v. 

Commanding Oficer, 208 
Senior Status 

Importance to Continuity 
of work of Third Circuit, 205-206 

Shapiro, Norma L., 248, 256 
Shaw, Robert, 261,265 
Sheridan, Michael H., 247, 254 
Simmons, Paul A., 248, 256 
Sloviter, Dolores K. 

Biographical Information, 223- 
224n. 187, 280, 28 1, 284 

First Woman on Third Circuit, 215 
Smith, William F., 205, 221 n. 1 16, 259, 

260, 265, 279, 283 
Snyder, Daniel J., Jr., 248, 255 
Sorg, Herbert P., 247, 249, 254 
Stahl, David, 21 1, 221n.121, 279, 284 
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